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PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION
ITEM 1. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SUNLIGHT FINANCIAL HOLDINGS INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(dollars in thousands)
Successor
September 30,
2022
December 31, 2021
(Unaudited)
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash
Advances (net of allowance for credit losses of $7,458 and $238)
Financing receivables (net of allowance for credit losses of $186 and $148)
Goodwill
Intangible assets, net
Property and equipment, net
Other assets

$

$

Total assets
Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity
Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Funding commitments
Debt
Deferred tax liabilities
Warrants, at fair value
Other liabilities
Total liabilities

$

70,569
1,228
56,608
3,581
61,377
327,673
1,681
30,849
553,566

$

24,931
21,411
20,613
25,338
3,691
13,433
109,417

$

$

91,882
2,018
66,839
4,313
445,756
365,839
4,069
21,531
1,002,247

23,386
22,749
20,613
36,686
19,007
843
123,284

Commitments and Contingencies (Note 10)
Stockholders' Equity
Preferred stock; $0.0001 par value; 35,000,000 shares authorized; none issued and outstanding as of September 30, 2022 and
December 31, 2021
Class A common stock; $0.0001 par value; 420,000,000 shares authorized; 83,330,932 and 86,373,596 issued; and 81,722,949 and
84,803,687 outstanding as of September 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021, respectively
Class C common stock; $0.0001 par value; 65,000,000 shares authorized; 47,595,455 issued and outstanding as of September 30, 2022
and December 31, 2021
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated deficit
Total capital
Treasury stock, at cost; 1,607,983 and 1,569,909 Class A shares as of September 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021, respectively
Total stockholders' equity
Noncontrolling interests in consolidated subsidiaries
Total equity
$

Total liabilities and stockholders' equity

See notes to unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.
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—

—

8

9

—
759,105
(459,706)
299,407
(15,671)
283,736
160,413
444,149
553,566

—
764,366
(186,022)
578,353
(15,535)
562,818
316,145
878,963
1,002,247

$

SUNLIGHT FINANCIAL HOLDINGS INC.
UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(dollars in thousands, except per share amounts)

Revenue
Costs and Expenses
Cost of revenues (exclusive of items shown separately below)
Compensation and benefits
Selling, general, and administrative
Property and technology
Depreciation and amortization
Provision for losses
Goodwill impairment
Management fees to affiliate

Successor
For the Three
For the Period
Months Ended
July 10, 2021 to
September 30,
September 30,
2022
2021
$
33,265 $
26,520

Operating income (loss)
Other Income (Expense), Net
Interest income
Interest expense
Change in fair value of warrant liabilities
Change in fair value of contract derivatives, net
Realized gains (losses) on contract derivatives, net
Other realized losses, net
Other income (expense)
Business combination expenses

Predecessor
For the Period
July 1, 2021 to
July 9, 2021
$
2,074

Successor
For the Nine
Months Ended
September 30,
2022
$
91,086

For the Period
January 1, 2021
to July 9, 2021
$
53,064

5,619
16,378
4,504
2,069
8,572
37,247
384,379
—
458,768
(425,503)

4,841
32,782
3,330
1,502
20,541
254
—
—
63,250
(36,730)

365
1,042
330
162
78
—
—
4
1,981
93

16,621
43,641
15,522
5,981
40,713
41,927
384,379
—
548,784
(457,698)

10,556
17,162
3,450
2,790
1,688
1,172
—
204
37,022
16,042

$

77
(291)
10,116
489
1,377
—
(60)
(1,093)
10,615
(26,115)
5,684
(20,431)
9,108
(11,323)

9
(32)
(1,439)
125
6
—
(5)
(529)
(1,865)
(1,772)
—
(1,772)
—
(1,772)

$

360
(931)
15,316
(2,247)
3,686
(569)
(1,667)
—
13,948
(443,750)
11,350
(432,400)
158,478
(273,922)

262
(604)
(5,504)
(662)
2,992
—
616
(7,011)
(9,911)
6,131
—
6,131
—
6,131

Net Income (Loss) Attributable to Class A Shareholders

$

189
(375)
6,590
(2,340)
(278)
(196)
(839)
—
2,751
(422,752)
7,299
(415,453)
151,389
(264,064)

Loss Per Class A Share
Net loss per Class A share
Basic

$

(3.16)

$

(0.13)

$

(3.25)

$

(3.16)

$

(0.15)

$

(3.25)

Net Income (Loss) Before Income Taxes
Income tax benefit (expense)
Net Income (Loss)
Noncontrolling interests in loss of consolidated subsidiaries

Diluted
Weighted average number of Class A shares outstanding

Predecessor

$

Basic

83,049,291

84,833,808

84,157,718

Diluted

83,049,291

131,088,438

84,157,718

See notes to unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.
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$

SUNLIGHT FINANCIAL HOLDINGS INC.
UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
(dollars in thousands)
Successor
Shares

June 30, 2022
Equity-based compensation
Shares withheld related to net
share settlement of equity
awards
Equity repurchase
Dilution
Net loss
September 30, 2022
December 31, 2021
Equity-based compensation
Shares withheld related to net
share settlement of equity
awards
Equity repurchase
Dilution
Distribution
Cumulative ASC 842 adoption
effect
Net loss
September 30, 2022

Preferred
Stock
—
—

Common Stock
Additional
Total
Class Class Class
Paid-in
Accumulated Treasury Stockholders' Noncontrolling
Total
A
B
C
Capital
Deficit
Stock
Equity
Interests
Equity
$ 9 $ — $ — $ 765,284 $
(195,642) $(15,638) $
554,013 $
309,655 $ 863,668
—
—
—
2,995
—
—
2,995
1,607
4,602

Class A
85,928,364
—

Class C
47,595,455
—

—
(2,597,432)
—
—
83,330,932

—
—
—
—
47,595,455

—
—
—
—
—

—
(1)
—
—
$ 8

—
—
—
—
$ —

—
—
—
—
$ —

(187)
(8,447)
(540)
—
$ 759,105 $

—
(33)
—
—
—
—
(264,064)
—
(459,706) $(15,671) $

86,373,596
—

47,595,455
—

—
—

$

9
—

$ —
—

$ —
—

$ 764,366
7,425

(186,022) $(15,535) $
—
—

—
(3,042,664)
—
—

—
—
—
—

—
—
—
—

—
(1)
—
—

—
—
—
—

—
—
—
—

(187)
(10,451)
(2,048)
—

—
—
83,330,932

—
—
47,595,455

—
—
—

—
—
$ 8

—
—
$ —

—
—
$ —

—
—
$ 759,105
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$

—
—
—
—

$

(136)
—
—
—

238
—
(273,922)
—
(459,706) $(15,671) $

(220)
(8,448)
(540)
(264,064)
283,736 $
562,818
7,425

$

(323)
(10,452)
(2,048)
—
238
(273,922)
283,736 $

—
—
540
(151,389)
160,413

(220)
(8,448)
—
(415,453)
$ 444,149

316,145
3,362

$ 878,963
10,787

—
—
2,048
(2,705)

(323)
(10,452)
—
(2,705)

41
(158,478)
160,413

279
(432,400)
$ 444,149

SUNLIGHT FINANCIAL HOLDINGS INC.
UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (CONTINUED)
(dollars in thousands)

Shares
July 10, 2021
Equity-based
compensation
Shares withheld
related to net
share settlement
of equity awards
Net loss
September 30,
2021

Preferred
Stock
Class A
$
— $
9

Class C
47,595,455

—

—

—

—

—

—

4,101

—

—

4,101

12,029

16,130

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
(11,323)

(15,447)
—

(15,447)
(11,323)

—
(9,108)

(15,447)
(20,431)

86,373,596

47,595,455

—

$ 724,941

(37,789)

$ (15,447) $

671,714

429,931

$1,101,645

$

—

$

9

Class B
$
—

December 31,
2020
Preferred
distributions,
paid in-kind
Change in
temporary equity
redemption value
Equity-based
compensation
Net income
July 9, 2021

Total
Stockholders' Noncontrolling
Total
Equity
Interests
Equity
$
694,383 $
427,010 $1,121,393

Class A
86,373,596

$

—

Units

June 30, 2021
Preferred
distributions,
paid in-kind
Change in
temporary equity
redemption value
Net loss
July 9, 2021

Successor
Additional
Paid-in
Accumulated Treasury
Class C
Capital
Deficit
Stock
$
— $ 720,840 $
(26,466) $
—

Common Stock

Class
A-1 Units
317,989

Class
Common
A-3
Units
Units
78,717 $338,620

$

$

Predecessor
Temporary Equity
Class
Class
A-2
A-1
Common
Units
Units
Units
$ 213,218 $ 279,554 $
68,296

$

Units
Members' Equity
Other
Other
Total
Ownership
Ownership
Accumulated
Members'
Interests
Interests
Deficit
Equity
56,461 $
1,457 $
(850,611) $ (849,154)

Class
A-3 Units
403,946

Class
A-2 Units
242,512

1,444

867

1,137

—

1,209

778

1,020

—

—

—

—
—
405,390

—
—
243,379

—
—
319,126

—
—
78,717

3,995
—
$343,824

4,273
—
$ 218,269

5,627
—
$ 286,201

$

2,300
—
70,596

—
—
56,461

$

—
—
1,457

$

(16,195)
(16,195)
(1,772)
(1,772)
(871,585) $ (870,128)

376,395

225,972

296,302

78,717

$260,428

$ 154,286

$ 202,045

$

47,757

53,105

$

1,439

$

(623,342) $ (621,903)

28,995

17,407

22,824

—

24,061

14,994

19,654

—

—

—

(58,709)

(58,709)

—

—

—

—

59,335

48,989

64,502

22,839

—

—

(195,665)

(195,665)

—
—
405,390

—
—
243,379

—
—
319,126

—
—
78,717

—
—
$343,824

—
—
$ 218,269

—
—
$ 286,201

—
—
70,596

3,356
—
56,461

18
—
1,457

See notes to unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.
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$

$

(3,007)

$

(3,007)

—
18
6,131
6,131
(871,585) $ (870,128)

SUNLIGHT FINANCIAL HOLDINGS INC.
UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(dollars in thousands)
Successor
For the Nine
For the Period July
Months Ended
10, 2021 to
September 30, 2022 September 30, 2021
Cash Flows From Operating Activities
Net income (loss)
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash used in operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Goodwill impairment
Provision for losses
Change in fair value of warrant liabilities
Change in fair value of contract derivatives, net
Other expense (income)
Share-based payment arrangements
Deferred income tax benefit
Increase (decrease) in operating capital:
Increase in advances
Decrease (increase) in due from affiliates
Decrease (increase) in other assets
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable and accrued expenses
Increase (decrease) in funding commitments
Increase in due to affiliates
Increase (decrease) in other liabilities
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities

$

(432,400)

$

(20,431)

Predecessor
For the Period
January 1, 2021 to
July 9, 2021
$

6,131

40,713
384,379
41,927
(15,316)
2,247
2,120
14,143
(11,350)

20,541
—
254
(10,116)
(489)
60
24,821
(5,684)

1,782
—
1,172
5,504
662
(616)
18
—

(25,133)
—
(5,978)
545
(1,785)
—
(1,249)
(7,137)

(28,690)
1,481
(16,444)
(12,617)
(498)
—
(109)
(47,921)

(7,314)
(1,839)
2,129
2,327
3,100
761
539
14,356

780
(2,058)
(1,918)
—
(3,196)

351
(254)
(871)
(304,570)
(305,344)

832
(1,170)
(1,066)
—
(1,404)

Cash Flows From Financing Activities
Proceeds from borrowings under line of credit
Repayments of borrowings under line of credit
Proceeds from issuance of private placement
Payments of stock issuance costs
Payments for share-based payment tax withholding
Payments for repurchase of common stock
Payment of capital distributions
Payment of debt issuance costs
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities

—
—
—
—
(136)
(10,452)
(1,182)
—
(11,770)

—
—
250,000
(19,618)
(18,591)
—
—
—
211,791

20,746
(14,758)
—
—
—
—
(7,522)
(491)
(2,025)

Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash, Cash Equivalents, and Restricted Cash

(22,103)

(141,474)

10,927

93,900

216,519

52,705

Cash Flows From Investing Activities
Return of investments in loan pool participation and loan principal repayments
Payments to acquire loans and participations in loan pools
Payments to acquire property and equipment
Payments to acquire Sunlight Financial LLC, net of cash acquired
Net cash used in investing activities

Cash, Cash Equivalents, and Restricted Cash, Beginning of Period
Cash, Cash Equivalents, and Restricted Cash, End of Period

$

71,797

$

75,045

$

63,632

Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Information
Cash paid during the period for interest
Cash paid during the period for income taxes, net

$

941
4,951

$

263
—

$

537
—

$

1,521
—
—
250
187

$

—
—
—
—
—

$

—
58,709
195,665
—
—

Noncash Investing and Financing Activities
Distributions declared, but not paid
Preferred dividends, paid in-kind
Change in temporary equity redemption value
Capital expenditures incurred but not yet paid
Share-based payment tax withholding
See notes to unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(dollars in tables in thousands, except share, per share, unit, and per unit data)

Note 1. Organization and Business
Sunlight Financial Holdings Inc. (together with its consolidated subsidiaries, the “Company” or “Sunlight”) is a premier, technology-enabled point-of-sale finance
company. Sunlight Financial LLC, its accounting predecessor and wholly-owned subsidiary, was organized as a Delaware limited liability company on January
23, 2014.
On July 9, 2021 (the “Closing Date”), the Company consummated the transactions contemplated by that certain Business Combination Agreement (the
“Business Combination Agreement”), dated as of January 23, 2021, by and among Spartan Acquisition Corp. II, a Delaware corporation incorporated on August
17, 2020 as a publicly-traded special purpose acquisition company sponsored by funds managed by an affiliate of Apollo Global Management, Inc. (the
“Sponsor”) and formed for the purpose of effecting a merger, capital stock exchange, asset acquisition, stock purchase, reorganization or similar business
combination with one or more businesses (“Spartan”), Sunlight Financial LLC and the Spartan Subsidiaries, FTV Blocker and Tiger Blocker (each as defined in
the Business Combination Agreement). On the Closing Date, Spartan changed its name to “Sunlight Financial Holdings Inc.” and Sunlight Financial LLC
became the operating subsidiary of Sunlight Financial Holdings Inc., organized in an “Up-C” structure (the “Business Combination”). As a result of the Business
Combination, the Company’s trading symbol on the New York Stock Exchange (the “NYSE”) was changed from “SPRQ” to “SUNL.”
All activity for the period from August 17, 2020 (Spartan’s inception) to the Closing Date relates to the Company's formation, initial public offering and private
placement of equity (Note 6), and search for a prospective business combination. The Company did not generate any operating revenues until after completion
of the Business Combination. Upon completion of the Business Combination, the Company assumed the operations of, and began to consolidate, Sunlight
Financial LLC. Refer to “Note 2 — Basis of Presentation” regarding the presentation of the Company’s financial statements before and after the Business
Combination.
Business — Sunlight operates a technology-enabled financial services platform within the United States of America, using a nationwide network of contractors
at the point-of-sale, to offer homeowners secured and unsecured loans (“Loans”), originated by third-party lenders, for the purchase and installation of
residential solar energy systems and other home improvements. Sunlight arranges for the origination of Loans by third-party lenders in two distinct ways:
Direct Channel Loans — Sunlight arranges for certain Loans (“Direct Channel Loans”) to be originated and retained by third parties (“Direct Channel Partners”).
The Direct Channel Partners originate the Direct Channel Loans directly, using their own credit criteria. These Direct Channel Partners pay for Direct Channel
Loans by remitting funds to Sunlight, and Sunlight is thereafter responsible for making the appropriate payments to the relevant contractor. Sunlight earns
income from the difference between the cash amount paid by a Direct Channel Partner to Sunlight for a given Direct Channel Loan and the dollar amount due
to the contractor for such Direct Channel Loan. Sunlight does not participate in the ongoing economics of the Direct Channel Loans and, generally, does not
retain any obligations with respect thereto except for certain ongoing fee-based administrative services and loan servicing performed by Sunlight.
Indirect Channel Loans — Sunlight arranges for other Loans (“Indirect Channel Loans”) to be originated by Sunlight’s issuing bank partner (“Bank Partner”).
Sunlight has entered into program agreements with its Bank Partner that govern the terms and conditions with respect to originating and servicing the Indirect
Channel Loans and Sunlight pays its Bank Partner a fee based on the principal balance of Loans originated by Sunlight’s Bank Partner. Sunlight’s Bank Partner
funds these Loans by remitting funds to Sunlight, and Sunlight is thereafter responsible for making the appropriate payments to the relevant contractor. Sunlight
arranges for the sale of certain Indirect Channel Loans, or participations therein, to third parties (“Indirect Channel Loan Purchasers”).
Note 2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Presentation — As a result of the Business Combination, for accounting purposes, Sunlight Financial Holdings Inc. is the acquirer and Sunlight
Financial LLC is the acquiree and accounting predecessor. The financial statement presentation includes the financial statements of Sunlight Financial LLC as
“Predecessor” for periods prior to the Closing Date and of the Company as “Successor” for the periods after the Closing Date, including the consolidation of
Sunlight Financial LLC.
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The accompanying consolidated financial statements and related notes, prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”),
include the accounts of Sunlight and its consolidated subsidiaries. In the opinion of management, all adjustments considered necessary for a fair presentation of
Sunlight’s financial position, results of operations, and cash flows have been included and are of a normal and recurring nature. All intercompany balances and
transactions have been eliminated.
Certain information and footnote disclosures normally included in financial statements prepared under GAAP may be condensed or omitted for interim financial
reporting, and the operating results presented for interim periods are not necessarily indicative of the results that may be expected for any other interim period
or for the entire year.
These financial statements should be read in conjunction with Sunlight’s audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2021 and
footnotes thereto included in Sunlight's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2021 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission
(“SEC”) on March 29, 2022. Capitalized terms used herein, and not otherwise defined, are defined in Sunlight's consolidated financial statements for the year
ended December 31, 2021.
Certain prior period amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current period's presentation.
Emerging Growth Company — The Company is an “emerging growth company,” as defined in Section 2(a) of the Securities Act, as modified by the JOBS
Act, and it may take advantage of certain exemptions from various reporting requirements that are applicable to other public companies that are not emerging
growth companies, including, but not limited to, not being required to comply with the auditor attestation requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
of 2002, reduced disclosure obligations regarding executive compensation in its periodic reports and proxy statements, and exemptions from the requirements
of holding a nonbinding advisory vote on executive compensation and stockholder approval of any golden parachute payments not previously approved.
Further, Section 102(b)(1) of the JOBS Act exempts emerging growth companies from being required to comply with new or revised financial accounting
standards until private companies (that is, those that have not had a Securities Act registration statement declared effective or do not have a class of securities
registered under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended) are required to comply with the new or revised financial accounting standards. The JOBS
Act provides that an emerging growth company can elect to opt out of the extended transition period and comply with the requirements that apply to nonemerging growth companies, but any such an election to opt out is irrevocable. The Company has elected not to opt out of such extended transition period,
which means that when an accounting standard is issued or revised and it has different application dates for public or private companies, the Company, as an
emerging growth company, can adopt the new or revised standard at the time private companies adopt the new or revised standard. This may make comparison
of the Company’s financial statements with another public company that is neither an emerging growth company nor an emerging growth company that has
opted out of using the extended transition period difficult or impossible because of the potential differences in accounting standards used.
Consolidation — Sunlight consolidates those entities over which it controls significant operating, financial, and investing decisions of the entity as well as those
entities deemed to be variable interest entities (“VIEs”) in which the Company is determined to be the primary beneficiary.
The analysis as to whether to consolidate an entity is subject to a significant amount of judgment. Some of the criteria considered are the determination as to the
degree of control over an entity by its various equity holders, the design of the entity, how closely related the entity is to each of its equity holders, the relation of
the equity holders to each other and a determination of the primary beneficiary in entities in which Sunlight has a variable interest. These analyses involve
estimates, based on the assumptions of management, as well as judgments regarding significance and the design of entities.
VIEs are defined as entities in which equity investors do not have the characteristics of a controlling financial interest or do not have sufficient equity at risk for
the entity to finance its activities without additional subordinated financial support from other parties. A VIE is required to be consolidated by its primary
beneficiary, and only by its primary beneficiary, which is defined as the party who has the power to direct the activities of a VIE that most significantly impact its
economic performance and who has the obligation to absorb losses or the right to receive benefits from the VIE that could potentially be significant to the VIE.
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Sunlight monitors investments in VIEs and analyzes the potential need to consolidate the related entities pursuant to the VIE consolidation requirements. These
analyses require considerable judgment in determining whether an entity is a VIE and determining the primary beneficiary of a VIE since they involve subjective
determinations of significance with respect to both power and economics. The result could be the consolidation of an entity that otherwise would not have been
consolidated or the deconsolidation of an entity that otherwise would have been consolidated.
As a result of the Business Combination, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Sunlight Financial Holdings Inc. is the managing member of Sunlight Financial LLC, in
which existing unitholders hold a 36.1% and 35.0% noncontrolling interest, net of unvested Class EX Units (Note 6), at September 30, 2022 and December 31,
2021, respectively.
Through its indirect managing member interest, Sunlight Financial Holdings Inc. directs substantially all of the day-to-day activities of Sunlight Financial LLC.
The third-party investors in Sunlight Financial LLC do not possess substantive participating rights or the power to direct the day-to-day activities that most
directly affect the operations of Sunlight Financial LLC. However, these third-party investors hold both voting, noneconomic Class C shares in Sunlight Financial
Holdings Inc. on a one-for-one basis along with nonvoting, economic Class EX Units issued by Sunlight Financial LLC. No single third-party investor, or group
of third-party investors, possesses the substantive ability to remove the managing member of Sunlight Financial LLC. Sunlight considers Sunlight Financial LLC
a VIE for consolidation purposes and its managing member holds the controlling interest and is the primary beneficiary. Therefore, Sunlight consolidates
Sunlight Financial LLC and reflects Class EX unitholder interests in Sunlight Financial LLC held by third parties as noncontrolling interests.
Sunlight conducts substantially all operations through Sunlight Financial LLC and its consolidated subsidiary.
Segments — Sunlight operates through one operating and reportable segment, which reflects how the chief operating decision maker allocates resources and
assesses performance. Sunlight arranges for the origination of Loans by third-party lenders using a predominately single expense pool.
Risks and Uncertainties — In the normal course of business, Sunlight primarily encounters credit risk, which is the risk of default on Sunlight’s investments
that results from a borrower’s or counterparty’s inability or unwillingness to make contractually required payments.
Use of Estimates — The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of
revenue and expenses during the reporting period. Management makes subjective estimates of pending loan originations and sales, which significantly impacts
revenues; determinations of fair value, including goodwill and derivatives; estimates regarding loan performance, which impacts impairments and allowances for
loan losses; project installations, which impacts guarantee obligations; and the useful lives of intangible assets. Actual results may differ from those estimates.
Fair Value — GAAP requires the categorization of the fair value of financial instruments into three broad levels that form a hierarchy based on the transparency
of inputs to the valuation.
Level
1
2
3

Measurement
Inputs are unadjusted, quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities at the measurement date.
Inputs are other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly. Level 2 inputs include quoted
prices for similar instruments in active markets, and inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability.
Inputs are unobservable for the asset or liability, and include situations where there is little, if any, market activity for the asset or liability.
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Sunlight follows this hierarchy for its financial instruments, with classifications based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value measurement.
The following summarizes Sunlight’s financial instruments hierarchy at September 30, 2022:
Level
1

3

Financial Instrument
Cash and cash equivalents and
restricted cash
Public Warrants
Loans and loan participations, held-forinvestment
Contract derivative
Private Placement Warrants

Measurement
Estimates of fair value are measured using observable, quoted market prices, or Level 1 inputs
Estimates of fair value are measured using observable, quoted market prices of Sunlight’s
warrants.
Estimated fair value is generally determined by discounting the expected future cash flows
using inputs such as discount rates.
Estimated fair value based upon discounted expected future cash flows arising from the
contract.
Estimated fair value based upon quarterly valuation estimates of warrant instruments, based
upon quoted prices of Sunlight’s Class A shares and warrants thereon as well as fair value
inputs provided by an independent valuation firm.

Valuation Process — On a quarterly basis, with assistance from an independent valuation firm, management estimates the fair value of Sunlight’s Level 3
financial instruments. Sunlight’s determination of fair value is based upon the best information available for a given circumstance and may incorporate
assumptions that are management’s best estimates after consideration of a variety of internal and external factors. When an independent valuation firm
expresses an opinion on the fair value of a financial instrument in the form of a range, management selects a value within the range provided by the
independent valuation firm to assess the reasonableness of management’s estimated fair value for that financial instrument. At September 30, 2022, Sunlight’s
valuation process for Level 3 measurements, as described below, were conducted internally or by an independent valuation firm and reviewed by management.
Valuation of Loans and Loan Participations — Management generally considers Sunlight's loans and loan participations Level 3 assets in the fair value
hierarchy as such assets are illiquid investments that are specific to the loan product, for which there is limited market activity. On a quarterly basis,
management engages an independent valuation firm to estimate the fair value of each loan or loan participation categorized as a Level 3 asset.
Valuation of Contract Derivative — Management considers Sunlight's contracts under which Sunlight (a) arranges Loans for the purchase and installation of
home improvements other than residential solar energy systems (“Contract Derivative 1”) and (b) earns income from the prepayment of certain of those Loans
sold to an Indirect Channel Loan Purchaser (“Contract Derivative 2”), both considered derivatives under GAAP, as Level 3 financial instruments in the fair value
hierarchy as such instruments represent bilateral, nontraded agreements for which there is limited market activity. On a quarterly basis, management engages
an independent valuation firm to estimate the fair value of the contracts.
Valuation of Warrants — Management considers the Private Placement Warrants (Note 6) redeemable for Sunlight’s equity as Level 3 liabilities in the fair value
hierarchy as liquid markets do not exist for such liabilities. On a quarterly basis, management engages an independent valuation firm to estimate the fair value
of Sunlight’s warrants, which includes models that include estimates of volatility, contractual terms, discount rates, dividend rates, expiration dates, and risk-free
rates.
Other Valuation Matters — For Level 3 financial assets acquired and financial liabilities assumed during the calendar month immediately preceding a quarter
end that were conducted in an orderly transaction with an unrelated party, management generally believes that the transaction price provides the most
observable indication of fair value given the illiquid nature of these financial instruments, unless management is aware of any circumstances that may cause a
material change in the fair value through the remainder of the reporting period. For instance, significant changes in a counterparty’s intent or ability to make
payments on a financial asset may cause material changes in the fair value of that financial asset.
See Note 7 for additional information regarding the valuation of Sunlight's financial assets and liabilities.
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Sales of Financial Assets and Financing Agreements — Sunlight will, from time to time, facilitate the sale of Indirect Channel Loans. In each case, the
transferred loans are legally isolated from Sunlight and control of the transferred loans passes to the transferee, who may pledge or exchange the transferred
asset without constraint of Sunlight. Sunlight neither recognizes any financial assets nor incurs any liabilities as a result of the sale, but does recognize revenue
based upon the difference between proceeds received from the transferee and the proceeds paid to the transferor.
Leases — Sunlight recognizes right-of-use assets and lease liabilities at the commencement date of the lease based on the present value of remaining fixed
and determinable lease payments over the lease term. Sunlight calculates the present value of future payments by using an estimated incremental borrowing
rate, which approximates the rate at which Sunlight would borrow on a secured basis and over a similar term, and recognizes lease expense for operating
leases on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Right-of-use assets represent Sunlight’s right to control the use of an identified asset for the lease term and
lease liabilities represent Sunlight’s obligation to make lease payments arising from the lease. Sunlight uses the incremental borrowing rate on the
commencement date in determining the present value of the lease payments.
Balance Sheet Measurement
Cash and Cash Equivalents and Restricted Cash — Cash and cash equivalents consist of bank checking accounts and money market accounts. Sunlight
considers all highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less at the time of purchase to be cash equivalents. Sunlight maintains cash in
restricted accounts pursuant to various lending agreements and considers other cash amounts restricted under certain agreements with other counterparties.
Substantially all amounts on deposit with major financial institutions exceed insured limits. Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash are carried at cost,
which approximates fair value. Sunlight reported cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash in the following line items of its Unaudited Condensed
Consolidated Balance Sheets, which totals the aggregate amount presented in Sunlight’s Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows:
Successor
September 30, 2022 December 31, 2021
Cash and cash equivalents
$
70,569 $
91,882
Restricted cash and cash equivalents
1,228
2,018
$
71,797 $
93,900
Total cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash shown in the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
Financing Receivables — Sunlight records financing receivables for (a) advances that Sunlight remits to contractors to facilitate the installation of residential
solar systems and the construction or installation of other home improvement projects and (b) loans and loan participations.
Advances — In certain circumstances, Sunlight will provide a contractually agreed upon percentage of cash to a contractor related to a Loan that has not yet
been funded by either a Direct Channel Partner or its Bank Partner as well as amounts funded to contractors in anticipation of loan funding. Such advances are
generally repaid upon the earlier of (a) a specified number of days from the date of the advance outlined within the respective contractor contract or (b) the
substantial installation of the residential solar system or the construction or installation of other home improvement projects. In either case, Sunlight will net
such amounts advanced from payments otherwise due to the related contractor. Sunlight carries advances at the amount advanced, net of allowances for
losses and charge-offs.
Loans and Loan Participations — Sunlight recognizes Indirect Channel Loans purchased from Sunlight’s Bank Partner as well as its 5.0% participation interests
in Indirect Channel Loans as financing receivables held-for-investment based on management's intent, and Sunlight's ability, to hold those investments through
the foreseeable future or contractual maturity. Financing receivables that are held‑for‑investment are carried at their aggregate outstanding face amount, net of
applicable (a) unamortized acquisition premiums and discounts, (b) allowance for losses and (c) charge-offs or write-downs of impaired receivables. Upon
consummation of the Business Combination, Sunlight adjusted the carrying value of loans and loan participations to their fair values at the Closing Date. If
management determines a loan or loan participation is impaired, management writes down the loan or loan participation through a charge to the provision for
losses. See “— Impairment” for additional discussion regarding management’s determination for loan losses. Sunlight applies the interest method to amortize
acquisition premiums and discounts or on a straight-line basis when it approximates the interest method. Sunlight has not acquired any material loans with
deteriorated credit quality that were not charged off upon purchase.
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Impairment — Sunlight holds financing receivables that management evaluates for impairment indicators at least quarterly using information obtained at least
annually. In conjunction with this review, management assesses such factors as historical losses, changes in the nature and volume of financing receivables,
overall portfolio quality, and existing economic conditions that may affect the customer’s ability to pay. In certain cases, management assigns a risk rating based
on certain aforementioned factors.
The evaluation of these indicators of impairment requires significant judgment by management to determine whether failure to collect contractual amounts is
probable as well as in estimating the resulting loss allowance. While management uses the best information available to make its evaluation, future adjustments
to the allowance may be necessary if there are significant changes in economic conditions. These evaluations are inherently subjective, as they require material
estimates and may be susceptible to significant change. Actual losses, if any, could materially differ from these estimates.
If management deems that it is probable that Sunlight will be unable to collect all amounts owed according to the contractual terms of a receivable, impairment
of that receivable is indicated. Consistent with this definition, all receivables for which the accrual of interest has been discontinued (nonaccrual loans) are
considered impaired. If management considers a receivable to be impaired, management establishes an allowance for losses through a valuation provision in
earnings, which reduces the carrying value of the receivable to (a) the amounts management expects to collect, for receivables due within 90 days, or (b) the
present value of expected future cash flows discounted at the receivable’s contractual effective rate. Impaired financing receivables are charged off against the
allowance for losses when a financing receivable is more than 120 days past due or when management believes that collectability of the principal is remote, if
earlier. Sunlight credits subsequent recoveries, if any, to the allowance when received.
At September 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021, Sunlight evaluated financing receivables collectively, based upon those financing receivables with similar
characteristics. Sunlight individually evaluates nonaccrual loans with contractual balances of $50,000 or more and receivables whose terms have been modified
in a troubled debt restructuring with contractual balances of $50,000 or more to establish specific allowances for such receivables, if required. Those financing
receivables where impairment is indicated were evaluated individually for impairment, though such amounts were not material.
Advances — For advances made by Sunlight, management performs an evaluation of impairment indicators using financial information obtained from its
counterparties and third parties as well as historical experience. Such indicators may include the borrower’s financial wherewithal and recent operating
performance as well as macroeconomic trends. Management rates the potential for advance receivables by reviewing the counterparty. The counterparty is
rated by overall risk tier on a scale of “1” through “5,” from least to greatest risk, which management reviews and updates on at least an annual basis.
Counterparties may be granted advance approval within any overall risk tier, however tier “5” advance approvals are approved on an exception basis. A subset
category of the overall risk tier is the financial risk of the counterparty. As with the overall risk tier, counterparties may be granted advance approval within any
financial risk tier; however financial risk tier “5” advance approvals are approved on an exception basis. As part of that approval, management will set an
individual counterparty advance dollar limit, which cannot be exceeded prior to additional review and approval. The overall risk tiers are defined as follows:
1
Low Risk
The counterparty has demonstrated low risk characteristics. The counterparty is a well-established company within the
applicable industry, with low commercial credit risk, excellent reputational risk (e.g. online ratings, low complaint levels), and
an excellent financial risk assessment.
2
Low-toThe counterparty has demonstrated low to medium risk characteristics. The counterparty is a well-established company within
Medium Risk
the applicable industry, with low to medium commercial credit risk, excellent to above average reputational risk (e.g. online
ratings, lower complaint levels), and/or an excellent to above average financial risk assessment.
3
Medium Risk
The counterparty has demonstrated medium risk characteristics. The counterparty may be a less established company within
the applicable industry than risk tier "1" or "2", with medium commercial credit risk, excellent to average reputational risk (e.g.,
online ratings, average complaint levels), and/or an excellent to average financial risk assessment.
4
Medium-toThe counterparty has demonstrated medium to high risk characteristics. The counterparty is likely to be a less established
High Risk
company within the applicable industry than risk tiers "1" through "3," with medium to high commercial credit risk, excellent to
below average reputational risk (e.g. online ratings, higher complaint levels), and/or an excellent to below average financial
risk assessment.
5
Higher Risk
The counterparty has demonstrated higher risk characteristics. The counterparty is a less established company within the
applicable industry, with higher commercial credit risk, and/or below average reputational risk (e.g. online ratings, higher
complaint levels), and/or below average financial risk assessment. Tier "5" advance approvals will be approved on an
exception basis.

11

Loans and Loan Participations, Held-For-Investment — Sunlight aggregates performing loans and loan participations into pools for the evaluation of impairment
based on like characteristics, such as loan type and acquisition date. Pools of loans are evaluated based on criteria such as an analysis of borrower
performance, credit ratings of borrowers, and historical trends in defaults and loss severities for the type and seasoning of loans and loan participations under
evaluation.
Goodwill — Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over the estimated fair values of the net tangible and intangible assets of acquired entities.
Sunlight performs a goodwill impairment test annually during the fourth quarter of the fiscal year and more frequently if an event or circumstance indicates that
impairment may have occurred. Triggering events that may indicate a potential impairment include, but are not limited to, significant adverse changes in
customer demand or business climate and related competitive considerations. Sunlight first performs a qualitative assessment to determine whether it is more
likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount. If so, Sunlight performs a two-step goodwill impairment test to identify
potential goodwill impairment and measure the amount of goodwill impairment loss to be recognized by the applicable reporting unit(s). If Sunlight determines
that the implied fair value of a reporting unit is greater than its carrying amount, the two-step goodwill impairment test is not required. Sunlight has one
reporting unit and, as part of its most recent annual impairment test during the fourth quarter of 2021, determined that it was more likely than not that the
implied fair value of the reporting unit in which Sunlight recorded goodwill was less than its carrying value primarily based upon market activities impacting
public companies similar to Sunlight. In September 2022, challenges in the macro-economic environment, such as rapidly rising interest rates impacting the
financial and market performance of Sunlight and it’s peers, caused management to perform a goodwill impairment test and record an additional $384.4 million.
The carrying value of Sunlight’s goodwill changed by the following amounts:
December 31, 2021 (Successor)
Goodwill
Accumulated impairment losses

$

Impairment losses

670,457
(224,701)
445,756
(384,379)

September 30, 2022 (Successor)
Goodwill
Accumulated impairment losses
$

670,457
(609,080)
61,377

Intangible Assets, Net — Sunlight identified the following intangible assets, recorded at fair value at the Closing Date of the Business Combination, and carried
at a value net of amortization over their estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis. Sunlight’s intangible assets are evaluated for impairment on at least a
quarterly basis:

Estimated Useful
Life
(in Years)
11.5
0.8
10.0
3.0 — 5.0

Asset
Contractor relationships (a)
Capital provider relationships (b)
Trademarks/ trade names (c)
Developed technology (d)
Accumulated amortization (e)(f)(g)
a.
b.
c.
d.
e.

Carrying Value
Successor
September 30,
2022
December 31, 2021
$
350,000 $
350,000
—
43,000
7,900
7,900
10,383
8,193
368,283
409,093
(40,610)
(43,254)
$
327,673 $
365,839

Represents the value of existing contractor relationships of Sunlight estimated using a multi-period excess earnings methodology.
Represents the value of existing relationships with Direct Channel Partners and Indirect Channel Loan Purchasers that may be estimated by applying a with-and-without
methodology.
Represents the trade names that Sunlight originated or acquired and valued using a relief-from-royalty method.
Represents technology developed by Sunlight for the purpose of generating income for Sunlight, and valued using a replacement cost method.
Amounts include amortization expense of $0.3 million, $0.3 million, and $0.0 million related to capitalized internally developed software costs for the three months ended
September 30, 2022 and the periods from July 10, 2021 through September 30, 2021 and July 1, 2021 through
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f.
g.

July 9, 2021 and $0.6 million and $1.5 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2022 and the period from January 1, 2021 through July 9, 2021, respectively.
Includes amortization expense of $8.5 million, $20.5 million, and $0.1 million for the three months ended September 30, 2022 and the periods from July 10, 2021 through
September 30, 2021 and July 1, 2021 through July 9, 2021 and $40.4 million and $1.4 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2022 and the period from January 1, 2021
through July 9, 2021, respectively.
At September 30, 2022, the approximate aggregate annual amortization expense for definite-lived intangible assets, including capitalized internally developed software costs as a
component of capitalized developed technology, are as follows:
Other Identified
Developed Technology
Intangible Assets
Total
October 1, through December 31, 2022
$
646 $
7,864 $
8,510
2023
2,573
31,199
33,772
2024
2,465
31,285
33,750
2025
1,689
31,199
32,888
2026
694
31,199
31,893
Thereafter
—
186,860
186,860
$
8,067 $
319,606 $
327,673

Property and Equipment, Net — Property and equipment are recorded at cost, less accumulated depreciation and amortization. Depreciation and amortization
are calculated using the straight-line method over the following estimated useful lives:
Carrying Value
Successor
Estimated Useful Life
Asset Category
(in Years)
September 30, 2022 December 31, 2021
Furniture, fixtures, and equipment
5
$
1,517 $
1,020
Computer hardware
5
1,308
1,108
Computer software
1 — 3
352
250
Shorter of life of improvement or lease
Leasehold improvements
term
—
2,829
3,177
5,207
Accumulated amortization and depreciation (a)
(1,496)
(1,138)
$
1,681 $
4,069
a.

Includes depreciation expense of $0.1 million, $0.1 million, $0.0 million, for the three months ended September 30, 2022 and the periods from July 10, 2021 through September 30,
2021, and July 1, 2021 through July 9, 2021 and $0.3 million and $0.2 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2022 and the period from January 1, 2021 through July 9,
2021, respectively.for the nine months ended September 30, 2022 and the period from January 1, 2021 through July 9, 2021, respectively.

Funding Commitments — Pursuant to Sunlight’s contractual arrangements with its Bank Partner, Direct Channel Partners, and contractors, each of Sunlight’s
Direct Channel Partners and its Bank Partner periodically remits to Sunlight the cash related to loans the funding source has originated. Sunlight has committed
to funding such amounts, less any amounts Sunlight is entitled to retain, to the relevant contractor when certain milestones relating to the installation of
residential solar systems or the construction of installation of other home improvement projects underlying the consumer receivable have been reached.
Sunlight presents any amounts that Sunlight retains in anticipation of a contractor completing an installation milestone as “Funding Commitments” on the
accompanying Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets, which totaled $21.4 million and $ 22.7 million at September 30, 2022 and December 31,
2021, respectively.
Guarantees — Sunlight records a liability for the guarantees it makes for certain Loans if it determines that it is probable that it will have to repurchase those
loans, in an amount based on the likelihood of such repurchase and the loss, if any, Sunlight expects to incur in connection with its repurchase of Loans that
may have experienced credit deterioration since the time of the loan’s origination.
Warrants — The Company has public and private placement warrants classified as liabilities as well as warrants issued to a capital provider classified as equity.
The Company classifies as equity any equity-linked contracts that (a) require physical settlement or net-share settlement or (b) give the Company a choice of
net-cash settlement or settlement in the Company’s own shares (physical settlement or net-share settlement). Warrants classified as equity are initially
measured at fair value. Subsequent changes in fair value are not recognized as long as the warrants continue to be classified as equity.
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The Company classifies as assets or liabilities any equity-linked contracts that (a) require net-cash settlement (including a requirement to net-cash settle the
contract if an event occurs and if that event is outside the Company’s control) or (b) give the counterparty a choice of net-cash settlement or settlement in
shares (physical settlement or net-share settlement). For equity-linked contracts that are classified as liabilities, the Company records the fair value of the
equity-linked contracts at each balance sheet date and records the change in the statements of operations as a gain (loss) from change in fair value of warrant
liability. The Company’s public warrant liability is valued using observable market prices for those public warrants. The Company’s private placement warrants
are valued using a binomial lattice pricing model when the warrants are subject to the make-whole table, or otherwise are valued using a Black-Scholes pricing
model. The Company’s warrants issued to a capital provider are valued using a Black-Scholes pricing model based on observable market prices for public
shares and warrants. The assumptions used in preparing these models include estimates such as volatility, contractual terms, discount rates, dividend yield,
expiration dates and risk-free rates.
Distributions Payable — Sunlight Financial LLC accrues estimated tax payments to holders of its members’ equity when earned in accordance with Sunlight
Financial LLC’s organizational agreements. On December 31, 2020, Sunlight accrued $1.3 million, $1.2 million, and $5.0 million, or $4.38, $5.33, and $ 13.34
per unit, payable to Class A-1, A-2, and A-3 Units, respectively, of which Sunlight paid $ 7.5 million during the nine months ended September 30, 2021. As of
September 30, 2022, Sunlight Financial LLC no longer expects to generate taxable income during the current tax year and expects to use tax distributions
already declared during the current tax year to offset future estimated tax liability distributions, if any. Consequently, Sunlight Financial LLC did not declare any
distributions during the three months ended September 30, 2022.
Other Assets and Accounts Payable, Accrued Expenses, and Other Liabilities — At each of September 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021, (a) other assets
included Sunlight’s contract derivatives, prepaid expenses, accounts receivable, and interest receivable, and (b) accounts payable, accrued expenses, and
other liabilities included Sunlight’s guarantee liability, accrued compensation, and other payables. Other assets at September 30, 2022 also included right-of-use
assets arising from operating leases, and other liabilities at September 30, 2022 also included associated lease liabilities and contract derivative liabilities.
Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Subsidiaries — Noncontrolling interests represent the portion of Sunlight Financial LLC that the Company controls and
consolidates but does not own. The Company recognizes each noncontrolling holder’s respective share of the estimated fair value of the net assets at the date
of formation or acquisition. Noncontrolling interests are subsequently adjusted for the noncontrolling holder’s share of additional contributions, distributions, and
their share of the net earnings or losses of each respective consolidated entity. The Company allocates net income or loss to noncontrolling interests based on
the weighted average ownership interest during the period. The net income or loss that is not attributable to the Company is reflected in net income (loss)
attributable to noncontrolling interests in the Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations. The Company does not recognize a gain or loss on
transactions with a consolidated entity in which it does not own 100% of the equity, but the Company reflects the difference in cash received or paid from the
noncontrolling interests carrying amount as additional paid-in-capital.
Class EX Units issued by Sunlight Financial LLC are exchangeable, along with the Company’s Class C shares on a one-for-one basis, into the Company’s
Class A common stock. Class A common stock issued upon exchange of a holder’s noncontrolling interest is accounted for at the carrying value of the
surrendered limited partnership interest and the difference between the carrying value and the fair value of the Class A common stock issued is recorded to
additional paid-in-capital.
Treasury Stock — Sunlight accounts for treasury stock under the cost method. When treasury stock is re-issued at a price higher than its cost, the difference is
recorded as a component of additional paid-in-capital. When treasury stock is re-issued at a price lower than its cost, the difference is recorded as a component
of additional paid-in-capital to the extent that there are previously recorded gains to offset the losses. If there are no treasury stock gains in additional paid-incapital, the losses upon re-issuance of treasury stock are recorded as a reduction of retained earnings.
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Income Recognition
Revenue Recognition — Sunlight recognizes revenue from (a) platform fees on the Direct Channel Loans when the Direct Channel Partner funds the Loans
and on the Indirect Channel Loans when the Indirect Channel Loan Purchaser buys the Loans from the balance sheet of Sunlight’s Bank Partner and (b) loan
portfolio management, servicing, and administration services on a monthly basis as Sunlight provides such services for that month. Sunlight’s contracts include
the following groups of similar services, which do not include any significant financing components:
Successor
Predecessor
Successor
Predecessor
For the Three
For the Period July
For the Nine
Months Ended
10, 2021 to
For the Period July
Months Ended
For the Period
September 30,
September 30,
1, 2021 to July 9,
September 30,
January 1, 2021 to
2022
2021
2021
2022
July 9, 2021
Platform fees, net(a)
$
31,446 $
24,159
$
1,983 $
85,473
$
50,757
Other revenues(b)
1,819
2,361
91
5,613
2,307
$
33,265 $
26,520
$
2,074 $
91,086
$
53,064
a.
b.

Amounts presented net of variable consideration in the form of rebates to certain contractors. Includes platform fees from affiliates of $0.0 million, $0.0 million, $0.0 million, for the
three months ended September 30, 2022 and the periods from July 10, 2021 through September 30, 2021, and July 1, 2021 through July 9, 2021 and $0.0 million and $0.2 million for
the nine months ended September 30, 2022 and the period from January 1, 2021 through July 9, 2021, respectively. (Note 9).
Includes loan portfolio management, administration, and other ancillary fees Sunlight earns that are incidental to its primary operations. Sunlight earned $0.0 million, $0.0 million, $0.0
million, for the three months ended September 30, 2022 and the periods from July 10, 2021 through September 30, 2021, and July 1, 2021 through July 9, 2021 and $0.1 million and
$0.1 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2022 and the period from January 1, 2021 through July 9, 2021, respectively, in administrative fees from an affiliate. (Note 9).

Platform Fees, Net — Sunlight arranges Loans for the purchase and installation of residential solar energy systems on behalf of its Direct Channel Partners,
Bank Partner, and Indirect Channel Loan Purchasers. As agent, Sunlight presents platform fees on a net basis at the time that Direct Channel Partners or
Indirect Channel Loan Purchasers obtain control of the service provided to facilitate their origination or purchase of a Loan, which is no earlier than when
Sunlight delivers loan documentation to the customer. Sunlight wholly satisfies its performance obligation to Direct Channel Partners, Bank Partner, and Indirect
Channel Loan Purchasers, as it relates to such platform fees, upon origination or purchase of a Loan. Sunlight considers rebates offered by Sunlight to certain
contractors in exchange for volume commitments as variable components to transaction prices; such variability resolves upon the contractor’s satisfaction of
their volume commitment.
The contracts under which Sunlight (a) arranges Indirect Channel Loans for the purchase and installation of home improvements other than residential solar
energy systems and (b) earns income from the prepayment of certain of those Indirect Channel Loans sold to an Indirect Channel Loan Purchaser are
considered derivatives under GAAP. As such, Sunlight’s revenues exclude the platform fees that Sunlight earns in connection with these contracts. Instead,
Sunlight records realized gains on the derivatives within “Realized Gains on Contract Derivative, Net” in the accompanying Unaudited Condensed Consolidated
Statements of Operations. Sunlight realized gains (losses) of $(0.3) million, $1.4 million, $0.0 million, for the three months ended September 30, 2022 and the
periods from July 10, 2021 through September 30, 2021 and July 1, 2021 through July 9, 2021 and $3.7 million and $3.0 million for the nine months ended
September 30, 2022 and the period from January 1, 2021 through July 9, 2021, respectively, in connection with these contracts (Note 4). However, Sunlight
recognized platform fee revenue for its facilitation of direct channel home improvement loans of $1.6 million, $0.0 million, $0.0 million, for the three months
ended September 30, 2022 and the periods from July 10, 2021 through September 30, 2021, and July 1, 2021 through July 9, 2021 and $3.2 million, and
$0.0 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2022 and the period from January 1, 2021 through July 9, 2021, respectively.
Other Revenues — Sunlight provides monthly services in connection with the portfolio management, servicing, and administration of Loans originated by certain
Direct Channel Partners, Sunlight’s Bank Partner, and an Indirect Channel Loan Purchaser. Such services may include the reporting of loan performance
information, administration of servicing performed by third parties, and portfolio management services.
Interest Income — Loans where management expects to collect all contractually required principal and interest payments are considered performing loans.
Sunlight accrues interest income on performing loans based on the unpaid principal balance (“UPB”) and contractual terms of the loan. Interest income also
includes discounts associated with the loans purchased as a yield adjustment using the effective interest method over the loan term. Sunlight expenses direct
loan acquisition costs for loans acquired by Sunlight as incurred. Sunlight does not accrue interest on loans placed on non-accrual status or on loans where the
collectability of the principal or interest of the loan are deemed uncertain.
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Loans are considered past due or delinquent if the required principal and interest payments have not been received as of the date such payments are due.
Generally, loans, including impaired loans, are placed on non-accrual status when (a) either principal or interest payments are 90 days or more past due based
on contractual terms or (b) an individual analysis of a borrower’s creditworthiness indicates a loan should be placed on non-accrual status. When a loan owned
by Sunlight (each, a “Balance Sheet Loan”) is placed on non-accrual status, Sunlight ceases to recognize interest income on the loans and reverses previously
accrued and unpaid interest, if any. Subsequent receipts on non-accrual loans are recorded as a reduction of principal, and interest income may only be
recorded on a cash basis after recovery of principal is reasonably assured. Sunlight may return a loan to accrual status when repayment of principal and interest
is reasonably assured under the terms of the restructured loan. Advances are created at par and do not bear, and therefore do not accrue, interest income.
Expense Recognition
Cost of Revenues — Sunlight’s cost of revenues includes the aggregate costs of the services that Sunlight performs to satisfy its contractual performance
obligations to customers as well as variable consideration that Sunlight pays for its fee revenue that do not meet the criteria necessary for netting against gross
revenues.
Sunlight Rewards™ Program — The Sunlight Rewards™ Program is a proprietary loyalty program that Sunlight offers to salespeople selling residential solar
systems for Sunlight’s network of contractors. Sunlight records a contingent liability using the estimated incremental cost of each point based upon the points
earned, the redemption value, and an estimate of probability of redemption consistent with Sunlight’s historical redemption experience under the program.
When a salesperson redeems points from Sunlight’s third-party loyalty program vendor, Sunlight pays the stated redemption value of the points redeemed to
the vendor.
Compensation and Benefits — Management expenses salaries, benefits, and equity-based compensation as services are provided. “Compensation and
Benefits” in the accompanying Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations includes expenses not otherwise included in Sunlight’s cost of
revenues, such as compensation costs associated with information technology, sales and marketing, product management, and overhead.
Equity-Based Compensation — Sunlight granted awards of restricted stock units (“RSUs”) to employees and directors under Sunlight’s 2021 Equity Incentive
Plan (“Equity Plan”). RSUs are Class A restricted share units which entitle the holder to receive Class A Shares on various future dates if the applicable service
conditions, if any, are met. Sunlight expenses the grant-date fair value of awards on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period. Sunlight does not
estimate forfeitures, and records actual forfeitures as they occur.
Predecessor — Prior to the Business Combination, Sunlight Financial LLC granted equity-based compensation awards that vested contingent upon one or more
of the following conditions: (a) time-based service, (b) performance conditions based upon Sunlight Financial LLC’s equity value, as determined by Sunlight
Financial LLC’s board or directors or a qualifying sale of Sunlight Financial LLC’s equity, achieving certain contractual thresholds (“Threshold Equity Value”),
and (c) whether Sunlight Financial LLC issued Class A Units in-kind to satisfy the preferred return on Class A Units during the award’s vesting period until May
25, 2023 (“PIK Vesting Requirement”). Sunlight generally expensed the grant-date fair value of these equity-based compensation awards using the following
methods, recognizing forfeitures as they occur, based upon the following vesting contingencies:
• Time-Based Service — Sunlight Financial LLC expensed awards that only requires time-based service conditions ratably over the required service period
or immediately if there was no required service period.
• PIK Vesting Requirement — Sunlight Financial LLC awarded equity-based compensation in the form of anti-dilution units. Such awards vested in an
amount generally proportionate to the dilution of related Class C Units or LTIP Units that resulted from the issuance of additional Class A Units. Sunlight
Financial LLC expensed awards in the period in which (a) dilution of related Class C Units or LTIP Units would otherwise occur and (b) the award had
satisfied other vesting conditions.
• Performance-Based Conditions — Sunlight Financial LLC expensed awards in the period in which (a) it was probable that the performance-based
condition was satisfied and (b) the award had satisfied other vesting conditions. For equity-based compensation awards in the form of Class C Units or
long-term incentive plan units (“LTIP Units”) (Note 6), vesting would generally occur upon a qualifying sale of Sunlight’s equity.
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Generally, Sunlight Financial LLC only expensed those awards that only required time-based service conditions since other awards only satisfied vesting
requirements upon closing of the Business Combination. Awards that represented services performed prior to the Business Combination reduced the purchase
consideration in Sunlight’s calculation of goodwill. Awards that were still subject to time-based service conditions upon closing of the Business Combination and
represented future service were replaced with awards of restricted Class A Shares and restricted Class EX Units. Sunlight expensed the difference between the
value of the existing awards and the replacement awards upon closing of the Business Combination. Sunlight expenses the value of the replacement awards
over the remaining service period on a straight-line basis.
Selling, General, and Administrative — Management expenses selling, general, and administrative costs, including legal, audit, other professional service fees,
travel and entertainment, and insurance premiums as incurred. Sunlight recognizes expenses associated with co-marketing agreements when earned by the
counterparty.
Property and Technology — Management expenses rent, information technology and telecommunication services, and noncapitalizable costs to internally
develop software as incurred.
Income Taxes — The Company accounts for income taxes under the asset and liability method. Under this method, deferred tax assets and liabilities are
determined based on differences between the consolidated financial statement carrying amounts and tax bases of assets and liabilities and operating loss and
tax credit carryforwards and are measured using the enacted tax rates that are expected to be in effect when the differences reverse. The effect on deferred tax
assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in the Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations in the period that includes the
enactment date. Valuation allowances are established when necessary to reduce deferred tax assets to an amount that, in the opinion of management, is more
likely than not to be realized.
The Company accounts for uncertain tax positions by reporting a liability for unrecognizable tax benefits resulting from uncertain tax positions taken or expected
to be taken in a tax return. The Company recognizes interest and penalties, if any, related to unrecognized tax benefits in income tax expense.
In accordance with the operating agreement of Sunlight Financial LLC, to the extent possible without impairing its ability to continue to conduct its business and
activities, and in order to permit its member to pay taxes on the taxable income allocated to those members, Sunlight Financial LLC is required to make
distributions to the member in the amount equal to the estimated tax liability of the member computed as if the member paid income tax at the highest marginal
federal and state rate applicable to a corporate entity or individual resident in New York, New York to the extent Sunlight’s operations generate taxable income
allocable to the applicable member. Sunlight Financial LLC declared $2.7 million of distributions, of which it paid $ 1.2 million, during the nine months ended
September 30, 2022. As of September 30, 2022, Sunlight Financial LLC no longer expects to generate taxable income during the current tax year and expects
to use tax distributions already declared during the current tax year to offset future estimated tax liability distributions, if any. Consequently, Sunlight Financial
LLC did not declare any distributions during the three months ended September 30, 2022. Sunlight did not declare any distributions for the three or nine months
ended September 30, 2021.
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Business Combination
The Business Combination among the parties to the Business Combination Agreement was completed on July 9, 2021. Sunlight accounted for the Business
Combination as a business combination under ASC 805, Business Combinations. The acquisition of Sunlight Financial LLC constitutes the acquisition of a
business for purposes of ASC 805, and due to the change in control, has been accounted for using the acquisition method with Sunlight Financial Holdings Inc.
as the accounting acquirer and Sunlight Financial LLC as the accounting acquiree based on evaluation of the following factors:
• Sunlight Financial Holdings Inc. is the sole managing member of Sunlight Financial LLC having full and complete authority over of all the affairs of
Sunlight Financial LLC while the non-managing member equity holders do not have substantive participating or kick out rights; and
• The predecessor controlling unitholders of Sunlight Financial LLC does not have a controlling interest in the Company as it held less than 50% of the
voting interests after the Business Combination.
These factors support the conclusion that Sunlight Financial Holdings Inc. acquired a controlling interest in Sunlight Financial LLC and is the accounting
acquirer. Sunlight Financial Holdings Inc. is the primary beneficiary of Sunlight Financial LLC, which is a variable interest entity, since it has the power to direct
the activities of Sunlight Financial LLC that most significantly impact Sunlight Financial LLC's economic performance through its role as the managing member.
Sunlight Financial Holdings Inc.’s variable interest in Sunlight Financial LLC includes ownership of Sunlight Financial LLC, which results in the right and
obligation to receive benefits and absorb losses of Sunlight Financial LLC that could potentially be significant to Sunlight Financial Holdings Inc. Therefore, the
Business Combination represented a change in control and is accounted for using the acquisition method. Under the acquisition method of accounting, the
purchase price is allocated to the tangible and intangible assets acquired and the liabilities assumed from Sunlight Financial LLC based on their estimated
acquisition-date fair values.
The cash consideration in the Business Combination included cash from (a) a trust account held by Spartan in the amount of $ 345.0 million which Spartan
received in its initial public offering of 34,500,000 shares of Class A common stock, less $ 192.3 million withdrawal of funds from that account to fund the
redemption of 19,227,063 shares of Class A common stock at approximately $ 10.00 per share, and (b) $ 250.0 million in proceeds from the investors purchasing
an aggregate of 25,000,000 Class A common stock in connection with the Business Combination ("PIPE Investment"). The Company received $ 55.1 million,
which includes $5.6 million used to pay tax withholding related to cash compensation paid to the Company's employees at the closing of the Business
Combination.
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The following is an estimate of the fair value of consideration transferred and the purchase price allocation in connection with the Business Combination:
Amount
Purchase Consideration
Equity consideration paid to existing Sunlight Financial LLC ownership in Class A Common Stock, net (a)
$
357,800
Rollover of Sunlight Financial LLC historical warrants
2,499
Cash consideration to existing Sunlight Financial LLC interests, net (b)
296,281
Cash paid for seller transaction costs
8,289
$
664,869
Fair Value of Net Assets Acquired
Cash and cash equivalents
$
59,786
Restricted cash
3,844
Advances
42,622
Financing receivables
5,117
Goodwill(c)
670,457
Intangible assets (d)
407,600
Property and equipment
1,047
Due from affiliates
1,839
Other assets
4,561
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
(19,210)
Funding commitments
(21,485)
Debt
(20,613)
Due to affiliates
(761)
Warrants, at fair value
—
Deferred tax liability
(42,212)
Other liabilities
(512)
Fair value of noncontrolling interests (e)
(427,211)
$
664,869
a.

Equity consideration paid to Blocker Holders consisted of the following:
38,151,192

Common Class A shares
Fair value per share

$

9.46

Equity consideration paid to existing Blocker Holders
Acceleration of post business combination expense

$

Equity consideration paid to existing Sunlight Financial LLC members, net

$

360,910
(3,110)
357,800

b.
c.
d.

Net of $0.0 million acceleration of post business combination expense.
Goodwill, as a component of the step-up in tax basis from the Business Combination, is tax deductible for the Company in the estimated amount $149.7 million.
The fair value of the definite-lived intangible assets is as follows:
Weighted Average Useful
Lives
(in Years)
Fair Value
Contractor relationships
11.5 $
350,000
Capital provider relationships
0.8
43,000
Trademarks/ trade names
10.0
7,900
Developed technology
5.0
6,700
$
407,600

e.

Noncontrolling interests represent the 34.9% ownership in Sunlight Financial LLC not owned by Sunlight Financial Holdings Inc. as of the Closing Date. The fair value of the
noncontrolling interests follows:
46,216,054
Common Class EX units
Fair value per unit

$

9.46

Fair value of Class EX units
Less: Post-combination compensation expenses

$

Noncontrolling interests

$

437,204
(9,993)
427,211
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The Company incurred $7.0 million of expenses directly related to the Business Combination from January 1, 2021 through July 9, 2021, which were included in
acquisition-related expense in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. On the Closing Date, the Company paid $12.1 million of deferred underwriting costs
related to Spartan's initial public offering. At the closing of the Business Combination, $7.5 million of fees related to the PIPE Investment were paid by the
Company. Additionally, Sunlight paid $ 7.9 million of acquisition-related advisory fees related to the Business Combination at the closing of the Business
Combination, which success fees were contingent upon the consummation of the Business Combination and not recognized in the Consolidated Statements of
Operations of the Predecessor or Successor. The nature of these fees relate to advisory and investment banker fees that were incurred and dependent on the
success of the Business Combination. The deferred underwriting commissions and costs pertaining to the cost of raising equity were treated as a reduction of
equity while Business Combination costs were expensed in the period incurred.
Unaudited Pro Forma Operating Results — The following unaudited pro forma financial information presents the results of operations for each of the three and
nine months ended September 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively, as if the Business Combination on July 9, 2021 had occurred as of January 1, 2021. The
unaudited pro forma results may not necessarily reflect actual results of operations that would have been achieved, nor are they necessarily indicative of future
results of operations. The unaudited pro forma results reflect the step-up amortization adjustments for the fair value of intangible assets acquired, transaction
expenses, nonrecurring post-combination compensation expense and the related adjustment to the income tax provision.

Revenue
Net income (loss) before income taxes
Income tax benefit (expense)
Noncontrolling interests in (income) loss of consolidated subsidiaries
Net income (loss) attributable to Class A shareholders

For the Three Months Ended September 30,
For the Nine Months Ended September 30,
2022
2021
2022
2021
$
33,265 $
28,594 $
91,086 $
53,064
(420,209)
4,927
(423,694)
(7,706)
19,330
(927)
19,490
1,449
151,696
(2,040)
152,954
3,191
(249,184)
1,960
(251,251)
(3,065)

Recent Accounting Pronouncements Issued, But Not Yet Adopted
The Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) has issued the following Accounting Standard Updates (“ASUs”) that may materially impact Sunlight’s
financial position and results of operations, or may impact the preparation of, but not materially affect, Sunlight’s consolidated financial statements.
As an “emerging growth company,” as defined in Section 2(a) of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (“Securities Act”), as modified by the Jumpstart Our
Business Startups Act of 2012 (“JOBS Act”), Sunlight is eligible to take advantage of certain exemptions from various reporting requirements that are applicable
to other public companies that are not “emerging growth companies.” Section 107 of the JOBS Act provides that an “emerging growth company” can take
advantage of the extended transition period provided in Section 7(a)(2)(B) of the Securities Act for complying with new or revised accounting standards. In other
words, an “emerging growth company” can delay the adoption of certain accounting standards until those standards would otherwise apply to private
companies. Unless otherwise stated, Sunlight elected to adopt recent accounting pronouncements using the extended transition period applicable to private
companies.
ASU No. 2020-06 Debt — Debt with Conversion and Other Options (Subtopic 470-20) and Derivatives and Hedging—Contracts in Entity’s Own Equity (Subtopic
815-40): Accounting for Convertible Instruments and Contracts in an Entity’s Own Equity — In August 2020, the FASB issued ASU No. 2020-06, which
simplifies accounting for convertible instruments by removing major separation models required under current GAAP, removes certain settlement conditions that
are required for equity contracts to qualify for the derivative scope exception, and simplifies the diluted earnings per share calculations. While Sunlight remains a
smaller reporting company, this guidance is effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning after December 15, 2023, with
early adoption permitted. Sunlight is currently evaluating the impact of the adoption of ASU 2020-06 on its consolidated financial statements.
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ASU No. 2020-04 Reference Rate Reform (Topic 848): Facilitation of the Effects of Reference Rate Reform on Financial Reporting — In March 2020, the FASB
issued ASU No. 2020-04, which provides optional expedients for a limited period of time to ease the potential burden in accounting for, or recognizing the
effects of, reference rate reform on financial reporting. ASU 2020-04 provides optional expedients and exceptions for applying GAAP to contracts, hedging
relationships, and other transactions affected by reference rate reform if certain criteria are met. The standard is effective for all entities as of March 12, 2020
through December 31, 2022. An entity can elect to apply the amendments as of any date from the beginning of an interim period that includes or is subsequent
to March 12, 2020, or prospectively from a date within an interim period that includes or is subsequent to March 12, 2020, up to that date that the financial
statements are available to be issued. Sunlight is currently evaluating the impact of the adoption of ASU 2020-04, as updated by ASU 2021-01 Reference Rate
Reform (Topic 848): Scope, on its consolidated financial statements.
ASU No. 2016-13 Financial Instruments — Credit Losses (Topic 326): Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments — The FASB issued ASU No.
2016-13 in June 2016. The standard amends the existing credit loss model to reflect a reporting entity’s current estimate of all expected credit losses and
requires a financial asset (or a group of financial assets) measured at amortized cost basis to be presented at a net amount expected to be collected through
deduction of an allowance for credit losses from the amortized cost basis of the financial asset(s). ASU No. 2016-13, as amended, is effective for Sunlight in the
fiscal year ended December 31, 2023. Early adoption was permitted beginning in the first quarter of 2018. With limited exceptions, an entity should apply ASU
No. 2016-13 by means of a cumulative-effect adjustment to the balance sheet as of the beginning of the fiscal year of adoption. Sunlight is currently evaluating
the new guidance to determine the impact it may have on its consolidated financial statements.
ASU No. 2022-02 Financial Instruments - Credit Losses (Topic 326) — Troubled Debt Restructuring and Vintage Disclosures — The FASB issued final
guidance amending ASC 310 to eliminate the recognition and measurement guidance for a troubled debt restructuring for creditors that have adopted ASC 326
and requiring them to make enhanced disclosures about loan modifications for borrowers experiencing financial difficulty. The guidance also requires public
business entities to present gross write-offs by year of origination in their vintage disclosures. For entities that have adopted ASC 326, the guidance is effective
for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2022, and interim periods therein. Early adoption is permitted. Entities that have not yet adopted ASC 326 will
apply the new guidance when they adopt ASC 326. Sunlight is currently evaluating the impact it may have on its consolidated financial statements.
Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements
ASU No. 2016-02 Leases — In February 2016, FASB issued ASU No. 2016-02. The standard requires that lessees recognize a right-of-use asset and
corresponding lease liability on the balance sheet for most leases. The guidance applied by a lessor under ASU No. 2016-02 is substantially similar to existing
GAAP. ASU No. 2016-02, as amended, and was effective for Sunlight for the quarter ended March 31, 2022.
Sunlight adopted ASU No. 2016-02 using the simplified transition method. As a result, Sunlight did not restate comparative periods and used a modified
retrospective approach to apply the standard beginning on January 1, 2022. Sunlight’s cumulative adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings was
not material and adoption of the standard did not have a material effect on the statements of operations or statements of cash flows. Sunlight applied available
practical expedient options, elected as a package whereby, among other things, Sunlight did not reassess historical conclusions related to contracts that contain
leases, lease classification, and initial direct costs for leases that commenced prior to the adoption date. See Note 10 for additional information regarding
Sunlight's leases.
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Note 3. Financing Receivables
Sunlight recognizes receivables primarily related to (a) advances that Sunlight remits to contractors to facilitate the installation of residential solar and home
improvement equipment and (b) loans and loan participations. Loans and loan participations primarily include Sunlight’s undivided 5.0% participation in certain
Indirect Channel Loans and Indirect Channel Loans purchased from its Bank Partner. The following tables summarize Sunlight’s financing receivables and
changes thereto:
Loans and Loan
Advances(a)
Participations(b)
Total
September 30, 2022 (Successor)
Amounts outstanding
$
64,066 $
4,095 $
68,161
Unamortized discount
—
(328)
(328)
Allowance for credit losses
(7,458)
(186)
(7,644)
$
56,608 $
3,581 $
60,189
Carrying value
December 31, 2021 (Successor)
Amounts outstanding
$
67,077 $
4,875 $
71,952
Unamortized discount
—
(414)
(414)
Allowance for credit losses
(238)
(148)
(386)
$
66,839 $
4,313 $
71,152
Carrying value
a.
b.

Represents advance payments made by Sunlight to certain contractors, generally on a short-term basis, in anticipation of a project’s substantial completion, including advances of
$6.6 million and $9.0 million, net of allowances of $2.6 million and $0.0 million, to Sunlight contractors not associated with specific installation projects at September 30, 2022 and
December 31, 2021, respectively.
Represents (i) Sunlight’s 5.0% participation interest in a pool of residential solar loans with an aggregate UPB of $3.8 million and $4.6 million at September 30, 2022 and
December 31, 2021, respectively, and (ii) Indirect Channel Loans purchased by Sunlight with an aggregate UPB of $0.3 million and $0.3 million at September 30, 2022 and
December 31, 2021, respectively. No loans or loan participations were individually evaluated for impairment at September 30, 2022 or December 31, 2021.
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Successor
For the Three
For the Period July
Months Ended
10, 2021 to
September 30,
September 30,
2022
2021
Allowance for Credit Losses — Advances
Beginning Balance
$
3,487 $
—
Provision for credit losses
36,587
—
Realized losses (a)
(32,616)
—
$
7,458 $
—
Ending Balance
Allowance for Credit Losses — Loans and Loan Participations
Beginning Balance
$
146 $
Provision for credit losses
660
Realized losses
(620)
$
186 $
Ending Balance
Changes in Carrying Value — Loans and Loan Participations
Beginning Balance
$
3,794 $
Purchases, net (b)
620
Proceeds from principal repayments,
net
(194)
Accretion of loan discount
21
Provision for credit losses
(660)
$
3,581 $
Ending Balance
a.
b.

Predecessor
For the Period July
1, 2021 to July 9,
2021
$

$

—
254
(254)
—

$

5,105
254

$

(351)
35
(254)
4,789

Successor
For the Nine
Months Ended
September 30,
2022

$

$

211
—
—
211

$

111
—
—
111

$

4,707
—

$

—
5
—
4,712

$

$

$

Predecessor
For the Period
January 1, 2021 to
July 9, 2021

238
39,836
(32,616)
7,458

$

148
2,091
(2,053)
186

$

4,313
2,058

$

(780)
81
(2,091)
3,581

$

$

$

121
90
—
211

125
1,082
(1,096)
111

5,333
1,170
(832)
123
(1,082)
4,712

Sunlight charged-off advances totaling $32.4 million attributable to the insolvency of one of Sunlight’s largest contractors.
During the periods July 10, 2021 through September 30, 2021, July 1, 2021 through July 9, 2021, and January 1, 2021 through July 9, 2021, Sunlight purchased (i)5.0% participation
interests in 0, 0, and 54 loans with an aggregate UPB of $0.0 million, $0.0 million and $0.1 million, respectively, as well as (ii) 8, 0, and 51 Indirect Channel Loans with an aggregate
UPB of $0.1 million $0.0 million and $1.1 million, respectively. During three and nine months ended September 30, 2022, Sunlight purchased 19 and 67 Indirect Channel Loans with
an aggregate UPB of $0.5 million and $1.6 million, respectively.

In September 2022, one of Sunlight’s largest contractors experienced a liquidity shortfall that caused the installer to substantially wind down its business by the
end of that month and to begin liquidation of its business in October 2022. As a result, Sunlight determined it would be unable to collect $32.4 million Sunlight
advanced to the contractor at September 30, 2022, representing the total net amounts advanced to the contractor at that time.
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Advances — The following section presents certain characteristics of Sunlight’s advances.
Risk Ratings — As further described in Note 2, management evaluates Sunlight’s advances for impairment using risk ratings assigned on a scale of “1” (low
risk) through “5” (higher risk). The following table allocates the advance amount outstanding based on Sunlight’s internal risk ratings:

Risk Tier(a)
September 30, 2022 (Successor)
1 Low risk
2 Low-to-medium risk
3 Medium risk
4 Medium-to-high risk
5 Higher risk

Contractors

December 31, 2021 (Successor)
1 Low risk
2 Low-to-medium risk
3 Medium risk
4 Medium-to-high risk
5 Higher risk
a.

Total
Amount
Outstanding
112
141
70
17
5
345

$

76
77
17
—
—
170

$

$

$

% of Amount
Outstanding

15,019
32,225
6,126
7,796
2,900
64,066

23.4 %
50.3
9.6
12.2
4.5
100.0 %

14,575
38,955
13,547
—
—
67,077

21.7 %
58.1
20.2
—
—
100.0 %

At September 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021, the average risk rating of Sunlight’s advances was 2.2 (“low-to-medium risk”) and 2.0 (“low-to-medium risk”), weighted by total
advance amounts outstanding, respectively.

Delinquencies — The following table presents the payment status of advances held by Sunlight:
Amount
Outstanding (a)

Payment Delinquency
September 30, 2022 (Successor)
Current
Less than 30 days
30 days
60 days
90+ days(b)

$

$
December 31, 2021 (Successor)
Current
Less than 30 days
30 days
60 days
90+ days(b)

$

$
a.
b.

% of Amount
Outstanding

43,721
3,516
2,911
787
6,576
57,511

76.0 %
6.1
5.1
1.4
11.4
100.0 %

54,586
1,956
534
361
640
58,077

94.0 %
3.4
0.9
0.6
1.1
100.0 %

Excludes advances of $6.6 million and $9.0 million to Sunlight contractors not associated with specific installation projects and was not delinquent at September 30, 2022 and
December 31, 2021, respectively.
As further discussed in Note 2, Sunlight generally evaluates amounts delinquent for 90 days or more for impairment. Advances to contractors may remain outstanding as a result of
operational and various other factors that are unrelated to the contractor’s creditworthiness. Sunlight assessed advances 90 days or more, along with other factors that included the
contractor’s risk tier and historical loss experience, and established loss allowances of $1.2 million and $0.2 million at September 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021, respectively.
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Concentrations — The following table presents the concentration of advances, by counterparty:

Contractor
1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
Other(a)

$

$
a.

Successor
September 30, 2022
December 31, 2021
Amount
Amount
Outstanding
% of Total
Outstanding
% of Total
10,099
15.8 % $
9,496
14.2 %
6,560
10.2
1,745
2.6
6,155
9.6
20,894
31.1
3,873
6.0
2,610
3.9
3,441
5.4
2,093
3.1
2,808
4.4
2,571
3.8
2,130
3.3
855
1.3
1,109
1.7
302
0.5
1,071
1.7
99
0.1
963
1.5
486
0.7
25,857
40.4
25,926
38.7
64,066
100.0 % $
67,077
100.0 %

At September 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021, Sunlight recorded advances receivable from 335 and 160 counterparties not individually listed in the table above with average
balances of $0.1 million and $0.1 million, respectively. At December 31, 2021, Sunlight recorded advances receivable from individual counterparties of $12.5 million, $0.6 million, $0.6
million, $0.5 million, and $0.4 million that represent the largest advance concentrations included in “Other,” based on the amount outstanding.

Loans and Loan Participations — The following section presents certain characteristics of Sunlight’s investments in loans and loan participations. Unless
otherwise indicated, loan participation amounts are shown at Sunlight’s 5.0% interest in the underlying loan pool.
Delinquencies — The following table presents the payment status of loans and loan participations held by Sunlight:
Loan Participations
Payment Delinquency(a)
September 30, 2022 (Successor)
Current
Less than 30 days
30 days
60 days
90+ days
December 31, 2021 (Successor)
Current
Less than 30 days
30 days
60 days
90+ days
a.

Loans

UPB

3,391
74
16
4
5
3,490

$

3,780
73
15
10
7
3,885

$

$

$

Bank Partner Loans
Loans

Total

UPB

3,694
92
21
4
6
3,817

14
2
—
—
—
16

$

4,442
96
23
14
9
4,584

14
1
—
—
1
16

$

$

$

Loans

UPB

238
40
—
—
—
278

3,405
76
16
4
5
3,506

$

268
11
—
—
12
291

3,794
74
15
10
8
3,901

$

$

$

% of UPB

3,932
132
21
4
6
4,095

96.0 %
3.2
0.5
0.1
0.2
100.0 %

4,710
107
23
14
21
4,875

96.6 %
2.2
0.5
0.3
0.4
100.0 %

As further described in Note 2, Sunlight places loans delinquent greater than 90 days on nonaccrual status. Such loans had carrying values of $0.0 million and $0.0 million at
September 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021, respectively. Sunlight does not consider the average carrying values and interest income recognized (including interest income
recognized using a cash-basis method) material.
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Loan Collateral Concentrations — The following table presents the UPB of Balance Sheet Loans, including Sunlight’s relevant participation percentage of the
Indirect Channel Loans underlying the participation interests held by Sunlight, based upon the state in which the borrower lived at the time of loan origination:

State
Texas
California
Florida
New York
New Jersey
Arizona
Massachusetts
Pennsylvania
South Carolina
Missouri
Other(a)

$

$
a.

Successor
September 30, 2022
UPB
% of Total
773
18.9 % $
729
17.8
350
8.5
278
6.8
263
6.4
186
4.5
178
4.3
170
4.2
146
3.6
120
2.9
902
22.1
4,095
100.0 % $

December 31, 2021
UPB
% of Total
930
19.1 %
867
17.8
423
8.7
325
6.7
302
6.2
220
4.5
201
4.1
202
4.1
178
3.7
135
2.8
1,092
22.3
4,875
100.0 %

Sunlight only participates in residential solar loans originated within the United States, including 31 and 31 states not individually listed in the table above, none of which individually
amount to more than 2.7% and 2.6% of the UPB at September 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021, respectively.

Note 4. Derivatives
Sunlight has entered into two agreements considered derivatives under GAAP that are subject to interest rate, credit, and/ or prepayment risks. Interest rate risk
is sensitive to many factors, including governmental monetary and tax policies, domestic and international economic and political considerations, as well as
other factors. Credit risk includes a borrower’s inability or unwillingness to make contractually required payments. Prepayment risk includes a borrower’s
payment, or lack of payment, of contractual Loan amounts prior to the date such amounts are contractually due.
In January 2019, Sunlight entered into an agreement with its Bank Partner to arrange Indirect Channel Loans for the purchase and installation of home
improvements other than residential solar energy systems. The agreement (a) entitles Sunlight to cash flows collected from the portfolio of Indirect Channel
Loans held by its Bank Partner in excess of a contractual rate, based upon one-month LIBOR plus a fixed spread, and (b) requires Sunlight to pay its Bank
Partner for portfolio cash flows below such contractual rate. This contractual arrangement incorporates interest rate and credit risks related to the risk of default
on Indirect Channel Loans held by its Bank Partner that results from a borrower’s inability or unwillingness to make contractually required payments.
In February 2021, Sunlight entered into an agreement with an Indirect Channel Loan Purchaser to purchase Indirect Channel Loans for the installation of home
improvements other than residential solar energy systems. As part of that agreement, Sunlight is entitled to additional sale proceeds upon the prepayment of
certain Indirect Channel Loans sold. This contractual arrangement incorporates prepayment risk related to loan prepayment rates below Sunlight’s expectations.
Sunlight’s contract derivatives are recorded at fair value in the accompanying Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets as follows:

Contract derivative 1
Contract derivative 2

Balance Sheet Location
Other assets (Other liabilities)
Other assets
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Successor
September 30, 2022 December 31, 2021
$
(1,298) $
1,076
462
335
$
(836) $
1,411

The following table summarizes notional amounts related to derivatives:
Successor
September 30, 2022 December 31, 2021
$
82,251 $
38,879
39,793
37,891

Contract derivative 1 (a)
Contract derivative 2 (b)
a.
b.

Represents the carrying value of Indirect Channel Loans for the purchase and installation of home improvements other than residential solar energy systems held by Sunlight’s Bank
Partner.
Represents the unpaid principal balance of the Loans at time of sale to the Indirect Channel Loan Purchaser for which Sunlight is entitled to income in the event of prepayment of the
Indirect Channel Loans.

The following table summarizes all income (loss) recorded in relation to derivatives:
Successor
For the Three
For the Period July
Months Ended
10, 2021 to
September 30, 2022 September 30, 2021
Change in fair value of contract derivatives, net
Contract derivative 1
$
Contract derivative 2
$
Realized gains/(losses) on contract derivatives, net
Contract derivative 1
$
Contract derivative 2
$

(2,167)
(173)
(2,340)

$

(378)
100
(278)

$

For the Period July 1,
2021 to July 9, 2021

Successor
For the Nine Months
Ended September
30, 2022

509
(20)
489

$

88
37
125

$

1,299
78
1,377

$

5
1
6

$

$

$

Predecessor

$

$

$

$

Predecessor
For the Period
January 1, 2021 to
July 9, 2021

(2,374)
127
(2,247)

$

3,429
257
3,686

$

$

$

(932)
270
(662)
2,950
42
2,992

Note 5. Debt Obligations
Debt consists of the following:
Successor
December 31,
2021

September 30, 2022
Weighted Average

Revolving credit facility(a)
a.

Outstanding
Month Issued
Face Amount
Apr 2021
$
20,613

Carrying
Value
$ 20,613

Maximum
Facility Size
$
30,000

Final Stated
Maturity
Apr 2023

Funding Cost Life (Years) Carrying Value(a)
9.8 %
0.6 $
20,613

In March 2016, Sunlight entered into a Loan and Security Agreement with a lender (“Prior Lender”). In May 2019, Sunlight and Prior Lender amended and restated the agreement to
provide Sunlight a $15.0 million revolving credit facility (“Prior Facility”). In April 2021, Sunlight paid the Prior Facility in full using proceeds from a Loan and Security Agreement into
which Sunlight entered with a Lender and replaced the associated standby letter of credit. Borrowings under the current $30.0 million revolving credit facility, secured by the net
assets of Sunlight Financial LLC, bear interest at a per annum rate equal to the sum of (i) a floating rate index and (ii) a fixed margin. The facility includes unused facility costs, and
amounts borrowed under this facility are nonrecourse to Sunlight Financial Holdings Inc.

Sunlight’s debt obligations are subject to customary loan covenants and event of default provisions, including event of default provisions triggered by a failure to
maintain minimum liquidity and earnings as well as maintaining capacity to fund Loans.
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Activities — Activities related to the carrying value of Sunlight’s debt obligations were as follows:

Beginning Balance
Borrowings
Repayments
Amortization of deferred financing costs (a)
Ending Balance
a.

Successor
For the Three
For the Period
Months Ended
July 10, 2021 to
September 30,
September 30,
2022
2021
$
20,613 $
20,613
—
—
—
—
—
—
$
20,613 $
20,613

Predecessor
For the Period
July 1, 2021 to
July 9, 2021
$
20,613
—
—
—
$
20,613

Successor
For the Nine
Months Ended
September 30,
2022
$
20,613
—
—
—
$
20,613

Predecessor
For the Period
January 1, 2021 to
July 9, 2021
$
14,625
20,746
(14,758)
—
$
20,613

Excludes $0.0 million, $0.0 million and $0.0 million amortization of deferred financing costs for the periods July 10, 2021 through September 30, 2021, July 1, 2021 through July 9,
2021, and January 1, 2021 through July 9, 2021, respectively. Sunlight includes amortization of these costs within “Depreciation and Amortization” in the accompanying Unaudited
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations. Unamortized deferred financing costs upon closing of the Business Combination did not qualify as acquired assets; therefore,
Sunlight did not have any such unamortized costs at September 30, 2022 or December 31, 2021 and did not amortize any such costs for the three or nine months ended
September 30, 2022.

Maturities — At September 30, 2022, all of Sunlight’s debt obligations contractually mature in 2023.
Note 6. Equity and Earnings per Share
The registration statement for the Company’s initial public offering (“IPO”) was declared effective on November 24, 2020. On November 30, 2020, the Company
consummated its IPO of 34,500,000 units (“IPO Units”), including the issuance of 4,500,000 units as a result of the underwriters’ exercise in full of its overallotment option, at $10.00 per unit, generating gross proceeds of approximately $ 345.0 million, and incurring offering costs of approximately $ 19.7 million,
inclusive of approximately $12.1 million in deferred underwriting commissions. Each IPO Unit consisted of one share of the Company’s Class A common stock
and one-half of one warrant (“Public Warrant”). Simultaneously with the closing of the IPO, the Company consummated the private placement (the “Private
Placement”) of 9,900,000 warrants (“Private Placement Warrant”), at a price of $ 1.00 per Private Placement Warrant to Sponsor, generating proceeds of $ 9.9
million.
On July 9, 2021, in connection with the closing of the Business Combination, a number of investors (collectively, the “Subscribers”) purchased an aggregate of
25,000,000 shares of Class A common stock, par value $ 0.0001 per share (“Class A common stock” and such shares purchased by the Subscribers, the “PIPE
Shares”), at a purchase price of $10.00 per share for an aggregate purchase price of $ 250.0 million in a private placement, pursuant to separate subscription
agreements, dated as of January 23, 2021 (collectively, the “Subscription Agreements”). Pursuant to the Subscription Agreements, Sunlight gave certain
registration rights to the Subscribers with respect to the PIPE Shares.
Successor Equity
Sunlight has three classes of common stock and no classes of preferred stock. Holders of each of the Class A, Class B, and Class C common stock vote
together as a single class on all matters submitted to a vote of the stockholders, except as required by law. Each share of common stock has one vote on all
such matters.
Class A Common Stock — The Company is authorized to issue 420,000,000 shares of Class A common stock with a par value of $ 0.0001 per share (“Class A
Share”). At September 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021, there were 81,722,949 and 84,803,687 shares of Class A common stock issued and outstanding.
Class B Common Stock — The Company is authorized to issue 20,000,000 shares of Class B common stock with a par value of $ 0.0001 per share (“Class B
Share” or “Founder Share”).
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In August 2020, 11,500,000 Founder Shares were issued to Sponsor in exchange for the payment of $ 25,000 of certain offering costs on behalf of the
Company, or approximately $ 0.002 per share. In October 2020, the Sponsor transferred 50,000 Founder Shares to each of the two independent director
nominees at their original purchase price. In November 2020, the Sponsor returned to the Company at no cost an aggregate of 4,312,500 Founder Shares,
which the Company cancelled. Also in November, 2020, the Company effected a stock dividend on the Class B common stock (which receipt of such dividends
was waived by the independent director nominees), resulting in an aggregate of 8,625,000 shares of Class B common stock outstanding.
The Company cancelled 1,187,759 shares of Class B common stock upon Closing of the Business Combination in connection with the redemption of
19,227,063 shares of Class A common stock issued in the Initial Public Offering, and the remaining 7,437,241 shares of Class B common stock were
automatically converted into Class A common stock at the Business Combination on a one-for-one basis. At September 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021, there
were no shares of Class B common stock issued and outstanding.
The holders of the Founders Shares agreed, subject to limited exceptions, not to transfer, assign or sell any of their Founder Shares until the earlier to occur of
(a) one year after the completion of the Business Combination, (b) the reported last sale price of the Company’s Class A common stock equals or exceeds
$12.00 per share (as adjusted for stock splits, stock dividends, reorganizations, recapitalizations and similar activity) for any 20 trading days within any 30trading day period commencing at least 150 days after the Business Combination, or (c) the date on which the Company completes a liquidation, merger,
capital stock exchange, reorganization or other similar transaction that results in all of the Company’s stockholders having the right to exchange their shares of
common stock for cash, securities or other property.
Class C Common Stock — The Company is authorized to issue 65,000,000 shares of Class C common stock with a par value of $ 0.0001 per share (“Class C
Common Stock”). At September 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021, there were 47,595,455 and 47,595,455 shares of Class C Common Stock issued and
outstanding, respectively. Each Class C share, along with one Class EX Unit, can be exchanged for one Class A Share, subject to certain limitations. Upon
exchange, Sunlight redeems and cancels the Class C Common Stock and Sunlight Financial LLC redeems and cancels the Class EX Unit. Class C shares
have no dividend or liquidation rights, but do have voting rights on a pari passu basis with the Class A Shares.
Preferred Stock — The Company is authorized to issue 35,000,000 shares of preferred stock, par value $ 0.0001 per share, with such designations, voting and
other rights and preferences as may be determined from time to time by the Sunlight’s board of directors. Sunlight’s board of directors is able, without
stockholder approval, to issue Preferred Stock with voting and other rights that could adversely affect the voting power and other rights of the holders of the
common stock and could have anti-takeover effects. The Company has not issued any shares of preferred stock.
Warrants — At September 30, 2022, Sunlight has authorized Class A Shares to cover the exercise of the following outstanding warrants on its equity:
Exercise Price per
Type
Date of Issuance
Share
Shares
Public Warrants
Nov-20
$
11.50
17,250,000
Private Placement Warrants
Nov-20
11.50
9,900,000
Other
Feb-21
7.72
627,780
Refer to Notes 2 and 7 regarding the accounting treatment for warrants and the valuation thereof, respectively.
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Public Warrants — Public Warrants may only be exercised for a whole number of shares of common stock. No fractional Public Warrants are issued upon
separation of the Units and only whole Public Warrants trade. The Public Warrants have an exercise price of $11.50 per share, subject to adjustments, and will
expire upon the earlier of redemption or five years after the completion of the Business Combination. The warrants are exercisable, provided the Company has
an effective registration statement under the Securities Act covering the shares of Class A common stock issuable upon exercise of the Public Warrants and a
current prospectus relating to them is available (or the Company permits holders to exercise their Public Warrants on a cashless basis and such cashless
exercise is exempt from registration under the Securities Act). Notwithstanding the above, if the Company’s shares of Class A common stock are at the time of
any exercise of a warrant not listed on a national securities exchange such that they satisfy the definition of a “covered security” under Section 18(b)(1) of the
Securities Act, the Company may, at its option, require holders of Public Warrants who exercise their warrants to do so on a “cashless basis” in accordance with
Section 3(a)(9) of the Securities Act and, in the event the Company so elects, it will not be required to file or maintain in effect a registration statement, and in
the event the Company does not so elect, it will use its best efforts to register or qualify the shares under applicable blue sky laws to the extent an exemption is
not available.
Private Placement Warrants — The Private Placement Warrants are not redeemable by the Company, subject to certain limited exceptions, so long as they are
held by the Sponsor or its permitted transferees. The Sponsor, or its permitted transferees, has the option to exercise the Private Placement Warrants for cash
or on a cashless basis. Except as described in “— Company Redemption of Public Warrants and Private Placement Warrants,” the Private Placement Warrants
have terms and provisions that are identical to those of the Public Warrants, including as to exercise price, exercisability, and exercise period. If the Private
Placement Warrants are held by holders other than the Sponsor or its permitted transferees, the Private Placement Warrants will be redeemable by the
Company in all redemption scenarios and exercisable by the holders on the same basis as the Public Warrants. The Private Placement Warrants will be nonredeemable and exercisable on a cashless basis so long as they are held by the Sponsor or its permitted transferees.
Other Warrants — In February 2021, Sunlight Financial LLC issued a warrant exercisable for 7,000 of its Class A-3 Units at an exercise price of $ 691.90 per
unit that expires upon the earlier of redemption or ten years from date of issuance. In connection with the Business Combination, Sunlight and the holder of that
warrant amended the warrant to permit the holder to exercise its warrant for 627,700 Class A common stock at an exercise price of $ 7.715 per share. Sunlight
reclassified the warrant, historically classified as a liability but no longer exercisable for redeemable equity, as equity at a fair value of $2.5 million just prior to
reclassification. Upon Closing of the Business Combination, holders of warrants exercisable in Sunlight Financial LLC’s Class A-1 and A-2 Units exercised their
warrants for an aggregate of $2.3 million in cash and 635,641 Class A common shares.
Company Redemption of Public Warrants and Private Placement Warrants — Sunlight may redeem Public Warrants and Private Placement Warrants on terms
that vary according to the trading price of its Class A Shares.
Redemption of Warrants When the Price per Share of Class A Common Stock Equals or Exceeds $ 18.00 — Once the warrants become exercisable, the
Company may redeem the outstanding warrants:
• in whole and not in part;
• at a price of $ 0.01 per warrant;
• upon a minimum of 30 days’ prior written notice of redemption, or the 30-day redemption period, to each warrant holder; and
• if, and only if, the reported last sale price of the Class A common stock equals or exceeds $ 18.00 per share (as adjusted for stock splits, stock dividends,
reorganizations, recapitalizations and the like) for any 20 trading days within a 30-trading day period ending on the third trading day prior to the date on
which the Company sends the notice of redemption to the warrant holders.
The Company will not redeem the warrants as described above unless a registration statement under the Securities Act covering the shares of Class A
common stock issuable upon exercise of the warrants is effective and a current prospectus relating to those shares of Class A common stock is available
throughout the 30-day redemption period. If and when the warrants become redeemable by the Company, it may exercise its redemption right even if it is
unable to register or qualify the underlying securities for sale under all applicable state securities laws.
The Company has established the last of the redemption criterion discussed above to prevent a redemption call unless there is at the time of the call a
significant premium to the warrant exercise price. If the foregoing conditions are satisfied and the Company issues a notice of redemption of the warrants, each
warrant holder will be entitled to exercise its warrant prior to the scheduled redemption date. However, the price of the Class A common stock may fall below the
$18.00 redemption trigger price (as adjusted for stock splits, stock dividends, reorganizations, recapitalizations and the like) as well as the $ 11.50 (for whole
shares) warrant exercise price after the redemption notice is issued.

30

Redemption of Warrants When the Price per Share of Class A Common Stock Equals or Exceeds $ 10.00 — Once the warrants become exercisable, the
Company may redeem the outstanding warrants:
• in whole and not in part;
• at a price of $ 0.10 per warrant, provided that holders will be able to exercise their warrants on a cashless basis prior to redemption and receive that
number of shares of Class A common stock determined in part by the redemption date and the “fair market value” of the Class A common stock except as
otherwise described below;
• upon a minimum of 30 days’ prior written notice to each warrant holder; and
• if, and only if, the reported last sale price of the Class A common stock equals or exceeds $ 10.00 per share (as adjusted for stock splits, stock dividends,
reorganizations, recapitalizations and the like) on the trading day prior to the date on which the Company sends notice of redemption to the warrant
holders.
The “fair market value” of the Class A common stock for the purpose of the redemption terms above is the average reported last sale price of the Class A
common stock for the 10 trading days immediately following the date on which the notice of redemption is sent to the holders of warrants. In no event will the
warrants be exercisable on a cashless basis in connection with this redemption feature for more than 0.361 shares of Class A common stock per whole warrant
(subject to adjustment). This redemption feature differs from the typical warrant redemption features.
Share Repurchase Program — On May 16, 2022, Sunlight’s Board of Directors authorized a share repurchase program pursuant to which Sunlight may
repurchase up to $50.0 million of Sunlight’s Class A common stock over an eighteen-month period from the date of authorization. Under the share repurchase
program, Sunlight may purchase common stock in open market transactions, block, or privately-negotiated transactions, and may from time to time purchase
shares pursuant to a trading plan in accordance with Rule 10b5-1 and Rule 10b-18 under the Exchange Act or by any combination of such methods, in each
case subject to compliance with all SEC rules and other legal requirements. The number of shares to be purchased and the timing of the purchases are based
on a variety of factors, including, but not limited to, the level of cash balances, debt covenant restrictions, general business conditions, the market price of
Sunlight’s stock, self-imposed trading blackout periods, and the availability of alternative investment opportunities. There is no minimum number of shares
required to be repurchased under the share repurchase program, and the share repurchase program may be suspended or discontinued at any time. In
September 2022, the Company suspended share repurchases under the program to preserve liquidity in the current environment. The table below sets forth the
Class A common shares that Sunlight has repurchased:
Successor
Predecessor
Successor
Predecessor
For the Three
For the Nine
Months Ended
For the Period July
For the Period July
Months Ended
For the Period
September 30,
10, 2021 to
1, 2021 to July 9,
September 30,
January 1, 2021 to
2022
September 30, 2021
2021
2022
July 9, 2021
Amount paid
$
8,448 $
—
$
— $
10,452
$
—
Common Class A shares
repurchased
2,591,027
—
—
3,036,259
—
Price paid per common Class A
share
$
3.26
n.a.
n.a. $
3.44
n.a.
Predecessor Equity
Prior to the Business Combination, interests in Sunlight Financial LLC’s partnership equity consists of members’ preferred and subordinated units. Sunlight
Financial LLC did not have a specific number of preferred or subordinated units authorized at December 31, 2020, but retained the corporate authority to issue
sufficient units to meet its obligations. In addition to its partnership equity, Sunlight Financial LLC issued warrants, profits interests, and other economic interests
as part of its long-term incentive plan. Upon the closing of the Business Combination, Sunlight became the managing member of Sunlight Financial LLC, which
replaced its equity with common equity in the form of Class X units issued to Sunlight and Class EX Units issued to certain selling unitholders according to the
Business Combination Agreement.
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Temporary Equity Activities — Activities related to interests in Sunlight Financial LLC’s partnership equity units considered temporary equity were as follows:
Month of Issuance
Units at December 31, 2020 (Predecessor)
March 2021
June 2021
July 2021

Class A-3 Units
376,395
13,457
14,094
1,444
28,995
405,390

Units at July 9, 2021 (Predecessor)

Class A-2 Units
225,972
8,079
8,461
867
17,407
243,379

Class A-1 Units
296,302
10,593
11,094
1,137
22,824
319,126

Preferred Units — Prior to the Business Combination, the Class A-1, A-2 and A-3 Units (collectively, the “Class A Units”) were the most senior classes of equity
units of Sunlight Financial LLC and represented convertible preferred securities that earn a preferred return. Sunlight Financial LLC’s board of directors elected
to pay the preferred return by issuing additional Class A Units equal to 14.5%, on an annualized basis, of the members’ outstanding Class A Units (“Class A PIK
Units”). At the Closing of the Business Combination, holders of Preferred Units sold certain Class A-2 Units and Class A-3 Units to wholly-owned subsidiaries of
Sunlight in exchange for cash and Class A Shares while remaining Class A unitholders received cash and Class EX Units.
Subordinated Units — Prior to the Business Combination, the Class B Units were a class of equity units subordinate to Class A Units with regard to liquidation,
and Sunlight’s payment of the preferred return to the Class A Units, in Class A PIK Units, diluted Class B Units’ interests in Sunlight’s equity. No Class B Units
were issued, redeemed, or cancelled during the period January 1, 2021 through July 9, 2021. At the Closing of the Business Combination, holders of Class B
Units exchanged their Class B Units for cash and Class EX Units.
Other Interests — Prior to the Business Combination, Sunlight had issued the following subordinated interests upon conversion of equity-based compensation
awards upon vesting.
Class C Units — Sunlight Financial LLC had issued Class C Units that did not have voting rights or certain other equity-like features, were subordinate to the
Class A Units and Class B Units, and only received distributions from Sunlight Financial LLC’s profits, based on the total number of outstanding units at such
time, after Sunlight Financial LLC distributed the liquidation preference of Class A Units. At the Closing of the Business Combination, which occurred at a price
above the Threshold Equity Value of each equity award, holders of vested Class C Units received cash and Class EX Units. Holders of unvested Class C Units
received awards of Class C shares, Class EX Units, and cash subject to time vesting.
LTIP Units — In February 2016, Sunlight Financial LLC established a program pursuant to which it granted units to certain employees in a long-term incentive
plan. In December 2017, Sunlight Financial LLC, at the direction of its board of directors, amended and restated its long-term incentive plan to provide clarity
around certain items and to allow for the issuance of various classes of LTIP Units. All LTIP units issued between February 2018 and the Closing Date of the
Business Combination were economically equivalent to corresponding classes of Class C units. At the Closing of the Business Combination, holders of vested
LTIP Units received cash and Class A Shares. Holders of unvested LTIP Units received awards of Class A Shares and cash subject to time vesting.
Non-Controlling Interests in Consolidated Subsidiaries — These amounts relate to equity interests in Sunlight's consolidated, but not wholly-owned
subsidiaries, which are held by the Class EX unitholders.
The Sunlight Financial LLC portion of noncontrolling interests is computed as follows:
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Successor
For the Three
For the Nine Months
Months Ended
Ended September
For the Period July
September 30,
30,
10, 2021 to
2022
September 30, 2021
2022
$
(422,434)
$
(26,115)
$
(442,692)
35.7 %
34.9 %
35.3 %

Sunlight Financial LLC net income (loss) before income taxes
Sunlight Financial LLC as a percent of total (a)
Sunlight Financial LLC net income (loss) attributable to the Class EX
unitholders
a.

$

(151,389)

$

(9,108)

$

(158,478)

Represents the weighted average percentage of total Sunlight shareholders' net income (loss) in Sunlight Financial LLC attributable to the Class EX unitholders.

The following discloses the effects of changes in Sunlight's ownership interest in Sunlight Financial LLC on Sunlight's equity:
Successor
For the Three
For the Nine
For the Period July
Months Ended
Months Ended
10, 2021 to
September 30,
September 30,
September 30,
2022
2021
2022
Transfers (to) from noncontrolling interests:
Decrease in Sunlight's shareholders' equity for the delivery of Class EX Units
primarily in connection with vested provisionally-vested Class EX Units
$
(540) $
— $
(2,048)
Dilution impact of equity transactions
(540)
—
(2,048)
Net income (loss) attributable to Class A shareholders
(264,064)
(11,323)
(273,922)
Change from transfers (to) from noncontrolling interests and from net income (loss)
$
(264,604) $
(11,323) $
(275,970)
attributable to Class A shareholders
Equity-Based Compensation — On June 17, 2021, the board of directors of the Company adopted the Equity Plan and the Sunlight Financial Holdings Inc.
Employee Stock Purchase Plan (“ESPP”), both of which the Company's stockholders approved on July 8, 2021. 25,500,000 shares of Class A common stock
are reserved for issuance under the Equity Plan, which amount is increased annually pursuant to an “evergreen” provision in the Equity Plan which provides
that on the first day of each fiscal year, an additional number of shares equal to the lesser of (a) two percent (2.0%) of the total issued and outstanding common
shares of Sunlight on the first day of such fiscal year, or (b) such lesser amount determined by the board of directors, will be added to the shares of Class A
common stock authorized for issuance under the Equity Plan. In addition, 3,400,000 shares of Class A common stock are reserved for issuance under the
ESPP.
Sunlight has granted the following outstanding awards (“Compensation Awards”) to certain employees and members of Sunlight’s Board at September 30,
2022:
Service (in Years) (b)
Minimum
Maximum
1.9
3.6
1.9
1.9
1.0
1.0
3.0
4.0

Award Class (a)
Provisionally-Vested Class A Shares
Provisionally-Vested Class EX Units
Director RSUs
Employee RSUs (d)
a.
b.
c.
d.

Awards(c)
194,427
309,180
200,228
3,230,882
3,934,717

All awards subject solely to time-based vesting.
At time of grant.
Net of fully vested and forfeited awards.
Additionally, Sunlight granted $3.7 million of RSU awards that were outstanding at September 30, 2022 for which Sunlight accounts as liabilities and which vest over a period of 4
years from the date of grant. Sunlight will determine the number of awards granted based upon the traded price of its Class A Shares during 2022.
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Compensation Unit Activities — Activities related to Sunlight’s equity-based compensation were as follows:
Successor

December 31, 2021 (Successor)
Issued
Vested
Forfeited or Cancelled
September 30, 2022 (Successor)
a.

Provisionally-Vested
RSUs
Class A Shares
Class EX Units
Directors
Employees(a)
Per
Share
Shares
Per Unit
Units
Per Unit
Units
Per Unit
Units
$
9.46
337,193 $
9.46
974,447 $
9.46
75,000 $
8.97
2,136,129
—
—
5.04
70,991
4.37
200,228
3.61
2,010,907
9.46
(111,851)
8.91
(573,329)
9.46
(75,000)
9.46
(424,997)
9.46
(30,915)
9.46
(162,929)
—
—
7.52
(491,157)
194,427
309,180
200,228
3,230,882
9.46
9.46
4.37
5.63

During the nine months ended September 30, 2022, Sunlight also granted $12.3 million of RSU awards classified as liabilities, of which $1.6 million was forfeited and $7.4 million was
reclassified as equity.

Predecessor
Class C
LTIP
Units
Per Unit
Units
234,403 $ 20.06
71,060
(181)
18.96
(377)
(1,513)
15.64
(1,285)
232,709
69,398
14.53
20.14

Per Unit
$ 14.51
16.19
11.12

December 31, 2020 (Predecessor)
Converted to Class C-1 Units
Converted to Class C-2 Units
July 9, 2021 (Predecessor)

Unrecognized Compensation Expense — At September 30, 2022, Sunlight has not yet recognized compensation expense for the following awards, all of which
are subject solely to time-based service vesting conditions:
Type(a)
Provisionally-Vested Class A Shares
Provisionally-Vested Class EX Units
Director RSUs
Employee RSUs
a.

Weighted Average Recognition
Period
0.8 years
0.4 years
0.3 years
1.5 years

Awards
194,427
309,180
200,228
3,230,882
3,934,717

Amount
$

$

1,839
3,795
775
15,351
21,760

In addition to the above, Sunlight has not yet recognized $0.1 million of compensation expense associated with employee subscriptions under Sunlight’s ESPP with a weightedaverage recognition period of 0.2 years as well as $3.7 million of compensation expense associated with RSUs classified as liabilities with a weighted-average recognition period of
2 years.

Refer to Notes 2 and 7 regarding the accounting treatment for compensation units and the valuation thereof.
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Earnings (Loss) Per Share — Sunlight is required to present both basic and diluted earnings per share (“EPS”). Basic EPS is calculated by dividing net
income by the weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding. Diluted EPS is computed by dividing net income by the weighted average
number of shares of common stock outstanding plus the additional dilutive effect, if any, of common stock equivalents during each period. Sunlight does not
present earnings per unit of Sunlight Financial LLC, Sunlight’s accounting predecessor, for periods prior to the Business Combination.
Sunlight’s potentially dilutive equity instruments fall primarily into three general categories: (a) instruments that Sunlight has issued as part of its compensation
plan, (b) ownership interests in Sunlight’s subsidiary, Sunlight Financial LLC, that are owned by the Class EX unitholders (except the RSUs) and are convertible
into Class A Shares, and (c) derivatives exercisable in Class A Shares. Based on the rules for calculating earnings per share, there are two general ways to
measure dilution for a given instrument: (a) calculate the net number of shares that would be issued assuming any related proceeds are used to buy back
outstanding shares (the treasury stock method), or (b) assume the gross number of shares are issued and calculate any related effects on net income available
for shareholders (the if-converted and two-class methods). Sunlight has applied these methods as prescribed by the rules to each of its outstanding equity
instruments as shown below.
The following table summarizes the basic and diluted earnings per share calculations:
Successor
For the Three
Months Ended
September 30,
2022
Net Income (Loss) Per Class A Shareholders, Basic
Net income (loss) available to Class A shareholders

$

(262,719) $
83,049,291

Total weighted average shares outstanding
$

Net Income (Loss) Per Class A Shareholders, Basic
Net Income (Loss) Per Class A Shareholders, Diluted
Net income (loss) available to Class A shareholders

$

(3.16) $

(262,719) $
83,049,291

Total weighted average shares outstanding
$

Net Income (Loss) Per Class A Shareholders, Diluted

Net income (loss) available to Class A shareholders
Net Income (Loss)
$
Noncontrolling interests in loss of consolidated subsidiaries
Other weighting adjustments
Net Income (Loss) Attributable to Class A Shareholders
Noncontrolling interests in income (loss) of Sunlight Financial LLC, net of assumed
corporate income taxes at enacted rates, attributable to Class EX units
exchangeable into Sunlight Financial Holdings Inc. Class A shares(a)
$
Net income (loss) available to Class A shareholders, diluted
Weighted Average Units Outstanding
Class A shares outstanding
Class EX units exchangeable into Sunlight Financial Holdings Inc. Class A
shares(a)
Incremental Class A Shares attributable to dilutive effect of warrants (b)
Class A restricted share units granted to employees and directors (eligible for
dividend and dividend equivalent payments) (c)
Total weighted average shares outstanding, diluted
a.

For the Period July
10, 2021 to
September 30, 2021
(11,216) $
84,833,808
(0.13) $

(20,140) $
131,088,438

For the Nine
Months Ended
September 30,
2022
(273,811)
84,157,718
(3.25)

(273,811)
84,157,718

(3.16) $

(0.15) $

(3.25)

(415,453) $
151,389
1,345
(262,719) $

(20,431) $
9,108
107
(11,216)

(432,400)
158,478
111
(273,811)

—
(262,719) $

(8,924)
(20,140) $

—
(273,811)

83,049,291

84,833,808

84,157,718

—
—

46,254,630
—

—
—

—
83,049,291

—
131,088,438

—
84,157,718

The Class EX Units not held by Sunlight (that is, those held by noncontrolling interests) are exchangeable into Class A Shares on a one-to-one basis. These units are not included in
the computation of basic earnings per share. These units enter into the computation of diluted net
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b.
c.

income (loss) per Class A Share when the effect is dilutive using the if-converted method. To the extent charges, particularly tax related charges, are incurred by Sunlight Financial
Holdings Inc., the effect may be anti-dilutive.
Sunlight uses the treasury stock method to determine the dilutive effect, if any, of warrants exercisable in Sunlight’s Class A Shares. Such warrants were out-of-the-money during the
nine months ended September 30, 2022.
Restricted Class A share units granted to directors and employees are eligible to receive dividend or dividend equivalent payments when dividends are declared and paid on
Sunlight’s Class A Shares and therefore participate fully in the results of Sunlight’s operations from the date they are granted.

The Class C shares have no net income (loss) per share as they do not participate in Sunlight’s earnings (losses) or distributions. Sunlight determined the
presentation of earnings per unit during the Predecessor periods is not meaningful. Therefore, the earnings per unit information has not been presented for the
Predecessor periods.
The following table summarizes the weighted-average potential common shares excluded from diluted income (loss) per common share as their effect would be
anti-dilutive:
Successor
For the Three Months
For the Nine Months
For the Period July
Ended September 30, 10, 2021 to September Ended September 30,
2022
30, 2021
2022
46,976,713
—
46,803,950
27,150,000
27,150,000
27,150,000
627,780
627,780
627,780
618,742
1,340,825
791,505
2,372,747
1,849,355
2,129,222
38,661
—
107,716
77,784,643
30,967,960
77,610,173

Common Shares From
Class EX Units
Warrants(a)
Other warrants
Unvested Class EX Units
RSUs(b)
ESPP (c)
a.
b.
c.

Includes Public Warrants and Private Placement Warrants.
Includes RSUs awards to directors and employees.
Class A Shares deliverable to employees in satisfaction of subscriptions under Sunlight’s ESPP.

There were no dividends declared for Sunlight’s Class A common stock during the three months and nine months ended September 30, 2022.
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Note 7. Fair Value Measurement
The carrying values and fair values of Sunlight’s assets and liabilities recorded at fair value on a recurring or non-recurring basis, as well as other financial
instruments for which fair value is disclosed, at September 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021 were as follows:
Principal
Balance or
Notional
Amount
September 30, 2022 (Successor)
Assets:
Financing Receivables:
Loan participations, held-for-investment
Loans, held-for-investment
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash
Contract derivatives
Liabilities:
Debt
Warrants
Contract derivatives
Guarantee obligation
December 31, 2021 (Successor)
Assets:
Financing Receivables:
Loan participations, held-for-investment
Loans, held-for-investment
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash
Contract derivatives
Liabilities:
Debt
Warrants
Guarantee obligation

$

3,817
278
70,569
1,228
39,793

Carrying
Value

$

3,332
249
70,569
1,228
462

Fair Value
Level 2
Level 3

Level 1

$

—
—
70,569
1,228
—

$

—
—
—
—
—

20,613
312,225
82,251
n.a.

20,613
3,691
1,298
2,299

—
—

—
—

—

4,584
291
91,882
2,018
76,770

4,051
262
91,882
2,018
1,411

20,613
312,225
n.a.

20,613
19,007
418

$

3,160
220
—
—
462

Total

$

3,160
220
70,569
1,228
462

—

20,613
3,691
1,298
2,299

20,613
3,691
1,298
2,299

—
—
91,882
2,018
—

—
—
—
—
—

4,260
250
—
—
1,411

4,260
250
91,882
2,018
1,411

—
—
—

—
—
—

20,613
19,007
418

20,613
19,007
418

Fair value measurements categorized within Level 3 are sensitive to changes in the assumptions or methodology used to determine fair value and such
changes could result in a significant increase or decrease in the fair value.
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Sunlight’s assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis using Level 3 inputs changed as follows:

December 31, 2021 (Successor)
Transfers(a)
Transfers to Level 3
Transfers from Level 3
Gains (losses) included in net income (b)
Included in change in fair value of warrant liabilities
Included in change in fair value of contract derivatives, net
Included in realized gains on contract derivatives, net
Payments, net

$

September 30, 2022 (Successor)

$

December 31, 2020 (Predecessor)
Transfers(a)
Transfers to Level 3
Transfers from Level 3
Gains (losses) included in net income (b)
Included in change in fair value of warrant liabilities
Included in change in fair value of contract derivatives, net
Included in realized gains on contract derivatives, net
Payments, net
July 9, 2021 (Predecessor)
Transfers(a)
Transfers to Level 3
Transfers from Level 3
Gains (losses) included in net income (b)
Included in change in fair value of warrant liabilities
Included in change in fair value of contract derivatives, net
Included in realized gains on contract derivatives, net
Payments, net

$

September 30, 2021 (Successor)

$

a.
b.

Assets
Contract
Derivatives
1,411

$

—
—

—
—

—
(949)
257
(257)
462 $
1,435

Liabilities
Contract
Derivatives
Warrants
— $
19,007

$

—
—

—
—

—
1,298
3,429
(3,429)
1,298 $
—

$

(15,316)
—
—
—
3,691
5,643

—
—

41,591
(11,148)

—
—
—
—
—

5,504
—
—
—
41,590

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
489
1,377
(1,377)
1,262 $

—
—
—
—
—

—
(662)
2,992
(2,992)
773

$

(10,116)
—
—
—
31,474

Transfers are assumed to occur at the beginning of the respective period, except transfers that occurred at the Closing Date of the Business Combination.
Increases in the fair value of liabilities represent losses included in net income.

Contract Derivative Valuation — Fair value estimates of Sunlight's contract derivatives are based on an internal pricing model that uses a discounted cash
flow valuation technique, incorporates significant unobservable inputs, and includes assumptions that are inherently subjective and imprecise. Significant inputs
used in the valuation of Sunlight’s contract derivatives include:
Contract
Derivative
1
2

Significant Inputs
Inputs include expected cash flows from the financing and sale of applicable Indirect Channel Loans and discount rates that
market participants would expect for the Indirect Channel Loans. Significant increases (decreases) in the discount rates in
isolation would result in a significantly lower (higher) fair value measurement.
Inputs include expected prepayment rate of applicable Indirect Channel Loans sold to the Indirect Channel Loan Purchaser.
Significant increases (decreases) in the expected prepayment rate in isolation would result in a significantly higher (lower) fair
value measurement.
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The following significant assumptions were used to value Sunlight’s contract derivative:
Successor
September 30, 2022
December 31, 2021
Contract Derivative 1
Discount rate
Weighted average life (in years)
Contract Derivative 2
Expected prepayment rate

11.7 %
0.1

10.0 %
0.2

75.0 %

75.0 %

Compensation Unit and Warrant Valuation — Sunlight uses the observed market price of its publicly-traded Class A Shares and the warrants thereon to
measure the value of RSU awards on the grant date and the value of Public Warrants, respectively. For Private Placement Warrants, Sunlight uses an
independent third-party valuation firm to value those warrants using a Monte Carlo option pricing model, which includes the following estimates of underlying
asset value, volatility, dividend rates, expiration dates, and risk-free rates:
Successor
Assumption
September 30, 2022
Class A common share value per share (a)
$
1.24
Implied volatility (a)
79.2 %
Dividend yield (b)
— %
Time to expiry (in years) (a)
3.8
Risk free rate(a)
4.1 %
a.
b.

Significant increases in these assumptions in isolation would result in a higher fair value measurement.
Significant increases in these assumptions in isolation would result in a lower fair value measurement.

Predecessor
To determine the grant-date value of each Class C Unit and LTIP Unit granted prior to the Business Combination, an independent third-party valuation firm (a)
used an income valuation approach to determine the fair value of Sunlight’s equity on a quarterly basis and (b) allocated that fair value to each class of interest
in Sunlight’s equity and warrants thereon on a per unit basis using an option pricing method. Sunlight determined the grant-date fair value of an award using the
value at the quarter-end closest to the grant date of the award. Significant increases (decreases) in the cost of equity, volatility, tax rate, and equity term in
isolation would result in a significantly lower (higher) fair value measurement.
To determine the fair value of warrants prior to the Business Combination, Sunlight applied a hybrid probability-weighted expected return valuation method,
which incorporated two scenarios: (a) a scenario using a market valuation approach that assumed Sunlight completed the Business Combination and (b) a
remain private scenario that used the aforementioned income valuation approach.
Goodwill — In connection with Sunlight’s goodwill assessment (Note 2), the Company valued its single reporting unit using an equal-weighted valuation
methodology, which incorporated (a) an income approach using a discounted cash flow analysis and (b) a market approach using publicly-traded companies
similar to Sunlight.
Note 8. Taxes
Sunlight calculates the provision for income taxes during interim periods by applying an estimate of the forecasted annual effective tax rate for the full fiscal year
to “ordinary” income or loss (pretax income or loss or loss excluding unusual or infrequently occurring discrete items) for the reporting period. The income tax
benefit was $11.4 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2022. Sunlight Financial LLC, Sunlight’s accounting predecessor, is a limited liability
company not subject to income taxes. Sunlight’s effective tax rate was 2.6% for the nine months ended September 30, 2022. The difference between Sunlight’s
statutory and effective tax rate is primarily due to the permanent adjustments for goodwill impairment of $52.2 million, changes in the value of warrant liabilities
of $2.1 million and noncontrolling interest in subsidiaries of $ 34.7 million.
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Sunlight recognizes tax benefits for uncertain tax positions only if it is more likely than not that the position is sustainable based on its technical merits. Interest
and penalties on uncertain tax positions are included as a component of the provision for income taxes in Sunlight's Unaudited Condensed Consolidated
Statements of Operations. As of September 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021, the total amount of gross interest and penalties accrued was $0.1 million and
$0.0 million, respectively, which is classified as other liabilities in the Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets, and Sunlight did not have any
material uncertain tax positions. Any uncertain tax position taken by any of the Class EX unitholders is not an uncertain tax position of Sunlight Financial LLC.
Note 9. Transactions with Affiliates and Affiliated Entities
Sunlight has entered into agreements with the following affiliates, including equity members and those who serve on Sunlight’s board of directors.
Founder Shares — In August 2020, 11,500,000 Founder Shares were issued to the Sponsor in exchange for the payment of $ 25,000 of certain offering costs
on behalf of the Company, or approximately $0.002 per share. In October 2020, the Sponsor transferred 50,000 Founder Shares to each of the two independent
director nominees at their original purchase price. In November 2020, the Sponsor returned to the Company at no cost an aggregate of 4,312,500 Founder
Shares, which the Company cancelled. Also in November 2020, the Company effected a stock dividend on the Class B common stock (which receipt of such
dividends was waived by the independent director nominees), resulting in an aggregate of 8,625,000 shares of Class B common stock outstanding. Of the
8,625,000 Founder Shares outstanding, up to 1,125,000 shares were subject to forfeiture to the extent that the over-allotment option was not exercised by the
underwriters, so that the Founder Shares would represent 20.0% of the Company’s issued and outstanding shares after the Initial Public Offering. On
November 30, 2020, the underwriters fully exercised the over-allotment option; thus, these 1,125,000 shares were no longer subject to forfeiture.
Private Placement Warrants — Simultaneously with the closing of the Initial Public Offering, the Company consummated the Private Placement of 9,900,000
Private Placement Warrants, at a price of $1.00 per Private Placement Warrant to the Sponsor, generating proceeds of $ 9.9 million.
Each whole Private Placement Warrant is exercisable for one whole share of the Company’s Class A common stock at a price of $ 11.50 per share. A portion of
the purchase price of the Private Placement Warrants was added to the proceeds from the Initial Public Offering held in the Trust Account. The Private
Placement Warrants will be non-redeemable and exercisable on a cashless basis so long as they are held by the Sponsor or its permitted transferees.
Administrative Support Agreement — Commencing on the date the IPO Units were first listed on the NYSE, the Company agreed to pay the Sponsor a total
of $10,000 per month for office space, utilities, and secretarial and administrative support. The Company paid the Sponsor $ 60,000 for such services during the
period of January 1, 2021 through July 9, 2021. Upon closing of the Business Combination, the Administrative Support Agreement was terminated.
FTV Management V, LLC (“FTV”) — In May 2018, Sunlight entered into a management agreement with FTV. Under the terms of the agreement, FTV
provided strategic financial services to Sunlight in exchange for a management fee of $50,000 per calendar quarter. This management agreement terminated
upon closing of the Business Combination.
Hudson SL Portfolio Holdings LLC (“HSPH”) — In February 2018, Sunlight entered into an administrative services agreement with HSPH, indirectly owned
by members of Sunlight and SL Investor III LLC, where Sunlight agreed to provide certain services to Solar Loan Management LLC, an affiliate of Hudson
Sustainable Investment Management, LLC and HSPH. These services generally include special servicing administration, ongoing accounting work, all
calculations related to the purchase and financing of certain Loans under the forward flow agreement and the senior financing, and other services that would be
expected of the sponsor of a securitized pool of loans. During the three months ended September 30, 2021, Sunlight was paid $0.0 million for such services.
During the nine months ended September 30, 2021, Sunlight was paid $0.1 million for such services. Upon departure of the former member of Sunlight’s board
of directors upon closing of the Business Combination, Sunlight no longer considers HSPH a related party.
Tiger Infrastructure Partners (“Tiger”) — In September 2015, Sunlight entered into a management agreement with Tiger. Under the terms of the agreement,
Sunlight pays Tiger a management fee of $50,000 per calendar quarter for strategic financial services provided by Tiger to Sunlight. In addition to the
management fee, Sunlight reimbursed $0.0 million during the three months ended September 30, 2021. In addition to the management fee, Sunlight reimbursed
$0.0 million during the nine months ended September 30, 2021. This management agreement terminated upon closing of the Business Combination.
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Financing Program Agreement — In May 2018, Sunlight entered into a financing program agreement with Lumina Solar, Inc. (“Lumina”), pursuant to which
Sunlight facilitates financing for consumers that purchase residential solar energy power systems from Lumina. A former member of Sunlight’s board of directors
and a former officer of Sunlight are stockholders of, and actively involved in the management of, Lumina. Sunlight received approximately $0.2 million in
revenue for the nine months ended September 30, 2021. Upon departure of the former member of Sunlight’s board of directors upon closing of the Business
Combination, Sunlight no longer considers Lumina a related party.
Estimated Tax Distributions — Sunlight Financial LLC distributes cash to its unitholders using allocations of estimated taxable income it expects to generate.
As Sunlight revises its estimate of taxable income or loss, the allocation of taxable income to its unitholders may change, resulting in amounts due to, or from,
certain unitholders. As of September 30, 2022, Sunlight Financial LLC no longer expects to generate taxable income during the current tax year and expects to
use tax distributions already declared during the current tax year to offset future estimated tax liability distributions, if any. Consequently, Sunlight Financial LLC
did not declare any distributions during the three months ended September 30, 2022. Sunlight Financial LLC did not declare any distributions for the three or
nine months ended September 30, 2021. Sunlight paid estimated tax distributions of $1.2 million and $7.5 million during the nine months ended September 30,
2022 and 2021, respectively.
Note 10. Commitments and Contingencies
Sunlight was subject to the following commitments and contingencies at September 30, 2022.
Litigation — Sunlight may be involved in various claims and legal actions arising in the ordinary course of business. Sunlight establishes an accrued liability for
legal proceedings only when those matters present loss contingencies that are both probable and reasonably estimable.
At September 30, 2022, Sunlight was not involved in any material legal proceedings regarding claims or legal actions against Sunlight.
Indemnifications — In the normal course of business, Sunlight enters into contracts that contain a variety of representations and warranties and that provide
general indemnifications. Sunlight’s maximum exposure under these arrangements is unknown as this would involve future claims that may be made against
Sunlight that have not yet occurred. However, based on Sunlight’s experience, Sunlight expects the risk of material loss to be remote.
Advances — Sunlight provides a contractually agreed upon percentage of cash to a contractor related to a Loan that has not yet been funded by either a Direct
Channel Partner or its Bank Partner as well as amounts funded to contractors in anticipation of loan funding. At September 30, 2022, Sunlight has committed to
advance up to $272.5 million for unfunded, approved Loans submitted by eligible contractors and other contingently committed amounts, of which $ 64.1 million
of outstanding advances are included in “Advances” in the accompanying Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets.
Funding Commitments — Pursuant to Sunlight’s contractual arrangements with contractors, Direct Channel Partners, and Bank Partner, the funding source
periodically remits to Sunlight the cash related to Loans it has originated. Sunlight has committed to funding such amounts to the relevant contractor when
certain milestones have been reached relating to the installation of residential solar system, or other home improvement equipment, underlying the consumer
receivable. Any amounts retained by Sunlight in anticipation of an installation milestone being reached are included in “Funding Commitments” in the
accompanying Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets, totaling $21.4 million at September 30, 2022.
Loan Guarantees — Sunlight is required to guarantee the performance of certain Indirect Channel Loans, which it is required to repurchase in the event
Sunlight is unable to facilitate the sale of such loans, and certain Direct Channel Loans. Upon repurchase, Sunlight may attempt to recover any contractual
amounts owed by the borrower or from the contractor (in the event of a contractor’s nonperformance). Sunlight repurchased and wrote off 19, 9, and 0 loans,
totaling $0.4 million, $0.2 million, and $ 0.0 million, for the three months ended September 30, 2022 and the periods from July 10, 2021 through September 30,
2021 and July 1, 2021 through July 9, 2021, respectively, as well as 70 and 60 loans, totaling $ 1.5 million and $ 1.3 million, for the nine months ended
September 30, 2022 and the period from January 1, 2021 through July 9, 2021, respectively, associated with these guarantees. At September 30, 2022, the
maximum potential amount of undiscounted future payments Sunlight could be required to make under these guarantees totaled $274.9 million, and Sunlight
recorded a $1.1 million liability presented within “Other Liabilities” in the accompanying Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets. At September 30,
2022, the unpaid principal balance of loans, net of applicable
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discounts, for guaranteed loans held by Sunlight’s Bank Partner and certain Direct Channel Partners that were delinquent more than 90 days was $ 0.5 million.
Additionally, Sunlight may be required to repurchase solar loans from Indirect Channel Loan Purchasers, or refund platform fees to Direct Channel Partners,
when contractors do not complete solar installations within a certain period of time. Generally, solar contractors are responsible to return loan proceeds they
receive for such Loans. At September 30, 2022, the maximum potential amount of undiscounted future payments Sunlight could be required to make under
these guarantees totaled $49.2 million, and Sunlight recorded a $ 1.2 million liability presented within “Other Liabilities” in the accompanying Unaudited
Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets.
Tax Receivable Agreement (“TRA”) — If Sunlight were to exercise its right to terminate the TRA or certain other acceleration events occur, Sunlight would be
required to make immediate cash payments. Such cash payments will be equal to the present value of the assumed future realized tax benefits based on a set
of assumptions and using an agreed upon discount rate, as defined in the TRA. The early termination payment may be made significantly in advance of the
actual realization, if any, of those future tax benefits. Such payments will be calculated based on certain assumptions, including that Sunlight expects to have
sufficient taxable income to utilize the full amount of any tax benefits subject to the TRA over the period specified therein. The payments that Sunlight would be
required to make will generally reduce the amount of the overall cash flow that might have otherwise been available, but Sunlight expects the cash tax savings it
would realize from the utilization of the related tax benefits will exceed the amount of any required payments.
Sunlight Rewards™ Program — Sunlight Rewards™ allows salespeople to earn points for selling Sunlight-facilitated loans. These individuals can gain
“status” for their own overall loyalty, track their points, and choose to redeem points for quality awards. If all points earned under the Sunlight Rewards™
Program were redeemed at September 30, 2022, Sunlight would be obligated to pay $4.2 million, and Sunlight recorded a liability of $ 2.6 million.
Non-Cancelable Operating Leases — Sunlight's non-cancelable operating leases consist of office space leases at two locations: (a) 101 N. Tryon Street,
Suite 1000, Charlotte, North Carolina 28246 (the “North Carolina Office Space”) that expires in June 2029 and (b) 234 West 39th Street, 7th Floor, New York,
New York 10018 (the “New York Office Space”) that expires in October 2023. Certain lease agreements include rent concessions and leasehold improvement
incentives. In addition to base rentals, certain lease agreements are subject to escalation provisions and rent expense is recognized on a straight‑line basis over
the term of the lease agreement. None of Sunlight’s leases contain extension options.
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On January 1, 2022, Sunlight recorded $7.6 million of right-of-use assets, included in “ Other Assets” in the accompanying Unaudited Condensed Consolidated
Balance Sheets, as well as $7.6 million of operating lease liabilities, included in “ Other Liabilities” in the accompanying Unaudited Condensed Consolidated
Balance Sheets, for lease obligations that were historically classified as operating leases.
Successor
For the Three
For the Nine
Months Ended
Months Ended
September 30,
September 30,
2022
2022
Lease cost
Operating

Other information
Operating leases
Operating cash flows

$
$

536
536

$
$

1,604
1,604

$

485

$

1,248

Successor
September 30, 2022
Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for new lease liabilities
Operating leases
Weighted-average remaining lease term (in years)
Operating leases
Weighted-average discount rate
Operating leases

7,367
6.4
7.2%

At September 30, 2022, the approximate aggregate annual minimum future lease payments required on the operating leases are as follows:
October 1, through December 31, 2022
$
2023
2024
2025
2026
Thereafter
Total future minimum lease payments
Less: imputed interest
$
Present value of future minimum lease payments

488
1,909
1,553
1,672
1,790
4,856
12,268
(5,019)
7,249

During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2022, total lease expense was $ 0.5 million and $ 1.6 million, respectively. During the periods from
July 10, 2021 through September 30, 2021, July 1, 2021 through July 9, 2021, and January 1, 2021 through July 9, 2021, total lease expense was $0.4 million,
$0.0 million and $0.9 million, respectively, which Sunlight paid in full.
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Note 11. Subsequent Events
The following events occurred subsequent to September 30, 2022 through the issuance date of these Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial
Statements. Events subsequent to that date have not been considered in these financial statements.
Unit Exchange
In October 2022, holders of 308,085 Class EX units of Sunlight Financial LLC exchanged their Class EX units, along with a corresponding number of Class C
shares of the Company, for 308,085 Class A shares of the Company at $ 1.25 per Class A share.
Strategic Alternatives
Sunlight is currently considering a range of strategic alternatives that may be available to Sunlight to maximize stakeholder value, including but not limited to
financings, strategic alliances, or a possible business combination or sale of the business. Sunlight has engaged a financial advisory firm to help explore
available strategic alternatives.
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ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
The following discussion and analysis provides information which management believes is relevant to an assessment and understanding of Sunlight Financial
Holdings Inc.’s (the “Company,” “Sunlight,” “Successor,” “we,” “our” and “us”) consolidated results of operations and financial condition. The discussion should
be read in conjunction with Sunlight’s consolidated financial statements and notes thereto included elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. This
discussion contains forward-looking statements and involves numerous risks and uncertainties, including, but not limited to, those described under the heading
“Risk Factors.” Actual results may differ materially from those contained in any forward-looking statements. Unless the context otherwise requires, references in
this “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” to “Sunlight” is intended to mean the business and operations of
Sunlight Financial Holdings Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries.
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CAUTIONARY STATEMENT REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS AND RISK FACTORS SUMMARY
This report contains certain “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995, which statements involve
substantial risks and uncertainties. Such forward-looking statements relate to, among other things, the operating performance of our investments, the stability of
our earnings, our financing needs, and the size and attractiveness of market opportunities. Forward-looking statements are generally identifiable by the use of
forward-looking terminology such as “may,” “will,” “should,” “potential,” “expect,” “endeavor,” “seek,” “anticipate,” “outlook,” “intend,” “estimate,” “overestimate,”
“underestimate,” “believe,” “could,” “project,” “predict,” “continue” or other similar words or expressions. Forward-looking statements are based on certain
assumptions; discuss future expectations; describe future plans and strategies; contain projections of results of operations, cash flows, or financial condition; or
state other forward-looking information. Our ability to predict results or the actual outcome of future plans or strategies is inherently limited. Although we believe
that the expectations reflected in such forward-looking statements are based on reasonable assumptions, our actual results and performance could differ
materially from those set forth in the forward-looking statements. These forward-looking statements involve risks, uncertainties, and other factors that may
cause our actual results in future periods to differ materially from forecasted results.
Our ability to implement our business strategy is subject to numerous risks, as more fully described under Item 1A. “Risk Factors” in this Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q, which amends and restates the risk factors set forth in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2021 and Quarterly
Reports on Form 10-Q for the quarters ended March 31, 2022 and June 30, 2022, respectively. These risks include, among others:Sunlight is currently
considering a range of strategic alternatives in order to maximize stakeholder value; the failure to consummate a suitable strategic alternative could have a
material adverse impact on Sunlight’s securities prices, business, financial condition and results of operations.
• Sunlight is currently considering a range of strategic alternatives in order to maximize stakeholder value; the failure to consummate a suitable strategic
alternative could have a material adverse impact on Sunlight’s securities prices, business, financial condition and results of operations.
• Sunlight has incurred net losses in the past, and Sunlight may be unable to sustain profitability in the future.
• Worsening economic conditions from a rising rate of inflation, rising interest rates or other potential causes of economic distress could raise Sunlight’s
cost of capital and/or reduce or eliminate the ability of Sunlight’s direct or indirect capital providers to continue funding loan volume at historical levels,
thereby materially and adversely impacting Sunlight’s business, cash flows, financial condition and results of operations.
• The ongoing COVID-19 pandemic and other health epidemics and outbreaks could adversely affect Sunlight’s business, results of operations and
financial condition.
• If Sunlight fails to manage its operations and growth effectively, Sunlight may be unable to execute its business plan, maintain high levels of customer
service and support or adequately address competitive challenges.
• If Sunlight is unable to facilitate the sale of loans held on its bank partner’s balance sheet and the bank is unwilling to expand its loan capacity, Sunlight
may be required to purchase all or a portion of these loans and/or may be unable to fund future Indirect Channel loans.
• Failure to amend or extend Sunlight’s existing credit facility, which is currently set to expire in April 2023, could have a material adverse effect on
Sunlight’s results of operations and financial position.
• Sunlight may in the future expand to new industry verticals outside of the U.S. solar system and home improvement industries, and failure to comply with
applicable regulations, accurately predict demand or growth, or build a process valued in those new industries could have an adverse effect on Sunlight’s
business.
• To the extent that Sunlight seeks to grow or strengthen its business and competitive position through future acquisitions, or other strategic investments,
transactions or alliances, Sunlight may not be able to do so effectively.
• A material reduction in the retail price of electricity charged by electric utilities, other retail electricity providers or other energy sources as compared to
potential savings for purchasing and using a solar system or an increase in pricing for purchasing and using a solar system above the cost of other
energy sources could result in a lower demand for solar systems, which could have an adverse impact on Sunlight’s business, results of operations and
financial condition.
• The reduction, modification or elimination of government incentives could cause our revenue to decline and harm our financial results.
• Existing regulations and policies and changes to these regulations and policies may present technical, regulatory, and economic barriers to the purchase
and use of solar power products, which may significantly reduce demand for our loan products and services.
• The industries that Sunlight operates in are highly competitive and are likely to become more competitive. Additionally, if new entrants join these markets
who have ready access to cheaper capital, competing successfully would become more difficult for Sunlight. Sunlight’s inability to compete successfully
or maintain or improve Sunlight’s market share and margins could adversely affect its business.
• Disruptions in the operation of Sunlight’s computer systems and those of its critical third-party service providers and capital providers could have an
adverse effect on Sunlight’s business.
• Sunlight’s growth is dependent on its contractor network and in turn the quality of the products and services they provide to their customers, and
Sunlight’s failure to retain or replace existing contractors, to grow its contractor
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•
•
•
•
•
•
•

network or the number of Sunlight loans offered through its existing network, or increases in loan delinquencies due to any deficiencies in Sunlight’s
contractor underwriting practices, could adversely impact Sunlight’s business.
Sunlight’s capital advance program exposes it to potential losses in the event that a contractor fails to fully perform under its agreements with Sunlight or
becomes insolvent prior to completion of the underlying installation or construction, which losses could have an adverse impact on Sunlight’s business,
results of operations and financial condition.
If contractors fail to fulfill their obligations to consumers or fail to comply with applicable law, Sunlight may incur remediation costs.
Sunlight’s revenue is impacted, to a significant extent, by the general economy, including supply chain disruptions, and the financial performance of its
capital providers and contractors.
Our results of operations could be adversely affected by economic and political conditions globally and the effects of these conditions on our clients’
businesses and levels of business activity.
Sunlight has never paid cash dividends on its capital stock, and does not anticipate paying dividends in the foreseeable future.
Sunlight cannot guarantee that it will repurchase its common stock pursuant to Sunlight’s share repurchase program or that Sunlight’s share repurchase
program will enhance long-term shareholder value. Share repurchases could also increase the volatility of the price of Sunlight’s common stock and could
diminish Sunlight’s cash reserves.
If assumptions or estimates Sunlight uses in preparing its financial statements are incorrect or are required to change, Sunlight’s reported results of
operations, liquidity and financial condition may be adversely affected.
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Business Overview
Sunlight Financial Holdings Inc. (“Sunlight”) is a business-to-business-to-consumer, technology-enabled point-of-sale (“POS”) financing platform that provides
residential solar and home improvement contractors the ability to offer seamless POS financing to their customers when purchasing residential solar systems or
other home improvements. The resulting loans are funded by Sunlight’s network of capital providers who, by partnering with Sunlight, gain access to a difficultto-reach loan market, best-in-class consumer credit underwriting, and attractive risk adjusted returns. These loans are facilitated by Sunlight’s proprietary
technology platform, Orange® (“Orange®” or the “Platform”), through which Sunlight offers instant credit decisions to homeowners nationwide at the POS on
behalf of Sunlight’s various capital providers. Since Sunlight’s founding in 2014 through September 30, 2022, Sunlight has facilitated over $8.2 billion of loans
through the Platform in partnership with its contractor relationships.
Sunlight’s success is fueled by its strong and intentional culture based on core values such as honesty, fairness, and scrappiness. Sunlight’s culture
encourages Sunlight teammates to work collaboratively with Sunlight’s contractor and capital provider partners, and the consumers they serve, to find the right
result to business challenges and to deliver white-glove service. Also core to Sunlight’s values is a passion for Sunlight’s business and the societal benefits that
the business funds. To date, Sunlight has facilitated loans to more than 205,640 homeowners who, as a result, have had the opportunity to save money on their
utility bills and choose renewable energy over carbon-producing traditional sources of power. As of September 30, 2022, residential solar systems and energyefficient home improvement products, facilitated through Sunlight financings since May 2016, have prevented the emission of an estimated 35.2 million metric
tons of carbon dioxide into the atmosphere. Sunlight has also executed the United Nations Climate Neutral Now Pledge, and its business was certified as
carbon neutral for its fiscal year ending December 31, 2021. Sunlight will continue to pursue certification for carbon neutrality in the future.
Sunlight’s core business is facilitating loans made by Sunlight’s various capital providers to the consumer customers of residential solar contractors. Sales of
Sunlight-facilitated loan products are made by contractors in the context of selling residential solar systems to consumers, allowing homeowners to go solar with
no money down, and in most cases, immediately saving money on their utility bills and often saving a significant amount of money over the life of their solar
system. While only approximately 20% of residential solar system sales were financed with solar loans in 2015, an estimated 70% of residential solar loan sales
were financed with solar loans in 2021. Solar loans made to finance residential solar systems through Sunlight’s Platform are made exclusively to homeowners.
Sunlight believes that homeowners generally have better credit characteristics than other consumer groups. As of September 30, 2022, the average FICO score
of all solar borrowers financed through Sunlight’s Platform is 748. Both the generally strong credit profile of solar loan borrowers and attractive risk-adjusted
returns on solar loans to capital providers have enabled Sunlight to build a diversified network of capital providers to fund the solar loans facilitated by Sunlight’s
Platform.
Loan providers in the residential solar industry compete primarily on process (customer and contractor experience), pricing, and products. Orange® offers
contractors robust tools to sell more solar systems and home improvements and homeowners a fast, fully-digital, and frictionless experience. Because Sunlight
has diverse funding sources, Sunlight is able to offer a large suite of competitive loan products that include multiple loan structures and combinations of interest
rates and tenors.
Sunlight’s revenue is primarily from platform fees earned on each solar and home improvement loan facilitated through Orange®. The platform fee is generally
equal to the margin between the contractor fee charged to the contractor by Sunlight for each loan facilitated through Orange® and the discount at which
Sunlight’s capital provider either funds or purchases such loan (as described in more detail below). The best-in-class credit quality of Sunlight-facilitated loans
attracts diverse and attractively-priced capital (the “price” to Sunlight being the amount that a capital provider will pay to originate or purchase a Sunlightfacilitated loan), ensuring that Sunlight can offer competitive pricing to its network of contractors while still earning attractive margins. Sunlight’s business model
is asset light, and therefore Sunlight has minimal consumer credit risk. Sunlight does not earn material revenue from loans maintained on its balance sheet.
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On July 9, 2021 (the “Closing Date”), Sunlight consummated the transactions contemplated by that certain Business Combination Agreement (the “Business
Combination Agreement”), dated as of January 23, 2021, by and among Spartan Acquisition Corp. II (“Spartan”), Sunlight Financial LLC and the Spartan
Subsidiaries, FTV Blocker and Tiger Blocker (each as defined in the Business Combination Agreement). On the Closing Date, Spartan changed its name to
“Sunlight Financial Holdings Inc.” and Sunlight Financial LLC became the operating subsidiary of Sunlight Financial Holdings Inc., organized in an “Up-C”
structure (the “Business Combination”).
For the periods prior to the Business Combination, Sunlight presents the results of operations for Sunlight Financial LLC and its consolidated subsidiary (the
“Predecessor”), which does not include the results of operations for Spartan. For the periods after the Business Combination, Sunlight presents the results of
operations for Sunlight Financial Holdings Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries, including Sunlight Financial LLC (the “Successor”). The three and nine months
ended September 30, 2022 includes the results of operations for the Successor. The three months ended September 30, 2021 (the “Combined Quarterly
Period”) includes the results of operations for the Successor during the period of July 10, 2021 through September 30, 2021 (the “Successor Period”) and the
results of operations for the Predecessor during the period July 1, 2021 through July 9, 2021 (the “Predecessor Quarterly Period”). Similarly, the nine months
ended September 30, 2021 (the “Combined Year-to-Date Period”) includes the results of operations for the Successor during the Successor Period and the
results of operation for the Predecessor during the period January 1, 2021 through July 9, 2021 (the “Predecessor Year-to-Date Period”).
Recent Developments and Outlook
•

Installer Insolvency. As previously announced on September 23, 2022, one of Sunlight’s largest contractors became insolvent; as a result, the
Company determined it would be unable to collect all amounts advanced to it as part of Sunlight’s contractor advance program and took a non-cash
charge of $32.4 million on such advances. Sunlight has re-underwritten all other contractors in this program and has taken actions to further reduce its
exposure to counterparty risk.

•

Goodwill Impairment. In September 2022, Sunlight recorded a goodwill impairment charge of $384.4 million primarily due to changes in the macroeconomic environment, such as interest rate volatility, impacting the financial and market performance of Sunlight and it peers.

•

Impact of Rapid and Significant Increase in Interest Rates. During the second and third quarters of 2022, interest rates have increased rapidly and
significantly. The macro-economic impact of these significant interest rate increases will have a material impact on Sunlight’s business, profitability and
cash-flow in the near term until the significant pricing increases Sunlight has implemented over the past several months take effect. First, these rapid
interest rate increases have resulted in a significant shift in reliance from Sunlight’s Direct Channels to its Indirect Channel, which is less profitable and
creates additional risk of changing rates between the time that the underlying Indirect Channel loan is processed at a lower interest rate to a later time
when Sunlight is able to monetize Indirect Channel loans after interest rates have increased. As a result, Sunlight expects to incur significant losses
relating to its current portfolio of Indirect Channel loans because of this interest rate gap. In response to rapidly rising interest rates, Sunlight implemented
several increases in dealer fees charged to contractors during the third quarter of 2022, for which Sunlight expects to facilitate platform fee loans that
reflect those dealer fee increases starting in the fourth quarter of 2022.

•

Board Initiates Review of Strategic Alternatives . Sunlight is currently considering a range of strategic alternatives that may be available to Sunlight to
maximize stakeholder value, including but not limited to financings, strategic alliances, or a possible business combination or sale of the business.
Sunlight has engaged a financial advisory firm to help explore available strategic alternatives. Sunlight will only make further public comments once the
Board has approved a specific transaction or otherwise concludes its review. While the results of the Strategic Alternatives review cannot be estimated
until the review is completed, which is expected in 2023, implementation of recommendations resulting from such review could have a material impact on
Sunlight’s future results of operations, financial condition and/or cash flows.

•

Share Repurchase Program. On May 16, 2022, Sunlight’s Board of Directors authorized a share repurchase program pursuant to which Sunlight may
repurchase up to $50.0 million of Sunlight’s Class A common stock over an eighteen-month period from the date of authorization. Sunlight repurchased
and cancelled 3,036,259 Class A shares at an average price per share of $3.44 for a total of $10.5 million as of September 30, 2022. The Company has
suspended share repurchases in order to hold excess cash on the balance sheet and maintain working capital flexibility but may resume repurchases in
the future as determined by the Board of Directors.
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•

Partnership Unit Exchange. In October 2022, holders of 308,085 Class EX units of Sunlight Financial LLC exchanged their Class EX units, along with a
corresponding number of Class C shares of the Company, for 308,085 Class A shares of the Company at $1.25 per Class A share.

Executive Overview
Sunlight’s revenue is primarily attributable to platform fees earned by Sunlight for facilitating the origination of solar and home improvement loans by its capital
providers. Sunlight believes that revenue, and resulting Adjusted EBITDA, will increase over the long term as the solar and home improvement markets grow
organically, as Sunlight adds solar and home improvement contractors to its network, and as Sunlight continues to expand its relationship with its existing
contractor partners.
The Three Months Ended September 30, 2022 Compared to the Combined Quarterly Period
•
•
•

•
•

Sunlight facilitated the origination of $834.7 million of loans during the three months ended September 30, 2022, representing an increase of 30.5% from
$639.5 million of loans during the Combined Quarterly Period.
Revenue was $33.3 million for the three months ended September 30, 2022, representing an increase of 16.3% from $28.6 million for the Combined
Quarterly Period.
Net loss was $415.5 million for the three months ended September 30, 2022, which includes a goodwill impairment charge of $384.4 million and a $32.4
million write-off of advances made to a contractor, compared with net loss of $22.2 million for the Combined Quarterly Period.
Adjusted Net Loss was $26.3 million for the three months ended September 30, 2022, representing a decrease of 173.1% from Adjusted Net Income of
$9.6 million for the Combined Quarterly Period.
Adjusted EBITDA was $(27.0) million for the three months ended September 30, 2022, compared with $11.4 million for the Combined Quarterly Period.

The Nine Months Ended September 30, 2022 Compared to the Combined Year-to-Date Period
•
•
•

•
•

Sunlight facilitated the origination of $2.1 billion of loans during the nine months ended September 30, 2022, representing an increase of 13.6% from $1.9
billion of loans during the Combined Year-to-Date Period.
Revenue was $91.1 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2022, representing an increase of 14.5% from $79.6 million for the Combined Yearto-Date Period.
Net loss was $432.4 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2022, which includes a goodwill impairment charge of $384.4 million and a $32.4
million write-off of advances made to a contractor, compared with $14.3 million for the Combined Year-to-Date Period.
Adjusted Net Loss was $19.1 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2022, compared with Adjusted Net Income of $9.0 million for the
Combined Year-to-Date Period.
Adjusted EBITDA was $(12.4) million for the nine months ended September 30, 2022, compared with $34.4 million for the Combined Year-to-Date
Period.
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As discussed more fully in “—Results of Operations,” Sunlight’s Net Income (Loss), Adjusted Net Income (Loss), and Adjusted EBITDA for the three and nine
months ended September 30, 2022 includes the effects from the Business Combination and is presented on a basis different than those measures for the
Combined Quarterly Period and Combined Year-to-Date Period.
Adjusted EBITDA
Information regarding use of Adjusted EBITDA, a non-GAAP measure, and a reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA to Net Income, the most directly comparable
GAAP measure, is included in “—Non-GAAP Financial Measures.” The following charts depict Adjusted EBITDA and other key performance measures for the
three and nine months ended September 30, 2022 and the Combined Quarterly Period and Combined Year-to-Date Period (USD in thousands):

a.

Includes the results of operations for the Combined Quarterly Period and Combined Year-to-Date Period. Refer to “—Key Performance Measures” and “—Results of Operations” for
amounts related to those periods.

Highlights
In the third quarter of 2022, Sunlight continued to experience strong loan growth including:
•

Quarterly funded loan volume at a record high of $834.7 million

•

Average solar loan balance at a record-high of $45,750

•

Quarterly record of 22,470 borrowers served

•

Substantial price increases to improve margins and asset yields by over 300bps as installations are completed and loans are funded
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Key Performance Measures
Sunlight reviews several key performance measures, discussed below, to evaluate its business and results, measure performance, identify trends, formulate
plans, and make strategic decisions. Sunlight believes that the presentation of such metrics is useful to its investors and counterparties because they are used
to measure and model the performance of companies such as Sunlight using similar metrics.
The following table sets forth key performance measures for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2022 and the Combined Quarterly Period and
Combined Year-to-Date Period (USD in thousands, except percentages):

Funded Loans(d)
Direct Channel Funded Loans
Indirect Channel Funded Loans
Platform Fee Loans(e)
Direct Channel Platform Fee Loans
Indirect Channel Platform Fee
Loans
Revenue
Net Income (Loss)
Adjusted Net Income (Loss)
Adjusted EBITDA
a.
b.
c.
d.
e.

Successor (a)
For the Three
For the
Months
Period July
Ended
10, 2021 to
September
September
30, 2022
30, 2021
$
834,735 $
577,197
570,289
425,953
264,446
151,244
612,240
591,715
570,289
425,953
41,951
33,265
(415,453)
(26,251)
(26,999)

165,762
26,520
(20,431)
(9,685)
11,096

Predecessor
For the
Period July 1, Combined
2021 to July 9, Quarterly
2021
Period
$
62,268 $ 639,465
44,693
470,646
17,575
168,819
44,693
636,408
44,693
470,646
—
2,074
(1,772)
73
276

165,762
28,594
(22,203)
(9,612)
11,372

Successor (a)
For the Nine
Months
Ended
Percentage
September
(b)
Change
30, 2022
30.5 % $ 2,143,918
21.2
1,471,638
56.6
672,280
(3.8)
1,836,238
21.2
1,471,638
(74.7)
16.3
1,771.2
173.1
n.m.

364,600
91,086
(432,400)
(19,115)
(12,404)

Predecessor
For the
Period
Combined
January 1,
Year-to2021 to July 9,
2021
Date Period
$ 1,309,504 $ 1,886,701
1,048,232
1,474,185
261,272
412,516
1,318,644
1,910,359
1,048,232
1,474,185
270,412
53,064
6,131
18,689
23,260

436,174
79,584
(14,300)
9,004
34,356

Percentage
Change(c)
13.6 %
(0.2)
63.0
(3.9)
(0.2)
(16.4)
14.5
2,923.8
n.m.
n.m.

Funded Loans, Platform Fee Loans, and Revenues were not materially impacted by the Business Combination for the nine months ended September 30, 2022. Refer to “—Results of
Operations” for a discussion of the effects of the Business Combination on Net Income (Loss), Adjusted Net Income (Loss), and Adjusted EBITDA.
Change represents the three months ended September 30, 2022 compared to the Combined Quarterly Period.
Change represents the nine months ended September 30, 2022 compared to the Combined Year-to-Date Period.
Sunlight facilitated home improvement loans of $135.4 million, $57.0 million, and $5.7 million that were funded during the three months ended September 30, 2022 and the periods from
July 10, 2021 through September 30, 2021, July 1, 2021 through July 9, 2021, respectively, and $324.1 million and $81.2 million during the nine months ended September 30, 2022 and
the period from January 1, 2021 through July 9, 2021, respectively.
Sunlight facilitated home improvement platform fee loans of $72.7 million, $50.7 million, and $0.0 million that were funded during the three months ended September 30, 2022 and the
periods from July 10, 2021 through September 30, 2021, and July 1, 2021 through July 9, 2021, respectively, and $259.2 million, and $102.0 million during the nine months ended
September 30, 2022 and the period from January 1, 2021 through July 9, 2021, respectively.
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Funded Loans. Sunlight refers to the aggregate principal balance of the loans facilitated through Orange®, and funded by Sunlight’s capital providers, during a
given period, as “funded loans.” Direct channel capital providers fund Sunlight-facilitated solar or home improvement loans one-by-one directly onto their
balance sheet via Orange®. Sunlight’s direct channel capital providers are depository institutions with the power and authority to originate loans such as banks
and credit unions. In the indirect channel, Sunlight’s intermediary bank partner originates solar and home improvement loans, as directed by Sunlight’s
allocation engine, on its balance sheet. These loans are aggregated, pooled, and sold to indirect channel capital providers that cannot, or do not wish to, directly
originate solar or home improvement loans. The indirect channel capital provider relationship allows Sunlight to access a broader range of capital, which may
include, among others, credit funds, insurance companies, and pension funds.
Platform Fee Loans. Indicates loans facilitated by Sunlight on which it earns platform fees in a given period (as described further under “Revenue” below).
Revenue. Sunlight earns revenue in two primary streams: platform fees earned on funded loans, as described above, and fees for loan portfolio management,
servicing and administration services. For loans originated through Sunlight’s direct channel, Sunlight earns platform fees when the direct channel capital
provider funds a particular loan and, for loans originated through Sunlight’s indirect channel, Sunlight earns platform fees when the indirect channel capital
provider purchases a particular loan from Sunlight’s intermediary bank partner. Fees earned by Sunlight for loan portfolio management, servicing and
administration services are paid to Sunlight by the capital providers for which such services are performed on a monthly basis or such other period as the
parties agree.
The contracts under which Sunlight (a) arranges loans for the purchase and installation of home improvements other than residential solar energy systems and
(b) earns income from the prepayment of certain of those Loans sold to an Indirect Channel Loan Purchaser are considered derivatives under GAAP. As such,
Sunlight’s revenues exclude the platform fees that Sunlight earns in connection with these contracts. Instead, Sunlight records realized gains or losses on the
derivatives within “Realized Gains (Losses) on Contract Derivatives, Net.”
Net Income. Net income is a financial measure used to measure Sunlight’s performance from period-to-period on a consistent basis.
Non-GAAP Financial Measures. Adjusted Net Income and Adjusted EBITDA are non-GAAP financial measures used by Sunlight’s management to evaluate
operating performance, generate future operating plans, and make strategic decisions, including those relating to operating expenses and the allocation of
internal resources. Please see “—Non-GAAP Financial Measures” for a further description of the calculation of Adjusted Net Income, Adjusted EBITDA, and
reconciliations to net income.
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Loan Characteristics
The following table sets forth the average characteristics of loans Sunlight facilitated for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2022 and the
Combined Quarterly Period and Combined Year-to-Date Period (USD in thousands, except percentages):

Average Loan
Characteristics
Solar
Loan Term (in months)
Customer Interest Rate
Customer FICO Score
Loan Balance
Solar Maxx®(a)
Loan Term (in months)
Customer Interest Rate
Customer FICO Score
Loan Balance
Home Improvement
Loan Term (in months)
Customer Interest Rate
Customer FICO Score
Loan Balance
Home Improvement
Maxx®(b)
Loan Term (in months)
Customer Interest Rate
Customer FICO Score
Loan Balance
a.
b.

Successor
For the Three
For the Period
Months Ended
July 10, 2021 to
September 30,
September 30,
2022
2021

$

266
1.9 %
753
46
$

$

285
6.1 %
627
39

$

115
10.8 %
758
18
$

$

108
18.3 %
632
10

234
2.3 %
752
41

Predecessor

$

231
2.3
753
42

n.a.
n.a.
n.a.
n.a.
111
10.7 %
747
16

Combined
Quarterly
Period

For the Period
July 1, 2021 to
July 9, 2021

%
$
n.a.
n.a.
n.a.
n.a.

$

106
10.3
753
16

n.a.
n.a.
n.a.
n.a.

%
$

n.a.
n.a.
n.a.
n.a.

Successor
For the Nine
Months Ended
September 30,
2022

234
2.3 %
752
41
$

256
1.9 %
754
45

n.a.
n.a.
n.a.
n.a. $

285
6.1 %
630
40

110
10.6 %
748
16
$

114
10.9 %
758
17

n.a.
n.a.
n.a.
n.a. $

107
18.4 %
630
10

Predecessor
Combined
Year-to-Date
Period

For the Period
January 1, 2021 to
July 9, 2021

$

231
2.5
752
40

%
$
n.a.
n.a.
n.a.
n.a.

$

107
10.2
754
16

n.a.
n.a.
n.a.
n.a.

%
$

n.a.
n.a.
n.a.
n.a.

232
2.5 %
752
40

109
10.4 %
752
16

n.a.
n.a.
n.a.
n.a.

Solar Maxx® loans represented less than 1.0% of loans facilitated by Sunlight during the nine months ended September 30, 2022.
Home Improvement Maxx® loans represented less than 10.0% of loans facilitated by Sunlight during the nine months ended September 30, 2022.

Key Factors Affecting Operating Results
Sunlight’s future operating results and cash flows are dependent upon a number of opportunities, challenges, and other factors, including (a) growth in the
number of loans funded to the customers of each contractor; (b) the availability of capital to fund the loan products offered by Sunlight and desired by the
markets in which Sunlight participates and on economic terms favorable to Sunlight; (c) funded loan volume; (d) competition in the markets in which Sunlight
operates; (e) the cost of traditional and other alternative sources of power to consumers and industry trends and general economic conditions; (f) growth in the
number of contractors included in Sunlight’s network; and (g) concentration among Sunlight’s contractor partners and capital provider partners.
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Growth in the Number of Contractors and in the Number of Loans Funded for the Customers of Each Contractor
Sunlight’s expansive network of residential solar and other home improvement contractors, supported by a differentiated set of tools and services offered
through Orange® and by Sunlight more generally, constitutes the distribution channel through which Sunlight builds funded loan volume and earns fee income.
Sunlight believes that continued growth in the number of contractors in Sunlight’s network and growth in the number of loans funded to the customers of each
such contractor through deepening relationships with, as well as first-look exclusivity arrangements and volume commitments from, those contractors, have
been and will continue to be key components of Sunlight’s increased market penetration, growth in funded loan volume, and Sunlight’s operating results.
Availability of Capital to Fund Loans; Funded Loan Volume
Sunlight’s business model is heavily dependent on connecting its capital providers, who wish to build a portfolio of residential solar or home improvement loans,
to the homeowner customers of the contractors in Sunlight’s distribution network, who wish to finance the purchase of residential solar systems or other home
improvements. Sunlight earns a platform fee on each solar and home improvement loan facilitated through Orange®. Sunlight’s ability to maintain or increase
its funding capacity either by adding additional capital providers or by increasing the commitments of its existing capital providers to fund loans on terms desired
by the solar and/or home improvement markets and on terms that are economically favorable to Sunlight is an important factor in Sunlight’s ability to increase
funded loan volume, which is in turn a critical factor in Sunlight’s operating results.
Competition
Competition for Sunlight occurs at two levels: (a) competition to acquire and maintain contractor relationships; and (b) competition to acquire high quality capital
to fund loans, in each case on economic terms favorable to Sunlight.
Competition to Acquire and Maintain Contractor Relationships
Competition to obtain and maintain contractor relationships is significant. Although Sunlight has negotiated first-look exclusivity arrangements with, and volume
commitments from, certain contractors, the contractors in the residential solar market generally do not enter into exclusive relationships with residential solar
loan providers and Sunlight’s agreements with its network of contractors generally do not provide for exclusive relationships. Contractors may offer loan
products from Sunlight, as well as from Sunlight’s competitors, and generally select between loan providers based on pricing (i.e. the dealer fee or original issue
discount charged to the contractor), consumer credit approval rates, variety of loan products to address shifting consumer demands and market conditions, ease
of loan application and completion process (platform) and other services to facilitate the contractor’s business.
Sunlight believes that the following factors, among others, are key to Sunlight’s success in acquiring and maintaining contractor relationships:
•
Superior value proposition for contractors . Sunlight’s large array of loan products and flexibility in offering new and additional products stem from the
depth, diversity and attractively-priced funding of Sunlight’s capital providers. Sunlight’s loan products allow contractors to capture additional purchase
opportunities from consumers that do not want to or are not able to pay cash for solar system installation or do not want to lease a system from a third
party and forego the benefits of ownership. Sunlight’s attractive loan products and competitive contractor fees allow contractors to choose products that fit
their business needs and the financing needs of their customers. The broad range of products offered by Sunlight improves the contractor’s chances of
meeting its customers’ financing needs and completing a sale.
•
Easy-to-use technology-enabled POS financing platform, instant credit decisioning . Orange® is easy to use and provides instant credit decisions for
homeowners interested in financing the purchase of a residential solar system or home improvement. Access to prompt credit decisions and the ability to
close financing transactions through an intuitive and easy process through the execution of loan agreements in one encounter with a potential customer
provides significant additional sale opportunities for contractors. Orange® may be accessed via the Orange® web address, directly from certain
contractor’s own website via a flexible application programming interface, or API, and via Sunlight’s mobile application. Besides instant credit decisioning,
Orange® includes automated loan stipulation, secure document upload, e-sign capacity and other features that facilitate efficient loan transactions and
provide contractors with the ability to grow their businesses.
•
Additional features and services offered by Sunlight further support the growth of contractor businesses, attract new contractors to Sunlight’s network and
build contractor loyalty. Sunlight prioritizes innovation in Orange® and services that support growth in the businesses of its existing network of
contractors, attract new contractors and build contractor loyalty. Examples of such innovations include Sunlight’s advance program, Sunlight’s launch of
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Spanish-language loan products and Sunlight Rewards™. Sunlight believes that it has innovated more quickly than its competitors and offers contractors
a greater array of valuable services that drive their determination to offer their customers Sunlight-offered loan products over those of Sunlight’s
competitors and that Sunlight will continue to be able to innovate quickly to meet the needs of its contractor network.
Competition to Acquire Capital to Fund Loans
The residential solar system and home improvement loan markets are relatively fragmented. Facilitating the aggregation of loan volume from these markets is a
highly competitive sector of these broader industries. Sunlight faces competition from a diverse landscape of consumer lenders, including traditional banks,
credit unions, specialized residential solar system lenders, and lease providers. Sunlight’s competitors source capital from a mix of alternative sources,
including depository capital and/or other alternatives that rely on the capital markets.
Sunlight believes that it offers capital providers an attractive value proposition due to its industry-leading consumer credit underwriting, attractive risk-adjusted
returns earned by its capital providers relative to other asset classes, the access that Sunlight’s Platform provides to a unique and growing asset class that may
reduce volatility in the ability to deploy capital, and the ability to access new customers for very little cost. Sunlight has successfully added capital providers and
grown commitments from existing capital providers since inception. As its contractor network has grown, Sunlight has consistently diversified its capital provider
base to ensure that it has sufficient capital to fund the demand for Sunlight facilitated loans and that it is able to offer an evolving and competitive mix of loan
products to meet contractor and consumer demand. Capital providers have actively participated in this success and Sunlight has experienced minimal capital
provider attrition since inception, however, as capital providers experience decreased liquidity as a result of rising funding costs, they have and may in the future
reduce or pause the loan volume they fund from Sunlight, and with respect to Sunlight’s Indirect Channel, if Sunlight is unable to facilitate the sale of loans held
on its bank partner’s balance sheet, and such bank partner is unwilling to expand its loan capacity, Sunlight may be required to purchase all or a portion of these
loans and/or may be unable to fund future Indirect Channel loans. In April 2021, one capital provider provided notice to Sunlight that it had exceeded its internal
asset concentration levels for solar loans and terminated their program agreement with Sunlight, and, in July 2022, one capital provider paused the loan volume
they fund by Sunlight. However, Sunlight believes that there are many institutions seeking to deploy capital into solar and home improvement loan assets, and
will continue to be selective about adding capital provider partners. Sunlight values diversification but will specifically focus on partnering with potential capital
providers that can enable Sunlight to meet strategic goals, including access to the most attractive pricing and access to capacity for a growing suite of loan
products, among others.
Industry Trends and General Economic Conditions; Cost of Power
Sunlight’s results of operations in the past have been fairly resilient to economic downturns but the rapid rise in interest rates impacted Indirect Channel pricing
in the fiscal quarter ended September 30, 2022, and Sunlight’s results of operations may in the future may be impacted by the relative strength or weakness of
the overall economy and its effect on unemployment, consumer spending, and consumer demand for solar systems and home improvements. As general
economic conditions improve or deteriorate, direct channel capital provider capacity may be negatively impacted, and consumer spending levels and the
willingness of consumers to take out loans to finance purchases may impact the Company’s volume flow. Specific economic factors such as interest rate levels,
changes in monetary, fiscal and related policies, inflationary pressure, market volatility, consumer confidence, the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, the
Russian invasion of Ukraine, and, particularly, the unemployment rate also influence consumer spending and borrowing patterns.
Sunlight’s results of operations are also dependent upon continued growth in the residential solar market and the continued penetration of residential solar
across the country. Growth in the solar market is attributable to several factors including, among others, savings available to consumers as compared with the
cost of traditional sources of power or other forms of clean or alternative power and the opportunity to participate in the world-wide effort of reducing carbons in
the atmosphere, or “going green.” The cost to homeowners to install solar is impacted by many factors, including the cost of materials, which is subject to
inflationary pressure, the cost of labor, the availability of federal, state and local incentives, and, to the extent financed, prevailing interest rates.
Specifically, future results of operations may be impacted by the potential discontinuation or material reduction or other change in the federal solar investment
tax credit (the “ITC”). In August 2022, the ITC was extended under the terms of the “Inflation Reduction Act of 2022”, which provides that until 2033 a qualifying
homeowner will be allowed to deduct 30% of the cost of installing residential solar systems from their U.S. federal income taxes, thereby returning a material
portion of the purchase price of the residential solar system to homeowners. Under the terms of the current extension, the ITC will remain at 30% through the
end of 2032, reduce to 26% for 2033, reduce to 22% for 2034, and further reduce to 0.0% after
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the end of 2034 for residential solar systems, unless it is extended before that time. Although the ITC has been extended several times, there is no guarantee
that the ITC will be extended beyond 2034.
Though the residential solar market has grown steadily over the last several years, Sunlight cannot guarantee that such growth will continue. In addition,
although the home improvement business is not currently a material part of Sunlight’s business, Sunlight believes that it is well-positioned to grow that business
significantly over time. The home improvement industry is, however, subject to many of the same industry trends and challenges associated with a changing
economy as the solar industry and Sunlight cannot guarantee that it will be successful in growing that business as planned.
Concentration
Sunlight’s expansive network of residential solar system and other home improvement contractors, supported by a differentiated set of tools and services offered
through Orange®, constitutes the distribution channel through which the Sunlight-facilitated loans made available by Sunlight’s capital providers are sold to the
consumer customers of such contractors. Sunlight partners with some of the largest contractors in the United States, which in the aggregate generate a
material portion of Sunlight’s funded loan volume through Sunlight’s network of capital providers. However, Sunlight’s contractor network is considerably
diversified. In the period from September 30, 2020 to September 30, 2021, the top ten contractors in Sunlight’s network were responsible for selling 45.2% of
Sunlight’s funded loan volume, and in the period from September 30, 2021 to September 30, 2022 that percentage decreased to 42.8%. In both of these
periods, only one contractor sold loans aggregating more than 10% of Sunlight’s revenue. That contractor was responsible for selling more than 14.5% and
14.0% of Sunlight’s funded loan volume in the period from September 30, 2020 to September 30, 2021 and in the period from September 30, 2021 to
September 30, 2022, respectively. While the percentage of Sunlight’s funded loan volume sold by any contractor in Sunlight’s network varies from period to
period, there is one contractor, ADT Sunpro f/k/a Marc Jones Construction, L.L.C., that sold 12.7% and 15.0% of Sunlight’s funded loan volume during the three
and nine months ended September 30, 2022, respectively, and sold 12.1%, 17.1%, 15.2% of Sunlight’s funded loan volume during the periods from July 10,
2021 through September 30, 2021, July 1, 2021 through July 9, 2021, and January 1, 2021 through July 9, 2021, respectively. In September 2022, one of
Sunlight’s largest contractors became insolvent, primarily driven by solar installation challenges that led to the contractor’s liquidity issues, and as a result, the
Company determined it would be unable to collect all advanced amounts owed and took a non-cash charge of $32.4 million on such advances. Sunlight
believes that its contractor network is sufficiently diversified to continue to grow with the residential solar market, and increase share given market dynamics, but
intends to continue selectively adding contractors to the network in order to further diversify and broaden the opportunity to grow the business.
Sunlight has multiple capital providers in both its direct and indirect funding channels, all of which have increased their commitments since partnering with
Sunlight, and Sunlight added an additional capital provider in the quarter ended September 30, 2022. Sunlight's largest capital provider in the period from
September 30, 2021 to September 30, 2022 has materially increased its commitment since the relationship began in 2015, however, volume flow from this
capital provider and others is subject to fluctuating yield requirements that may be impacted by changes in funding costs. The significant portion of funded loan
volume attributable to this capital provider results in concentration risk. This capital provider funded 33.7% and 15.6% of Sunlight’s funded loans during the
period from September 30, 2020 to September 30, 2021 and during the period from September 30, 2021 to September 30, 2022, respectively. Sunlight cannot
guarantee that this capital provider will continue to fund loans facilitated by Sunlight in the same volume or at all beyond its current contractual commitment.
This capital provider may reduce the volume commitment in whole or in part upon no less than 90 days’ prior written notice and/or may reduce or pause volume
based on yield requirements. As of September 30, 2022, Sunlight’s reliance on its Indirect Channel has increased with $335.4 million in unpaid principal
balance of funded loans to be sold on behalf of a capital provider. If Sunlight is unable to facilitate the sale of loans held on such capital provider’s balance
sheet, and such capital provider is unwilling to expand its loan capacity, Sunlight may be required to purchase all or a portion of these loans and/or may be
unable to fund future Indirect Channel loans. While the rapid rise in interest rates may impact the Company’s indirect channel margins, Sunlight has enacted
significant price increases and eliminated certain products to offset such impacts. Sunlight added new capital providers in 2021 and 2022 to reduce its capital
provider concentration risk and will continue to do so selectively. Further, Sunlight is in continuous discussions with multiple capital providers on an ongoing
basis and, if Sunlight were to receive an advance notice of termination or a request to pause volume flow from the capital provider, Sunlight would seek to
develop alternate funding sources to replace this capital provider, although Sunlight cannot guarantee that it would be able to do so at all or on equivalent or
favorable terms. This, and any reduction in loan volume due to fluctuating yield requirements could negatively impact Sunlight’s funded loan volume and amount
of platform fees that Sunlight earns, and therefore could impact revenue.
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Basis of Presentation
Sunlight conducts business through one operating segment, and Sunlight operates in one geographic region, the United States. See Notes 1 and 2 of the
accompanying consolidated financial statements of Sunlight for more information.
Components of Results of Operations
Revenues
Revenue. Sunlight earns revenue in two primary streams: platform fees earned on each loan facilitated via Orange® and fees earned for loan portfolio
management, servicing and administration services.
Platform fees. Platform fee revenue for each loan facilitated via Orange® is generally the difference between the contractor fee that Sunlight charges to the
contractors in its network for access to Orange® and the ability to offer financing options to their customers and the capital provider discount charged to
Sunlight (cost of capital to Sunlight) for such loan. The platform fee percentage is equal to the dollar amount of such fee divided by the principal balance at
origination of such loan. Platform fees are generally earned by Sunlight in the direct channel when the direct channel capital provider funds a particular loan and
in the indirect channel when an indirect channel capital provider purchases a particular loan from Sunlight’s intermediary bank partner. The contract between
Sunlight and its intermediary bank partner for home improvement loans is considered a derivative for GAAP purposes, whereas the contract between Sunlight
and its intermediary bank partner for solar loans is not. For indirect channel home improvement loans, Sunlight records a “realized gain (loss) on contract
derivative (net)” in lieu of a platform fee generally when the loans are purchased by Sunlight’s indirect capital provider from Sunlight’s bank partner, and
Sunlight is paid. As such, Sunlight excludes from its revenue any platform fee associated with an indirect channel home improvement loan under Sunlight’s
related home improvement agreement. Sunlight estimates the fair value of the derivative components of the bank partnership arrangement based on the
present value of the net cash flows that Sunlight expects to collect under the agreement. Under this home improvement bank partnership arrangement, with
respect to a given home improvement loan, Sunlight will expect to collect (a) the amount paid by Sunlight’s indirect capital provider to purchase the loan from
Sunlight’s bank partner (the outstanding principal balance of the loan less the amount of the capital provider discount applied to that loan plus any accrued and
unpaid interest) minus (b) the total of amounts funded to the relevant contractor in respect of the related home improvement project (total cost of the project to
the consumer customer of the relevant contractor less the applicable contractor fee) and any amounts that Sunlight owes to its bank partner in the form of
minimum guaranteed returns to the bank partner on the origination of such loan. The aggregate estimated fair value of this agreement is marked to market by
Sunlight on a monthly basis. When a loan sale occurs, the estimated fair value associated with the loans included in the sold portfolio is reversed and Sunlight
recognizes the related realized net cash as a realized gain or loss as noted above.
Loan portfolio management, servicing and administration revenue . Sunlight also earns revenue from fees charged by Sunlight for providing loan portfolio
management, servicing, and administration services for certain of its capital providers. These services include the reporting of loan performance information,
administration of servicing performed by third parties, and addressing customer concerns or complaints through Sunlight’s call center on behalf of the relevant
capital provider.
Costs and Expenses
Cost of revenues. Sunlight’s cost of revenues includes the aggregate costs that Sunlight incurs to satisfy its obligations in facilitating the origination of a loan.
The cost of revenues includes variable consideration that Sunlight pays for its platform fees which do not otherwise meet the criteria necessary for netting
against gross revenues, including items such as credit bureau fees, the cost to check homeowners’ title in connection with the homeowner credit underwriting,
the cost of certain sales incentives, and certain information technology costs directly associated with loan origination activities, among others.
Compensation and benefits. Compensation and benefits expenses represent costs related to our employees, such as salaries, bonuses, benefits, and equitybased compensation expenses. Also included are any recruiting costs incurred by Sunlight in attracting talent and professional and consulting fees related to
certain services that Sunlight outsources to third parties.
Selling, general, and administrative . Selling, general, and administrative expenses include legal, audit and other professional services fees, travel and
entertainment expenses, and insurance premiums as incurred. Sunlight recognizes expenses associated with co-marketing agreements when earned by the
counterparty.
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Property and technology . Property and technology expenses comprise rent, information technology services to support the Orange® infrastructure and
operation, as well as other Sunlight technology requirements, and noncapitalizable costs to internally develop software as incurred.
Depreciation and amortization . Depreciation and amortization expenses relate primarily to the amortization of definite-lived intangible assets acquired in the
Business Combination that include contractor and capital provider relationships, developed technology, and trademarks/ tradenames. Other amortization
includes internally developed software to support Orange® or otherwise developed by or on behalf of Sunlight after the Business Combination and leasehold
improvements. Depreciation expense includes the depreciation of computer hardware as well as furniture, fixtures, and equipment.
Goodwill Impairment. To the extent Sunlight determines the carrying value of its goodwill resulting from the Business Combination exceeds its implied fair
value, Sunlight recognizes an impairment loss for that difference on the date of such determination.
Provision for losses. Provision for losses relate primarily to certain receivables that are held-for-investment by Sunlight that are not performing or Sunlight
estimates will not perform based upon historical experience. The term relates to Sunlight’s advances program, its prefunding program, and to certain solar and
home improvement loans and loan participations that Sunlight purchased from Sunlight’s capital providers pursuant to the terms of its contract with those capital
providers.
Management fees to affiliate . These expenses relate to fees paid pursuant to management agreements entered into between Sunlight and certain of Sunlight’s
affiliates. These management agreements terminated upon closing of the Business Combination.
Other Income (Expense), Net
Interest income. Sunlight recognizes income on certain receivables that are held-for-investment by Sunlight, including certain solar or home improvement loans,
or participations in solar loans, held on Sunlight’s balance sheet, in each case to the extent such receivables are performing. Sunlight accrues interest income
based on the unpaid principal balance and contractual terms of such receivables, and recognizes income related to the discounts associated with such
receivables as a yield adjustment using the interest method, or on a straight-line basis when it approximates the interest method, over the loan term.
Interest expense. Interest expenses represent interest payable by Sunlight on its borrowings under its Loan and Security Agreement (as defined below). Interest
expense also includes the amortization of associated deferred financing costs prior to the Business Combination.
Change in fair value of warrant liabilities . The change in fair value of warrant liabilities relates to certain warrants issued by Sunlight to certain third parties to
purchase Sunlight’s Class A common stock. Such warrants are marked to market periodically and any change in value is reflected in this line item.
Change in fair value of, and realized gains (losses) on, contract derivatives, net . The arrangements with Sunlight’s intermediary bank partner to originate
indirect channel home improvement loans and with an indirect loan purchaser to purchase such loans are considered derivatives under GAAP. As such,
Sunlight’s revenues exclude the platform fees that Sunlight earns from the sale of home improvement loans from the bank partner’s balance sheet. Instead,
Sunlight records derivatives that are marked to market on a monthly basis, with realized gains or losses recognized on the derivatives on the sale of the loan
from the bank partner to an indirect channel capital provider and accounting for the impact of any changes to the applicable interest rates on the amounts
payable to the bank partner in connection with any such sale.
Other realized losses, net. Other realized losses primarily relate to losses Sunlight incurred in connection with certain Indirect Channel Loans.
Other income (expense). Other income or expense primarily relate to the changes in a liability for certain guarantees of performance provided by Sunlight to
Sunlight’s bank partner relating to the loans held on the balance sheet of Sunlight’s bank partner and certain other guarantees of performance made by Sunlight
to certain of its capital providers with respect to specified solar loans.
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Business Combination expenses . The expenses Sunlight incurs that are not considered operating expenses. These costs primarily represent legal and other
professional costs Sunlight incurred in connection with the Business Combination.
Income tax benefit (expense) . The income taxes Sunlight incurs on the taxable income, or income tax benefit in periods of taxable loss, not allocable to
noncontrolling interests in Sunlight Financial LLC.
Noncontrolling interests in income (loss) of consolidated subsidiaries . The net income (loss) of Sunlight’s consolidated subsidiaries allocable to third parties and
to which Sunlight is not entitled.
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Results of Operations
This section includes a summary of our results of operations, followed by detailed comparisons of our results for the three and nine months ended
September 30, 2022 and the Combined Quarterly Period and Combined Year-to-Date Period (USD in thousands, except percentages):

Revenue
Costs and Expenses
Cost of revenues (exclusive of
items shown separately below)
Compensation and benefits
Selling, general, and
administrative
Property and technology
Depreciation and amortization
Provision for losses
Goodwill impairment
Management fees to affiliate

Successor
For the
Three
For the
Months
Period July
Ended
10, 2021 to
September September
30, 2022
30, 2021
$ 33,265 $ 26,520

Operating income (loss)
Other Income (Expense), Net
Interest income
Interest expense
Change in fair value of warrant
liabilities
Change in fair value of contract
derivatives, net
Realized gains (losses) on
contract derivatives, net
Other realized losses, net
Other income (expense)
Business combination
expenses
Net Income (Loss) Before
Income Taxes
Income tax benefit (expense)
Net Income (Loss)
Noncontrolling interests in loss of
consolidated subsidiaries
Net Income (Loss) Attributable
$
to Class A Shareholders
a.
b.

Predecessor

Successor
For the
Nine
For the
Months
Period July Combined
Ended
1, 2021 to
Quarterly
September
July 9, 2021
Period
Increase (Decrease)(a)
30, 2022
$
2,074 $ 28,594 $
4,671
16.3 % $ 91,086

Predecessor
For the
Period
Combined
January 1,
Year-to2021 to July
Date
9, 2021
Period
Increase (Decrease)(b)
$
53,064 $ 79,584 $ 11,502
14.5 %

5,619
16,378

4,841
32,782

365
1,042

5,206
33,824

413
(17,446)

7.9
(51.6)

16,621
43,641

10,556
17,162

15,397
49,944

4,504
2,069
8,572
37,247
384,379
—
458,768
(425,503)

3,330
1,502
20,541
254
—
—
63,250
(36,730)

330
162
78
—
—
4
1,981
93

3,660
1,664
20,619
254
—
4
65,231
(36,637)

844
405
(12,047)
36,993
384,379
(4)
393,537
(388,866)

23.1
24.3
(58.4)
14,564.2
n.m.
(100.0)
603.3
1,061.4

15,522
5,981
40,713
41,927
384,379
—
548,784
(457,698)

3,450
2,790
1,688
1,172
—
204
37,022
16,042

6,780
4,292
22,229
1,426
—
204
100,272
(20,688)

8,742
1,689
18,484
40,501
384,379
(204)
448,512
(437,010)

189
(375)

77
(291)

9
(32)

86
(323)

103
(52)

119.8
16.1

360
(931)

262
(604)

339
(895)

21
(36)

6.2
4.0

6,590

10,116

(1,439)

8,677

(2,087)

(24.1)

15,316

(5,504)

4,612

10,704

232.1

(2,340)

489

125

614

(2,954)

n.m.

(2,247)

(662)

(173)

(2,074)

1,198.8

(278)
(196)
(839)

1,377
—
(60)

6
—
(5)

1,383
—
(65)

(1,661)
(196)
(774)

n.m.
n.m.
1,190.8

3,686
(569)
(1,667)

2,992
—
616

4,369
—
556

(683)
(569)
(2,223)

—
2,751

(1,093)
10,615

(529)
(1,865)

(1,622)
8,750

1,622
(5,999)

(100.0)
(68.6)

—
13,948

(7,011)
(9,911)

(8,104)
704

8,104
13,244

(100.0)
1,881.3

(422,752)
7,299
(415,453)

(26,115)
5,684
(20,431)

(1,772)
—
(1,772)

(27,887)
5,684
(22,203)

(394,865)
1,615
(393,250)

1,415.9
28.4
1,771.2

(443,750)
11,350
(432,400)

6,131
—
6,131

(19,984)
5,684
(14,300)

(423,766)
5,666
(418,100)

2,120.5
99.7
2,923.8

151,389

9,108

9,108

142,281

1,562.2

158,478

9,108

149,370

1,640.0

(264,064) $

(11,323)

—
$

(1,772)

(13,095) $(250,969)

1,916.5

Change represents the three months ended September 30, 2022 compared to the Combined Quarterly Period.
Change represents the nine months ended September 30, 2022 compared to the Combined Year-to-Date Period.
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$ (273,922)

—
$

6,131

1,224
(6,303)

(5,192) $(268,730)

7.9
(12.6)
128.9
39.4
83.2
2,840.2
n.m.
(100.0)
447.3
2,112.4

(15.6)
n.m.
n.m.

5,175.8

The Three Months Ended September 30, 2022 Compared to the Combined Quarterly Period
Revenue
The following table provides the components of Sunlight’s revenue for the three months ended September 30, 2022 and the Combined Quarterly Period (USD
in thousands, except percentages):
Successor

Direct Channel Platform Fees, net
Indirect Channel Platform Fees, net
Other revenues
Total
a.

For the Three Months
Ended September 30,
2022
$
31,446
—
1,819
$
33,265

Predecessor

For the Period July 10,
2021 to September 30,
2021
$
21,670
2,489
2,361
$
26,520

For the Period July 1,
2021 to July 9, 2021
$
1,972
11
91
$
2,074

Increase (Decrease)(a)
Combined
Quarterly
Period
$
23,642
2,500
2,452
$
28,594

$
$

$

%
7,804
(2,500)
(633)
4,671

33.0 %
n.a.
(25.8)
16.3

Change represents the three months ended September 30, 2022 compared to the Combined Quarterly Period.

Revenue increased by $4.7 million or 16.3% for the three months ended September 30, 2022 as compared to the Combined Quarterly Period due to an increase
of 1.0% in the average platform fee percentage earned on loans funded by Direct Channel capital providers or purchased by Indirect Channel capital providers,
partially offset by a decrease of 3.8% in platform fee loans resulting from Sunlight’s increased allocation of funded loan volume to its Bank Partner and Indirect
Channel Loan Purchasers. Sunlight’s revenue excludes amounts earned through its facilitation of Indirect Channel home improvement loan originations, which
Sunlight presents as realized gains or losses on contract derivatives.
Funded loans increased by $195.3 million or 30.5% for the three months ended September 30, 2022, as compared to the Combined Quarterly Period due to the
growth in the residential solar market and the increase in the number of contractors in Sunlight’s contractor network. The total number of contractors in
Sunlight’s network increased from 1,484 at September 30, 2021 to 1,880 at September 30, 2022. The number of solar contractors in the network increased from
776 at September 30, 2021 to 816 at September 30, 2022, an increase of 5.2%. The number of home improvement contractors in the network increased from
708 at September 30, 2021 to 1,064 at September 30, 2022, an increase of 50.3%.
The average platform fee percentage earned on loans funded by direct channel capital providers or purchased by indirect channel capital providers increased
1.0% from the three months ended September 30, 2022 to the Combined Quarterly Period. The platform fee percentage earned by Sunlight is dependent on
several factors, including (i) the contractor fees charged by Sunlight to contractors (which is impacted by competitive pressure that varies from period to period,
by loan product based on consumer preferences, and by the mix of contractors in a particular period as certain contractors may generally have higher or lower
contractor fees than others), (ii) the capital provider discounts charged to Sunlight by Sunlight’s capital providers (which fluctuate based on, among other things,
market conditions impacting cost of capital, opportunities in other asset classes, and the mix of capital providers funding or purchasing loans in a particular
period as certain capital providers may generally have higher or lower capital provider discounts than others), (iii) the mix of Sunlight loan products funded in a
particular period (as certain products in that period, for reasons relating to competitive pressure for certain loan products or otherwise, may generally carry a
higher or lower capital provider discount or contractor fee, than others) and (iv) other factors. Sunlight earns revenues from platform fees, which are determined
by the margin between capital provider discounts charged to Sunlight and contractor fees charged by Sunlight to the contractors that sell the Sunlight facilitated
loan products. Both components in the calculation of platform fees are influenced by a variety of factors, including but not limited to those described above. For
example, capital providers wishing to obtain greater volume may reduce capital provider discounts charged across all products to make funding with this capital
provider an attractive option to Sunlight. Similarly, competitive pressures or volume discounts negotiated with given contractors may reduce the contractor fees
that Sunlight charges to such contractors on certain loan products or across loan products.
Sunlight believes that the difference in average platform fee percentage from September 30, 2021 to September 30, 2022 is primarily attributable to competition
in the market with regard to contractor fees, the mix of Sunlight loan products funded in the two periods, Sunlight’s allocation of funded volume to its Bank
Partner and Indirect Channel Loan Purchasers, and an increase in capital provider discounts charged to Sunlight by capital providers. Sunlight’s indirect
channel capital providers are generally more reactive than direct channel capital providers to market uncertainty and interest rate market volatility. Unlike
Sunlight’s Direct Channel capital providers, Sunlight’s Indirect Channel capital providers are generally not depository institutions and therefore their own cost of
capital is subject to market uncertainty. Consequently, the capital provider discounts charged to Sunlight by such Indirect Channel capital providers are also
likely to be more reactive. Deposits, which are generally used by Sunlight’s Direct Channel capital providers to fund loans, are
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generally more stable, less reactive to market variance and the least expensive cost of capital. The following table presents averages weighted by original loan
balance of capital provider discounts, contractor fees, and platform fees.
Successor

Solar Total - Capital Provider Discount
Solar Total - Contractor Fee
Solar Total - Platform Fee
Solar Direct Channel - Capital Provider Discount
Solar Direct Channel - Contractor Fee
Solar Direct Channel - Platform Fee
Solar Indirect Channel - Capital Provider Discount
Solar Indirect Channel - Contractor Fee
Solar Indirect Channel - Platform Fee
a.

For the Three Months
Ended September 30,
2022
16.6 %
22.1
5.5

Predecessor

For the Period July 10,
2021 to September 30,
2021
17.0 %
21.5
4.5

16.6
22.1
5.5

16.8
21.9
5.1
n.a.
n.a.
n.a.

18.1
20.3
2.2

For the Period July 1,
2021 to July 9, 2021
17.2 %
21.6
4.4
17.2
21.6
4.4

Combined
Quarterly Period
17.0 %
21.5
4.5
16.8
21.8
5.0

n.a.
n.a.
n.a.

18.1
20.3
2.2

Change in
Average(a)
(0.4) %
0.6
1.0
(0.2)
0.3
0.5
n.a.
n.a.
n.a.

Change represents the three months ended September 30, 2022 compared to the Combined Quarterly Period.

Costs and Expenses
Cost of revenues increased by $0.4 million or 7.9% for the three months ended September 30, 2022, less than the 16.3% increase in revenues, when compared
to the Combined Quarterly Period. The $0.4 million increase in cost of revenues resulted from an $0.8 million increase in rewards earned by salespeople under
the Sunlight Rewards™ program, a $0.3 million increase in costs incurred in connection with facilitating loan origination activities, such as credit bureau fees,
and was offset by $0.7 million in decreases from broker fees paid to financial institutions for arranging certain loan origination or purchase arrangements with
capital providers. The broker fees are calculated as a percentage of the funded loan volume originating from an applicable loan origination or purchase
arrangement with a capital provider. Sunlight’s obligation to pay these broker fees generally terminates between three and five years after the date that the initial
loan is originated or purchased pursuant to an arrangement facilitated by the broker.
Compensation and benefits expense decreased by $17.4 million, or 51.6% for the three months ended September 30, 2022 when compared to the Combined
Quarterly Period. Of the $17.4 million decrease, $21.0 million of compensation expense recognized in the Combined Quarterly Period resulted from the
immediate vesting of equity-based compensation awards granted to employees of Sunlight’s Predecessor that satisfied vesting conditions upon completion of
the Business Combination, offset by increases of $4.7 million from restricted stock units granted on or after the Business Combination to Sunlight employees
and $1.9 million of costs associated with the increase in full-time employees from 220 at September 30, 2021 to 247 at September 30, 2022. The increase in
full-time employees is consistent with the growth in Sunlight’s business year-over-year.
Selling, general, and administrative expense increased by $0.8 million, or 23.1% for the three months ended September 30, 2022 when compared to the
Combined Quarterly Period. Of the $0.8 million increase, audit and accounting related expenses increased by $0.7 million as well as increases in advertising
costs by $0.3 million, offset by reductions in legal and compliance costs by $0.3 million.
Property and technology expense increased by $0.4 million, or 24.3% for the three months ended September 30, 2022 when compared to the Combined
Quarterly Period primarily due to increases in rent and additional licensing fees charged by certain of Sunlight’s third-party service providers that support the
infrastructure and operation of Orange® associated with the growth in Sunlight’s network of contractors.
Depreciation and amortization expense decreased by $12.0 million, or 58.4% for the three months ended September 30, 2022 when compared to the Combined
Quarterly Period primarily due to the full amortization of capital provider relationships acquired in the Business Combination during the second quarter of 2022.
Provision for loss expense increased by $37.0 million for the three months ended September 30, 2022 when compared to the Combined Quarterly Period, of
which $32.4 million represents an impairment charge arising from the insolvency of one of Sunlight’s largest advance program contractors in September 2022
where one of Sunlight’s largest contractors experienced a liquidity shortfall that caused the installer to substantially wind down its business by the end of that
month and to begin liquidation of its business in October 2022. As a result, Sunlight determined it would be unable to collect
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$32.4 million Sunlight advanced to the contractor at September 30, 2022, representing the total net amounts advanced to the contractor at that time. Sunlight
has re-underwritten all other contractors in the advance program and has taken actions to further reduce its exposure to counterparty risk, including by reducing
advance limits, reducing the advance rate per job, increasing pricing for contractors in this program and eliminating advance eligibility for certain contractors.
We also continue to proactively monitor contractors in this program for changes in their risk profile. Excluding this impairment charge, the ratio of provision for
loss expense over aggregate funded bank partner loan volume in the Combined Quarterly Period was 0.2% as compared to 1.8% over the three months ended
September 30, 2022 as a result of the write offs.

Goodwill Impairment
To the extent Sunlight determines the carrying value of its goodwill resulting from the Business Combination exceeds its implied fair value, Sunlight recognizes
an impairment loss for that difference on the date of such determination. Sunlight recorded a goodwill impairment charge of $384.4 million during the three
months ended September 30, 2022, primarily due to challenges in the macro-economic environment, such as rapidly rising interest rates impacting Sunlight’s
financial performance and market performance of companies similar to Sunlight.
Operating margin decreased materially from the Combined Quarterly Period to the three months ended September 30, 2022 due to the factors described above,
primarily related to non-cash charges in connection with the Business Combination, provision for losses and goodwill impairment. Generally, operating margin
benefits from the fixed nature of a material level of Sunlight expense and revenue generally growing materially faster than operating expenses when excluding
equity-based compensation expense, provision for losses, the amortization effects of identified intangible assets, and goodwill impairment.
Other Income (Expense), Net
Total other income decreased $6.0 million for the three months ended September 30, 2022 when compared to the Combined Quarterly Period, primarily
resulting from a $3.5 million lower decrease in the fair value of public and private warrants, originally issued by Spartan and assumed by Sunlight upon closing
of the Business Combination (b) $1.4 million increase in fair value of warrants issued by Sunlight’s Predecessor during the Combined Quarterly Period and (c)
$4.6 million decrease in the realized and unrealized gains (losses) from the arrangement with Sunlight’s Bank Partner to originate home improvement loans
treated as a derivative under GAAP, partially offset by a $1.6 million decrease in costs incurred in connection with the Business Combination.
Income Tax Benefit
Sunlight's Predecessor is a limited liability company not subject to income taxes. During the Successor period from July 10, 2021 through September 30, 2021,
the $5.7 income tax benefit reflected an effective tax rate of 23.1%. During the three months ended September 30, 2022, the $7.3 million income tax benefit
reflects an effective tax rate of 3.0%, driven by the $384.4 million goodwill impairment.
Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Subsidiaries
Sunlight's Predecessor did not consolidate any entities in which third parties owned a noncontrolling interest. During the Successor period from July 10, 2021
through September 30, 2021, income (loss) of consolidated subsidiaries allocated to noncontrolling interests represents $26.1 million of Sunlight Financial LLC
consolidated net loss and weighted-average noncontrolling interests of 34.9%. During the three months ended September 30, 2022, loss of consolidated
subsidiaries allocated to noncontrolling interests represents $422.4 million of Sunlight Financial LLC consolidated net loss during the three months ended
September 30, 2022 and weighted-average noncontrolling interests of 35.7%. The weighted-average ownership of the noncontrolling interests increased as a
result of vested Class EX units.
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The Nine Months Ended September 30, 2022 Compared to the Combined Year-to-Date Period
Revenue
The following table provides the components of Sunlight’s revenue for the nine months ended September 30, 2022 and the Combined Year-to-Date Period
(USD in thousands, except percentages):
Successor

Direct Channel Platform Fees, net
Indirect Channel Platform Fees, net
Other revenues
Total
a.

For the Nine Months
Ended September 30,
2022
$
79,350
6,123
5,613
$
91,086

Predecessor

For the Period July 10,
2021 to September 30,
2021
$
21,670
2,489
2,361
$
26,520

Combined
Year-to-Date
For the Period January
1, 2021 to July 9, 2021
Period
$
45,703 $
67,373
5,054
7,543
2,307
4,668
$
53,064 $
79,584

Increase (Decrease)(a)

$

$

$
11,977
(1,420)
945
11,502

%
17.8 %
(18.8)
20.2
14.5

Change represents the nine months ended September 30, 2022 compared to the Combined Year-to-Date Period.

Revenue increased by $11.5 million or 14.5% for the nine months ended September 30, 2022 as compared to the Combined Year-to-Date Period due to an
overall 1.2% increase in the average platform fee percentage earned on loans funded by Direct Channel capital providers or purchased by Indirect Channel
capital providers, partially offset by a decrease of 3.9% in platform fee loans, excluding indirect channel home improvement platform fee loans treated as
derivatives for accounting purposes. Sunlight’s revenue excludes amounts earned through its facilitation of indirect channel home improvement loan
originations, which Sunlight presents as realized gains or losses on contract derivatives.
Funded loans increased by $1.1 billion or 13.6% from $1.9 billion for the nine months ended September 30, 2022 as compared to the Combined Year-to-Date
Period primarily attributable to the growth in the residential solar market, deepening relationships with existing contractors, and an increase in the number of
new contractors in Sunlight’s contractor network.
The average platform fee percentage earned on loans funded by Direct Channel capital providers or purchased by Indirect Channel capital providers increased
1.2% from the Combined Year-to-Date Period to the nine months ended September 30, 2022. Sunlight believes that the difference in platform fee percentage
from September 30, 2021 to September 30, 2022 is primarily attributable to competition in the market with regard to contractor fees, the mix of Sunlight loan
products funded in the two periods and an increase in capital provider discounts charged to Sunlight by capital providers in Sunlight’s Indirect Channel.
Sunlight’s Indirect Channel capital providers are generally more reactive than Direct Channel capital providers to market uncertainty and interest rate market
volatility. Unlike Sunlight’s Direct Channel capital providers, Sunlight’s Indirect Channel capital providers are generally not depository institutions and therefore
their own cost of capital is subject to market uncertainty. Consequently, the capital provider discounts charged to Sunlight by such Indirect Channel capital
providers are also likely to be more reactive. Deposits, which are generally used by Sunlight’s Direct Channel capital providers to fund loans, are generally more
stable, less reactive to market variance, and the least expensive cost of capital.
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The following table presents averages weighted by original loan balance of capital provider discounts, contractor fees and platform fees.

Solar Total - Capital Provider Discount
Solar Total - Contractor Fee
Solar Total - Platform Fee

Successor

Predecessor

For the Nine Months
For the Period July
Ended September 30, 10, 2021 to September
2022
30, 2021
16.5 %
17.0 %
22.0
21.5
5.5
4.5

For the Period January
1, 2021 to July 9, 2021
16.7 %
20.8
4.1

Combined Year-toDate Period
Change in Average(a)
16.8 %
(0.3) %
21.1
0.9
4.3
1.2

Solar Direct Channel - Capital Provider Discount
Solar Direct Channel - Contractor Fee
Solar Direct Channel - Platform Fee

15.7
21.1
5.4

16.8
21.9
5.1

16.6
20.9
4.3

16.6
21.2
4.6

(0.9)
(0.1)
0.8

Solar Indirect Channel - Capital Provider Discount
Solar Indirect Channel - Contractor Fee
Solar Indirect Channel - Platform Fee

22.9
26.5
3.6

18.1
20.3
2.2

17.2
20.2
3.0

17.5
20.2
2.7

5.4
6.3
0.9

a.

Change represents the nine months ended September 30, 2022 compared to the Combined Year-to-Date Period.

Costs and Expenses
Cost of revenues increased by $1.2 million or 7.9% for the nine months ended September 30, 2022, which is less than the 14.5% increase in revenues, wh en
compared to the Combined Year-to-Date Period . The $1.2 million increase in cost of revenues resulte d from a $1.5 million increase in rewards earned by
salespeople under the Sunlight Rewards™ program, $0.8 million in increased costs of consumer credit underwriting arising from increased credit approval
volumes, which was offset by $1.1 million in decreases from broker fees paid to financial institutions for arranging certain loan origination or purchase
arrangements with capital providers. The broker fees are calculated as a percentage of the funded loan volume originating from an applicable loan origination or
purchase arrangement with a capital provider. Sunlight’s obligation to pay these broker fees generally terminates between three and five years after the date
that the initial loan is originated or purchased pursuant to an arrangement facilitated by the broker.
Compensation and benefits expense decreased by $6.3 million, or 12.6% for the nine months ended September 30, 2022 when compared to the Combined
Year-to-Date Period. Of the $6.3 million decrease, $21.0 million of compensation expense recognized in the Combined Year-to-Date Period resulted from the
immediate vesting of equity-based compensation awards granted to employees of Sunlight’s Predecessor that satisfied vesting conditions upon completion of
the Business Combination, as offset by increases of $13.4 million from restricted stock units granted on or after the Business Combination to Sunlight
employees and $4.6 million of costs associated with the increase in full-time employees from 220 at September 30, 2021 to 247 at September 30, 2022. The
increase in full-time employees is consistent with the growth in Sunlight’s business year-over-year.
Selling, general, and administrative expense increased by $8.7 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2022 when compared to the Combined Yearto-Date Period. Sunlight incurred $5.4 million of incremental expense related to Sunlight’s operations as a public company, including increases of $3.6 million for
audit and accounting related expenses and $1.8 million in insurance premiums. In addition, Sunlight incurred an additional $0.9 million in advertising costs,
$0.3 million of legal, $0.2 million of bad debt expense.
Property and technology expense increased by $1.7 million, or 39.4% for the nine months ended September 30, 2022 when compared to the Combined Year-toDate Period, primarily due to increases in rent and additional licensing fees charged by certain of Sunlight’s third-party service providers that support the
infrastructure and operation of Orange® associated with the growth in Sunlight’s network of contractors.
Depreciation and amortization expense increased by $18.5 million, or 83.2% for the nine months ended September 30, 2022 when compared to the Combined
Year-to-Date Period, primarily from $19.3 million in incremental amortization of intangible assets acquired in the Business Combination and an increase of $2.2
million in developed technology, partially offset by the elimination of amortization of intangible assets acquired in the Business Combination for capital provider
relationships of $3.4 million during the Combined Year-to-Date Period.
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Provision for losses increased by $40.5 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2022 when compared to the Combined Year-to-Date Period, of which
$32.4 million represents an impairment charge arising from the insolvency of one of Sunlight’s largest advance program contractors in September 2022 where
one of Sunlight’s largest contractors experienced a liquidity shortfall that caused the installer to substantially wind down its business by the end of that month
and to begin liquidation of its business in October 2022. As a result, Sunlight determined it would be unable to collect $32.4 million Sunlight advanced to the
contractor at September 30, 2022, representing the total net amounts advanced to the contractor at that time. Sunlight has re-underwritten all other contractors
in the advance program and has taken actions to further reduce its exposure to counterparty risk, including reducing advance limits, reducing the advance rate
per job, increasing pricing for contractors in this program and eliminating advance eligibility for certain contractors. We also continue to proactively monitor
contractors in this program for changes in their risk profile. Excluding this impairment charge, the ratio of provision for loss over aggregate funded bank partner
loan volume in the Combined Year-to-Date Period was 0.3% as compared to 1.0% during the nine months ended September 30, 2022.

Goodwill Impairment
To the extent Sunlight determines the carrying value of its goodwill resulting from the Business Combination exceeds its implied fair value, Sunlight recognizes
an impairment loss for that difference on the date of such determination. Sunlight recorded a goodwill impairment charge of $384.4 million during the nine
months ended September 30, 2022, primarily due to challenges in the macro-economic environment, such as rapidly rising interest rates impacting Sunlight’s
financial performance and the market performance of companies similar to Sunlight.
Operating margin significantly decreased from the Combined Year-to-Date Period to the nine months ended September 30, 2022, primarily related to non-cash
charges in connection with the Business Combination, provision for losses and goodwill impairment. Generally, operating margin benefits from the fixed nature
of a material level of Sunlight expense and revenue generally growing materially faster than operating expenses when excluding equity-based compensation
expense, provision for losses, the amortization effects of identified intangible assets and goodwill impairment.
Other Income (Expense), Net
Total other income (expense) increased $13.2 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2022 when compared to the Combined Year-to-Date Period,
primarily resulting from (a) $5.2 million higher decrease in fair value of public and private warrants, originally issued by Spartan and assumed by Sunlight upon
closing of the Business Combination (b) $5.5 million increase in fair value of warrants issued by Sunlight’s Predecessor during the Combined Year-to-Date
Period, and (c) $8.1 million decrease in costs incurred in connection with the Business Combination, partially offset by a $2.8 million decrease in the realized
and unrealized gains (losses) from the arrangement with Sunlight’s Bank Partner to originate home improvement loans treated as a derivative under GAAP.
Income Tax Benefit
Sunlight's Predecessor was a limited liability company not subject to income taxes. During the Successor period from July 10, 2021 through September 30,
2021, the $5.7 income tax benefit reflected an effective tax rate of 23.1%. During the Successor period from nine months ended September 30, 2022, the $11.4
million income tax benefit reflects an effective tax rate of 2.6%, driven by the $384.4 million goodwill impairment.
Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Subsidiaries
Sunlight's Predecessor did not consolidate any entities in which third parties owned a noncontrolling interest. During the Successor Period from July 10, 2021
through September 30, 2021, income (loss) of consolidated subsidiaries allocated to noncontrolling interests represents $26.1 million of Sunlight Financial LLC
consolidated net loss and weighted-average noncontrolling interests of 34.9%. During the nine months ended September 30, 2022, loss of consolidated
subsidiaries allocated to noncontrolling interests represents $442.7 million of Sunlight Financial LLC’s consolidated net loss allocated to such noncontrolling
interests at a weighted-average ownership of 35.3%. The weighted-average ownership of the noncontrolling interests increased as a result of vested Class EX
units.
Liquidity and Capital Resources
As of September 30, 2022, Sunlight had $70.6 million of unrestricted cash on hand and had drawn $20.6 million available to it under its $30.0 million credit
facility, which matures in April 2023.
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Share Repurchase Program
On May 16, 2022, Sunlight’s Board of Directors authorized a share repurchase program pursuant to which Sunlight may repurchase up to $50.0 million of
Sunlight’s Class A common stock over an eighteen-month period from the date of authorization. Sunlight intends to fund the share repurchases through a
combination of cash on hand and future cash flow from operations. Under the share repurchase program, Sunlight may purchase common stock in open market
transactions, block, or privately-negotiated transactions, and may from time to time purchase shares pursuant to a trading plan in accordance with Rule 10b5-1
and Rule 10b-18 under the Exchange Act or by any combination of such methods, in each case subject to compliance with all SEC rules and other legal
requirements. The number of shares to be purchased and the timing of the purchases are based on a variety of factors, including, but not limited to, the level of
cash balances, debt covenant restrictions, general business conditions, the market price of Sunlight’s stock, self-imposed trading blackout periods, and the
availability of alternative investment opportunities. There is no minimum number of shares required to be repurchased under the share repurchase program,
and the share repurchase program may be suspended or discontinued at any time. Sunlight repurchased and cancelled 3,036,259 Class A common stock at an
average price per share of $3.44 for a total of $10.5 million million during the nine months ended September 30, 2022. In September 2022, the Company
suspended share repurchases under the program to preserve liquidity in the current environment but may resume repurchases in the future.
Loan and Security Agreement
On April 26, 2021, Sunlight entered into a Loan and Security Agreement, as amended (the “Loan and Security Agreement”) with Silicon Valley Bank (“SVB”).
The Loan and Security Agreement, which replaced Sunlight’s prior $15.0 million credit facility, has a borrowing capacity of up to $30.0 million and matures on
April 26, 2023. To secure the payment and performance of Sunlight’s obligations under the Loan and Security Agreement, Sunlight granted a continuing
security interest in certain collateral, which generally includes all of Sunlight’s assets, whether currently owned or thereafter acquired, and all proceeds and
products thereof. Borrowings under the Loan and Security Agreement accrue interest at a rate equal to the greater of (a) 5.0% and (b) the prime rate plus 1.75%
per annum. The Loan and Security Agreement contains certain financial covenants, including maintenance of (a) Liquidity (as defined therein) at all times in an
amount equal to or greater than the greater of (i) 35% of all outstanding principal amounts of any advances under the revolving credit line and (ii) $10.0 million;
(b) at all times Available Takeout Commitment Amount (as defined therein) in an amount equal to or greater than $200.0 million; and (c) EBITDA (as defined
therein) of at least $5.0 million for the six-month period ending on the last day of each quarter (the “EBITDA Covenant”). The Loan and Security Agreement
contains customary events of default. SVB can elect to accelerate the maturity of the loans and/or terminate the commitments under the Loan and Security
Agreement upon the occurrence and during the continuation of an event of default, and Sunlight can be required to repay all amounts outstanding under the
Loan and Security Agreement. The unprecedented speed and magnitude of interest rate increases since the second quarter of fiscal year 2022 have reduced
Sunlight’s Direct Channel capital provider capacity, increased reliance on the Indirect Channel and affected Sunlight’s ability to profitably monetize Indirect
Channel loans originated at lower interest rates. As a result, Sunlight may experience losses in the near term, until the significant pricing increases implemented
over the past several months take effect, which could negatively impact Sunlight’s future financial covenant compliance. Therefore, Sunlight is in discussions
with SVB to remain in compliance.
Material Cash Requirements
Sunlight’s cash requirements relate primarily to funding Sunlight advances and prefunding programs, to invest in continued innovations in Orange® and to pay
Sunlight’s operating expenses, repayment of borrowings (and interest thereon), outstanding commitments and guarantees (including Sunlight’s purchase of
loans pursuant to the terms of certain of its capital provider agreements and loan participations), other operating expenses, income taxes, and tax distributions
to noncontrolling interests. Sunlight may be required to purchase loans from its bank partner after an agreed period of time if Sunlight has not arranged the sale
of such loans. To date, Sunlight has not been required to purchase loans from its bank partner due to an inability to sell such loans to an indirect channel capital
provider. Additionally, Sunlight assumes the risk of compliance errors and the risk of borrower or contractor fraud in the origination of the loans, and as such,
Sunlight is obligated to purchase the applicable loan from its bank partner should these events occur. Sunlight has also entered into a program agreement with
its bank partner to fund its home improvement loans that contains similar provisions related to risks accepted by Sunlight.
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Historically, Sunlight has met its cash requirements from cash flow generated by operations, collection of advances under its contractor advance funding
program and in prefunding payments under its prefunding program, and draws on Sunlight’s credit facility. However, a number of factors, including but not
limited to, rapidly rising interest rates and other impacts of the current economic environment, reduced Direct Channel volume capacity, and lower margins due
to a greater reliance on the Indirect Channel and the sale of loans originated prior to Sunlight’s recent pricing increases, may reduce our cash generated by
operations. Sunlight believes that it will continue to generate cash flow from its operations which, together with funds available under its credit facility and cash
on hand, will be sufficient to meet its liquidity needs during the next 12 months from the date of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and beyond. However, given
the current economic environment this could change in the future, and, as a result, the Company is currently exploring a range of strategic alternatives to
increase liquidity.
Relationships with Contractors and Capital Providers
Relationships with Contractors
Sunlight’s expansive network of residential solar system installers and other home improvement contractors, supported by a differentiated set of tools and
services offered through Orange®, constitutes the distribution channel through which Sunlight builds funded loan volume and earns platform fees. The ability to
finance residential solar systems on terms that typically translate to immediate saving for homeowners on their utility bills and significant amounts in lifetime
savings has materially contributed to the strong growth in the number of residential solar systems installed in the United States over the last five years. Sunlight
attracts and builds strong relationships with residential solar system contractors of all sizes in key solar markets by prioritizing innovations in Orange® and
providing services that assist the contractors in growing their own businesses. Sunlight’s team of business development and relationship management
professionals provides hands-on support to these contractors. Sunlight believes that innovations such as prequalification capabilities, easy and secure
document upload features, reliable next day funding and Sunlight’s capital advance program (as described more fully below), amongst other innovations, both
attract new contractors to Sunlight’s network and build loyalty and deepen Sunlight’s existing contractor relationships. In addition, Sunlight’s diverse set of capital
providers enables Sunlight to offer its network of contractors a wide array of loan products that vary as to structure, interest rate and tenor, and thereby permits
Sunlight’s network of contractors to offer competitively-priced products that best serve their markets. These benefits to Sunlight’s existing network of contractors
translate to deeper penetration of the contractors’ sales, which is an important contributor to the growth of Sunlight’s market share and revenue. There can be
no assurance that Sunlight will be able to maintain its current contractor relationships. Sunlight may lose existing contractors that represent a significant portion
of Sunlight’s business, and there is no guarantee that Sunlight would be able to engage replacement contractors on terms similar to its existing contractors.
Sunlight started its business in 2014 and developed a key anchor partnership with a large residential solar contractor in 2016. Beginning in 2017 and through
2018, Sunlight focused on building and diversifying its contractor relationships and continues that process today. In 2020, as compared with 2019, Sunlight grew
its solar contractor base by more than 60%. In 2021, as compared with 2020, Sunlight grew its solar contractor base by more than 32.3%. However,
dependence on any one contractor or small group of contractors creates concentration risk, particularly in the event that any such contractor elects to terminate
its relationship with Sunlight or experiences business disruption or a business failure or bankruptcy. For example, during May 2021, Sunlight was advised by a
significant contractor that it would discontinue use of the Sunlight platform to finance its consumer customers effective immediately. This contractor accounted
for approximately 9.5% and 1.5% of Sunlight’s total funded loan volumes during the year ended December 31, 2021 and for the nine months ended
September 30, 2022, respectively. In September 2022, one of Sunlight’s then-current largest contractors became insolvent, primarily driven by solar installation
challenges that led to the contractor’s liquidity issues; this contractor accounted for approximately 9.1% and 5.2% of Sunlight’s total funded loan volumes during
the year ended December 31, 2021 and for the nine months ended September 30, 2022, respectively. That said, Sunlight believes that its strong relationships
with the existing contractors in Sunlight’s network, the continued growth in the number of contractor relationships, and the various competitive loan products and
sales tools in Orange® have been and will continue to be key components of Sunlight’s increased market penetration, growth in funded loan volume and
revenue.
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Relationships with Capital Providers
Sunlight’s business model is dependent on its ability to connect its capital providers, who wish to build a portfolio of residential solar system loans, to the
homeowner customers of the contractors in Sunlight’s distribution network, who wish to finance the purchase of a residential solar system. Sunlight earns a
platform fee on each solar and home improvement loan facilitated through Orange®. The platform fee is generally equal to the difference, or the margin,
between (a) the contractor fee that Sunlight charges to contractors for access to Orange® and for making the various Sunlight-offered loan products available to
such contractors and (b) the capital provider discount charged by the relevant capital provider either funding or purchasing the loan in the direct and indirect
channels, respectively (as described below). Sunlight’s business is therefore heavily dependent upon the availability of capital on attractive economic terms.
Sunlight believes that it offers capital providers an attractive value proposition due to its industry-leading consumer credit underwriting, the attractive riskadjusted returns that Sunlight’s capital providers earn relative to other asset classes, the access that our Platform provides to a unique and growing asset class
that may reduce volatility in the ability to deploy capital, and the ability to access new customers for very little cost.
Sunlight engages with its capital providers not just as funding sources but as funding partners. As with Sunlight’s network of contractors, Sunlight works closely
with its capital providers to understand and address their business needs as related to the residential solar loan industry. Matters related to loan product, credit
strategy, contractor commercial underwriting and consumer protection practices are considered and designed in tandem with the goal of creating a robust and
growing channel for funded loan volume. Additionally, through Orange®, Sunlight’s capital providers operating within Sunlight’s direct channel can track and
manage the pipeline of solar loan volume allocated to that capital provider. Sunlight’s relationships with its diverse and growing network of capital providers
provides significant flexibility to source competitively priced capital. Since the acquisition of Sunlight’s initial flow capital funding source in 2016, the number of
capital providers funding Sunlight-facilitated solar loans has increased materially and, more importantly, all of Sunlight’s direct channel capital providers have
significantly increased their commitments to fund solar loan volume.
Sunlight categorizes its capital providers as being either in Sunlight’s direct or indirect channel. Sunlight maintains both channels to provide diversification of
funding sources, access to funding for different types of loan products and for other strategic purposes. The ability of Sunlight to allocate loans to various capital
providers, as well as the availability of the two different funding channels, creates flexibility and allows Sunlight to respond nimbly to shifting market conditions.
Direct channel capital providers fund Sunlight-facilitated solar or home improvement loans one-by-one directly onto their balance sheet via Orange®. Sunlight’s
direct channel capital providers are depository institutions with the power and authority to originate loans such as banks and credit unions. Generally, direct
channel capital providers choose to service the loans they originate.
In the indirect channel, Sunlight’s allocation engine directs that certain solar and home improvement loans be funded on the balance sheet of Sunlight’s
intermediary bank partner. These loans are aggregated, pooled and sold to indirect channel capital providers that cannot, or do not wish to, directly originate
solar loans. The indirect channel capital provider relationship allows Sunlight to access a broader range of capital, which may include, among others, credit
funds, insurance companies and pension funds. Indirect channel capital providers present a unique opportunity for Sunlight to access high quality and significant
sources of funding that are diverse from traditional depository sources.
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Cash Flow and Liquidity Analysis
Sunlight assesses liquidity primarily in terms of its ability to generate cash to fund operating and financing activities. Sunlight has historically generated
increasing amounts of cash from operating activities. Sunlight’s cash from operating activities are generally derived from platform fees which are fully earned at
the funding of a loan by direct channel capital providers and the purchase of a loan from our bank partner’s balance sheet by an indirect channel capital provider.
Refer to “Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates” in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and Item 1A. “Risk Factors” in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q,
which amends and restates the risk factors set forth in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2021 and Quarterly Reports on Form
10-Q for the fiscal quarters ended March 31, 2022 and June 30, 2022, for a full description of the related estimates, assumptions, and judgments.
The Nine Months Ended September 30, 2022 Compared to the Combined Year-to-Date Period
The following provides a summary of cash flow data for the nine months ended September 30, 2022 and the Combined Year-to-Date Period (in thousands):
Successor
For the Nine
For the Period July
Months Ended
10, 2021 to
September 30, 2022 September 30, 2021
$
(7,137) $
(47,921)
(3,196)
(305,344)
(11,770)
211,791

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities
Net cash used in investing activities
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities

Predecessor
For the Period
January 1, 2021 to
July 9, 2021
$
14,356
(1,404)
(2,025)

Cash Flow from Operating Activities
For the nine months ended September 30, 2022, net cash used in operating activities was $7.1 million. Operating cash inflows for the nine months ended
September 30, 2022 primarily consisted of proceeds from Sunlight’s direct channel capital providers to fund, and indirect channel capital provider to purchase,
without duplication, loans of $1.8 billion, of which Sunlight paid $1.8 billion to contractors; repayment of advances and prefunds of $1.7 billion (conversely,
Sunlight advanced or prefunded $1.9 billion). Operating cash outflows primarily consisted of compensation and benefits of $27.3 million; $5.0 million of income
taxes; rebate, referral, and rewards paid of $6.1 million; and $0.9 million of net interest on borrowings.
For the Combined Year-to-Date Period, net cash used in operating activities was $33.6 million. Operating cash inflows for the Combined Year-to-Date Period
primarily consisted of proceeds from Sunlight’s direct channel capital providers to fund, and indirect channel capital providers to purchase without duplication,
loans of $1.6 billion, of which Sunlight paid $1.5 billion to contractors; repayment of advances and prefunds of $1.2 billion (conversely, Sunlight advanced or
prefunded $1.4 billion); and net interest expense paid of $0.8 million. Operating cash outflows primarily consisted of compensation and benefits of $49.4 million,
information technology expenses of $3.9 million, and management fees paid to affiliates of $0.2 million.
Cash Flow from Investing Activities
For the nine months ended September 30, 2022, net cash used in investing activities was $3.2 million, of which $1.9 million was paid to internally develop
software and acquire property and equipment and $2.1 million was paid to acquire loans; Sunlight received $0.8 million as return of capital on loans and loan
participations. For the Combined Year-to-Date Period, net cash used in investing activities was $306.7 million, of which $304.6 million represents cash paid for
the acquisition of Sunlight Financial LLC and the remaining activities involved recurring business activities consisting of cash paid to acquire loans and loan
participation of $1.4 million, net of $1.2 million in cash received as a return of capital thereon, and $1.9 million was paid to internally develop software and
acquire property and equipment.
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Cash Flow from Financing Activities
For the nine months ended September 30, 2022, net cash used in financing activities was $11.8 million that represents $10.5 million of share repurchases,
distributions of $1.2 million, and $0.1 million of tax payments made on share-based payments in connection with the Business Combination. For the Combined
Year-to-Date Period, net cash provided by financing activities was $209.8 million, which included a $250.0 million equity raise, net of $19.6 million of related
costs and tax payments made on equity issued in connection with the Business Combination.
Debt
On April 26, 2021, Sunlight entered into the Loan and Security Agreement with SVB. The Loan and Security Agreement, which replaces Sunlight’s prior $15.0
million credit facility, has a borrowing capacity of up to $30.0 million and matures on April 26, 2023. Borrowings under the Loan and Security Agreement accrue
interest at a rate equal to the greater of (a) 5.0% and (b) the prime rate plus 1.75% per annum. The Loan and Security Agreement contains certain financial
covenants, including (a) liquidity in an amount equal to or greater than (i) 35% of all outstanding principal amounts of any advances and (ii) $10.0 million; (b)
Available Takeout Commitment Amount (as defined therein) in an amount equal to or greater than $200.0 million; and (c) EBITDA (as defined therein) of at least
$5.0 million for the six-month period ending on the last day of each quarter. The Loan and Security Agreement contains customary events of default. SVB could
elect to accelerate the maturity of the loans and/or terminate the commitments under the Loan and Security Agreement upon the occurrence and during the
continuation of an event of default, and Sunlight could be required to repay all amounts outstanding under the Loan and Security Agreement. In connection with
the transition of accounts to SVB, Sunlight experienced a technical default that was waived by SVB. In addition, the unprecedented speed and magnitude of
interest rate increases since the second quarter of fiscal year 2022 have reduced Sunlight’s Direct Channel capital provider capacity and increased reliance on
the Indirect Channel. This has affected Sunlight’s ability to profitably monetize Indirect Channel loans originated earlier in 2022. As a result, Sunlight may
experience losses in the near term, until the significant pricing increases implemented over the past several months take effect, which could negatively impact
Sunlight’s future financial covenant compliance. Therefore, Sunlight is in discussions with SVB to remain in compliance.
Other Changes in Financial Position
Nine Months Ended September 30, 2022
In addition to the changes in Sunlight’s financial position from December 31, 2021 to September 30, 2022 described in “—Results of Operations” and “—Cash
Flow and Liquidity Analysis,” the following activities also occurred:
• Restricted cash. The cash Sunlight holds subject to contractual restrictions decreased by $0.8 million resulting from a $0.4 million decrease in cash
temporarily held by Sunlight in connection with Sunlight’s administration of loan participations on behalf of a third party.
• Cumulative ASC 842 adoption effects . Sunlight recorded a right-of-use asset of $7.6 million and a lease liability of $7.6 million on January 1, 2022 as well
as removal of $0.2 million in deferred rent.
• Noncontrolling interests in consolidated subsidiaries . Changes in the outstanding Class X Units and Class EX Units issued by Sunlight Financial LLC
resulted in a reallocation of $2.0 million of Sunlight Financial LLC’s net assets from Class X Units held by Sunlight to the noncontrolling interests that hold
Class EX Units.
• Tax distribution . Sunlight Financial LLC declared distributions to its unitholders representing estimated tax payments in accordance with Sunlight
Financial LLC’s organizational agreements. Sunlight accrued $2.7 million, or $0.06 per Class EX Unit, to its noncontrolling interests. Ratable estimated
tax payments from Sunlight Financial LLC to members consolidated by Sunlight are eliminated in consolidation.
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Other Factors Affecting Liquidity and Capital Resources
Unitholders’ Distribution
Predecessor
Pursuant to the Fourth Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement of Sunlight Financial LLC, dated as of May 25, 2018, as amended or
otherwise modified (the “Prior Sunlight LLC Agreement”), holders of Class A-1 Units, Class A-2 Units or Class A-3 Units (collectively, the “Class A Units”) were
generally entitled to receive, with respect to each such Class A Unit, a preferred return on a quarterly basis. Sunlight Financial LLC’s board of directors could
have elected to pay this return in cash or by issuing additional Class A Units to each such holder. If the board of directors elected to pay this return in cash,
Sunlight Financial LLC would have paid such in an amount equal to $12.50, $15.22, and $24.06 per unit per annum to the Class A-1, Class A-2, and Class A-3
Units. If the board of directors elected to pay this return in additional units, Sunlight Financial LLC would have issued a number of units equal to 14.5% of each
such holders outstanding units, on an annualized basis. Sunlight Financial LLC’s board of directors elected to pay this return in the form of additional Class A
Units for all periods through the date of the Business Combination. In addition, the Prior Sunlight LLC Agreement also provided that members of Sunlight
Financial LLC were entitled to be paid certain tax distributions on a pro rata basis in accordance with their relative tax obligation from available cash and subject
to certain customary limitations on distributions.
Successor
Sunlight Financial LLC replaced the Prior Sunlight LLC Agreement with the Fifth Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement of Sunlight (the
“Sunlight A&R LLC Agreement”), which was entered into concurrently with the closing of the Business Combination. Under the Sunlight A&R LLC Agreement,
SL Financial Holdings Inc., as the sole managing member of Sunlight Financial LLC, has the right to determine when distributions will be made to the holders of
Sunlight Units (as defined therein) and the amount of any such distributions, except that Sunlight Financial LLC is required to make distributions to the extent
and in an amount such that the Sunlight Unitholders, including Sunlight Financial Holdings Inc., receive certain tax-related distributions and to make
distributions in the event of dissolution. If a distribution is paid to the members of Sunlight Financial LLC, such distribution will be made to the holders of Sunlight
Units on a pro rata basis in accordance with their respective percentage ownership of Sunlight Units. Funds used by Sunlight to satisfy its tax distribution
obligations will not be available for reinvestment in its business, except to the extent Sunlight Financial Holdings Inc. uses any excess cash it receives to
reinvest in Sunlight Financial LLC for additional Sunlight Units.
The holders of Sunlight Class X Units and Sunlight Class EX Units, including SL Financial Holdings Inc., will generally incur U.S. federal, state and local income
taxes on their share of any net taxable income of Sunlight Financial LLC. Net income and losses of Sunlight Financial LLC generally will be allocated to the
holders of Sunlight Class X Units and Sunlight Class EX Units on a pro rata basis in accordance with their respective percentage ownership of Sunlight Class X
Units and Sunlight Class EX Units, subject to requirements under U.S. federal income tax law that certain items of income, gain, loss or deduction be allocated
disproportionately in certain circumstances. To the extent that Sunlight has legally available cash (including borrowings available under the new credit facility or
other debt arrangements) and subject to the terms of any current or future debt instruments, the Sunlight A&R LLC Agreement requires Sunlight Financial LLC
to make pro rata cash distributions to all holders of Sunlight Units, including Sunlight Financial Holdings Inc., (a) first, in an amount sufficient to allow Sunlight
Financial Holdings Inc. and its wholly-owned subsidiaries to satisfy their actual tax liabilities and obligations under the Tax Receivable Agreement except to the
extent (i) based on the written advice of legal counsel, the distribution may reasonably constitute a fraudulent conveyance, or (ii) the terms of any financing
necessary to make such tax distribution could reasonably, in the good faith judgment of SL Financial Holdings Inc., cause Sunlight Financial LLC to become
insolvent within the twelve (12) month period following the date of such distribution, and (b) thereafter to the extent necessary, in an amount generally intended
to allow Sunlight Unitholders, including Sunlight Financial Holdings Inc., to satisfy their respective income tax liabilities with respect to their allocable share of
income of Sunlight Financial LLC, based on certain assumptions and conventions (including an assumed income tax rate) and after taking into account other
distributions (including prior tax distributions) made by Sunlight Financial LLC.
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Tax Receivable Agreement (“TRA”) (Successor)
On the Closing Date, Sunlight entered into the TRA with the TRA Holders and the Agent (as defined therein). The TRA generally provides for the payment by
Sunlight to the Agent, for disbursement to the TRA Holders on a pro rata basis, of 85% of the net cash savings, if any, in U.S. federal, state and local income tax
and franchise tax that Sunlight actually realizes (or is deemed to realize in certain circumstances) in periods after the Closing Date as a result of (a) certain
increases in tax basis that occur as a result of Sunlight’s acquisition (or deemed acquisition for U.S. federal income tax purposes) of all or a portion of a TRA
Holders’ Sunlight Class EX Units upon the exercise of the redemption or call rights set forth in the Sunlight A&R LLC Agreement and (b) imputed interest
deemed to be paid by Sunlight as a result of, and additional tax basis arising from, any payments Sunlight makes under the Tax Receivable Agreement.
Sunlight will retain the benefit of the remainder of the actual net cash savings, if any.
If Sunlight elects to terminate the TRA early or if it is terminated early due to Sunlight’s failure to honor a material obligation thereunder or due to a Change of
Control (as defined in the TRA), Sunlight will be required to make a payment equal to the deemed present value of the anticipated future payments to be made
by it under the TRA (based upon certain assumptions and deemed events set forth in the TRA), which amount may substantially exceed the actual cash tax
savings realized by Sunlight. In the case of an early termination upon a Change of Control, such early termination payment may, at Sunlight election, be paid
ratably over the two-year period following the Change of Control.
Operating Lease Obligations
Sunlight’s operating lease obligations consist of its lease of real property from third parties under noncancellable operating leases, including the lease of its
current office spaces. Sunlight leases office space at two locations: (a) 101 N. Tryon Street, Suite 1000, Charlotte, North Carolina 28246 (the “North Carolina
Office Space”) and (b) 234 West 39th Street, 7th Floor, New York, New York 10018 (the “New York Office Space”). The operating lease rent expense for the
North Carolina Office Space was $1.2 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2022 and $0.9 million for the Combined Year-to-Date Period,
respectively. The lease for the North Carolina Office Space will expire in June 2029. The operating lease rent expense for the New York Office Space was $0.4
million for the nine months ended September 30, 2022 and $0.4 million for the Combined Year-to-Date Period, respectively. The lease for the New York Office
Space is scheduled to expire in October 2023.
Available Liquidity and Capital Resources
As of September 30, 2022, Sunlight’s cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash was $71.8 million. The restricted cash held by Sunlight primarily relates to
a cash held by Sunlight on behalf of a third party for whom Sunlight provides loan administration services.
Sunlight’s liquidity and its ability to fund its future capital requirements is dependent on a number of factors described below as well as its future financial
performance, which is subject to general economic, financial and other factors that are beyond its control and many of which are described under Item 1A. “Risk
Factors” in this this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2022, which amends and restates the risk factors previously set forth
in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal-year ended December 31, 2021, and Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q for the quarters ended March 31, 2022
and June 30, 2022. If those factors significantly change or other unexpected factors adversely affect Sunlight, Sunlight’s business may not generate sufficient
cash flow from operations or it may not be able to obtain future financings to meet its liquidity needs. In addition, the unprecedented speed and magnitude of
interest rate increases since the second quarter of fiscal year 2022 has reduced Sunlight’s Direct Channel capital provider capacity, increased Sunlight’s
reliance on the Indirect Channel and affected Sunlight’s ability to profitably monetize Indirect Channel loans originated at lower interest rates. As a result,
Sunlight may experience losses and reduced cash generated from operations in the near term, until the significant pricing increases implemented over the past
several months take effect, which could negatively impact Sunlight’s future financial covenant compliance. Therefore, Sunlight is in discussions with SVB to
remain in compliance. Although we believe, based on information available to us, that SVB would be willing to amend and/or replace our existing credit facility or
provide waivers to meet financial covenants, if necessary, given the current economic environment, this could change in the future. As a result, the Company
may need additional capital in order to finance its operations, and is therefore currently exploring a range of strategic alternatives to increase liquidity.
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Non-GAAP Financial Measures
Adjusted EBITDA
Adjusted EBITDA is a non-GAAP financial measure used by Sunlight’s management to evaluate operating performance, generate future operating plans, and
make strategic decisions, including those relating to operating expenses and the allocation of internal resources. Accordingly, Sunlight believes this measure
provides useful information to investors and others in understanding and evaluating Sunlight’s operating results in the same manner as Sunlight’s management
and board of directors. In addition, Adjusted EBITDA provides a useful measure for period-to-period comparisons of Sunlight’s business, as it removes the effect
of certain non-cash items, variable charges, non-recurring items, unrealized gains or losses or other similar non-cash items that are included in net income or
expenses associated with the early stages of the business that are expected to ultimately terminate, pursuant to the terms of certain existing contractual
arrangements or expected to continue at levels materially below the historical level, or that otherwise do not contribute directly to management’s evaluation of its
operating results. Adjusted EBITDA is defined as net income excluding interest expense incurred in connection with Sunlight’s debt obligations, income taxes,
amortization and depreciation expense, stock-based compensation expense, non-cash changes in certain financial instruments, fees paid to brokers related to
the funding of loans by certain of Sunlight’s capital providers that will terminate pursuant to existing contractual arrangements, certain transaction bonuses and
other expenses resulting from the Business Combination, and other items that management has determined are not reflective of Sunlight’s operating
performance.
Adjusted Net Income
Adjusted Net Income is a non-GAAP financial measure used by Sunlight’s management to evaluate operating performance. Accordingly, Sunlight believes this
measure provides useful information to investors and others in understanding and evaluating Sunlight’s operating results in the same manner as Sunlight’s
management and board of directors. In addition, Adjusted Net Income provides a useful measure for period-to-period comparisons of Sunlight’s business, as it
removes the effect of certain non-cash items, variable charges, non-recurring items, unrealized gains or losses or other similar non-cash items that are included
in net income. Adjusted Net Income is defined as net income excluding non-cash changes in certain financial instruments, certain transaction bonuses and other
expenses resulting from the Business Combination, and other items that management has determined are not reflective of Sunlight’s operating performance.
Free Cash Flow
Free Cash Flow is a non-GAAP financial measure that Sunlight uses to indicate cash flow generated by Sunlight’s operations. Sunlight believes that Free Cash
Flow is a supplemental financial measure useful as an indicator of Sunlight’s ability to generate cash. Sunlight’s calculation of Free Cash Flow, however, may
not necessarily be comparable to similar measures presented by other companies. Specifically, Sunlight defines Free Cash Flow as cash from operating
activities adjusted for changes in working capital (including changes in advances and funding commitments), capital expenditures, certain restricted cash items,
business combination costs, and other items that management has determined are not reflective of cash generation in Sunlight’s business.
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The following table presents a reconciliation of net income to Adjusted Net Income, Adjusted EBITDA and Free Cash Flow as well as cash from operating
activities to Free Cash Flow for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2022 and the Combined Quarterly Period and Combined Year-to-Date Period
(USD in thousands):

Net Income (Loss)
Adjustments for adjusted net income (loss)
Amortization of Business Combination
intangibles
Non-cash change in financial instruments
Goodwill impairment
Expenses from the Business Combination
and Other
Adjusted Net Income (Loss)
Adjustments for adjusted EBITDA
Depreciation and amortization
Interest expense
Income tax expense (benefit)
Equity-based compensation
Fees paid to brokers
Adjusted EBITDA
Adjustments for net cash provided by (used in)
operating activities
Interest expense
Income tax benefit
Fees paid to brokers
Expenses from the Business Combination
and Other
Provision for losses
Changes in advances, net of funding
commitments
Changes in operating capital and other
Net Cash Provided by (Used in) Operating
Activities
Adjustments for free cash flow
Capital expenditures
Changes in advances, net of funding
commitments
Changes in restricted cash
Payments of Business Combination costs
Other changes in operating working capital
Free Cash Flow

Successor
For the Three
For the Period
Months Ended
July 10, 2021 to
September 30,
September 30,
2022
2021
$
(415,453)
$
(20,431)

$

Predecessor
For the Period
July 1, 2021 to
July 9, 2021
$
(1,772)

Combined
Quarterly
Period
$
(22,203)

Successor
For the Nine
Months Ended
September 30,
2022
$
(432,400)

Predecessor
For the Period
January 1, 2021
to July 9, 2021
$
6,131

Combined
Year-to-Date
Period
$
(14,300)

8,202
(3,411)
384,379

20,221
(10,568)
—

—
1,316
—

20,221
(9,252)
—

39,786
(11,402)
384,379

—
5,547
—

20,221
(5,021)
—

32
(26,251)

1,093
(9,685)

529
73

1,622
(9,612)

522
(19,115)

7,011
18,689

8,104
9,004

370
375
(7,299)
5,491
315
(26,999)

320
291
(5,684)
24,821
1,033
11,096

78
32
—
—
93
276

398
323
(5,684)
24,821
1,126
11,372

927
931
(11,350)
14,143
2,060
(12,404)

1,688
604
—
18
2,261
23,260

2,008
895
(5,684)
24,839
3,294
34,356

(375)
—
(315)

(291)
5,684
(1,033)

(32)
—
(93)

(323)
5,684
(1,126)

(931)
—
(2,060)

(604)
—
(2,261)

(895)
5,684
(3,294)

(32)
37,247

(1,093)
254

(529)
—

(1,622)
254

(522)
41,927

(7,011)
1,172

(8,104)
1,426

4,470
(3,133)

—
(62,538)

—
(2,372)

—
(64,910)

(26,918)
(6,229)

—
(200)

—
(62,738)

10,863

(47,921)

(2,750)

(50,671)

(7,137)

14,356

(33,565)

(903)

(560)

(229)

(789)

(2,568)

(1,066)

(1,626)

(4,470)
(353)
—
3,078
8,215

29,188
1,585
968
20,638
3,898

4,214
17
67
(391)
928

33,402
1,602
1,035
20,247
4,826

26,918
(791)
—
7,160
23,582

32,809
(125)
7,011
(40,793)
12,192

61,997
1,460
7,979
(20,155)
16,090

$

$

$

$

$

$

The following table presents a calculation of Adjusted Net Income (Loss) per diluted Class A Share (USD in thousands, except per share amounts):
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Successor
For the Three
Months Ended
September 30,
2022

For the Period July
10, 2021 to
September 30, 2021

For the Nine Months
Ended September
30,
2022

Adjusted Net Income (Loss)

$

(26,251)

$

(9,685)

$

(19,115)

Adjusted Net Income (Loss) per Class A Share, Diluted

$

(0.16)

$

(0.06)

$

(0.12)

Weighted-average Class A Shares
Class A Shares
Class EX Units
Restricted Stock Units
Warrants

83,049,291
46,976,713
2,372,747
27,777,780
160,176,531

84,833,808
46,254,630
1,849,355
27,777,780
160,715,573

84,157,718
46,803,950
2,129,222
27,777,780
160,868,670

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
The preparation of Sunlight’s financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates, assumptions and judgments that affect the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of
revenue and expenses during the reporting period. Management makes subjective estimates and assumptions about future events that affect the amounts
reported in Sunlight’s financial statements and accompanying notes. These estimates significantly impact revenues, determinations of fair value and the
recognition of interest income on financing receivables and loss allowances thereon.
In accordance with Sunlight’s policies, Sunlight regularly evaluates its estimates, assumptions and judgments, and bases its estimates, assumptions and
judgments on its historical experience and on factors Sunlight believes reasonable under the circumstances. The results involve judgments about the carrying
values of assets and liabilities not readily apparent from other sources. If Sunlight’s assumptions or conditions change, the actual results Sunlight reports may
significantly differ from these estimates.
Sunlight believes the estimates and assumptions underlying its consolidated financial statements are reasonable and supportable based on the information
available as of September 30, 2022; however, uncertainty over the ultimate impact COVID-19 will have on the global economy generally, including the current
economic conditions and increasing interest rates, and on Sunlight’s business, makes any estimates and assumptions as of September 30, 2022 inherently less
certain than they would be absent the current and potential impacts from those conditions.
See Note 2 “—Summary of Significant Accounting Policies” in the notes accompanying Sunlight’s financial statements included elsewhere herein for a summary
of Sunlight’s significant accounting policies, and discussion of recent accounting pronouncements. Sunlight believes that the following discussion addresses
Sunlight’s most critical accounting policies, which are those that are most important to the portrayal of Sunlight’s financial condition and results of operations and
require management’s most difficult, subjective and complex judgments.
Platform Fees
Sunlight is a business-to-business-to-consumer, technology-enabled POS financing platform that provides residential solar and home improvement contractors
the ability to offer seamless POS financing to their customers when purchasing residential solar systems or other home improvements. The resulting loans are
funded by Sunlight’s network of capital providers who, by partnering with Sunlight, gain access to a difficult-to-reach loan market, best-in-class consumer credit
underwriting and attractive risk adjusted returns. These loans are facilitated by Orange®, through which Sunlight offers instant credit decisions to homeowners
nationwide at the POS on behalf of Sunlight’s various capital providers. Sunlight recognizes platform fees as revenues at the time that direct channel partners or
Indirect Channel Loan Purchasers obtain control of the service provided to facilitate their origination or purchase of a loan, which is no earlier than when
Sunlight delivers loan documentation to the customer. Sunlight wholly satisfies its performance obligation to direct channel partners, bank partner and Indirect
Channel Loan Purchasers upon origination or purchase of a loan. Sunlight considers rebates offered by Sunlight to certain contractors in exchange for volume
commitments as variable components to transaction prices; such variability resolves upon the contractor’s satisfaction of their volume commitment. For
outstanding volume commitments that require the contractor to deliver future loan volume, Sunlight reduces platform fee revenues it recognizes based on its
estimates of the contractor’s delivery of future loan volume, which require significant judgment
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and are based, in part, upon the contractor’s historical volume delivery and Sunlight’s estimates of the contractor’s ability and likelihood to deliver future volume.
Sunlight’s contracts with its intermediary bank partner to originate home improvement loans and with an indirect loan purchaser to purchase such loans are
considered derivatives under GAAP. As such, Sunlight’s revenues exclude the platform fees that Sunlight earns in connection with these contracts. Instead,
Sunlight estimates the fair value of the contract derivatives based upon the present value of net cash flows Sunlight expects to collect under the contracts,
which predominately consist of the difference of the proceeds Sunlight expects to collect from an indirect channel capital provider at purchase of the loans by
such capital provider (the principal balance of loans purchased less the relevant capital provider discount plus unpaid accrued interest on the loans to the date
of purchase) and any amounts Sunlight owes to its bank partner in connection with such loans. Upon sale, Sunlight reverses the unrealized estimated fair value
of the contract derivative for the loans sold and recognizes the net cash Sunlight receives from the sale within “Realized Gains (Losses) on Contract
Derivatives, Net” in Sunlight’s consolidated statement of operations.
Sunlight is obligated to repurchase non-performing loans originated by its bank partner from the date of origination to the date the loans are purchased from
Sunlight’s bank partner by a Sunlight indirect channel capital provider. Sunlight does not record loans originated by its bank partner on its consolidated balance
sheets (as Sunlight is not the originator of the loans), but Sunlight does record a liability for the losses Sunlight reasonably expects to incur in connection with
Sunlight’s guarantee of its bank partner. Sunlight’s measurement of this liability is subject to significant judgement using historical loss experiences to estimate
the likelihood that the guaranteed loans will default prior to sale and the severity of the loss Sunlight expects to incur. At September 30, 2022 and December 31,
2021, the unpaid principal balance of loans, net of applicable discounts, for guaranteed loans held by Sunlight’s bank partner and delinquent more than 90 days
was $0.5 million and $0.1 million, respectively.
Financing Receivables
Sunlight records financing receivables for (a) advances that Sunlight remits to contractors to facilitate the installation of residential solar systems and (b) loans
purchased by Sunlight pursuant to the terms of its contracts with its various capital providers and certain five percent (5.0%) loan participations purchased by
Sunlight. Sunlight uses significant judgement in its recognition of interest income and impairment of financing receivables.
Interest Income
Loans (including Sunlight’s participation interests in such loans) with respect to which Sunlight expects to collect the unpaid principal balance and interest
payments as they become due are considered performing loans. Sunlight accrues interest income on performing loans based on the unpaid principal balance
and contractual terms of the loan. Interest income also includes discounts associated with the loans purchased as a yield adjustment using the interest method,
or on a straight-line basis when it approximates the interest method, over the loan term. Sunlight expenses loan origination costs for loans acquired by Sunlight
(including its participation interests in loans) as incurred. Sunlight does not accrue interest on loans placed on non-accrual status or on loans where the
collectability of the principal or interest of the loan are deemed uncertain.
Loans are considered past due or delinquent if the required principal and interest payments have not been received as of the date such payments are due.
Generally, loans, including impaired loans, are placed on non-accrual status (a) when either principal or interest payments are 90 days or more past due based
on contractual terms or (b) when an individual analysis of a borrower’s creditworthiness indicates a loan should be placed on non-accrual status. When a loan
owned by Sunlight is placed on non-accrual status, Sunlight ceases to recognize interest income on the loans and reverses previously accrued and unpaid
interest, if any. Subsequent receipts on non-accrual loans are recorded as a reduction of principal, and interest income may only be recorded on a cash basis
after recovery of principal is reasonably assured. Sunlight may return a loan to accrual status when repayment of principal and interest is reasonably assured
under the terms of the loan or the restructured loan, as the case may be.
Advances made to contractors under Sunlight’s contractor advances program or prefunding program are created at par and do not bear, and therefore do not
accrue, interest income.
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Allowance for Losses
The allowance for financing receivable losses represents Sunlight’s best estimate of probable credit losses arising from financing receivables. Sunlight’s
allowance for financing receivable losses is evaluated at least quarterly, and based upon management’s assessment of several factors including historical
losses, changes in the nature and volume of financing receivables, overall portfolio quality, and existing economic conditions that may affect the customer’s
ability to pay. Although management uses the best information available, the evaluation of these indicators of impairment requires significant judgment by
Sunlight’s management to determine whether failure to collect contractual amounts is probable as well as in estimating the resulting loss allowance. Future
adjustments to the allowance for financing receivable losses may be necessary due to economic, operating, regulatory and other conditions beyond Sunlight’s
control. Sunlight believes that its allowance for financing receivable losses is adequate to cover probable loan losses. However, actual losses, if any, could
materially differ from management’s estimates.
Provision for Income Taxes
Sunlight accounts for income taxes under the asset and liability method. Under this method, deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on
differences between the consolidated financial statement carrying amounts and tax bases of assets and liabilities and operating loss and tax credit
carryforwards and are measured using the enacted tax rates that are expected to be in effect when the differences reverse. The effect on deferred tax assets
and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Operations in the period that includes the enactment date.
Valuation allowances are established when necessary to reduce deferred tax assets to an amount that, in the opinion of management, is more likely than not to
be realized.
Sunlight accounts for uncertain tax positions by reporting a liability for unrecognizable tax benefits resulting from uncertain tax positions taken or expected to be
taken in a tax return. Sunlight recognizes interest and penalties, if any, related to unrecognized tax benefits in income tax expense.
Judgment is required in assessing the future tax consequences of events that have been recognized in Sunlight’s consolidated financial statements or tax
returns. Variations in the actual outcome of these future tax consequences could materially impact Sunlight’s consolidated financial statements.
Contract Derivatives
Sunlight’s contracts under which Sunlight arranges loans for the purchase and installation of home improvements other than residential solar energy systems
contain features determined to be embedded derivatives from its host. Embedded derivatives are separated from the host contract and carried at fair value
when the embedded derivative possesses economic characteristics that are not clearly and closely related to the economic characteristics of the host contract
and a separate, standalone instrument with the same terms would qualify as a derivative instrument. The derivatives are measured both initially and in
subsequent periods at fair value, with changes in fair value recognized on the statement of operations.
Sunlight uses a discounted cash flow model to value its derivative assets using various key assumptions, such as estimation of the timing and probability of
expected future cash flows and selection of a discount rate applied to future cash flows using Sunlight’s implied credit risk.
Sunlight Rewards™ Program
The Sunlight Rewards™ Program is a proprietary loyalty program that Sunlight offers to salespeople selling residential solar systems for Sunlight’s network of
contractors. Sunlight records a contingent liability under Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) Topic 45020, Loss Contingencies using the estimated incremental cost of each point based upon the points earned, the point redemption value, and an estimated
probability of point redemption consistent with Sunlight’s historical redemption experience under the program. When a salesperson redeems points from
Sunlight’s third-party loyalty program vendor, Sunlight pays the stated redemption value of the points redeemed to the vendor. If all points earned under the
Sunlight Rewards™ Program were redeemed at September 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021, Sunlight would pay $4.2 million and $3.0 million, respectively, of
which Sunlight recorded liabilities of $2.6 million and $1.8 million.
Business Combination
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Sunlight evaluates its acquisition of assets and other similar transactions to assess whether or not the transaction should be accounted for as a business
combination or asset acquisition by first applying a test to determine if substantially all of the fair value of the gross assets acquired is concentrated in a single
identifiable asset or group of similar identifiable assets. If the test is met, the transaction is accounted for as an asset acquisition. If the test is not met, further
determination is required as to whether or not Sunlight acquired inputs and processes that have the ability to create outputs which would meet the definition of a
business. Significant judgment is required in the application of the test to determine whether an acquisition is a business combination or an acquisition of
assets.
Sunlight uses the acquisition method in accounting for acquired businesses. Under the acquisition method, Sunlight’s financial statements reflect the operations
of an acquired business starting from the completion of the acquisition. The assets acquired and liabilities assumed are recorded at their respective estimated
fair values at the date of the acquisition. Any excess of the purchase price over the estimated fair values of the identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as
goodwill.
Determining estimated fair value requires a significant amount of judgment and estimates. If Sunlight’s assumptions change or errors are determined in its
calculations, the fair value could materially change resulting in a change in our goodwill or identifiable net assets acquired, including identified intangible assets.
Emerging Growth Company
As an “emerging growth company,” as defined in Section 2(a) of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”), as modified by the Jumpstart our
Business Startups Act of 2012 (the “JOBS Act”), Sunlight is eligible to take advantage of certain exemptions from various reporting requirements that are
applicable to other public companies that are not “emerging growth companies.” Section 107 of the JOBS Act provides that an “emerging growth company” can
take advantage of the extended transition period provided in Section 7(a)(2)(B) of the Securities Act for complying with new or revised accounting standards. In
other words, an “emerging growth company” can delay the adoption of certain accounting standards until those standards would otherwise apply to private
companies. Unless otherwise stated, Sunlight elects to adopt recent accounting pronouncements using the extended transition period applicable to private
companies. Accordingly, the information contained herein may be different than the information you receive from other public companies.
Sunlight also intends to take advantage of some of the reduced regulatory and reporting requirements of emerging growth companies pursuant to the JOBS Act
so long as Sunlight qualifies as an emerging growth company, including, but not limited to, not being required to comply with the auditor attestation
requirements of Section 404(b) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, reduced disclosure obligations regarding executive compensation and exemptions from the
requirements of holding non-binding advisory votes on executive compensation and golden parachute payments.
Recent Accounting Pronouncements Issued, But Not Yet Adopted
See Note 2 “—Summary of Significant Accounting Policies” in the notes accompanying Sunlight’s consolidated financial statements.
Related Party Transactions
See Note 9 “—Transactions with Affiliates and Affiliated Entities” in the notes accompanying Sunlight’s consolidated financial statements.
ITEM 3. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK
Sunlight is a smaller reporting company as defined by Rule 12b-2 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”) and not required to
provide the information otherwise required under this item.
ITEM 4. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Disclosure Controls and Procedures
The Company’s management, with the participation of the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, has evaluated the effectiveness of
the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures (as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act) as of the end of the
period covered by this report. The Company’s disclosure controls and procedures are designed to provide reasonable assurance that information is recorded,
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processed, summarized and reported accurately and on a timely basis. Based on such evaluation, the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial
Officer have concluded that, as of the end of such period, the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures were effective.
Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
There have not been any changes in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting (as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the
Exchange Act) during the fiscal quarter to which this report relates that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s
internal control over financial reporting.
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PART II. OTHER INFORMATION
ITEM 1. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
As previously disclosed in the Company's Form 10-Q for the Quarterly Period Ended March 31, 2022 filed with the SEC on May 16, 2022, a complaint was filed
by the Attorney General of the State of Minnesota entitled State of Minnesota v. Brio Energy LLC d/b/a Pure Solar Energy et al., Case No. 27-CV-22-6187
(Minn. D. Ct. 4th Dist.), in the District Court for the Fourth Judicial District in the State of Minnesota (the “Court”) on April 22, 2022. The complaint alleges that
the solar companies named therein (the "Solar Defendants") used deceptive and misleading sales tactics in violation of certain Minnesota laws, and seeks to
hold the Company, among others, liable for any alleged misconduct of the Solar Defendants under the Minnesota “Holder Rule”. Discovery is currently ongoing.
The Company believes that the complaint against the Company is without merit and has filed a motion to dismiss the lawsuit, which was heard by the Court on
October 12, 2022. The Company is awaiting a decision.
Sunlight is, from time to time, subject to inquiries by government entities and is party to various other legal proceedings arising in the ordinary course of its
business, but it is not currently a party to any legal proceeding that management believes would have a material adverse effect on the consolidated financial
position or results of operations of the Company.
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS
These risk factors could materially affect our business, financial position, and results of operations. following risk factors apply to our business and operations.
These risk factors are not exhaustive and investors are encouraged to perform their own investigation with respect to the business, financial condition and
prospects of our business. You should carefully consider the following risk factors in addition to the other information included in this Quarterly Report on Form
10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2022, which amends and restates the risk factors previously set forth in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
fiscal-year ended December 31, 2021, and Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q for the quarters ended March 31, 2022 and June 30, 2022, and should also
carefully consider the matters addressed in the section herein entitled “Cautionary Statements and Risk Factor Summary.” We may face additional risks and
uncertainties that are not presently known to us, or that we currently deem immaterial, which may also impair our business or financial condition. The following
discussion should be read in conjunction with the “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations,” and our financial
statements and notes to the financial statements included herein.
Summary of Principal Risks Associated with Sunlight’s Business
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

•
•
•
•
•

•
•

Sunlight is currently considering a range of strategic alternatives in order to maximize stakeholder value; the failure to consummate a suitable strategic
alternative could have a material adverse impact on Sunlight’s securities prices, business, financial condition and results of operations.
Sunlight has incurred net losses in the past, and Sunlight may be unable to sustain profitability in the future.
Worsening economic conditions from a rising rate of inflation, rising interest rates or other potential causes of economic distress could raise Sunlight’s
cost of capital and/or reduce or eliminate the ability of Sunlight’s direct or indirect capital providers to continue funding loan volume at historical levels,
thereby materially and adversely impacting Sunlight’s business, cash flows, financial condition and results of operations.
The ongoing COVID-19 pandemic and other health epidemics and outbreaks could adversely affect Sunlight’s business, results of operations and
financial condition.
If Sunlight fails to manage its operations and growth effectively, Sunlight may be unable to execute its business plan, maintain high levels of customer
service and support or adequately address competitive challenges.
If Sunlight is unable to facilitate the sale of loans held on its bank partner’s balance sheet and the bank is unwilling to expand its loan capacity, Sunlight
may be required to purchase all or a portion of these loans and/or may be unable to fund future Indirect Channel loans.
Failure to amend or extend Sunlight’s existing credit facility, which is currently set to expire in April 2023, could have a material adverse effect on
Sunlight’s results of operations and financial position.
Sunlight may in the future expand to new industry verticals outside of the U.S. solar system and home improvement industries, and failure to comply with
applicable regulations, accurately predict demand or growth, or build a process valued in those new industries could have an adverse effect on Sunlight’s
business.
To the extent that Sunlight seeks to grow or strengthen its business and competitive position through future acquisitions, or other strategic investments,
transactions or alliances, Sunlight may not be able to do so effectively.
A material reduction in the retail price of electricity charged by electric utilities, other retail electricity providers or other energy sources as compared to
potential savings for purchasing and using a solar system or an increase in pricing for purchasing and using a solar system above the cost of other
energy sources could result in a lower demand for solar systems, which could have an adverse impact on Sunlight’s business, results of operations and
financial condition.
The reduction, modification or elimination of government incentives could cause our revenue to decline and harm our financial results.
Existing regulations and policies and changes to these regulations and policies may present technical, regulatory, and economic barriers to the purchase
and use of solar power products, which may significantly reduce demand for our loan products and services.
The industries that Sunlight operates in are highly competitive and are likely to become more competitive. Additionally, if new entrants join these markets
who have ready access to cheaper capital, competing successfully would become more difficult for Sunlight. Sunlight’s inability to compete successfully
or maintain or improve Sunlight’s market share and margins could adversely affect its business.
Disruptions in the operation of Sunlight’s computer systems and those of its critical third-party service providers and capital providers could have an
adverse effect on Sunlight’s business.
Sunlight’s growth is dependent on its contractor network and in turn the quality of the products and services they provide to their customers, and
Sunlight’s failure to retain or replace existing contractors, to grow its contractor network or the number of Sunlight loans offered through its existing
network, or increases in loan delinquencies due to any deficiencies in Sunlight’s contractor underwriting practices, could adversely impact Sunlight’s
business.
Sunlight’s capital advance program exposes it to potential losses in the event that a contractor fails to fully perform under its agreements with Sunlight or
becomes insolvent prior to completion of the underlying installation or construction, which losses could have an adverse impact on Sunlight’s business,
results of operations and financial condition.
If contractors fail to fulfill their obligations to consumers or fail to comply with applicable law, Sunlight may incur remediation costs.
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•
•
•
•
•

Sunlight’s revenue is impacted, to a significant extent, by the general economy, including supply chain disruptions, and the financial performance of its
capital providers and contractors.
Our results of operations could be adversely affected by economic and political conditions globally and the effects of these conditions on our clients’
businesses and levels of business activity.
Sunlight has never paid cash dividends on its capital stock, and does not anticipate paying dividends in the foreseeable future.
Sunlight cannot guarantee that it will repurchase its common stock pursuant to Sunlight’s share repurchase program or that Sunlight’s share repurchase
program will enhance long-term shareholder value. Share repurchases could also increase the volatility of the price of Sunlight’s common stock and could
diminish Sunlight’s cash reserves.
If assumptions or estimates Sunlight uses in preparing its financial statements are incorrect or are required to change, Sunlight’s reported results of
operations, liquidity and financial condition may be adversely affected.

Risks Related to Sunlight
Sunlight is currently considering a range of strategic alternatives in order to maximize stakeholder value. The failure to consummate a suitable
strategic alternative could have a material adverse impact on Sunlight’s business, financial condition and results of operations.
Sunlight is currently considering a range of strategic alternatives that may be available to Sunlight to maximize stakeholder value, including but not limited to
financings, strategic alliances, or a possible business combination or sale of the business. Sunlight has engaged a financial advisory firm to help explore
available strategic alternatives. Sunlight expects to devote significant time and resources to identifying and evaluating strategic transactions; however, there can
be no assurance that such activities will result in any agreements or transactions that will enhance stakeholder value. Sunlight currently has no agreements or
commitments to engage in any specific strategic alternative, and the Company’s exploration of various strategic alternatives may not result in any specific action
or transaction. In addition, potential strategic alternatives that require stockholder approval may not be approved by our stockholders or a counterparty’s
stockholders, and if Sunlight determines to engage in a strategic alternative, Sunlight cannot predict the impact that such strategic alternative might have on
Sunlight’s operations or the prices of Sunlight’s securities. The failure to consummate a suitable strategic alternative could also have a material adverse impact
on Sunlight’s securities prices, business, financial condition and results of operations.
Sunlight has incurred net losses in the past, and Sunlight may be unable to sustain profitability in the future.
Sunlight commenced operations as a “start-up” in 2015 and incurred net losses while developing its business, and may incur net losses in the future. These
historical net losses were due to a number of factors, including incurring expenses to fund the development of Sunlight’s technology and the build out of its
operational capacities (including, in 2018, as associated with the start of Sunlight’s home improvement line of business), obtaining financing and taking other
actions associated with scaling a business generally, and lower revenues as Sunlight created its distribution channels through contractor relationships and
funding networks for a diverse set of loan products. Sunlight expects to continue to incur substantial expenses as Sunlight expands its loan product offerings
and operations and implements additional technology innovations and infrastructure to support its growth. In addition, as a public company, Sunlight will incur
significant additional legal, accounting and other expenses that it did not incur as a private company. Sunlight can provide no assurance that its revenue will
grow rapidly enough to absorb these expenses or other costs that it may incur. Sunlight’s ability to sustain profitability in both the short term and long term
depends on a number of factors, across both its residential energy solar systems (“solar systems”) line of business and its line of business related to home
improvements, such as roofing, siding, windows, doors, HVAC systems and insulation (collectively, referred to as “home improvements”), including:
• Sunlight’s ability to maintain its margins by stabilizing or lowering its cost of capital and/or increasing pricing as market interest rates rise with its existing
funding partners and/or by engaging new capital providers on favorable economic terms to Sunlight;
• facilitating increased funded volumes through its existing contractor distribution channels and by adding additional contractors to the network of
contractors selling Sunlight’s loan products;
• maintaining and expanding the funding commitments of existing capital providers and/or adding new capital providers to fund credit application volumes;
• maintaining a low cost structure by optimizing its operational processes across increasing funded volume; and
• Sunlight’s continuing ability to remain apace with the point of sale market by continuing to innovate and update its product offerings, services and
technology.
Sunlight can provide no assurance that it will be able to sustain or increase its profitability in the future.
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Worsening economic conditions from a rising rate of inflation, rising interest rates or other potential causes of economic distress could raise
Sunlight’s cost of capital and/or reduce or eliminate the ability of Sunlight’s direct or indirect capital providers to continue funding loan volume at
historical levels, thereby materially and adversely impacting Sunlight’s business, cash flows, financial condition and results of operations.
While interest rates have historically been low in recent years, various economic factors have recently resulted in a significant increase in the rate of inflation
and interest rates, and may also increase unemployment, all of which could reduce consumer credit ratings, credit availability, and has, and may continue to,
negatively impact the ability of Sunlight’s direct capital providers to continue funding loan volume at historical levels, which may adversely affect Sunlight’s
margins, ability to facilitate new loans as forecasted and/or that are of the credit quality desired by Sunlight’s capital providers. Sunlight’s loans through the
indirect channel are exposed to interest rate risk during the time of credit approval through loan funding until loan-sale, due to prices being set at the credit
approval event at which time the value of the loan may have changed materially and therefore result in a lower or negative margin. As Sunlight’s capital
providers adjust pricing to account for an increasing cost of funds to such capital providers and potential increased credit risk, or reduce or halt their loan volume
commitments to Sunlight, it may erode Sunlight’s margins and negatively impact Sunlight’s future financial performance and the price of Sunlight’s Class A
Common Stock, especially if Sunlight is unable to sufficiently raise the interest rate paid by homeowners who elect to finance their residential solar system with
a loan offered by Sunlight while maintaining loan volume. Increased interest rates on residential solar loans may mean reduced savings to homeowners on their
utility bills and over the life of the system, which could negatively impact demand for residential solar systems and therefor Sunlight solar loans. As well, in the
event unemployment increases, this potential reduction in demand could be exacerbated. Both margin compression and/or reduction in demand for residential
solar systems could have a material and adverse impact on the financial results of the Company.
The ongoing novel coronavirus (“COVID-19”) pandemic and other health epidemics and outbreaks, including the rise of variants of COVID-19, could
adversely affect Sunlight’s business, results of operations and financial condition.
The ongoing COVID-19 pandemic continues to be a rapidly evolving situation. The COVID-19 pandemic and efforts to respond to it have resulted in widespread
adverse impacts on the global economy and on Sunlight’s employees, capital providers, contractors, target consumer base, third-party vendors (“vendors”) and
other parties with whom Sunlight has business relations. Social distancing guidelines, stay-at-home orders and similar government measures associated with
the COVID-19 pandemic, as well as actions by individuals to reduce their potential exposure to the virus, contributed to a decline in credit applications and
funded volumes in the first and second quarters of 2020. For solar system loans, Sunlight attributes this decline to a significant disruption to solar systems
contractors’ sales model, which prior to such public health orders associated with the COVID-19 pandemic had been to sell solar systems primarily door to door,
resulting in a decrease in the number of solar system sales and installations and, consequently, a decrease in credit applications and funded loans. Credit
applications and funded loans for home improvements were similarly adversely affected. Sunlight believes that the decline in credit applications and funded
loans was primarily attributable to consumers’ efforts to avoid infection in the early periods of the COVID-19 pandemic, as sales for large portions of the market
tended to be conducted in person at potential consumers’ homes and at home sales conventions, which were canceled.
In response to the COVID-19 pandemic, Sunlight and its contractors have modified certain business and workforce practices (including those related to solar
system sales, installation and servicing solar systems and employee work locations) to conform to government restrictions and best practices encouraged by
governmental and regulatory authorities in the markets in which Sunlight offers loan products. Such modifications on the solar systems side, including
converting to a technology-based sales model, have largely allowed contractors offering Sunlight loan products to continue to sell and install solar systems and,
accordingly, for Sunlight to continue to offer related loans. However, in 2021, the residential solar and home improvement industries saw a slow-down in
installations and project completions associated, Sunlight believes, with supply chain issues whereby needed components or other goods required by
contractors to complete projects were either unavailable or took longer to obtain than originally anticipated. Additionally, in the second half of 2021, access to
trained workers became more limited and further slowed the installation and build processes and, in the residential solar industry, the ability to connect
residential solar systems to local power grids on a timely basis. These challenges have caused a slow-down in Sunlight contractor partners’ ability to install
systems and, in some instances, the cancellation of installations by their homeowner customers. The slow-down of installations of solar systems or other home
improvements or the cancellations of projects translates to a delay in funded loans and Sunlight’s ability to earn an associated platform fee. If the COVID-19
pandemic or other health epidemic or outbreaks are significantly prolonged, or more stringent health and safety guidelines are adopted, Sunlight and its solar
systems contractors’ ability to continue selling and installing solar systems and home improvements may be adversely impacted, which could have a
corresponding adverse impact on solar system and home improvement credit applications for Sunlight loans and Sunlight funded loans and could have a
material adverse effect on Sunlight’s business, cash flows, liquidity, financial condition and results of operations.
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Sunlight is currently unable to predict the full impact that the COVID-19 pandemic will have, directly or indirectly, on its partners, supply channels, the capital
markets generally or otherwise, or on Sunlight’s business, cash flows, liquidity, financial condition and results of operations. The ultimate impact will depend on
future developments, including, among other things, the efficacy of full administration of the COVID-19 vaccines, the spread of vaccine resistant strains of the
virus, ultimate duration of the COVID-19 pandemic, the depth and duration of the economic downturn and other economic effects of the COVID-19 pandemic,
the consequences of governmental and other measures designed to prevent the spread of the COVID-19 pandemic, actions taken by governmental authorities,
capital providers, contractors, vendors and other parties with whom Sunlight has business relations, Sunlight’s ability and the ability of its capital providers,
contractors, target consumer base, vendors and other parties with whom Sunlight has business relations to adapt to operating in a changed environment, and
the timing and extent to which normal economic and operating conditions resume.
If market demand for residential solar systems generally does not continue to develop as anticipated by Sunlight or takes longer to develop than
Sunlight anticipates, Sunlight may not be able to originate loans for the purchase and installation of solar systems at the rate anticipated, which
may have an adverse impact on the financial results of the Company.
The solar systems market is at a relatively early stage of development. If market demand for solar systems fails to continue to develop sufficiently or takes
longer to develop than Sunlight anticipates, Sunlight may be unable to facilitate the origination of loans for the purchase and installation of solar systems to grow
its business at the rate Sunlight anticipates.
Many factors may affect the demand for solar systems, including the following:
•
•
•
•
•
•

monthly and/or lifetime savings potential of purchasing and using a solar system, which is associated with the availability of (i) residential solar support
programs, including government targets, subsidies, incentives in the form of tax credits, grants or similar programs, renewable portfolio standards and
residential net metering rules and (ii) cost efficient equipment and solar loans on terms favorable to the consumers;
the relative pricing of other conventional and non-renewable energy sources, such as natural gas, coal, oil and other fossil fuels, wind, utility-scale solar,
nuclear, geothermal and biomass;
performance, reliability and availability of energy generated by solar systems compared to conventional and other non-solar renewable energy sources;
availability and performance of energy storage technology, the ability to implement such technology for use in conjunction with solar systems and the cost
competitiveness such technology provides to consumers as compared to costs for those consumers reliant on the conventional electrical grid or other
sources of energy;
general economic conditions and the level of interest rates available to consumers to finance the purchase of solar systems and home improvements; and
the desirability of relying principally on renewable energy resources.

Sunlight cannot be certain if historical growth rates reflect future opportunities in the solar industry or whether growth anticipated by Sunlight will be fully
realized. The failure or delay of solar systems to continue on a path towards increasing adoption could have a material adverse effect on Sunlight’s business,
results of operations and financial condition.
If Sunlight fails to manage its operations and growth effectively, Sunlight may be unable to execute its business plan, maintain high levels of
customer service and support or adequately address competitive challenges.
Sunlight has experienced significant growth in recent periods measured by, among others, funded volumes, and Sunlight intends to continue the efforts to
expand its business. This growth has placed, and any future growth may place, a strain on Sunlight’s management, operational and financial infrastructure.
Sunlight’s growth requires its management to devote a significant amount of time and effort to maintain and expand its relationships with contractors, capital
providers and other third parties, creating innovative new lending products that offer attractive financing options to consumers, improving its credit analysis and
decisioning processes, arranging financing for Sunlight’s growth and managing its expansion into new markets.
In addition, Sunlight’s current and planned operations, information technology and other systems and procedures might be inadequate to support its future
growth and may require Sunlight to make additional unanticipated investments in its infrastructure. Sunlight’s success and ability to further scale its business will
depend, in part, on its ability to manage these changes in a cost-effective and efficient manner. As well, Sunlight’s success is dependent upon its ability to
attract and retain qualified employees in a difficult employment market. If Sunlight is not able to attract and retain appropriately
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qualified talent, Sunlight’s ability to further scale its business in conformity with its business plan could be adversely impacted.
If Sunlight cannot manage its operations to meet the demands of its growth, Sunlight may be unable to meet market expectations regarding growth, opportunity
and financial targets, take advantage of market opportunities, execute its business strategies successfully or respond to competitive pressures. This could also
result in declines in the attractiveness or quality of the lending options that Sunlight provides, declines in consumer satisfaction, weakening of Sunlight’s
relationships with its network of contractors, increased operational costs or lower margins on loans Sunlight facilitates or other operational difficulties. Any
failure to effectively manage Sunlight’s operations and growth could adversely impact its reputation, business, financial condition, cash flows and results of
operations.
During the period from December 31, 2020 to December 31, 2021, Sunlight funded approximately 15.0% of its total solar system loan volume and,
during the period from December 31, 2020 to December 31, 2021, 98.2% of its home improvement loan volume in the Indirect Channel through a bank
partnership arrangement. A reduction or elimination of loan volume capacity from such bank partner as a result of worsening economic conditions
and credit tightening could adversely impact Sunlight’s margins, future financial performance, and the price of Sunlight’s Class A Common Stock. In
addition, pursuant to the terms of such bank partnership arrangement, Sunlight must arrange for (i) the sale of solar system loans to a third party
within 180 days from origination, and, (ii) the sale of certain home improvement loans to a third party if they have been on its bank partner’s balance
sheet for greater than 12 months, subject to certain exceptions. If Sunlight is unable to facilitate the sale of loans held on its bank partner’s balance
sheet and the bank is unwilling to expand its loan capacity, Sunlight may be required to purchase all or a portion of these loans and/or may be
unable to fund future Indirect Channel loans. In addition, Sunlight is required to purchase solar system loans funded through its bank partnership
arrangement if those loans are charged off and home improvement loans funded through its bank partner if those loans are more than 60 days
delinquent. If any of these events were to occur, they would have a material adverse impact on Sunlight’s liquidity and financial condition.
Currently a portion of solar system loans originated through Sunlight’s Platform and all home improvement loans originated through Sunlight’s Platform are
funded by Sunlight’s bank partnership arrangement whereby loans are originated by Sunlight’s bank partner but held for sale to a third party. The terms of
Sunlight’s bank partnership arrangement provide that such sales must occur within a certain period of time, subject to certain exceptions (180 days from
origination for solar system loans and home improvement loans that have been on its bank partner’s balance sheet for greater than 12 months). While Sunlight
has not been required to date to purchase solar system loans from its bank partner due to the expiration of Sunlight’s bank partner’s agreed hold period,
Sunlight cannot be certain that fluctuations in the credit markets or other market, regulatory or business factors will not impede Sunlight’s ability to source such
third-party purchasers in the future at favorable selling prices, which could result in Sunlight being required to purchase all or part of such unsold loans, or result
in Sunlight being unable to fund future Indirect Channel loans, which would have a material adverse impact on Sunlight’s liquidity and financial condition.
Sunlight’s arrangements with its bank partner also require that Sunlight purchase solar loans when subject to charge-off by Sunlight’s bank partner, and with
respect to home improvement, any loan that becomes 60 days delinquent. For the year ended December 31, 2020, Sunlight repurchased, and wrote off, 49
loans from its bank partner, totaling $1.1 million, associated with the repurchase obligation concerning charge-offs and delinquencies. For the year ended
December 31, 2021, Sunlight repurchased, and wrote off, 60 loans from its bank partner, totaling $1.3 million associated with the repurchase obligation
concerning charge-offs and delinquencies. Sunlight acts as the administrator for its bank partner’s portfolio of Sunlight-facilitated loans, and Sunlight has
access to comprehensive daily reporting regarding those loans, which allows it to track the status of loans, including days from origination, and monitors the
performance of those loans on a loan-level basis.
Sunlight has entered into committed indirect funding program agreements with capital providers for the purchase of solar system and home improvement loans
from Sunlight’s bank partner; however, these agreements require periodic extension and, based on market changes and shifts in credit appetite, Sunlight cannot
predict whether these capital providers will elect to continue their commitment in the future. In addition, Sunlight’s indirect funding program agreements contain
covenants and agreements relating to the origination of such loans and Sunlight’s financial condition. If Sunlight materially breaches these conditions and fails to
cure them in the time allotted, the relevant capital provider may terminate its relationship with Sunlight. Such covenants and agreements generally include,
among others, obligations related to funding volumes, concentration limits on certain loan products, Fair Isaac Corporation (“FICO”) score requirements,
agreements related to Sunlight’s legal compliance in the origination process, underwriting requirements and milestone or other payment requirements. If an
existing indirect capital provider terminates its relationship with Sunlight and Sunlight is unable to procure alternative agreements with new purchaser(s) of solar
system and home improvement loans or increase commitments from other existing indirect capital providers in a timely manner and on acceptable terms, or at
all, Sunlight’s business and results of operations could be materially and adversely affected.
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Sunlight initiated its home improvement business in 2019 and its bank partner has originated approximately $278.5 million in home improvement loans through
December 31, 2021. In February 2021, Sunlight entered into an indirect funding program agreement with a capital provider for the purchase of up to
$400 million in home improvement loans from Sunlight’s bank partnership arrangement over an 18-month period. The foregoing agreement currently represents
the sole commitment for the purchase of home improvement loans from Sunlight’s bank partnership arrangement and will require periodic extension.
Additionally, in the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2021, Sunlight entered into a direct funding agreement with a capital provider for the purchase of home
improvement loans. Based on market changes and shifts in credit appetite, Sunlight cannot predict whether its direct capital provider for home improvement
loans will elect to continue its commitment in the future or whether Sunlight will be able to establish alternative direct funding relationships. In addition,
Sunlight’s indirect home improvement loan funding program agreement contains covenants and agreements related to the origination of such loans and
Sunlight’s financial condition similar to those described in the above paragraph with respect to program agreements for the purchase of solar system loans. If
Sunlight’s existing indirect home improvement loan capital provider terminates its relationship with Sunlight and Sunlight is unable to procure alternative
agreements with new third-party purchaser(s) of home improvement loans in a timely manner and on acceptable terms, or at all, or Sunlight is unable to procure
alternative direct funding sources for its home improvement loans, then, Sunlight may be required to purchase any home improvement loans (with certain
exceptions) that have been on its bank partner’s balance sheet for greater than 12 months, which could materially and adversely affect Sunlight’s liquidity and
financial condition.
Restrictive covenants in certain of Sunlight’s debt agreements could limit its growth and its ability to finance its operations, fund its capital needs,
respond to changing conditions and engage in other business activities that may be in Sunlight’s best interests, and failure to comply with any of
these restrictions could result in acceleration of Sunlight’s debt. Further, failure to amend or extend Sunlight’s existing credit facility, which is
currently set to expire in April 2023, could have a material adverse effect on Sunlight’s results of operations and financial position.
Sunlight’s debt agreements impose operating and financial restrictions on Sunlight. These restrictions limit Sunlight’s ability to, among other things:
• incur additional indebtedness;
• make investments or loans;
• create liens;
• consummate mergers and similar fundamental changes;
• make restricted payments;
• make investments in unrestricted subsidiaries;
• enter into transactions with affiliates; and
• use the proceeds of asset sales.
Sunlight may be prevented from taking advantage of business opportunities that arise because of the limitations imposed by the restrictive covenants under its
corporate debt agreement. The restrictions contained in the covenants could, among other things:
• limit Sunlight’s ability to plan for, or react to, market conditions or meet capital needs or otherwise restrict Sunlight’s activities or business plan; and
• adversely affect Sunlight’s ability to finance its operations, enter into acquisitions or divestitures or engage in other business activities that would be in
Sunlight’s best interest.
A breach of any of these covenants or Sunlight’s inability to comply with the required financial ratios or financial condition tests could result in a default under
Sunlight’s debt agreement that, if not timely cured or waived, could result in acceleration of all indebtedness outstanding thereunder and cross-default rights
under other debt arrangements of Sunlight. In addition, in the event of an event of default under Sunlight’s debt facility, the affected lenders could accelerate
such indebtedness and require repayment of all borrowings outstanding thereunder. Sunlight cannot be certain that it will have cash available in the future to
repay its debt facility in the event that it becomes necessary to do so. If the amounts outstanding under Sunlight’s outstanding indebtedness or any of its other
indebtedness, whether now or in the future, were to be accelerated and Sunlight did not have sufficient assets to repay in full the amounts owed to the lenders
or to other debt holders, such parties could foreclose on the collateral granted by Sunlight to such debt holders, which could materially adversely affect
Sunlight’s liquidity and financial condition or its ability to qualify as a going concern.
Additionally, Sunlight’s current corporate debt facility expires in April 2023. As of December 31, 2021, Sunlight’s corporate debt facility had outstanding
borrowings of $20.6 million. Sunlight will have to negotiate an extension of its facility or establish a facility with another lender prior to that date. Sunlight cannot
be certain that its current debt provider will extend the facility or that it will extend the facility on the same terms, or that Sunlight can obtain a new facility on the
same or
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better terms. Sunlight may need to extend the facility or obtain a new facility on terms that contain additional covenants or requirements that further restrict
Sunlight’s ability to take advantage of business opportunities, address market changes, make acquisitions or otherwise grow Sunlight’s business.
Fraudulent activity has become more sophisticated in the financial services industry and, if experienced at a material level by Sunlight or its capital
providers in connection with loans originated through Sunlight’s Platform, it could negatively impact Sunlight’s reputation and business. Further,
Sunlight could be subject to fraud by internal actors, which could also negatively impact its reputation and business.
Fraud occurs in the financial services industry and has increased as perpetrators become more sophisticated. Sunlight is subject to the risk of fraudulent activity
generally perpetrated on participants in the financial markets and with respect to the policies and business practices of contractors, vendors and other third
parties handling consumer information. Sunlight has experienced some immaterial fraud where fraudulent actors have obtained consumer personal identifying
information in order to obtain fraudulent project payments from Sunlight. Sunlight has adopted increased fraud detection processes in both its commercial risk
management and consumer underwriting processes in response to these events and the reported increase of fraud in the financial market. However, Sunlight’s
resources, technologies and fraud prevention tools may be insufficient to accurately detect and prevent fraud in the future. The level of Sunlight’s fraud chargeoffs could increase, and results of operations could be materially adversely affected if fraudulent activity were to significantly increase. High profile fraudulent
activity also could negatively impact Sunlight’s brand and reputation, and negatively impact its business, results of operations and financial condition.
Further, Sunlight cannot be certain that it will not be subject to fraud from internal actors in the future. Any such fraud conducted could have a material negative
impact on Sunlight’s reputation or business.
If the consumer underwriting and loan origination processes Sunlight uses contain errors or incorrect inputs from consumers or third parties (e.g.,
credit bureaus), Sunlight’s reputation and relationships with capital providers and contractors could be harmed. Further, economic changes
resulting in increases in default rates could increase Sunlight’s cost of capital.
Sunlight’s ability to attract capital providers on economic terms consistent with its current capital provider funding facilities in part is dependent on Sunlight’s
ability to effectively evaluate a consumer’s credit profile and likelihood of default and potential loss in accordance with Sunlight’s capital provider’s origination
policies. To conduct this evaluation, Sunlight uses FICO scores and various credit bureau attributes. If any of the credit decisioning attributes Sunlight uses
contain errors or the data provided by consumers or third parties (such as credit bureaus) is incorrect or stale, Sunlight’s approvals or denials may be
determined inappropriately. Additionally, following the date of the credit report that Sunlight obtains and reviews, a consumer may default on, or become
delinquent in the payment of, a pre-existing debt obligation, take on additional debt, lose his or her job or other sources of income, or experience other adverse
financial events. If such inaccuracies or events are not detected prior to loan funding, the loan may have a greater risk of default than expected. Greater
defaults could damage Sunlight’s reputation and relationships with contractors and capital providers, causing a decrease in Sunlight’s ability to originate loans,
or result in an increase to Sunlight’s cost of capital causing a decrease in Sunlight margins.
Further, Sunlight’s cost of capital is also determined in part based on the default averages in Sunlight’s consumer loan borrower portfolio. If general economic
conditions worsen significantly, or other events occur, resulting in an increase in delinquencies and defaults by Sunlight’s consumer loan borrowers and Sunlight
is not able to adjust its underwriting processes to address the change in credit environment, Sunlight’s cost of capital may increase. Increases in Sunlight’s cost
of capital may cause a decrease in Sunlight’s margins and have a material adverse effect on Sunlight’s business, results of operations and financial condition.
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Sunlight may in the future expand to new industry verticals outside of the U.S. residential solar system and home improvement industries, and
failure to comply with applicable regulations, accurately predict demand or growth, or build a process valued in those new industries could have an
adverse effect on Sunlight’s business.
Sunlight may in the future further expand into other industry verticals. There is no assurance that Sunlight will be able to successfully develop consumer
financing products and services that are valued for these new industries. Sunlight’s investment of resources to develop consumer financing products and
services for the new industries it enters may either be insufficient or result in expenses that are excessive as compared to the fees or other revenue that
Sunlight may earn in launching such vertical. Additionally, Sunlight’s experience is in the U.S. solar system and home improvement industries and, therefore,
industry participants in new industry verticals may not be receptive to its financing solutions and Sunlight may face competitors with more experience and
resources. The borrower profile of consumers in new verticals may not be as attractive, in terms of average FICO scores or other attributes, as in current
verticals, which may make it more difficult for Sunlight to find funding partners for these new verticals. As Sunlight explores additional opportunities, Sunlight
can make no assurance that it will be able to accurately forecast demand (or the lack thereof) for a solution or that those industries will be receptive to Sunlight’s
loan products or changes in loan products from time to time. Failure to predict demand or growth accurately in new industries could have a materially adverse
impact on Sunlight’s business, results of operations and financial condition.
Sunlight’s risk management processes and procedures may not be effective.
Sunlight’s risk management processes and procedures seek to appropriately balance risk and return and mitigate risks, and intend to identify, measure, monitor
and control the types of risk to which Sunlight, its contractors and its capital providers are subject, including credit risk, market risk, liquidity risk, strategic risk
and operational risk. Credit risk is the risk of loss that arises when an obligor fails to meet the terms of an obligation. Market risk is the risk of loss due to
changes in external market factors such as interest rates and inflation. Liquidity risk is the risk that financial conditions are adversely affected by an inability, or
perceived inability, to meet obligations and support business growth. Strategic risk is the risk from changes in the business environment, improper
implementation of decisions or inadequate responsiveness to changes in the business environment. Operational risk is the risk of loss arising from inadequate
or failed processes, people or systems, external events (e.g., natural disasters), compliance, reputational or legal matters and includes those risks as they relate
directly to Sunlight as well as to third parties with whom Sunlight contracts or otherwise does business.
Management of Sunlight’s risks depends, in part, upon the use of analytical and forecasting models. If these models are ineffective at predicting future losses or
are otherwise inadequate, Sunlight may incur unexpected losses or otherwise be adversely affected. In addition, the information Sunlight uses in managing its
credit and other risks may be inaccurate or incomplete as a result of error or fraud, both of which may be difficult to detect and avoid. There also may be risks
that exist, or that develop in the future, that Sunlight has not appropriately anticipated, identified or mitigated, including when processes are changed or new
products and services are introduced. If Sunlight’s risk management framework does not effectively identify and control its risks, Sunlight could suffer
unexpected losses or be adversely affected, which could have a material adverse effect on its business, results of operations and financial condition.
To the extent that Sunlight seeks to grow or strengthen its business and competitive position through future acquisitions, or other strategic
investments, transactions or alliances, Sunlight may not be able to do so effectively.
Sunlight may in the future seek to grow its business by exploring potential acquisitions or other strategic investments, transactions or alliances. Sunlight may
not be successful in identifying businesses or opportunities that meet its acquisition, expansion or partnership criteria. In addition, even if a potential acquisition
target or other strategic investment or transaction is identified, Sunlight may not be successful in completing such acquisition, transaction, or integrating such
new business or other investment in a way that allows Sunlight to realize the full benefits from such acquisition or transaction. Sunlight may face significant
competition for acquisition and other strategic transaction or investment opportunities from other well-capitalized companies, many of which have greater
financial resources and greater access to debt and equity capital to secure and complete acquisitions or other strategic investments. As a result of such
competition, Sunlight may be unable to acquire certain assets or businesses, or take advantage of other strategic transaction or investment opportunities that
Sunlight deems attractive; the purchase price for a given strategic opportunity may be significantly elevated; or certain other terms or circumstances may be
substantially more onerous. Any delay or failure on Sunlight’s part to identify, negotiate, finance on favorable terms, consummate and integrate any such
acquisition, or other strategic investment, transaction or opportunity could impede Sunlight’s growth or negatively impact its business, results of operations and
financial condition.
Even if Sunlight completes future acquisitions or strategic transactions, it may not ultimately strengthen its competitive position or achieve its goals and business
strategy; Sunlight may be subject to claims or liabilities assumed from an
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acquired company, product, or technology; acquisitions or strategic transactions Sunlight completes could be viewed negatively by its customers, investors, and
securities analysts; and Sunlight may incur costs and expenses necessary to address such concerns and/or an acquired company’s failure to comply with laws
and governmental rules and regulations, including litigation expenses. Additionally, Sunlight may be subject to litigation or other claims in connection with the
acquired company or any completed strategic transaction, including claims from terminated employees, former or existing stockholders or other third parties,
which may differ from or be more significant than the risks Sunlight’s business faces. If Sunlight is unsuccessful at integrating future acquisitions, or the
technologies and operations associated with such acquisitions, or completing desirable strategic investments or transactions, in a timely manner, the revenue
and operating results Sunlight or, in the case of an acquisition, of the combined company, could be adversely affected. Any integration or strategic investment
or transaction process may require significant time and resources, which may disrupt Sunlight’s ongoing business and divert management’s attention, and
Sunlight may not be able to manage the integration or strategic investment or transaction process successfully or in a timely manner. Sunlight may not
successfully evaluate or utilize the acquired technology or personnel, realize anticipated synergies from the acquisition, or accurately forecast the financial
impact of an acquisition transaction and integration of such acquisition or strategic investment or transaction, including accounting charges and any potential
impairment of goodwill and intangible assets recognized in connection with such acquisitions or strategic investments or transactions. Sunlight may have to pay
cash, incur debt, or issue equity or equity-linked securities to pay for any future acquisitions, strategic investments or transaction, each of which could adversely
affect its financial condition, the market price or continued public listing of its Class A Common Stock. Furthermore, the sale of equity or issuance of equitylinked debt to finance any future acquisitions, strategic investments or transactions, could result in dilution to Sunlight’s stockholders. The occurrence of any of
these risks could harm Sunlight’s business, operating results, and financial condition.
Risks Related to the Solar Energy Generation Industry
A material reduction in the retail price of electricity charged by electric utilities, other retail electricity providers or other energy sources as
compared to potential savings for purchasing and using a solar system or an increase in pricing for purchasing and using a solar system above the
cost of other energy sources could result in a lower demand for solar systems, which could have an adverse impact on Sunlight’s business, results
of operations and financial condition.
Decreases in the retail price of electricity from electric utilities, from other retail electricity providers or other sources of energy, currently existing or as may be
developed, including other renewable energy sources, as compared to the potential price of purchasing a solar system using solar system loan financing, could
make solar systems less economically attractive to consumers. Reductions in consumer costs associated with traditional or other sources of power may stem
from an increase in availability due to an increase in generation of such power sources, a legislated reduction in rates or special programs offered to consumers
among other potential industry shifts.
Similarly, an increase in pricing associated with purchasing a solar system financed with a loan as compared to the cost to consumers of other power sources,
or the cost to consumers of using a solar system pursuant to solar power purchase agreements or leases, could reduce demand for solar systems. Sunlight’s
business has benefited from the declining cost of solar system components, which has been a key driver in consumer adoption of solar systems. To the extent
such costs stabilize, decline at a slower rate or increase, Sunlight’s future growth may be negatively impacted. An increase in cost to the consumer purchasing a
solar system financed by a loan could be as a result of, among others:
• a decline or delay in raw materials available to manufacture the various components of solar systems;
• an increase in tariff penalties or duties on components of solar systems imported from other countries, which could also increase the pricing of
components produced domestically associated with an increase in demand for such components;
• the expiration or unavailability of, or adverse changes in, economic or governmental incentives, including those in the form of tax credits, grants or similar
programs, which may expire on a particular date, end when the allocated funding is exhausted, or be reduced or terminated as a matter of regulatory or
legislative policy, or other factors that have the impact of decreasing the ultimate price of purchasing or using a solar system to the consumer;
• adverse changes in the rules related to net metering by which residential solar systems are paid (via a reduction in the homeowner/consumer’s utility bill)
for power returned by the homeowner to the local power grid from operation of the homeowner’s residential solar system;
• a shortage of skilled labor to install solar systems, which could have the impact of increasing demand on existing skilled labor and increasing the cost of
installation of solar systems;
• an increase in costs associated with contractor infrastructure, including as related to the potential for additional regulation, lawsuits or other unforeseen
developments; and
• an increase in interest rates that Sunlight’s capital providers charge consumers on loan products offered through Sunlight for financing residential solar
systems.
91

A decrease in the price of traditional power sources or other renewable energy sources that make such sources cost less to the consumer than the purchase of
a solar system with loan financing or an increase in prices to purchase a solar system with loan financing could decrease the attractiveness of the purchase and
installation of such systems by consumers, which in turn may slow Sunlight’s growth and have an adverse impact on its business and results of operations.
The residential solar system loan industry and the home improvement industry are subject to seasonality and other industry factors that may cause
Sunlight’s operating results and its ability to grow to fluctuate from quarter to quarter and year to year. These fluctuations may cause Sunlight’s
future performance to be difficult to predict and cause its operating results for a particular period to fall below expectations.
Sunlight’s quarterly and annual operating results are subject to seasonality and other factors that make them difficult to predict and may fluctuate significantly in
the future. Sunlight has experienced seasonal and quarterly fluctuations in the past and expects to experience such fluctuations in the future. In addition,
Sunlight believes that the impacts of climate change will result in further unpredictability as related to the seasonality of the residential solar system and home
improvement-related industries, including the related financing industry. Credit applications generally peak for a given year during the summer and are at their
lowest point toward the end of the year. Because of the lag between credit applications and installation, fundings generally peak toward the end of the year and
are at their lowest point during the spring. In addition to the other risks described herein, the following factors could cause Sunlight’s operating results to
fluctuate:
• expiration or initiation of any governmental rebates or incentives;
• significant fluctuations in consumer demand for solar systems and/or home improvements;
• Sunlight’s contractors’ ability to complete installations of solar systems and/or home improvements in a timely manner;
• financial market fluctuations that may impact the availability of desirable solar system and/or home improvement loan products for consumers or increase
the cost of capital to Sunlight, thereby decreasing Sunlight’s margins;
• actual or anticipated developments in Sunlight’s competitors’ businesses, technology, loan products, pricing or other initiatives relevant to the solar
system or home improvement lending competitive landscape;
• natural disasters or other weather or meteorological conditions impacting solar system or home improvement industries; and
• general economic downturns, which could negatively impact the availability of, or cost of, capital, including in response to rising delinquencies and
defaults in the market, thereby making it more difficult for Sunlight to originate loans or to do so on economic terms that are favorable to Sunlight.
For these or other reasons, the results of any prior quarterly or annual periods should not be relied upon as indications of Sunlight’s future performance.
The reduction, modification or elimination of government incentives could cause our revenue to decline and harm our financial results.
The market for on-grid applications, where solar power is used to supplement a customer’s electricity purchased from the utility network or sold to a utility under
tariff, depends in large part on the availability and size of government mandates and economic incentives because, at present, the cost of solar power generally
exceeds retail electric rates in many locations and wholesale peak power rates in some locations. Incentives and mandates vary by geographic market. Various
government bodies in most of the countries where we do business have provided incentives in the form of feed-in tariffs, rebates, and tax credits and other
incentives and mandates, such as renewable portfolio standards and net metering, to end-users, distributors, system integrators, and manufacturers of solar
power products to promote the use of solar energy in on-grid applications and to reduce dependency on other forms of energy. These various forms of support
for solar power are subject to change (as, for example, occurred in 2015 with Nevada’s decision to change net energy metering; in 2017 with California's
adoption of new time-of-use rates that reduced the price paid to solar system owners for mid-day electricity production; in 2020 with California's adoption of
building standards requiring the installation of solar systems on new homes; and though not currently enacted, net metering policy changes designed to
materially reduce the benefit available under net metering were proposed in the states of California (which may be voted on in December 2022) and Florida
(where the proposal was vetoed in April 2022), and are expected in the longer term to decline. Even changes that may be viewed as positive (such as
extensions of U.S. tax credits related to solar power) can have negative effects if they result, for example, in delaying purchases that otherwise might have been
made before expiration or scheduled reductions in such credits. Governmental decisions regarding the provision of economic incentives often depend on
political and economic factors that we cannot predict and that are beyond our control. The reduction, modification, or elimination of grid access, government
mandates, or economic incentives in one or more of our customer markets would materially and adversely affect the growth of such markets or result in
increased price competition, either of which could cause our revenue to decline and materially adversely affect our business and financial results.
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Existing regulations and policies and changes to these regulations and policies may present technical, regulatory, and economic barriers to the
purchase and use of solar power products, which may significantly reduce demand for our loan products and services.
The market for electric generation products is heavily influenced by federal, state, and local government laws, regulations, and policies concerning the electric
utility industry in the United States and abroad, as well as policies promulgated by electric utilities. These regulations and policies often relate to electricity
pricing and technical interconnection of customer-owned electricity generation, and changes that make solar power less competitive with other power sources
could deter investment in the research and development of alternative energy sources as well as customer purchases of solar power technology, which could in
turn result in a significant reduction in the demand for our loan products and services. The market for electric generation equipment is also influenced by trade
and local content laws, regulations, and policies that can discourage growth and competition in the solar industry and create economic barriers to the purchase
of solar power products, thus reducing demand for our loan products. In addition, on-grid applications depend on access to the grid, which is also regulated by
government entities. We anticipate that solar power products and their installation will continue to be subject to oversight and regulation in accordance with
federal, state, local, and foreign regulations relating to construction, safety, environmental protection, utility interconnection and metering, trade, and related
matters. Any new regulations or policies pertaining to solar power products may result in significant additional expenses to our business partners and our
customers, which could cause a significant reduction in demand for our loan products.
Because Sunlight’s business is heavily concentrated on consumer lending in the U.S. solar system and home improvement industries, Sunlight’s
results are more susceptible to fluctuations in those markets than a more diversified company would be.
Sunlight’s business is currently concentrated on supporting consumer lending in the U.S. solar system and home improvement industries. As a result, Sunlight
is more susceptible to fluctuations and risks particular to U.S. consumer credit than a more diversified company would be, and more specifically as to factors that
may drive the demand for solar systems and home improvements. Sunlight’s business concentration could have an adverse effect on its business, results of
operations and financial condition.
The industries that Sunlight operates in are highly competitive and are likely to become more competitive. Additionally, if new entrants join these
markets who have ready access to cheaper capital, competing successfully would become more difficult for Sunlight. Sunlight’s inability to compete
successfully or maintain or improve Sunlight’s market share and margins could adversely affect its business.
The consumer lending industry is highly competitive and increasingly dynamic as emerging technologies continue to enter the marketplace. Technological
advances and heightened e-commerce activities have increased consumers’ accessibility to products and services, which has intensified the desirability of
offering loans to consumers through digital-based solutions. Sunlight faces competition in areas such as financing terms, promotional offerings, fees, approval
rates, speed and simplicity of loan origination, ease-of-use, marketing expertise, service levels, products and services, technological capabilities and integration,
customer service and support, compliance capabilities, brand and reputation. Sunlight’s existing and potential competitors may decide to modify their pricing
and business models to compete more directly with Sunlight’s model or offer similar promotions and ancillary services. If Sunlight is unable to compete
effectively to attract contractors to sell Sunlight loans to their consumer customers, Sunlight’s results of operations and financial condition could be materially
adversely affected.
Sunlight’s success in the residential solar systems point of sale lending industry is in part due to Sunlight’s low cost of capital. While the barriers to entry in this
business are high, if new entrants with access to cheaper capital enter the market, such as a depository institution whether organically or through acquisition of
Sunlight competitors (thereby giving Sunlight competitors access to lower cost capital), competing could become more difficult for Sunlight. A new market
entrant with a lower cost of capital could discount pricing to a level below which Sunlight would be able to match and maintain its margins or such entrant could
maintain pricing but make more revenue on each loan. Sunlight’s inability to compete successfully with these tactics by lowering its own cost of capital or
competing on other terms that are valuable to solar systems contractors such as user-friendly, best-in-market technology or by providing valuable ancillary
services, could materially negatively impact Sunlight’s business.
Risks Related to Sunlight’s Technology and Intellectual Property
Developments in technology or improvements in the solar energy generation industry, including energy storage and distributed solar power, may
adversely affect demand for Sunlight’s loans.
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Significant developments in technology, such as advances in distributed solar power generation, energy storage solutions such as batteries, energy storage
management systems, the widespread use or adoption of fuel cells for residential properties or improvements in other forms of distributed or centralized power
production may materially and adversely affect demand for solar systems and, in turn, the demand for loans originated through Sunlight’s Platform, which may
negatively impact Sunlight’s business, results of operations and financial condition.
Additionally, recent technological advancements may impact Sunlight’s business in ways Sunlight does not currently anticipate. Any failure by Sunlight to adopt
or have access to assist consumers to finance new or enhanced technologies or processes, or to react to changes in existing technologies, could have a
material adverse effect on Sunlight’s business, results of operations and financial condition.
Cyber-attacks and other security breaches could have an adverse effect on Sunlight’s business.
In the normal course of Sunlight’s business, Sunlight collects, processes and retains sensitive and nonpublic personal consumer information. Although Sunlight
devotes significant resources and management focus to ensuring the integrity of its systems through information security and business continuity programs,
Sunlight’s facilities and information technology systems, and those of capital providers, contractors and third-party service providers, may be subjected to
external or internal security breaches and cyber-attacks, acts of vandalism, computer viruses, misplaced or lost data, programming or human errors and other
similar events that result in the disclosure of sensitive and confidential information. Sunlight also faces security threats from malicious third parties that could
attempt to obtain unauthorized access to Sunlight systems and networks, which threats have increased significantly in recent years and which Sunlight
anticipates will continue to grow in scope and complexity over time. These events could interrupt Sunlight’s business and/or operations, result in significant legal
and financial exposure, supervisory liability, other government or regulatory fines and penalties, damage to its reputation and a loss of confidence in the security
of Sunlight’s systems and ability to facilitate the origination of loans. Although Sunlight has not experienced such adverse events to date, no assurance can be
given that these events will not have a material adverse effect on Sunlight in the future.
Information security risks in the financial services industry have increased recently, in part because of new technologies, the use of the internet and
telecommunications technologies (including mobile devices) to conduct financial and other business transactions and the increased sophistication and activities
of organized criminals, perpetrators of fraud, hackers, terrorists and others. In addition to cyber-attacks and other security breaches involving the theft of
sensitive and confidential information, hackers recently have engaged in attacks that are designed to disrupt key business services, such as consumer-facing
websites. Sunlight, contractors, capital providers and vendors may not be able to anticipate or implement effective preventive measures against all security
breaches of these types, especially because the techniques used change frequently and because attacks can originate from a wide variety of sources. Sunlight
employs detection and response mechanisms designed to contain and mitigate security incidents. Nonetheless, early detection efforts may be thwarted by
sophisticated attacks and malware designed to avoid detection. Sunlight also may fail to detect the existence of a security breach related to the information of
capital providers, contractors and consumers that Sunlight retains as part of its business and may be unable to prevent unauthorized access to that information.
Sunlight also faces risks related to cyber-attacks and other security breaches that typically involve the transmission of sensitive information regarding borrowers
through various third parties, including Sunlight’s various service providers engaged to support Sunlight’s underwriting and other technological and operational
processes. Because Sunlight does not control these third parties or oversee the security of their systems, future security breaches or cyber-attacks affecting
any of these third parties could impact Sunlight through no fault of its own, and in some cases Sunlight may have exposure and suffer losses for breaches or
attacks relating to them. While Sunlight regularly conducts security assessments of significant third-party service providers, no assurance is given that Sunlight’s
third-party information security protocols are sufficient to prevent a service provider from experiencing a cyber-attack or other security breach.
Disruptions in the operation of Sunlight’s computer systems and those of its critical third-party service providers and capital providers could have
an adverse effect on Sunlight’s business.
Sunlight’s ability to facilitate the origination of loans and otherwise operate Sunlight’s business and comply with applicable laws depends on the efficient and
uninterrupted operation of Sunlight’s computer systems and critical third-party service providers that support these processes. These Sunlight or third-party
computer systems may encounter service interruptions at any time due to system or software failure, natural disasters, severe weather conditions, health
pandemics, terrorist attacks, cyber-attacks or other events. Any of such catastrophes could have a negative effect on Sunlight’s business and technology
infrastructure (including its computer network systems). Catastrophic events could also impact public agencies that provide permitting or other related services
and prevent or make it more difficult for contractors to install solar systems, and could interrupt or disable local or national communications networks, including
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payment networks and capital provider’s ability to fund loans. All of these adverse effects of catastrophic events could result in an inability for Sunlight to meet
its funding obligations with respect to existing loan applications or for Sunlight to originate new loans, which could have a material adverse effect on Sunlight’s
business.
In addition, the implementation of technology changes and upgrades to maintain current and integrate new systems may cause service interruptions, transaction
processing errors or system conversion delays and may cause Sunlight to fail to comply in a timely manner with its agreements with applicable laws, all of
which could have a material adverse effect on Sunlight’s business. Sunlight expects that new technologies and business processes applicable to the point of
sale consumer loan industry will continue to emerge. There can be no assurance that Sunlight will be able to successfully adopt new technology as critical
systems and applications become obsolete and better systems, applications and processes become available. A failure to maintain or improve current
technology and business processes could cause disruptions in Sunlight’s operations or cause its solution to be less competitive, all of which could have a
material adverse effect on its business, results of operations and financial condition.
Sunlight may be unable to sufficiently protect its proprietary rights, trade secrets and intellectual property, and may encounter disputes from time to
time relating to its use of the intellectual property of third parties.
Sunlight relies on a combination of patents, trademarks, service marks, copyrights, trade secrets, domain names and agreements with employees and third
parties to protect its proprietary rights. Unauthorized individuals may attempt to duplicate or copy the proprietary aspects of its technology and processes.
Sunlight’s competitors and other third parties independently may design around or develop similar technology or otherwise duplicate Sunlight’s services or
products. In addition, though Sunlight has restrictive covenant agreements in place that are intended to protect its intellectual property, trade secrets and
confidential and proprietary information (“Proprietary Information”) or provide a remedy in the event of an unauthorized disclosure, these agreements may not
prevent misappropriation of Sunlight’s Proprietary Information or infringement of Sunlight’s intellectual property and the resulting loss of competitive advantage,
and Sunlight may be required to litigate to protect its intellectual property and Proprietary Information from misappropriation or infringement by others, which
may be expensive, could cause a diversion of resources and may not be successful.
Sunlight also may encounter disputes from time to time concerning intellectual property rights of others, and it may not prevail in these disputes. Third parties
may raise claims against Sunlight alleging that Sunlight, or consultants or other third parties retained or indemnified by Sunlight, infringe on their intellectual
property rights. Some third-party intellectual property rights may be extremely broad, and it may not be possible for Sunlight to conduct its operations in such a
way as to avoid all alleged violations of such intellectual property rights. Given the complex, rapidly changing and competitive technological and business
environment in which Sunlight operates, and the potential risks and uncertainties of intellectual property-related litigation, an assertion of an infringement claim
against Sunlight may cause Sunlight to spend significant amounts to defend the claim, even if Sunlight ultimately prevails. If Sunlight does not prevail, Sunlight
may be required to pay significant money damages, suffer losses of significant revenues, be prohibited from using the relevant systems, processes,
technologies or other intellectual property (temporarily or permanently), be required to cease offering certain products or services, or incur significant license,
royalty or technology development expenses.
In addition, although in some cases a third party may have agreed to indemnify Sunlight for such costs, such indemnifying party may refuse or be unable to
uphold its contractual obligations. In other cases, insurance may not cover potential claims of this type adequately or at all, and Sunlight may be required to pay
monetary damages, which may be significant.
Some aspects of the Sunlight Platform and processes include open source software, and any failure to comply with the terms of one or more of
these open source licenses could negatively affect its business.
Aspects of the Sunlight Platform include software covered by open source licenses. The terms of various open source licenses have not been interpreted by
United States courts, and such licenses could be construed in a manner that imposes unanticipated conditions or restrictions on Sunlight’s Platform. If portions
of Sunlight’s proprietary software are determined to be subject to an open source license, Sunlight could be required to publicly release the affected portions of
source code, re-engineer all or a portion of its technologies or otherwise be limited in the licensing of technologies, each of which could reduce or eliminate the
value of Sunlight’s technologies. In addition to risks related to license requirements, usage of open source software can lead to greater risks than use of thirdparty commercial software because open source licensors generally do not provide warranties or controls on the origin of the software. Many of the risks
associated with the use of open source software cannot be eliminated and could adversely affect Sunlight’s business, results of operations and financial
condition.
Contractor and Capital Provider-Related Risks
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Sunlight’s growth is dependent on its contractor network and in turn the quality of the products and services they provide to their customers, and
Sunlight’s failure to retain or replace existing contractors, to grow its contractor network or the number of Sunlight loans offered through its
existing network, or increases in loan delinquencies due to any deficiencies in Sunlight’s contractor underwriting practices, could adversely impact
Sunlight’s business.
Solar system and home improvement loans are offered through Sunlight to Sunlight’s contractor networks to such contractors’ consumer customers who buy
solar systems or home improvements. In order to continue to grow, Sunlight will need to further expand its contractor networks. Sunlight is subject to significant
competition for the recruitment and retention of contractors from its current competitors and new entrants to the solar system loan and home improvement loan
markets, and Sunlight may not be able to recruit new or replacement contractors in the future, or expand its loan volume with existing contractors, at a rate
required to produce projected growth.
Sunlight competes for contractors with solar system and home improvement lenders primarily based on scope of loan product offerings that respond to
consumer demand, pricing to the contractors (“OID”), user friendliness of Sunlight’s technology (Orange®) and other processes to make the loan sale process
efficient and individualized in service and responsiveness. Sunlight does not have any exclusivity agreements with its contractors. Accordingly, there can be no
assurance that Sunlight will be able to maintain its current contractor relationships. Sunlight may lose existing contractors that represent a significant portion of
Sunlight’s business, and there is no guarantee that Sunlight would be able to engage replacement contractors on terms similar to its existing contractors, or at
all.
Additionally, dependence on any one contractor or small group of contractors creates concentration risk, particularly in the event that any such contractor elects
to terminate its relationship with Sunlight, experiences business disruption, a business failure or bankruptcy, or fails to supply, or perform the installation of, the
solar system or home improvement product to the satisfaction of the customer, any of which may result in potential loan defaults which could have a material
adverse impact on Sunlight’s results of operations. For example, in May 2021, Sunlight was advised by a significant contractor that it would discontinue use of
Sunlight’s platform to source solar loans effective immediately. This contractor accounted for approximately 6.7% and, due to continuing pull-through after the
discontinuation date, 9.5% of Sunlight’s total funded loan volumes during the years ended December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2021, respectively. In
addition, in September 2022, one of Sunlight’s largest contractors ceased operations. This contractor accounted for approximately 7.4% and 9.1% of Sunlight’s
total funded loan volumes during the years ended December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2021.
For the fiscal years ended December 31, 2019, December 31, 2020, and December 31, 2021, Sunlight’s top ten contractors accounted for approximately 46%,
42%, and 45% of the total funded loan volumes for such periods, respectively.
Sunlight’s capital advance program exposes it to potential losses in the event that a contractor fails to fully perform under its agreements with
Sunlight or becomes insolvent prior to completion of the underlying installation or construction, which losses could have an adverse impact on
Sunlight’s business, results of operations and financial condition.
Sunlight maintains a primarily short-term capital advance program with certain contractors that provides such contractors with up-front working capital to pay for
certain expenses for installation or the construction of solar systems and home improvements. Such capital advances may be paid to contractors prior to the
commencement of such installation or construction, or at specified periods during the installation or construction process. The aggregate amount of advances
available to a given contractor is based on a risk evaluation and tiering conducted by Sunlight’s commercial risk team that performs contractor underwriting
generally, as well as additional oversight and periodic monitoring requirements, which may not be able to fully address all risks which could result in insufficient
underwriting thereby resulting in an adverse impact to Sunlight’s business, results of operations and financial condition. In addition, at any time prior to
completion of installation or construction of solar systems or home improvements, Sunlight is at risk for defaults if a contractor to whom such advances have
been made fails to fully perform under its agreements with Sunlight or becomes insolvent prior to the completion of installation or construction. The ability of, or
failure of, contractors to fully perform or maintain their solvency depends on a number of factors, including, but not limited to, changes in economic conditions,
adverse trends or events affecting the solar system and home improvement industries, lack of availability of, and/or access to, as well as increases in the cost
of, materials or labor for the installation or construction of solar systems or home improvements, due to global supply chain shortages and the increase in
competition for skilled labor, permitting delays, natural disasters and management and cash flow levels. As of December 31, 2020, Sunlight had an aggregate of
$35.4 million of outstanding advances to 141 contractors. Approximately 60.1% of those advances were made to four of Sunlight’s largest contractor
relationships in terms of funded loan volume. As of December 31, 2021, Sunlight had an aggregate of $67.1 million of outstanding advances to 170 contractors.
Approximately 71.6% of those advances were made to five of Sunlight’s largest
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contractor relationships in terms of funded loan volume. In the event that one or more contractors who receive such capital advances are unable to fully perform
under their agreements with Sunlight or maintain their solvency, Sunlight has and may in the future lose a portion or all of the funds advanced to such
contractor, need to modify the provisions of the capital advance program with such contractor on materially less favorable terms to Sunlight, incur additional
operational, maintenance or legal expenses, or become subject to additional regulatory inquiries or potential litigation, any of which may have an adverse
impact on Sunlight’s business, results of operations and financial condition. In September 2022, one of Sunlight’s largest contractors became insolvent, primarily
driven by solar installation challenges that led to the contractor’s liquidity issues. As a result, Sunlight determined that it is probable Sunlight would be unable to
collect all amounts owed according to the contractual terms and charged off $32.4 million in Advances. While Sunlight has completed reunderwriting of its
advance program contractors, and does so on a recurring basis, there can be no assurance that future losses with respect to Sunlight’s advance program will
not occur, that future modifications to Sunlight’s advance program will not be required, or that future additional operational, maintenance expenses, or legal
expenses will not be incurred, any of which may have an adverse impact on Sunlight’s business, results of operations and financial condition.
Further, Sunlight advances funding payments to contractors in order to ensure payment to its contractors within 24 hours. If a capital provider fails to reimburse
Sunlight for such advances as anticipated, Sunlight may need to write-off such advances, subjecting Sunlight to consumer credit risk. Alternatively, if the
contractor funded by Sunlight declares bankruptcy prior to Sunlight being reimbursed, the capital provider is not likely to fund the loan and reimburse Sunlight.
Sunlight could be subject to losses if the consumers borrowing funds from Sunlight under these loans do not pay as and when required.
If contractors fail to fulfill their obligations to consumers or fail to comply with applicable law, Sunlight may incur remediation costs.
Although Sunlight’s contractors are obligated to fulfill their contractual commitments to consumers and to comply with applicable law, including in marketing their
products and in describing the terms of loans facilitated by Sunlight from third-party lenders to the consumer, from time to time, contractors might not, or a
consumer might allege, that they did not. This, in turn, can result in regulatory inquiries or claims or defenses against Sunlight’s originating bank partners, a loan
purchaser, or in some cases Sunlight, even though Sunlight is not the lender or “holder” of the loan, or in loans being deemed uncollectible by the lender or loan
purchaser due to the Federal Trade Commission’s Holder in Due Course Rule (the “Holder Rule”), or equivalent state laws. The Holder Rule requires the
inclusion of a specific notice in consumer credit contracts evidencing debts arising from purchase money loan transactions. The notice provides that the holder
of the consumer credit contract is subject to all claims and defenses which the debtor could assert against the seller of goods or services obtained with the
proceeds of the consumer credit contract. In those cases where Sunlight is brought into such claims, Sunlight may decide that it is beneficial to remediate the
situation, through assisting the consumers to get a refund, working with Sunlight’s originating bank partners to modify the terms of the loan or reduce the
amount due, or through making a payment to the consumer, or otherwise. Historically, the cost of remediation has not been material to our business, but we
make no assurance that it will not be in the future.
Sunlight’s rebate program with certain of its contractors may be utilized by such contractors to a greater degree in certain periods, resulting in
decreased fee income from its contractor partners, which could have a material adverse impact on Sunlight’s revenues during those periods.
Sunlight offers rebates to certain of its contractor partners in exchange for volume commitments. In general, the contractors with these rebate arrangements
realize a rebate on funded loans originated over an agreed period of time (for example, one year) provided that the agreed volume of funded loan origination
was achieved by that contractor. Sunlight accrues for such rebates on a quarterly basis based on the estimated amount of the rebate, but the accrual may be
less than the actual rebate earned by a contractor or contractors when the rebate is required to be paid if volume is higher than anticipated in certain periods. If
that occurs, Sunlight may be required to record a charge for rebates that is larger than would be the case if its accrual matched the rebates actually earned. If
such a charge occurs, Sunlight’s revenues for the applicable quarterly period may be adversely impacted.
Loans originated through Sunlight’s technology platform (Orange®) are originated by third-party capital providers. As Sunlight continues to grow,
Sunlight will need to either expand the commitments of its existing capital providers or find additional capital providers to fund additional volume.
Sunlight’s inability to identify capital provider sources for new loan volume or to replace loan volume funding capacity should a capital provider
elect to terminate its relationship with Sunlight could have a material adverse impact on Sunlight’s growth.
Sunlight relies on third-party capital providers to originate solar system and home improvement loans through Sunlight’s Platform to third party borrowers. As
Sunlight’s business grows, Sunlight will need additional funding sources for those
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loans to third party borrowers, either from its existing capital providers or by entering into program funding agreements with new capital providers. Sunlight’s
failure to obtain additional funding commitments in an amount needed to fund its projected loan volume, or Sunlight’s failure to extend its existing commitments
or identify new capital providers on economic terms similar to or better than what Sunlight currently has with its existing capital providers, could have a material
adverse impact on Sunlight’s business, results of operations and financial condition.
Additionally, Sunlight’s funding program agreements generally have automatic renewal provisions, but Sunlight cannot predict whether a capital provider will
elect to terminate their commitment in the future. Many factors may influence the ability or willingness of Sunlight’s existing capital providers to renew their
annual capital commitments and the terms on which such renewals are made, including, but not limited to, changes in economic conditions, including credit
markets and interest rates, adverse trends or events affecting the lending industry or industries that Sunlight serves, changes in strategy by capital providers,
the overall attractiveness of the returns that may be realized from solar system or home improvement loans by capital providers from their relationship with
Sunlight, Sunlight’s performance and the performance of loans originated through Sunlight’s Platform and changes in legislation and regulations that affect
Sunlight or capital providers. Sunlight cannot predict its third-party capital providers’ appetite to continue originating solar system or home improvement loans or
other risks to such parties businesses that could cause any such party to not renew their loan funding program with Sunlight.
In addition, Sunlight’s funding program agreements contain covenants and agreements relating to the origination of loans on such providers’ balance sheets. If
Sunlight materially breaches these conditions and fails to cure them in the time allotted, the relevant capital provider may terminate its relationship with Sunlight.
Such covenants and agreements generally include, among others, obligations related to funding volumes, concentration limits on certain loan products, FICO
score requirements, agreements related to Sunlight’s legal compliance in the origination process, underwriting requirements, milestone payment requirements
and data privacy requirements. If Sunlight were to breach one or more of the covenants and the relevant existing capital provider elects to terminate its
relationship with Sunlight and Sunlight is unable to procure alternative agreements with new capital providers or increase commitments from other existing
capital providers in a timely manner and on acceptable terms, or at all, Sunlight’s results of operations could be materially and adversely affected.
Dependence by Sunlight on one capital provider or a group of similarly situated capital providers that would be impacted similarly by market factors subjects
Sunlight to concentration risk. In 2019, 2020, and 2021, respectively, one capital provider, Technology Credit Union, funded 48.9%, 47.4%, and 29.4% of
Sunlight’s funded solar system loan volume. Also, although in separate geographical jurisdictions, in those same years, 73.9%, 84.3%, and 74.4%, respectively,
of Sunlight’s total solar system loan volume was funded by credit unions, which could have similar market, regulatory or other risks that could simultaneously
impact their ability to continue to originate solar system loans through Sunlight. Sunlight’s continued growth could be materially and adversely affected if this or
any other of its capital providers or a group of them were not able to or determined not to continue to fund solar loans facilitated by Sunlight, and Sunlight was
not able to attract additional capital providers to replace that funding capacity. Capital providers could determine to stop funding solar loans for different reasons
that are outside of Sunlight’s control such as a desire to diversify their own asset bases, changes in the market or regulatory requirements or other
circumstances.
Sunlight is subject to regular audits by its capital providers and their regulators, as well as certain other parties closely involved in Sunlight’s
processes, such as credit bureaus. If Sunlight does not “pass” these audits, Sunlight could suffer reputational damage that will make it more
difficult to engage capital providers or extend its current relationships on positive economic terms to Sunlight, which could negatively impact
Sunlight’s business and financial condition.
Sunlight is subject to regular audits by its capital providers and their regulators, as well as certain other parties closely involved in Sunlight’s processes, such as
credit bureaus. These audits are broad and include reviews of Sunlight’s consumer protection law policies and procedures, privacy practices, information
technology security measures, human resources practices and other areas of operation. If Sunlight does not “pass” these audits or Sunlight’s performance is
deemed weak or significant deficiencies are identified, Sunlight could suffer reputational damage. Sunlight’s existing capital providers may be less willing to
extend the terms of their existing agreements or may elect to increase the cost of capital to Sunlight if it perceives these issues as increasing their risk. These
issues may also make it more difficult for Sunlight to engage new capital providers on positive economic terms to Sunlight. Further, if third parties critical to
Sunlight’s operations should find Sunlight’s audit results concerning, they may not be willing to continue to partner with Sunlight. If these critical parties are not
willing to continue to partner with Sunlight, Sunlight may need to alter its operations in a manner that has a negative impact on its business or Sunlight may
experience business disruption while it seeks to find a replacement vendor (which, if identified, may not be available to Sunlight on positive economic terms)
that could negatively impact Sunlight’s business and financial condition.
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Contractor and marketplace confidence in Sunlight’s liquidity and long-term business prospects is important for building and maintaining Sunlight’s
business. Additionally, if Sunlight experiences negative publicity, it may lose the confidence of its funding providers, capital providers and
contractors and Sunlight’s business may suffer.
Sunlight’s financial condition, operating results and business prospects may suffer materially if it is unable to establish and maintain confidence about its liquidity
and long-term business prospects among contractors, consumers and within Sunlight’s industry. Sunlight’s contractor network is Sunlight’s distribution channel
for the loans originated through Orange® and therefore serves as the means by which Sunlight is able to rapidly and successfully expand within existing and
prospective markets. Contractors and other third parties will be less likely to enter into agreements with Sunlight if they are uncertain if Sunlight will be able to
make payments on time, its business will succeed or its operations will continue for many years. Sunlight may not succeed in its efforts to build this confidence.
Sunlight relies on a number of third-party service providers and vendors, and if certain of those vendors are unable or unwilling to provide their
services or products, Sunlight may experience meaningful harm to its business, results of operations and financial condition.
Sunlight has established a process whereby it evaluates each vendor to determine if such vendor is “critical” to Sunlight’s business. Sunlight defines “critical” as
a vendor that, if unwilling or unable to provide its services or products to Sunlight for seven days, would potentially cause Sunlight to experience material harm
to its business. Sunlight currently has 23 vendors qualified as critical. Most of these critical vendors relate to services provided to support Orange® and other
related technology. No assurance can be given that any vendor critical to Sunlight’s business will not experience a prolonged business or system disruption,
financial difficulties, including potential bankruptcy, or other circumstances that could cause such vendor to be unable to perform under its contract with
Sunlight. Further, Sunlight cannot predict whether any critical vendor would choose to breach an agreement or not renew a contract in an effort to increase
pricing or otherwise that a dispute will not occur between Sunlight and a critical vendor. If any of these events do occur, Sunlight will need to find a replacement
and integrate such replacement vendor quickly. If Sunlight cannot locate an adequate replacement or cannot integrate the replacement vendor services quickly,
Sunlight may have to alter its operations or experience business disruption itself, which would likely have a material adverse impact on Sunlight’s business,
results of operations and financial condition.
Financial and Accounting-Related Risks
Sunlight’s projections are subject to significant risks, assumptions, estimates and uncertainties. As a result, Sunlight’s projected revenues, market
share, expenses, profitability and any guidance it may publish from time to time may differ materially from its expectations.
Sunlight operates in a rapidly changing and competitive industries and Sunlight’s projections will be subject to the risks and assumptions made by management
with respect to its industry. Operating results are difficult to forecast because they generally depend on a number of factors, including competition, Sunlight’s
ability to attract and retain capital providers and contractors, general industry trends and financial market considerations. Additionally, as described under “—
Sunlight’s revenue is impacted, to a significant extent, by the general economy, including supply chain disruptions, and the financial performance of its capital
providers and contractors,” Sunlight’s business may be affected by reductions in consumer spending or loan volume capacity from time to time as a result of a
number of factors that may be difficult to predict, including rising and volatile interest rates, inflation, negative consumer sentiment and a reduction of the general
availability of capital to consumers. This may result in decreased revenue and Sunlight may be unable to adopt measures in a timely manner to compensate for
any unexpected decline. This inability could cause Sunlight’s operating results in a given quarter to be higher or lower than expected. If actual results differ from
Sunlight’s estimates, analysts may negatively react and Sunlight’s stock price could be materially adversely impacted.
Additionally, Sunlight may, from time to time, provide guidance regarding its future performance that represents management’s estimates as of the date such
guidance is provided. Guidance is necessarily speculative in nature, and it can be expected that some or all of the assumptions that inform such guidance will
not materialize or will vary significantly from actual results. Sunlight’s ability to meet funded volume, cost, Adjusted EBITDA, free cash flow or any other forwardlooking guidance is impacted by a number of factors including, but not limited to, changes in domestic and foreign business, market, financial, political and legal
conditions; risks related to Sunlight’s business and the timing of expected business milestones or results; the effects of competition and regulatory risks, and the
impacts of changes in legislation or regulations on Sunlight’s future business; the expiration, renewal, modification or replacement of the federal solar
investment tax credit; the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic on Sunlight’s business or future results; and Sunlight’s ability to issue equity or equity-linked
securities. Accordingly, Sunlight’s guidance is only an estimate of what management
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believes is realizable as of the date such guidance is provided. Actual results may vary from such guidance and the variations may be material. In addition, in
circumstances where the above factors result in high volatility and unpredictability, Sunlight may determine to cease issuing earnings guidance, which could
negatively impact the market price of Sunlight’s Class A Common Stock.
Sunlight’s revenue is impacted, to a significant extent, by the general economy, including supply chain disruptions, and the financial performance of
its capital providers and contractors.
Sunlight’s business, the consumer financial services industry, its contractors’ and its capital providers’ businesses are sensitive to macroeconomic conditions.
Economic factors such as interest rates, changes in other monetary and related policies, inflation, market volatility, increased labor costs and labor shortages,
delays and shortages in the supply chain, consumer confidence and unemployment rates are among the most significant factors that impact consumer spending
behavior. Weak economic conditions or a significant deterioration in economic conditions reduce the amount of disposable income consumers have, which in
turn reduces consumer spending and the willingness of qualified borrowers to take out loans. Such conditions are also likely to affect the ability and willingness
of borrowers to pay amounts owed to Sunlight or its capital providers, each of which would have a material adverse effect on its business, results of operations
and financial condition.
General economic conditions and the willingness of its capital providers to deploy capital in the consumer industries within which Sunlight operates also impact
Sunlight’s performance. The origination of new loans through Orange®, and the platform fees and other fee income to Sunlight associated with such loans, is
dependent upon sales and installations of solar systems and other home improvements and the willingness of capital providers to fund loans on terms desired by
the solar and/or home improvement markets and on terms that are economically favorable to Sunlight. Worsening macroeconomic trends, including increasing
interest rates and recessionary concerns, can erode platform fee margins, negatively impact funding capacity in the Direct Channel, and/or result in decreased
sales of pooled loans in the Indirect Channel if loans are approved at lower than prevailing market interest rates. In addition, contractors’ sales may decrease or
fail to increase as a result of factors outside of their control, such as the macroeconomic conditions referenced above, business conditions affecting an industry
vertical or region, changing regulatory environments, delays in permitting and/or permission to operate residential solar.
The United States also has, from time to time, considered and/or imposed restrictions or tariffs on goods imported from other countries. The withhold release
order issued by U.S. Customs and Border Protection on June 24, 2021 applicable to certain silica-based products, such as polysilicon processed and used by
manufacturers of solar panels in China’s Xinjiang Uyghur autonomous region, over allegations of widespread, state-backed forced labor in the region, and
similar restrictions on imports, including those imposed as a result of the Uyghur Forced Labor Prevention Act signed into law on December 23, 2021, which
prohibits the importation of any goods derived from forced labor, could result in supply chain delays and shortages. Further, in the first quarter of 2022, pursuant
to a request from a U.S. solar equipment manufacturer, the U.S. Department of Commerce initiated country-wide circumvention of duties inquiries for solar
panels imported into the United States from Cambodia, Malaysia, Thailand and Vietnam, which collectively constitute a material portion of solar installation
equipment imports into the United States. Although the current Presidential administration issued a 24-month tariff-moratorium on solar panel imports from such
countries in June 2022, the Department of Commerce’s investigation is continuing and any resulting decision or further inquiries, as well as the restrictions on
imports described above, could result in severe market disruption, including further supply chain slow-downs impacting business across the sector, delays in
Sunlight contractor partners’ ability to install systems and, in some instances, the cancellation of installations by their homeowner customers, which translates
into a delay or reduction in funded loans and Sunlight’s ability to earn an associated platform fee. Weak economic conditions including increased labor costs
and labor shortages, delays and shortages in the supply chain, and delays in permitting and/or permission to operate residential solar could also extend the
length of contractors’ sales cycle and cause prospective borrowers to delay making (or not making) purchases of solar systems or other home improvements.
The decline in and delay of sales by contractors for any reason will generally result in reduced loan volume and associated fee income for Sunlight and its
capital providers, particularly from platform fees on Direct Channel Loans, for which revenue is not recognized until the Direct Channel Partner funds the Loans,
which may reduce loan volume and materially adversely affect Sunlight’s business, results of operations and financial condition.
In addition, if a contractor or capital provider becomes subject to a voluntary or involuntary bankruptcy proceeding (or if there is a perception that it may become
subject to a bankruptcy proceeding), borrowers may have less incentive to pay their outstanding balances to Sunlight or its capital providers, which could result
in higher charge-off rates than anticipated. Any consistent or system failures of Sunlight’s contractors or capital providers could materially adversely affect
Sunlight’s business, results of operations and financial condition.
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Our results of operations could be adversely affected by economic and political conditions globally and the effects of these conditions on our
clients’ businesses and levels of business activity.
The Russian invasion of Ukraine has resulted in increased volatility in various financial markets and across various sectors. The United States and other
countries, along with certain international organizations, have imposed economic sanctions on Russia and on certain Russian financial institutions and stateowned entities as a response to the invasion. The extent and duration of the military action, resulting sanctions and future market disruptions in the region are
impossible to predict. Moreover, the ongoing effects of the hostilities and sanctions may not be limited to Russia and Russian companies and may spill over to
and negatively impact other regional and global economic markets.
Risks Related to Legal Matters and Sunlight’s Regulatory Environment
Litigation, regulatory actions and compliance issues could subject Sunlight to significant fines, penalties, judgments, remediation costs,
indemnification obligations and/or other requirements resulting in increased expenses and negatively impacting Sunlight’s liquidity and financial
condition.
Sunlight’s business is subject to increased risks of litigation and regulatory actions as a result of a number of factors and from various sources, including as a
result of the highly regulated nature of the consumer financial services industry and the focus of state and federal enforcement agencies on the financial
services industry.
Federal and state agencies have broad enforcement powers over Sunlight, including powers to investigate Sunlight’s business practices and broad discretion to
deem particular practices unfair, deceptive, abusive or otherwise not in accordance with the law. The continued focus of regulators on the consumer financial
services industry has resulted, and could continue to result, in new enforcement actions that could, directly or indirectly, affect the manner in which Sunlight
conducts its business and increase the costs of defending and settling any such matters, which could negatively impact its business. In some cases, regardless
of fault, it may be less time-consuming or costly to settle these matters, which may require Sunlight to implement certain changes to its business practices,
provide remediation to certain individuals or make a settlement payment to a given party or regulatory body. There is no assurance that any future settlements
will not have a material adverse effect on Sunlight’s business.
From time to time, Sunlight may be involved in, or the subject of, reviews, requests for information, examinations, investigations and proceedings (both formal
and informal) by state and federal governmental agencies regarding Sunlight’s business activities and Sunlight’s qualifications to conduct its business in certain
jurisdictions, which could subject Sunlight to significant fines, penalties, obligations to change its business practices, capital provider, contractor and consumer
remediations, increased compliance costs and other requirements resulting in increased expenses and diminished earnings. Sunlight’s involvement in any such
matter also could cause significant harm to its reputation and divert management attention from the operation of its business, even if the matters are ultimately
determined in Sunlight’s favor. Moreover, any settlement, or any consent order or adverse judgment in connection with any formal or informal proceeding or
investigation by a government agency, may prompt litigation or additional investigations or proceedings as other litigants or other government agencies begin
independent reviews of the same activities.
In addition, a number of participants in the consumer finance industry have been the subject of putative class action lawsuits; state attorney general actions and
other state regulatory actions; federal regulatory enforcement actions, including actions relating to alleged unfair, deceptive or abusive acts or practices;
violations of state licensing and lending laws, including state usury laws; actions alleging discrimination on the basis of race, ethnicity, gender or other prohibited
bases; and allegations of noncompliance with various state and federal laws and regulations relating to originating and servicing consumer finance loans. The
current regulatory environment, increased regulatory compliance requirements and enhanced regulatory enforcement could result in significant operational and
compliance costs and may prevent Sunlight from offering certain products and services. There is no assurance that these regulatory matters or other factors will
not, in the future, affect how Sunlight conducts its business and, in turn, could have a material adverse effect on Sunlight’s business or results of operations. In
particular, legal proceedings brought under state consumer protection statutes or under several of the various federal consumer financial services statutes may
result in a separate fine for each violation of the statute, which, particularly in the case of class action lawsuits, could result in damages substantially in excess of
the amounts Sunlight earned from the underlying activities.
In addition, from time to time, through Sunlight’s operational and compliance controls, Sunlight identifies compliance issues that require it to make operational
changes and, depending on the nature of the issue and contractual obligations to its various capital providers, result in financial remediation to impacted capital
providers or consumers. These self-identified issues and voluntary remediation payments could be significant, depending on the issue and the number of
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capital providers, contractors or consumers impacted, and also could generate litigation or regulatory investigations that subject Sunlight to additional risk.
Sunlight is subject to federal and state consumer protection laws.
In connection with the origination of loans, Sunlight must comply with various state and federal regulatory regimes, including those applicable to consumer credit
transactions, various aspects of which are untested as applied to Sunlight’s business model. The complex regulatory environment of the consumer credit
industry are subject to constant change and modification. While changes to statutes and promulgating new regulations may take a substantial amount of time,
issuing regulatory guidance with the force of law in the form of opinions, bulletins and notices can occur quickly. Also, consumer credit regulators often initiate
inquiries into market participants, which can lead to investigations and, ultimately, enforcement actions. In addition, the laws and regulations applicable to
Sunlight are subject to administrative or judicial interpretation. Some of these laws and regulations have been enacted only recently and may not yet have been
interpreted or may be interpreted infrequently. As a result of infrequent or sparse interpretations, ambiguities in these laws and regulations may create
uncertainty with respect to what type of conduct is permitted or restricted under such laws and regulations. Any ambiguity under a law or regulation to which
Sunlight is subject may lead to regulatory investigations, governmental enforcement actions and private causes of action, such as class action lawsuits, with
respect to Sunlight’s compliance with such laws or regulations. As a result, Sunlight is subject to a constantly evolving consumer finance regulatory environment
that is difficult to predict and which may affect Sunlight’s business. The laws to which Sunlight directly or its services by contract are or may be subject to
include, among others:
• state laws and regulations that impose requirements related to loan disclosures and terms, credit discrimination and unfair, deceptive or abusive business
acts or practices;
• the Truth-in-Lending Act, and its implementing Regulation Z, and similar state laws, which require certain disclosures to borrowers regarding the terms
and conditions of their loans and credit transactions;
• Section 5 of the Federal Trade Commission Act, which prohibits unfair and deceptive acts or practices in or affecting commerce, and Section 1031 of the
Dodd-Frank Act, which prohibits unfair, deceptive, or abusive acts or practices (“UDAAP”), in connection with any consumer financial product or service;
• the Equal Credit Opportunity Act, and its implementing Regulation B, which prohibit creditors from discriminating against credit applicants on the basis of
race, color, sex, age, religion, national origin, marital status, the fact that all or part of the applicant’s income derives from any public assistance program
or the fact that the applicant has in good faith exercised any right under the Federal Consumer Credit Protection Act or any applicable state law;
• the Fair Credit Reporting Act (the “FCRA”), and its implementing Regulation V, as amended by the Fair and Accurate Credit Transactions Act, which
promotes the accuracy, fairness and privacy of information in the files of consumer reporting agencies;
• the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act, and its implementing Regulation F, the Telephone Consumer Protection Act, as well as state debt collection laws,
all of which provide guidelines and limitations concerning the conduct of debt collectors in connection with the collection of consumer debts;
• the Bankruptcy Code, which limits the extent to which creditors may seek to enforce debts against parties who have filed for bankruptcy protection;
• the California Consumer Privacy Act, which includes certain limitations on the disclosure of nonpublic personal information by financial institutions about a
consumer to nonaffiliated third parties, in certain circumstances requires financial institutions to limit the use and further disclosure of nonpublic personal
information by nonaffiliated third parties to whom they disclose such information and requires financial institutions to disclose certain privacy policies and
practices with respect to information sharing with affiliated and nonaffiliated entities as well as to safeguard personal consumer information, and other
privacy laws and regulations;
• the Gramm Leach Bliley Act, and its implementing Regulation P, which requires financial institutions to disclose certain information to consumers about
the privacy and use of their data and which imposes certain data security requirements on financial institutions;
• the rules and regulations promulgated by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation, the National Credit Union Administration, as well as state banking
regulators;
• the Office of Foreign Assets Control, which publishes a list of individuals and companies owned or controlled by, or acting for or on behalf of, targeted or
sanctioned countries, whose assets are blocked and Sunlight is generally prohibited from dealing with;
• the Servicemembers Civil Relief Act, which allows active duty military members to suspend or postpone certain civil obligations, and prohibits certain
creditor self-help remedies, including repossession, so that the military member can devote his or her full attention to military duties;
• the Military Lending Act, enacted in 2006 and implemented by the Department of Defense, which imposes a 36% cap on the “all-in” annual percentage
rates charged on certain loans to active-duty members of the U.S. military, reserves and National Guard and their dependents;
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the Electronic Fund Transfer Act, and Regulation E promulgated thereunder, which provide disclosure requirements, guidelines and restrictions on the
electronic transfer of funds from consumers’ bank accounts;
the Telephone Consumer Protection Act, which restricts telephone solicitations and the use of automated phone equipment;
the Electronic Signatures in Global and National Commerce Act, and similar state laws, particularly the Uniform Electronic Transactions Act, which
authorize the creation of legally binding and enforceable agreements utilizing electronic records and signatures; and
the Bank Secrecy Act, which relates to compliance with anti-money laundering, due diligence and record-keeping policies and procedures.

While Sunlight has developed policies and procedures designed to assist in compliance with these laws and regulations, no assurance is given that its
compliance policies and procedures will be effective. Failure to comply with these laws and with regulatory requirements applicable to Sunlight’s business could
subject it to damages, revocation of licenses, class action lawsuits, administrative enforcement actions, civil and criminal liability, indemnification obligations to
its capital providers, loan repurchase obligations and reputational damage which may harm Sunlight’s business, results of operations and financial condition.
The consumer finance industry is highly regulated and subject to regular changes or evolution in those regulatory requirements. Changing federal,
state and local laws, as well as changing regulatory enforcement policies and priorities, may negatively impact Sunlight’s business.
In connection with Sunlight’s financial services operations, Sunlight is subject to extensive regulation, supervision and examination under United States federal
and state laws and regulations. Sunlight is required to comply with numerous federal, state and local laws and regulations that regulate, among other things, the
manner in which Sunlight administers loans, the terms of the loans that its capital providers originate and the fees that Sunlight may charge. Any failure to
comply with any of these laws or regulations could subject Sunlight to lawsuits or governmental actions or damage Sunlight’s reputation, which could materially
and adversely affect Sunlight’s business. Regulators have broad discretion with respect to the interpretation, implementation and enforcement of these laws and
regulations, including through enforcement actions that could subject Sunlight to civil money penalties, capital provider and consumer remediations, increased
compliance costs and limits or prohibitions on Sunlight’s ability to offer certain products or services or to engage in certain activities. In addition, to the extent
that Sunlight undertakes actions requiring regulatory approval or non-objection, regulators may make their approval or non-objection subject to conditions or
restrictions that could have a material adverse effect on its business. Moreover, any competitors subject to different, or in some cases less restrictive, legislative
or regulatory regimes may have or obtain a competitive advantage over Sunlight.
Proposals to change the statutes affecting financial services companies are frequently introduced in Congress and state legislatures that, if enacted, may affect
its operating environment in substantial and unpredictable ways. In addition, numerous federal and state regulators have the authority to promulgate or change
regulations that could have a similar effect on Sunlight’s operating environment. Sunlight cannot determine with any degree of certainty whether any such
legislative or regulatory proposals will be enacted and, if enacted, the ultimate impact that any such potential legislation or implementing regulations, or any
such potential regulatory actions by federal or state regulators, would have upon Sunlight’s business, results of operations or financial condition.
Sunlight is also subject to potential enforcement and other actions that may be brought by state attorneys general or other state enforcement authorities and
other governmental agencies. Any such actions could subject Sunlight to civil money penalties and fines, capital provider, contractor and consumer remediation,
and increased compliance costs, damage its reputation and brand and limit or prohibit Sunlight’s ability to offer certain products and services or engage in
certain business practices.
New laws, regulations, policy or changes in enforcement of existing laws or regulations applicable to Sunlight’s business, or reexamination of current practices,
could adversely impact Sunlight’s profitability, limit its ability to continue existing or pursue new business activities, require it to change certain of its business
practices or alter its relationships with contractors or capital providers, affect retention of key personnel, including management, or expose Sunlight to additional
costs (including increased compliance costs and/or capital provider, contractor or consumer remediation). These changes also may require Sunlight to invest
significant resources, and devote significant management attention, to make any necessary changes and could adversely affect its business, results of
operations and financial condition.
Sunlight’s “business to business to consumer” business model subjects Sunlight and its capital providers to potential regulatory risk and litigation
based on the sales practices employed by the various contractors in Sunlight’s networks.
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Loan products offered by Sunlight through Orange® are offered to the consumer customers of the various contractors in Sunlight’s contractor networks by sales
people employed by or engaged as third-party service providers of such contractors. Sales of consumer loans are regulated by various federal, state and local
regulators. From time to time, Sunlight and its capital providers have been included in lawsuits brought by the consumer customers of certain contractors in
Sunlight’s networks citing claims based on the sales practices of these contractors. Sunlight does not view contractors in its networks as its agents for whose
actions Sunlight would potentially have vicarious liability. Sunlight has processes to provide educational support to these contractors and a robust process to
detect any contractor sales practices that may violate applicable law and Sunlight obtains indemnities for such claims in the program agreements between
Sunlight and the contractors with whom Sunlight partners. While Sunlight has paid only minimal damages to date, Sunlight cannot be sure that a court of law
would not determine that Sunlight is liable for the actions of the contractors in Sunlight’s networks or that a regulator or state attorney general’s office may hold
Sunlight accountable for violations of consumer protection or other applicable laws by the contractors in selling Sunlight loans. Sunlight’s risk mitigation
processes may not be sufficient to mitigate financial harm to Sunlight or its capital providers associated with violations of applicable law by its contractors or that
any such contractor would or is able to make good on its indemnification obligations to Sunlight or its capital providers. Any significant finding making Sunlight
liable for damages in such claims could expose Sunlight to broader liabilities, a need to adjust its distribution channels for its loan products or otherwise change
its business model, and could have a material and adverse impact on Sunlight’s business prospects.
The highly regulated environment in which Sunlight’s capital providers operate could have an adverse effect on Sunlight’s business.
Sunlight and its capital providers are subject to federal and state supervision and regulation. Federal and state regulation of the banking industry, credit unions
and other types of capital providers, along with tax and accounting laws, regulations, rules and standards, may limit their operations significantly and control the
methods by which they conduct business and when and how they are able to deploy their capital. These requirements may constrain Sunlight’s ability to enter
funding program agreements with new capital providers or the ability of its existing capital providers to continue originating loans through Sunlight’s Platform. In
choosing whether and how to conduct business with Sunlight, current and prospective capital providers can be expected to take into account the legal,
regulatory and supervisory regimes that apply to them, including potential changes in the application or interpretation of regulatory standards, licensing
requirements or supervisory expectations. Regulators may elect to alter standards or the interpretation of the standards used to measure regulatory compliance
or to determine the adequacy of liquidity, certain risk management or other operational practices for financial services companies in a manner that impacts
capital providers’ ability to originate loans through Sunlight’s Platform. An inability for an individual or type of capital provider to originate loans through
Sunlight’s Platform could materially and adversely affect Sunlight’s ability to grow its business.
The contours of the Dodd-Frank UDAAP standard remain uncertain, and there is a risk that certain features of Sunlight’s business could be deemed
to be a UDAAP.
The Dodd-Frank Act prohibits UDAAP and authorizes the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (the “CFPB”) to enforce that prohibition. The CFPB has filed a
large number of UDAAP enforcement actions against consumer lenders for practices that do not appear to violate other consumer finance statutes. There is a
risk that the CFPB could determine that certain features of loans for the purchase and installation of solar systems or home improvements or the process by
which Sunlight originates such loans are unfair, deceptive or abusive, which could have a material adverse effect on Sunlight’s business, financial condition and
results of operations. Most states also have their own statutes designed to protect consumers from UDAAP. In addition, to federal UDAAP claims, Sunlight could
also be subject to consumer litigation arising out of state UDAAP laws or state regulatory investigations alleging that Sunlight’s business practices are unfair,
deceptive or abusive, which could in turn have similar material adverse effects on Sunlight’s business and financial condition.
Regulations relating to privacy, information security and data protection could increase Sunlight’s costs, affect or limit how Sunlight collects and
uses personal information, and adversely affect its business opportunities.
Sunlight is subject to various privacy, information security and data protection laws, including, without limitation, requirements concerning security breach
notification, and it could be negatively impacted by them. Furthermore, legislators and/or regulators are increasingly adopting or revising privacy, information
security and data protection laws that potentially could have a significant impact on Sunlight’s current and planned privacy, data protection and information
security-related practices; Sunlight’s collection, use, sharing, retention and safeguarding of consumer or employee information; and some of Sunlight’s current or
planned business activities. This also could increase Sunlight’s costs of compliance and business operations and could reduce income from certain business
initiatives.
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Compliance with current or future privacy, information security and data protection laws (including those regarding security breach notification) affecting
consumer or employee data to which Sunlight is subject could result in higher compliance and technology costs and could restrict Sunlight’s ability to provide
certain products and services (such as products or services that involve sharing information with third parties), which could materially and adversely affect
Sunlight’s profitability. Additionally, regulators may attempt to assert authority over Sunlight’s business in the area of privacy, information security and data
protection or disagree with our interpretation of laws and regulations related to the foregoing areas apply to us. If Sunlight’s vendors also become subject to laws
and regulations in the more stringent and expansive jurisdictions, this could result in increasing costs on Sunlight’s business.
Privacy requirements, including notice and opt-out requirements under the FCRA, are enforced by the Federal Trade Commission and by the CFPB (through
UDAAP). State entities also may initiate actions for alleged violations of privacy or security requirements under state law. Sunlight’s failure to comply with
privacy, information security and data protection laws could result in potentially significant regulatory investigations and government actions, litigation, fines or
sanctions, consumer, capital providers or contractor actions and damage to Sunlight’s reputation and brand, all of which could have a material adverse effect on
Sunlight’s business, financial condition and results of operations.
If Sunlight is found to be operating without having obtained necessary state or local licenses, it could adversely affect Sunlight’s business.
Certain states have adopted laws regulating and requiring licensing by parties that engage in certain activity regarding consumer finance transactions, including,
in certain circumstances facilitating and assisting such transactions. While Sunlight believes it has obtained all necessary licenses, the application of some
consumer finance licensing laws to Sunlight’s loans is unclear. Further, if a governmental or enforcement agency determines that Sunlight is the “true lender” of
loans originated under its bank partnership arrangement, Sunlight could be found to have violated licensing requirements of several states and other consumer
protection statutes. If Sunlight is found to be in violation of applicable state licensing requirements by a court or a state, federal, or local enforcement agency, it
could be subject to fines, damages, injunctive relief (including required modification or discontinuation of Sunlight’s business in certain areas), criminal penalties
and other penalties or consequences, including indemnification obligations to its capital providers, and the loans originated through Orange® could be rendered
void or unenforceable, in whole or in part, any of which could have a material adverse effect on Sunlight’s business, financial condition and results of
operations.
Sunlight may in the future be subject to federal or state regulatory inquiries regarding its business.
From time to time, in the normal course of its business, Sunlight may receive or be subject to, inquiries or investigations by state and federal regulatory agencies
and bodies, such as the CFPB, state attorneys general, state financial regulatory agencies and other state or federal agencies or bodies regarding its loans,
including the origination and servicing of consumer loans, practices by contractors or other third parties and licensing and registration requirements. Any such
inquiries or investigations could involve substantial time and expense to analyze and respond to, could divert management’s attention and other resources from
running Sunlight’s business and could lead to public enforcement actions or lawsuits and fines, penalties, injunctive relief and the need to obtain additional
licenses that it does not currently possess. Sunlight’s involvement in any such matters, whether tangential or otherwise and even if the matters are ultimately
determined in Sunlight’s favor, could also cause significant harm to its reputation, lead to additional investigations and enforcement actions from other agencies
or litigants, and further divert management attention and resources from the operation of Sunlight’s business. As a result, the outcome of legal and regulatory
actions arising out of any state or federal inquiries Sunlight receives could be material to its business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows
and could have a material adverse effect on its business, financial condition or results of operations.
Risks Related to Ownership of Our Securities
Sunlight qualifies as an emerging growth company within the meaning of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”) and takes
advantage of certain exemptions from disclosure requirements available to emerging growth companies, which may make Sunlight’s securities less
attractive to investors and may make it more difficult to compare its performance to the performance of other public companies.
Sunlight qualifies as an “emerging growth company” as defined in Section 2(a)(19) of the Securities Act, as modified by the Jumpstart Our Business Startups
Act of 2012 (“JOBS Act”). As such, Sunlight is eligible for and takes advantage of certain exemptions from various reporting requirements applicable to other
public companies that are not emerging growth companies for as long as it continues to be an emerging growth company, including (i) the exemption from the
auditor attestation requirements with respect to internal control over financial reporting under Section 404(b) of the Sarbanes-
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Oxley Act, (ii) the exemptions from say-on-pay, say-on-frequency and say-on-golden parachute voting requirements and (iii) reduced disclosure obligations
regarding executive compensation in its periodic reports and proxy statements. Sunlight will remain an emerging growth company until the earliest of (i) the last
day of the fiscal year in which the market value of the shares of its Class A Common Stock that are held by non-affiliates exceeds $700 million as of June 30 of
that fiscal year, (ii) the last day of the fiscal year in which it has total annual gross revenue of $1.07 billion (as adjusted for inflation pursuant to SEC rules from
time to time) or more during such fiscal year, (iii) the date on which it has issued more than $1 billion in non-convertible debt in the prior three-year period and
(iv) the last day of the fiscal year following November 30, 2025, the fifth anniversary of the initial public offering. In addition, Section 107 of the JOBS Act also
provides that an emerging growth company can take advantage of the exemption from complying with new or revised accounting standards provided in Section
7(a)(2)(B) of the Securities Act so long as Sunlight remains an emerging growth company. An emerging growth company can therefore delay the adoption of
certain accounting standards until those standards would otherwise apply to private companies. Sunlight may elect not to avail itself of this exemption from new
or revised accounting standards and, therefore, it may not be subject to the same new or revised accounting standards as other public companies that are not
emerging growth companies. Investors may find Class A Common Stock of Sunlight less attractive because it will rely on these exemptions, which may result in
a less active trading market for such Class A Common Stock and its stock price may be more volatile. Additionally, this may make comparison of Sunlight’s
financial statements with another public company that is neither an emerging growth company nor an emerging growth company that has opted out of using the
extended transition period difficult or impossible because of the potential differences in accounting standards used.
Anti-takeover provisions contained in Sunlight’s governing documents and applicable laws could impair a takeover attempt.
Sunlight’s Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation (the “Second A&R Charter”) and Sunlight’s Amended and Restated Bylaws (the “Bylaws”)
afford certain rights and powers to the Sunlight board of directors that could contribute to the delay or prevention of an acquisition that it deems undesirable.
Sunlight is also subject to Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law (the “DGCL”) and other provisions of Delaware law that limit the ability of
stockholders in certain situations to effect certain business combinations. Any of the foregoing provisions and terms that has the effect of delaying or deterring a
change in control could limit the opportunity for stockholders to receive a premium for their shares of Class A Common Stock, and could also affect the price
that some investors are willing to pay for the Class A Common Stock.
The Second A&R Charter designates the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware as the sole and exclusive forum for certain types of actions and
proceedings that may be initiated by our stockholders, which could limit our stockholders’ ability to obtain a favorable judicial forum for disputes
with us or our directors, officers or employees.
The Second A&R Charter provides that, unless Sunlight consents in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, the Court of Chancery of the State of
Delaware (“Court of Chancery”) will, to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law and subject to applicable jurisdictional requirements, be the sole and
exclusive forum for (i) any derivative action or proceeding as to which the DGCL confers jurisdiction upon the Court of Chancery, (ii) any action asserting a claim
of breach of a fiduciary duty owed by any director, officer or other employee of Sunlight to Sunlight or its stockholders, (iii) any action asserting a claim against
Sunlight, its directors, officers or employees arising pursuant to any provision of the DGCL, the Second A&R Charter or the Bylaws or (iv) any action asserting a
claim against Sunlight, its directors, officers or employees that is governed by the internal affairs doctrine, in each case except for such claims as to which (a)
the Court of Chancery determines that it does not have personal jurisdiction over an indispensable party, (b) exclusive jurisdiction is vested in a court or forum
other than the Court of Chancery or (c) the Court of Chancery does not have subject matter jurisdiction. Further, the forum selection provision is not intended to
apply to claims arising under the Securities Act or the Exchange Act. The Second A&R Charter provides that, unless Sunlight consents in writing to the
selection of an alternative forum, the federal district courts of the United States will be the exclusive forum for resolving any complaint asserting a cause of
action arising under the federal securities laws of the United States.
If any action, the subject matter of which is within the scope of the forum selection provision described in the preceding paragraph, is filed in a court other than
the Court of Chancery (or, if the Court of Chancery does not have jurisdiction, another state court or a federal court located within the State of Delaware) (a
“Foreign Action”) in the name of any stockholder, such stockholder shall be deemed to have consented to (i) the personal jurisdiction of the state and federal
courts located within the State of Delaware in connection with any action brought in any such court to enforce the forum selection provision (an “Foreign
Enforcement Action”) and (ii) having service of process made upon such stockholder in any such Foreign Enforcement Action by service upon such
stockholder’s counsel in the Foreign Action as agent for such stockholder.
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Sunlight is a holding company and its sole material asset is its indirect equity interest in Sunlight Financial LLC. As a result, Sunlight is dependent
upon distributions from Sunlight Financial LLC to pay taxes, make payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement, cover its corporate and other
overhead expenses and pay dividends, if any, on its Common Stock.
Sunlight is a holding company, and has no material assets other than its indirect equity interest in Sunlight Financial LLC. Sunlight has no independent means
of generating revenue or cash flow. To the extent Sunlight Financial LLC has available cash, taking into account available borrowings, and subject to the terms
of any current or future debt instruments, the Fifth Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement of Sunlight LLC (the “Sunlight A&R LLC
Agreement”) requires Sunlight Financial LLC to make pro rata cash distributions to all holders of Sunlight Units, including Sunlight in an amount generally
intended to allow the holders of Sunlight Units (as defined therein), including Sunlight, to satisfy their respective income tax liabilities with respect to their
allocable share of the income of Sunlight Financial LLC, based on certain assumptions, provided that tax distributions, except in limited circumstances, will be
made sufficient to allow Sunlight to satisfy its actual tax liabilities and obligations under the Tax Receivable Agreement. Sunlight expects Sunlight Financial LLC
to fund such distributions out of available cash, taking into account available borrowings, and in the event that payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement
are accelerated, where applicable, Sunlight generally expects to fund such accelerated payment out of the proceeds of the Change of Control (as defined in the
Tax Receivable Agreement) giving rise to such acceleration. In addition, the Sunlight A&R LLC Agreement allows SL Financial Holdings Inc., as the sole
managing member of Sunlight Financial LLC, to cause Sunlight Financial LLC to make non-pro rata payments to Sunlight to reimburse it for its corporate and
other overhead expenses, which payments are not treated as distributions under the Sunlight A&R LLC Agreement. To the extent that Sunlight needs funds and
Sunlight Financial LLC fails to generate sufficient cash flow to distribute funds to it or is restricted from making such distributions or payments under applicable
law or regulation or under the terms of its financing arrangements, or is otherwise unable to provide such funds, Sunlight’s liquidity and financial condition could
be materially adversely affected.
Moreover, because Sunlight has no independent means of generating revenue, Sunlight’s ability to make tax payments and payments under the Tax
Receivable Agreement are dependent on the ability of Sunlight Financial LLC to make distributions to Sunlight in an amount sufficient to cover Sunlight’s tax
obligations and payment obligations under the Tax Receivable Agreement. This ability, in turn, may depend on the ability of any subsidiaries Sunlight Financial
LLC may have in the future to make distributions to it. The ability of Sunlight Financial LLC, any subsidiaries and any other entity in which it may own an
interest, to make such distributions is subject to, among other things, (i) the applicable provisions of Delaware law (or other applicable jurisdiction) that may limit
the amount of funds available for distribution and (ii) restrictions in relevant debt instruments of Sunlight Financial LLC and its subsidiaries, if any. To the extent
that Sunlight is unable to make payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement for any reason, such payments will be deferred and will accrue interest until
paid.
Sunlight has never paid cash dividends on its capital stock, and does not anticipate paying dividends in the foreseeable future.
Sunlight has not paid any cash dividends on its capital stock to date. Sunlight may retain future earnings, if any, for future operations, expansion and debt
repayment and has no current plans to pay cash dividends for the foreseeable future. Any decision to declare and pay dividends in the future will be made at the
discretion of the Sunlight board of directors and will depend on, among other things, Sunlight’s results of operations, financial condition, cash requirements,
contractual restrictions and other factors that the Sunlight board of directors may deem relevant. In addition, Sunlight’s ability to pay dividends is limited by
covenants regarding its existing outstanding indebtedness.
In certain cases, payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement may be accelerated and/or significantly exceed the actual benefits, if any, Sunlight
realizes in respect of the tax attributes subject to the Tax Receivable Agreement.
If Sunlight experiences a Change of Control (as defined in the Tax Receivable Agreement) or the Tax Receivable Agreement terminates early (at Sunlight’s
election or as a result of Sunlight’s material breach thereunder), Sunlight will be required to make a payment equal to the deemed present value of the
anticipated future payments to be made by it under the Tax Receivable Agreement, and such early termination payment could be substantial, depending,
among other things, on the timing of such early termination. The calculation of anticipated future payments would be based upon certain assumptions and
deemed events set forth in the Tax Receivable Agreement, including (i) that Sunlight has sufficient taxable income to fully utilize the tax benefits covered by the
Tax Receivable Agreement, and (ii) that any Sunlight Class EX Units outstanding on the termination date or Change of Control date, as applicable, are deemed
to be redeemed on such date. In the case of termination at Sunlight’s election or as a result of Sunlight’s material breach, the termination

107

payment would be due immediately. In the case of a Change of Control of Sunlight, Sunlight will have the option to make such early termination payment
immediately upon such Change of Control or ratably over a two-year period following the Change of Control. In such situations, payments under the Tax
Receivable Agreement may be made significantly in advance of, and may materially exceed, the actual realization, if any, of the future tax benefits to which the
early termination payment relates.
If Sunlight experiences a Change of Control or the Tax Receivable Agreement terminates early (at Sunlight’s election or as a result of Sunlight’s material breach
thereunder), Sunlight’s obligations under the Tax Receivable Agreement could have a material adverse effect on Sunlight’s liquidity and could have the effect of
delaying, deferring or preventing certain mergers, asset sales, or other forms of business combinations or changes of control, or reduce the consideration
payable to holders of shares of Class A Common Stock. In the event that Sunlight’s obligation to make payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement is
accelerated as a result of a Change of Control, where applicable, we generally expect the accelerated payments due under the Tax Receivable Agreement to be
funded out of the proceeds of the Change of Control giving rise to such acceleration. However, Sunlight may be required to fund such payment from other
sources, and as a result, any early termination of Sunlight’s obligations under the Tax Receivable Agreement could have a substantial negative impact on our
liquidity and may substantially reduce the consideration payable to holders of Sunlight’s Class A Common Stock in connection with a Change of Control.
Sunlight does not currently expect to cause an acceleration due to breach, and does not currently expect that Sunlight would elect to terminate the Tax
Receivable Agreement early, except in cases where the early termination payment would not be material. There can be no assurance that Sunlight will be able
to meet its obligations under the Tax Receivable Agreement.
Sunlight will not be reimbursed for any payments made under the Tax Receivable Agreement in the event that any tax benefits are subsequently
disallowed.
Payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement will be based on the tax reporting positions that Sunlight will determine, and the IRS or another tax authority
may challenge all or part of the tax basis increases upon which the payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement are based, as well as other related tax
positions Sunlight takes, and a court could sustain such challenge. The TRA Holders (as defined therein) will not reimburse Sunlight for any payments
previously made under the Tax Receivable Agreement if any tax benefits that have given rise to payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement are
subsequently disallowed, except that excess payments made to any such TRA Holders will be netted against future payments that would otherwise be made to
such TRA Holders, if any, after Sunlight’s determination of such excess (which determination may be made a number of years following the initial payment and
after future payments have been made). As a result, in such circumstances, Sunlight could make payments that are greater than its actual cash tax savings, if
any, and may not be able to recoup those payments, which could materially adversely affect its liquidity.
In certain circumstances, Sunlight Financial LLC will be required to make tax distributions to holders of Sunlight Units, including Sunlight, and such
tax distributions may be substantial. To the extent Sunlight receives tax distributions in excess of its actual tax liabilities and retains such excess
cash, holders of Sunlight Class EX Units would benefit from such accumulated cash balances if they exercise their redemption right.
Pursuant to the Sunlight A&R LLC Agreement, to the extent Sunlight Financial LLC has available cash (taking into account Sunlight Financial LLC’s borrowing
capacity), Sunlight Financial LLC will generally be required to make pro rata distributions (which we refer to as “tax distributions”), to all holders of Sunlight Units,
including Sunlight, in an amount generally intended to allow holders of Sunlight Units, including Sunlight, to satisfy their respective income tax liabilities with
respect to their allocable share of the income of Sunlight Financial LLC, based on certain assumptions and conventions, provided that tax distributions will be
made, except in limited circumstances, sufficient to allow Sunlight to satisfy its actual tax liabilities and obligations under the Tax Receivable Agreement. The
amount of such tax distributions will be determined based on certain assumptions, including an assumed individual income tax rate (unless the corporate tax
rate is higher), and will be calculated after taking into account other distributions (including prior tax distributions) made by Sunlight Financial LLC. Because tax
distributions will be made pro rata based on ownership and due to, among other items, differences between the tax rates applicable to Sunlight and the
assumed individual income tax rate used in the calculation and requirements under the applicable tax rules that Sunlight Financial LLC’s net taxable income be
allocated disproportionately to its unitholders in certain circumstances, tax distributions may significantly exceed the actual tax liability for many of the holders of
Sunlight Units, including Sunlight. If Sunlight retains the excess cash it receives, the holders of Sunlight Class EX Units would benefit from any value
attributable to such accumulated cash balances as a result of their exercise of the Redemption Right (as defined in the Sunlight A&R LLC Agreement).
However, Sunlight expects to take other steps to eliminate any material cash balances. In addition, the tax distributions Sunlight Financial LLC will be required
to make may be substantial and may exceed the tax liabilities that would be owed by a similarly situated corporate taxpayer. Funds used by Sunlight Financial
LLC to satisfy its tax distribution obligations will not be available for reinvestment in our business, except to the extent Sunlight uses the excess cash it receives
to reinvest in
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Sunlight Financial LLC for additional Sunlight Units. In addition, because cash available for additional tax distributions is determined by taking into account the
ability of Sunlight Financial LLC and any subsidiaries to incur additional borrowing, Sunlight Financial LLC may be required to increase its indebtedness in order
to fund additional tax distributions. Such additional borrowing may adversely affect Sunlight Financial LLC’s financial condition and business operations by,
without limitation, limiting Sunlight Financial LLC’s ability to borrow in the future for other purposes, such as capital expenditures, and increasing Sunlight
Financial LLC’s interest expense and leverage ratios.
We cannot guarantee that we will repurchase our common stock pursuant to our share repurchase program or that our share repurchase program
will enhance long-term shareholder value. Share repurchases could also increase the volatility of the price of our common stock and could diminish
our cash reserves.
On May 16, 2022, our Board of Directors authorized a share repurchase program (the “Share Repurchase Program”) pursuant to which we may repurchase up
to $50.0 million of our Class A common stock over an eighteen-month period from the date of authorization . The timing and amount of repurchases of shares of
our Class A common stock, if any, will depend upon several factors, such as t he level of cash balances, debt covenant restrictions, general business conditions,
the market price of our stock, self-imposed trading blackout periods, and the availability of alternative investment opportunities. The Company is not obligated to
repurchase any specific number or amount of shares of Class A common stock pursuant to the Share Repurchase Program, and it may modify, suspend or
discontinue the Share Repurchase Program at any time. Repurchases of our Class A common stock pursuant to the Share Repurchase Program could affect
our stock price and increase its volatility. The existence of the Share Repurchase Program could cause our stock price to be higher than it would be in the
absence of such a program and, if shares are repurchased in the Share Repurchase Program, it will reduce the market liquidity for our Class A common stock.
Additionally, the Share Repurchase Program could diminish our cash reserves, which may impact our ability to finance future growth and to pursue possible
future strategic opportunities. There can be no assurance that any share repurchases will enhance long-term stockholder value, and the market price of our
Class A common stock may decline below the levels at which we repurchased shares of stock.
General Risk Factors
The loss of one or more members of Sunlight’s senior management or key employees, or failure or inability to hire additional highly qualified
employees, may adversely affect its ability to implement its business strategy.
Sunlight depends on its experienced management team to formulate and execute its business strategy. Further, Sunlight relies on other key employees and
broader team to maintain operations to current standards and support business growth. The loss of one or more key executives, including Sunlight’s Chief
Executive Officer or Chief Financial Officer, or other key employees, could have a negative impact on its ability to execute on its business growth strategy or,
potentially, to maintain operations as now conducted.
Current job markets are extremely competitive making it more difficult for Sunlight to hire qualified employees at the same rate as Sunlight has been able to in
the past and making it more difficult for Sunlight to retain talent. If Sunlight is unable to attract and retain qualified leaders and sufficient personnel with industry
experience and relationships, execution on Sunlight’s strategic business plans could be limited or delayed and maintenance of operations to current standards
could be negatively impacted, which could have a material adverse effect on Sunlight’s business, results of operations and financial condition.
Sunlight’s insurance for certain indemnity obligations to its officers and directors may be inadequate, and potential claims could materially and
negatively impact Sunlight’s financial condition and results of operations.
Pursuant to Sunlight’s Certificate of Formation, the Sunlight A&R LLC Agreement and certain indemnification agreements, among various other agreements,
Sunlight indemnifies its officers and directors for certain liabilities that may arise in the course of their service to Sunlight. Although Sunlight currently maintains
director and officer liability insurance for certain potential third-party claims for which it is legally or financially unable to indemnify them, such insurance may be
inadequate to cover certain claims, or may prove prohibitively costly to maintain in the future. If Sunlight were required to pay a significant amount on account of
such liabilities, its business, financial condition and results of operations could be materially harmed.
If assumptions or estimates Sunlight uses in preparing its financial statements are incorrect or are required to change, Sunlight’s reported results of
operations, liquidity and financial condition may be adversely affected.
Sunlight is required to make various assumptions and estimates in preparing its financial statements under generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”),
including for purposes of determining finance charge reversals, share-based compensation, asset impairment, reserves related to litigation and other legal
matters, and other regulatory exposures and
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the amounts recorded for certain contractual payments to be paid to, or received from, Sunlight’s counterparties and others under contractual arrangements. In
addition, significant assumptions and estimates are involved in determining certain disclosures required under GAAP, including those involving fair value
measurements. If the assumptions or estimates underlying Sunlight’s financial statements are incorrect, the actual amounts realized on transactions and
balances subject to those estimates will be different, which could have a material adverse effect on Sunlight’s business.
Future changes in financial accounting standards may significantly change Sunlight’s reported results of operations.
GAAP is subject to standard setting or interpretation by the Financial Accounting Standards Board, the PCAOB, the SEC and various bodies formed to
promulgate and interpret appropriate accounting principles. A change in these principles or interpretations could have a significant effect on Sunlight’s reported
financial results and could affect the reporting of transactions completed before the announcement of a change.
Additionally, Sunlight’s assumptions, estimates and judgments related to complex accounting matters could significantly affect its financial results. GAAP and
related accounting pronouncements, implementation guidelines and interpretations with regard to a wide range of matters that are relevant to its business,
including, without limitation, revenue recognition, finance charge reversals and share-based compensation, are highly complex and involve subjective
assumptions, estimates and judgments by Sunlight. Changes in these rules or their interpretation or changes in underlying assumptions, estimates or
judgments by Sunlight could require Sunlight to make changes to its accounting systems that could increase its operating costs and significantly change its
reported or expected financial performance.
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ITEM 2. UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS
We did not sell any of our equity securities during the nine months ended September 30, 2022 that were not registered under the Securities Act.
Repurchase of Equity Securities
The following table provides information relating to our purchase of shares of our common stock during the quarter ended September 30, 2022:

Periods
2022(2)

July 1 to July 31,
August 1 to August 31, 2022(2)
September 1 to September 31, 2022(2)
Total for Quarter Ended September 30, 2022

(a) Total Number of Shares
(b) Average Price
Purchased(1)
Paid per Share(1)
732,831 $
3.26
1,160,259
3.45
710,193
2.94
2,603,283
3.26

(d) Approximate Dollar
(c)Total Number of Shares
Value of Shares that
Purchased as Part of
May Yet be Purchased
Publicly Announced
Under the Program
Programs(1)
(in millions)(1)
728,701 $
45.6
1,156,129
41.7
706,197
39.6
2,591,027

(1) On May 16, 2022, Sunlight’s Board of Directors authorized a share repurchase program pursuant to which Sunlight may repurchase up to $50.0 million of Sunlight’s Class A common
stock over an eighteen-month period from the date of authorization. There is no minimum number of shares required to be repurchased under the share repurchase program, and the share
repurchase program may be suspended or discontinued at any time. During the three months ended September 30, 2022, we repurchased and canceled $8.4 million of Common Class A
shares leaving approximately $39.6 million remaining under the share repurchase program. In September 2022, the Company suspended share repurchases under the program to preserve
liquidity in the current environment but may resume repurchases in the future.
(2) We may also reacquire shares outside of the repurchase program from time to time in connection with the surrender of shares to cover taxes on vesting of share-based awards. We
reacquired 4,130 shares, 4,130 shares and 3,996 shares in July 2022, August 2022, and September, 2022, respectively, in connection with the surrender of shares to cover taxes on vesting
of share-based awards, which are outside of the share repurchase program.

ITEM 3. DEFAULTS UPON SENIOR SECURITIES
None.
ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES
Not applicable.
ITEM 5. OTHER INFORMATION
None.
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ITEM 6. EXHIBITS
EXHIBIT INDEX
Exhibit
Number
2.1**

3.1**
3.2**
3.3**
4.1**
4.2**
4.3**
10.1*
31.1*
31.2*
32.1*
32.2*
101

104

Description
Business Combination Agreement, dated as of January 23, 2021, by and among Spartan, the Spartan Subsidiaries, FTV Blocker, Tiger Blocker and
Sunlight (incorporated by reference to Annex A to the Company’s proxy statement/prospectus on Form 424(b)(3) (File No. 333-254589) filed with the
SEC on June 21, 2021).
Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Sunlight Financial Holdings Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-39739) filed with the Commission on July 15, 2021).
Amended and Restated Bylaws of Sunlight Financial Holdings Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the Company’s Current Report on
Form 8-K (File No. 001-39739) filed with the Commission on July 15, 2021).
Fifth Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement of Sunlight Financial LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.3 to the
Company’s current report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-39739) filed with the SEC on July 15, 2021).
Warrant Agreement, dated November 24, 2020, between Spartan and Continental Stock Transfer & Trust Company, as warrant agent
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to Spartan’s Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-39739) filed with the SEC on December 1, 2020).
Warrant to Purchase Units, dated February 27, 2021 between Sunlight Financial LLC and Tech Capital LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2
to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-39739) filed with the SEC on July 15, 2021).
Amendment No. 1 to Warrant to Purchase Units, dated July 8, 2021 between Sunlight Financial and Tech Capital LLC (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 4.3 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-39739) filed with the SEC on July 15, 2021).
Fourth Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement, dated September 20, 2022, by and between Sunlight Financial LLC and Silicon Valley Bank.
Certification of Chief Executive Officer of Sunlight Financial Holdings Inc. pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
Certification of Chief Financial Officer of Sunlight Financial Holdings Inc. pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
Certification of Chief Executive Officer of Sunlight Financial Holdings Inc. pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002.
Certification of Chief Financial Officer of Sunlight Financial Holdings Inc. pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002.
The following materials from Sunlight Financial Holdings Inc.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended September 30, 2022,
formatted in XBRL (eXtensible Business Reporting Language); (i) Consolidated Balance Sheets, (ii) Unaudited Condensed Consolidated
Statements of Operations, (iii) Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity, (iv) Unaudited Condensed Consolidated
Statements of Cash Flows, and (v) Notes to Unaudited Condensed Financial Statements.
Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as Inline XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101).

* Filed herewith.
** Incorporated by reference to prior filing.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned
thereunto duly authorized.
SUNLIGHT FINANCIAL HOLDINGS INC.
By:

/s/ Matthew Potere
Matthew Potere
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)
November 14, 2022

By:

/s/ Rodney Yoder
Rodney Yoder
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)
November 14, 2022
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Exhibit 10.1
[***] = Certain marked information has been omitted from this exhibit because it is both not material and is the type that the registrant treats as private or confidential.

FOURTH AMENDMENT TO LOAN AND SECURITY AGREEMENT
THIS FOURTH AMENDMENT TO LOAN AND SECURITY AGREEMENT (this “ Amendment”), dated as of September 20, 2022, between
SUNLIGHT FINANCIAL LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (the “Borrower”) and SILICON VALLEY BANK (the “ Bank”).
RECITALS:
WHEREAS, the Borrower and the Bank are party to the Loan and Security Agreement, dated as of April 26, 2021 (as amended by that certain
First Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement, dated as of August 27, 2021, as amended by that certain Second Amendment to Loan and Security
Agreement, dated as of November 19, 2021, as amended by that certain Third Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement, dated as of May 16, 2022,
and as further amended, restated, amended and restated, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time, the “Loan Agreement”);
WHEREAS, the Borrower has requested to amend the monthly financial reporting covenant set forth in Section 5.3(d) of the Loan Agreement to
a quarterly reporting covenant;
WHEREAS, the Borrower has requested to amend the financial covenant set forth in Section 5.9(c) of the Loan Agreement to be tested as of the
end of each fiscal quarter;
WHEREAS, the Bank has agreed to so amend the Loan Agreement on the terms and conditions set forth herein.
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing Recitals and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and adequacy of
which are hereby acknowledged, the parties hereto hereby agree as follows:
SECTION 1

Definitions; Interpretation.

(a)
Definitions. All capitalized terms used in this Amendment (including in the recitals hereof) and not otherwise defined herein shall have
the meanings assigned to them in the Loan Agreement. In addition, the following terms, when used in this Amendment, shall have the following
meanings:
(i)

“Bank” has the meaning set forth in the preamble hereto;

(ii)

“Amendment” has the meaning set forth in the preamble hereto;

(iii)

“Borrower” has the meaning set forth in the preamble hereto;

(iv)

“Effective Date” has the meaning set forth in Section 5.

(b)
Interpretation. The rules of interpretation set forth in the Loan Agreement shall be applicable to this Amendment and are incorporated
herein by this reference.
SECTION 2

Amendments to Loan Agreement. Subject to and effective as of the Effective Date:

(c)
The Loan Agreement (is hereby amended to reflect the changes which are attached as Exhibit A hereto, such that on the Effective Date
(as defined in Section 5) the terms set forth in Exhibit A hereto which appear in bold and double underlined text ( inserted text) shall be added to the
Loan
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Agreement and the terms appearing as text which is stricken ( deleted text) shall be deleted from the Loan Agreement.
(d)
Each reference in the Loan Agreement to “this Agreement” and the words “hereof,” “herein,” “hereunder,” or words of like import, shall
mean and be a reference to the Loan Agreement as amended by this Amendment and Waiver (the “Amended Loan Agreement”)
SECTION 3 Continuing Effect. Except as expressly provided herein, this Amendment shall not limit or otherwise adversely affect the rights of the
Borrower or the Bank under the Loan Agreement or any other Loan Document. The Bank reserves the right to insist on strict compliance with the terms
of the Loan Agreement and each other Loan Document, and the Borrower expressly acknowledges in each case such reservation of rights and its
obligations under Section 7 hereof. The execution of this Amendment will not, either alone or taken with other consents, amendments or waivers of
provisions of the Loan Agreement or any other Loan Document, be deemed to create or be evidence of a course of conduct. Any future or additional
consents, amendments or waivers relating to the Loan Agreement or any other Loan Document shall be effective only if set forth in a writing separate
and distinct from this Amendment and executed pursuant to Section 10.1 of the Loan Agreement. Except as expressly provided herein, the Loan
Agreement and each other Loan Document shall remain in full force and effect, without further amendment or modification.
SECTION 4 Representations and Warranties. To induce the other parties hereto to enter into this Amendment, the Borrower hereby represents and
warrants to each other party hereto that, as of the Effective Date: (a) the Amendment has been duly authorized, executed and delivered by it and each of
this Amendment, the Loan Agreement (as amended hereby on the Effective Date) and the Loan Documents constitutes its legal, valid and binding
obligation, enforceable against it in accordance with its terms, except as enforceability may be limited by applicable bankruptcy, insolvency,
reorganization, moratorium or similar laws affecting the enforcement of creditors’ rights generally and by general equitable principles (whether
enforcement is sought by proceedings in equity or at law); (b) after giving effect to this Amendment and the transactions contemplated by this
Amendment, no Default or Event of Default has occurred and is continuing; (c) the execution, delivery and performance of this Amendment and the
performance of the Loan Agreement (as amended hereby on the Effective Date) shall not (i) violate its Operating Documents or the Loan Documents,
(ii) violate any Requirement of Law, Governmental Approval or any contractual obligation of the Borrower and (iii) will not result in, or require, the
creation or imposition of any Lien on any of its properties or revenues pursuant to its Operating Documents, any Requirement of Law, any Governmental
Approval or any such contractual obligation (other than the Liens created by the Loan Documents in favor of the Bank); and (d) each of the
representations and warranties made by the Borrower in or pursuant to the Loan Documents shall be true and correct in all material respects on and as of
the Effective Date (except to (A) the extent made as of a specific date, in which case such representation and warranty shall be true and correct in all
material respects on and as of such specific date and (B) representations and warranties qualified by materiality shall be true and correct in all respects).
SECTION 5 Conditions to Effectiveness. This Amendment shall be effective upon the date (the “Effective Date”) that the Borrower has delivered
the following conditions precedent to the Bank, in form and substance satisfactory to the Bank:
(e)

The Bank shall have received duly executed counterparts hereof that, when taken together, bear the signatures of the Borrower and the

Bank.
(f)
The Borrower shall have paid all costs, fees and other amounts due and payable to the Bank, including the reimbursement or payment of
reasonable and documented out-of-pocket expenses of the Bank, including the reasonable and documented out-of-pocket fees, charges and
disbursements of counsel for the Bank, in each case as required to be paid or reimbursed pursuant to the Loan Agreement.
SECTION 6 Reaffirmation.
By executing and delivering a counterpart hereof, (a) the Borrower hereby agrees that all Loans incurred by the
Borrower shall be secured pursuant to the Loan Documents
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in accordance with the respective terms and provisions thereof and (b) the Borrower hereby (i) agrees that, notwithstanding the effectiveness of this
Amendment, after giving effect to this Amendment, the Loan Documents continue to be in full force and effect, (ii) agrees that all of the Liens and
security interests created and arising under each Loan Document remain in full force and effect on a continuous basis, and the perfected status and
priority of each such Lien and security interest continues in full force and effect on a continuous basis, unimpaired, uninterrupted and undischarged, as
collateral security for its obligations, liabilities and indebtedness under the Loan Agreement, in each case, to the extent provided in, and subject to the
limitations and qualifications set forth in, such Loan Documents (as amended by this Amendment) and (iii) affirms and confirms all of its obligations,
liabilities and indebtedness under the Loan Agreement and each other Loan Document, in each case after giving effect to this Amendment, including its
pledge of and/or grant of a security interest in its assets as Collateral pursuant to the Loan Documents to secure such Obligations, all as provided in the
Loan Documents, and acknowledges and agrees that such obligations, liabilities, guarantee, pledge and grant continue in full force and effect in respect
of, and to secure, such Obligations under the Loan Agreement and the other Loan Documents, in each case, to the extent provided in, and subject to the
limitations and qualifications set forth in, such Loan Documents (as amended by this Amendment).
SECTION 7

Miscellaneous.

(g)
Governing Law; Submission to Jurisdiction . THIS AMENDMENT IS SUBJECT TO THE PROVISIONS OF SECTION 10 OF THE
LOAN AGREEMENT, THE PROVISIONS OF WHICH ARE BY THIS REFERENCE INCORPORATED HEREIN IN FULL AND SHALL APPLY
MUTATIS MUTANDIS AS IF SET FORTH HEREIN.
(h)
Loan Agreement Otherwise Not Affected . Except as expressly amended pursuant hereto, the Loan Agreement and the other Loan
Documents shall remain unchanged and in full force and effect and are hereby ratified and confirmed in all respects. The execution and delivery or
acknowledgement (as applicable) of this Amendment by the Bank shall not be deemed to create a course of dealing or otherwise create any express or
implied duty by any such person to provide any other or further amendments, consents or waivers in the future (including any such other or further
amendments, waivers or consents that may be the same or similar to any of those contemplated herein).
(i)
Binding Effect. This Amendment shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of and be enforceable by the parties hereto and their
respective permitted successors and assigns.
(j)
Complete Agreement; Amendment . This Amendment together with the other Loan Documents represent the entire agreement of the
Borrower and the Bank with respect to the subject matter hereof and thereof, and there are no promises, undertakings, representations or warranties by
the Bank relative to the subject matter hereof not expressly set forth or referred to herein or in the other Loan Documents. This Amendment may not be
modified, amended or otherwise altered except in accordance with the terms of Section 11.6 of the Loan Agreement.
(k)
Severability. Any provision of this Agreement that is prohibited or unenforceable in any jurisdiction shall, as to such jurisdiction, be
ineffective to the extent of such prohibition or unenforceability without invalidating the remaining provisions hereof, and any such prohibition or
unenforceability in any jurisdiction shall not invalidate or render unenforceable such provision in any other jurisdiction.
(l)
Counterparts. This Amendment may be executed by one or more of the parties to this Amendment on any number of separate
counterparts, and all of said counterparts taken together shall be deemed to constitute one and the same instrument. Delivery of an executed signature
page of this Amendment by facsimile or other electronic mail transmission shall be effective as delivery of a manually executed counterpart hereof.

Fourth Amendment to Loan Agreement

(m)
Interpretation. This Amendment is the result of negotiations between and has been reviewed by counsel to Borrower. Accordingly, this
Amendment shall not be construed against the Bank merely because of its involvement in the preparation thereof.
(n)

Loan Document. This Amendment shall constitute a Loan Document.
[Signature pages follow]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Amendment to be duly executed as of the date first above written.
BORROWER:
SUNLIGHT FINANCIAL LLC

By: /s/ Rodney Yoder
Name: Rodney Yoder
Title: Chief Financial Officer
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BANK:
SILICON VALLEY BANK

By: /s/ Shannon Skibicki
Name: Shannon Skibicki
Title: Vice President
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EXHIBIT A
[see attached]
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LOAN AND SECURITY AGREEMENT1
THIS LOAN AND SECURITY AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”) is dated as of April 26, 2021 (the “ Effective Date”) between SILICON
VALLEY BANK, a California corporation (“ Bank”), and SUNLIGHT FINANCIAL LLC , a Delaware limited liability company (“ Borrower”). The
parties agree as follows:
1

LOAN AND TERMS OF PAYMENT

1.1

Revolving Line.

(a)
Availability. Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement and to deduction of Reserves, Bank shall make Advances not
exceeding the (a) the lesser of (i) the Revolving Line and (ii) the Borrowing Base, minus (b) the sum of all outstanding principal amounts of any
Advances. Amounts borrowed under the Revolving Line may be prepaid or repaid and, prior to the Revolving Line Maturity Date, reborrowed, subject
to the applicable terms and conditions precedent herein.
(b)
Termination; Repayment. The Revolving Line terminates on the Revolving Line Maturity Date, when the outstanding principal
amount of all Advances, the accrued and unpaid interest thereon, and all other outstanding Obligations relating to the Revolving Line shall be
immediately due and payable.
1.1
Overadvances. If the aggregate outstanding principal amount of the Advances exceeds the lesser of (a) the Revolving Line or (b) the
Borrowing Base, Borrower shall promptly (but, in any event, within two (2) Business Days after written notice by Bank) prepay to Bank in cash the
Advances in an amount equal to such excess (such excess, the “Overadvance”); provided, however, starting on the date that Bank is notified of such
Overadvance through delivery by Borrower of a Borrowing Base Certificate or other notice, Borrower shall pay Bank interest on the outstanding amount
of any Overadvance at a rate per annum equal to the rate that is otherwise applicable to the Advances plus five percent (5.0%).
1.2

Payment of Interest on the Credit Extensions.

(c)
Interest Payments. Advances. Interest on the principal amount of each Advance is payable in arrears monthly (A) on the first
(1st) Business Day of each month, (B) on the date of any prepayment and (C) on the Revolving Line Maturity Date.
(d)

Interest Rate.
(i)
Advances. Subject to Section 1.3(c), the outstanding principal amount of any Advance shall accrue interest at a
floating rate per annum equal to the greater of (1) [***] and (2) the Prime Rate plus the Prime Rate Margin, which interest shall be
payable in accordance with Section 1.3(a).
(ii)
All-In Rate. Notwithstanding any terms in this Agreement to the contrary, if at any time the interest rate applicable
to any Obligations is less than zero percent (0.0%), such interest rate shall be deemed to be zero percent (0.0%) for all purposes of
this Agreement.

(e)
Default Rate. Immediately upon the occurrence and during the continuance of an Event of Default, the outstanding Obligations
shall bear interest at a rate per annum which is five percent (5.0%) above the rate that is otherwise applicable thereto (the “Default Rate”). Fees and
expenses which are required to be paid by Borrower pursuant to the Loan Documents (including, without limitation, Bank Expenses) but are not paid
when due shall bear interest until paid at a rate equal to the highest rate
1

Conformed through Fourth Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement, dated as of September 20, 2022.
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applicable to the Obligations. Payment or acceptance of the increased interest rate provided in this Section 1.3(c) is not a permitted alternative to timely
payment and shall not constitute a waiver of any Event of Default or otherwise prejudice or limit any rights or remedies of Bank.
(f)
Adjustment to Interest Rate. Each change in the interest rate applicable to any amounts payable under the Loan Documents based
on changes to the Prime Rate shall be effective on the effective date of any change to the Prime Rate and to the extent of such change.
(g)
Interest Computation. Interest shall be computed on the basis of the actual number of days elapsed. In computing interest, the
date of the making of any Credit Extension shall be included and the date of payment shall be excluded; provided, however, that if any Credit Extension
is repaid on the same day on which it is made, such day shall be included in computing interest on such Credit Extension.
1.1

Fees. Borrower shall pay to Bank:
(h)

Revolving Line Commitment Fee. A fully earned, non-refundable commitment fee of $[***] on the Effective Date.

(i)
Termination Fee. Upon termination of this Agreement or the termination of the Revolving Line for any reason, in each case prior
to the Revolving Line Maturity Date, in addition to the payment of any other amounts then-owing, a termination fee in an amount equal to $[***] if such
termination occurs prior to the date that is twenty-one (21) months after the Effective Date, which termination fee shall be fully earned and nonrefundable as of such date; provided that no termination fee shall be charged if the credit facility hereunder is replaced with a new facility from Bank;
(j)
Unused Revolving Line Facility Fee. Payable quarterly in arrears on March 31, 2021, on the last calendar day of each calendar
quarter occurring thereafter prior to the Revolving Line Maturity Date, and on the Revolving Line Maturity Date, a fee (the “Unused Revolving Line
Facility Fee”) in an amount equal to [***] percent ([***]%) per annum of the average unused portion of the Revolving Line, as determined by Bank,
computed on the basis of a year with the applicable number of days as set forth in Section 1.3(e), which shall be fully earned and non-refundable as of
such date. The unused portion of the Revolving Line, for purposes of this calculation, shall be calculated on a calendar year basis and shall equal the
difference between (i) the Revolving Line, and (ii) the average for the period of the daily closing balance of the Revolving Line outstanding; and
(k)

demand by Bank).

Bank Expenses. All Bank Expenses incurred through and after the Effective Date, when due (or, if no stated due date, upon

Unless otherwise provided in this Agreement or in a separate writing by Bank, Borrower shall not be entitled to any credit, rebate, or repayment
of any fees earned by Bank pursuant to this Agreement notwithstanding any termination of this Agreement or the suspension or termination of Bank’s
obligation to make loans and advances hereunder. Bank may deduct amounts owing by Borrower under the clauses of this Section 1.4 pursuant to the
terms of Section 1.5(c). Bank shall provide Borrower written notice of deductions made from the Designated Deposit Account pursuant to the terms of
the clauses of this Section 1.4.
1.2

Payments; Application of Payments; Debit of Accounts.

(l)
All payments (including prepayments) to be made by Borrower under any Loan Document shall be made in immediately
available funds in Dollars, without setoff, counterclaim, or deduction, before 12:00 p.m. Pacific time on the date when due. Payments of principal and/or
interest received after 12:00 p.m. Pacific time are considered received at the opening of business on the next Business Day. When a payment is due on a
day that is not a Business Day, the payment shall be due the next Business Day, and additional fees or interest, as applicable, shall continue to accrue
until paid.
(m)
Bank has the exclusive right to determine the order and manner in which all payments with respect to the Obligations may be
applied. Borrower shall have no right to specify the
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order or the accounts to which Bank shall allocate or apply any payments required to be made by Borrower to Bank or otherwise received by Bank under
this Agreement when any such allocation or application is not specified elsewhere in this Agreement.
(n)
Bank may debit Borrower’s deposit account maintained with Bank titled “SVB Master Operating Account – 0073” for principal
and interest payments or any other amounts Borrower owes Bank when due under the Loan Documents. These debits shall not constitute a set-off.
1.3

Change in Circumstances.

(o)
Increased Costs. If any Change in Law shall: (i) impose, modify or deem applicable any reserve, special deposit, compulsory
loan, insurance charge or similar requirement against assets of, deposits with or for the account of, or advances, loans or other credit extended or
participated in by, Bank, (ii) subject Bank to any Taxes (other than (A) Indemnified Taxes, (B) Taxes described in clauses (b) through (d) of the
definition of Excluded Taxes, and (C) Connection Income Taxes) on its loans, loan principal, letters of credit, commitment, or other obligations, or its
deposits, reserves, other liabilities or capital attributable thereto, or (iii) impose on Bank any other condition, cost or expense (other than Taxes)
affecting this Agreement or Credit Extensions made by Bank, and the result of any of the foregoing shall be to increase the cost to Bank of making,
converting to, continuing or maintaining any Credit Extension (or of maintaining its obligation to make any such Credit Extension), or to reduce the
amount of any sum received or receivable by Bank hereunder (whether of principal, interest or any other amount) then, upon written request of Bank,
Borrower shall promptly pay to Bank such additional amount or amounts as will compensate Bank for such additional costs incurred or reduction
suffered.
(p)
Capital Requirements. If Bank determines that any Change in Law affecting Bank regarding capital or liquidity requirements,
has or would have the effect of reducing the rate of return on Bank’s capital as a consequence of this Agreement, the Revolving Line, any term loan
facility, or the Credit Extensions made by Bank to a level below that which Bank could have achieved but for such Change in Law (taking into
consideration Bank’s policies with respect to capital adequacy and liquidity), then from time to time upon written request of Bank, Borrower shall
promptly pay to Bank such additional amount or amounts as will compensate Bank for any such reduction suffered.
(q)
Delay in Requests. Failure or delay on the part of Bank to demand compensation pursuant to this Section 1.6 shall not constitute
a waiver of Bank’s right to demand such compensation; provided that Borrower shall not be required to compensate Bank pursuant to subsection (a) for
any increased costs incurred or reductions suffered more than six (6) months prior to the date that Bank notifies Borrower of the Change in Law giving
rise to such increased costs or reductions (except that if the Change in Law giving rise to such increased costs or reductions is retroactive, then the six (6)
month period shall be extended to include the period of retroactive effect).
1.3

Taxes.

(r)
Payments Free of Taxes . Any and all payments by or on account of any obligation of Borrower under any Loan Document shall
be made without deduction or withholding for any Taxes, except as required by Applicable Law. If any Applicable Law (as determined in the good faith
discretion of Borrower) requires the deduction or withholding of any Tax from any such payment by Borrower, then (i) Borrower shall be entitled to
make such deduction or withholding, (ii) Borrower shall timely pay the full amount deducted or withheld to the relevant Governmental Authority in
accordance with Applicable Law, and (iii) if such Tax is an Indemnified Tax, the sum payable by Borrower shall be increased as necessary so that after
such deduction or withholding has been made (including such deductions and withholdings applicable to additional sums payable under this Section 1.7)
Bank receives an amount equal to the sum it would have received had no such deduction or withholding been made.
(s)
Payment of Other Taxes by Borrower. Without limiting the provisions of subsection (a) above, Borrower shall timely pay any
Other Taxes to the relevant Governmental Authority in accordance with Applicable Law.
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(t)
Tax Indemnification. Without limiting the provisions of subsections (a) and (b) above, Borrower shall, and does hereby,
indemnify Bank, within ten (10) days after demand therefor, for the full amount of any Indemnified Taxes (including Indemnified Taxes imposed or
asserted on or attributable to amounts payable under this Section 1.7) payable or paid by Bank or required to be withheld or deducted from a payment to
Bank and any reasonable expenses arising therefrom or with respect thereto, whether or not such Indemnified Taxes were correctly or legally imposed or
asserted by the relevant Governmental Authority. A certificate as to the amount of such payment or liability delivered to Borrower by Bank shall be
conclusive absent manifest error.
(u)
Evidence of Payments. As soon as practicable after any payment of Taxes by Borrower to a Governmental Authority pursuant to
this Section 1.7, Borrower shall deliver to Bank a certified copy of a receipt issued by such Governmental Authority evidencing such payment, a copy of
the return reporting such payment or other evidence of such payment reasonably satisfactory to Bank.
(v)
Status of Bank. If Bank (including any assignee or successor) is entitled to an exemption from or reduction of withholding tax
with respect to payments made under any Loan Document, including U.S. federal withholding taxes imposed by FATCA, it shall deliver to Borrower, at
the time or times reasonably requested by Borrower, such properly completed and executed documentation reasonably requested by Borrower as will
permit such payments to be made without withholding or at a reduced rate of withholding. In addition, Bank, if reasonably requested by Borrower, shall
deliver such other documentation prescribed by Applicable Law or reasonably requested by Borrower as will enable Borrower to determine whether or
not Bank is subject to backup withholding or information reporting requirements. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, Bank shall deliver
whichever of IRS Form W-9, IRS Form W-8BEN-E, IRS Form W-8ECI or W-8IMY is applicable, as well as any applicable supporting documentation
or certifications.
(w)
Treatment of Certain Refunds . If any party determines, in its sole discretion exercised in good faith, that it has received a refund
of any Taxes as to which it has been indemnified pursuant to this Section 1.7 (including by the payment of additional amounts pursuant to this Section), it
shall pay to the indemnifying party an amount equal to such refund (but only to the extent of indemnity payments made under this Section with respect to
the Taxes giving rise to such refund), net of all out-of-pocket expenses (including Taxes) of such indemnified party and without interest (other than any
interest paid by the relevant Governmental Authority with respect to such refund). Such indemnifying party, upon the request of such indemnified party,
shall repay to such indemnified party the amount paid over pursuant to this paragraph (f) (plus any penalties, interest or other charges imposed by the
relevant Governmental Authority) in the event that such indemnified party is required to repay such refund to such Governmental Authority.
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this paragraph (f), in no event will the indemnified party be required to pay any amount to an indemnifying
party pursuant to this paragraph (f) the payment of which would place the indemnified party in a less favorable net after-Tax position than the
indemnified party would have been in if the Tax subject to indemnification and giving rise to such refund had not been deducted, withheld or otherwise
imposed and the indemnification payments or additional amounts with respect to such Tax had never been paid. This paragraph shall not be construed to
require any indemnified party to make available its Tax returns (or any other information relating to its Taxes that it deems confidential) to the
indemnifying party or any other Person.
1.1

Procedures for Borrowing.

(x)
Advances. Subject to the prior satisfaction of all other applicable conditions to the making of an Advance set forth in this
Agreement (which must be satisfied no later than 12:00 p.m. Eastern time on the applicable Funding Date), to obtain an Advance, Borrower shall notify
Bank (which notice shall be irrevocable) by 12:00 p.m. Eastern time the Funding Date of the Advance. Such notice shall be made by electronic mail or
by telephone and, together with any such notification, Borrower shall deliver to Bank by electronic mail a completed Payment/Advance Form executed
by an Authorized Signer. Bank may rely on any telephone notice given by a person whom Bank believes is an Authorized Signer. Borrower will
indemnify Bank for any loss Bank suffers due to such belief or reliance. Bank shall have received satisfactory evidence that the Board has approved that
such Authorized Signer may provide such notices and request Advances (which requirement may be deemed satisfied by the prior delivery of Borrowing
Resolutions or a secretary’s certificate that certifies as to such Board approval).
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Bank may make Advances under this Agreement based on instructions from an Authorized Signer or without instructions if the Advances are necessary
to meet Obligations which have become due.
(y)
2

Bank shall credit proceeds of a Credit Extension to the Designated Deposit Account.

CONDITIONS OF CREDIT EXTENSIONS

2.1
Conditions Precedent to Effective Date and Initial Credit Extension. The effectiveness of this Agreement and Bank’s obligation to
make the initial Credit Extension are subject to the condition precedent that Bank shall have received, in form and substance satisfactory to Bank, such
documents, and completion of such other matters, as Bank may reasonably deem necessary or appropriate, including, without limitation:
(z)

duly executed Loan Documents;

(aa)
the Operating Documents of Borrower and long-form good standing certificates of Borrower certified by the Secretary of State of
the State of Delaware and the Secretary of State (or equivalent agency) of each other jurisdiction in which Borrower is qualified to conduct business, in
each case as of a date no earlier than thirty (30) days prior to the Effective Date;
(ab)
certificate duly executed by a Responsible Officer or secretary of Borrower with respect to Borrower attaching (i) its Operating
Documents, (ii) Borrowing Resolutions, (iii) incumbency signatures and (iv) each good standing certificate described in clause (b) above;
(ac)

duly executed payoff letter from [***];

(ad)
evidence that (i) the Liens securing Indebtedness owed by Borrower to [***] under the Existing Credit Facility will be
terminated and (ii) the documents and/or filings evidencing the perfection of such Liens, including without limitation financing statements with file
numbers 20161879350 and 20177360201 and any other financing statements and/or control agreements (other than referenced in Section 2.1(f)), have or
will, concurrently with the initial Credit Extension, be terminated;
(ae)

a copy of the cash collateral agreement entered into in connection with the existing [***] standby letter of credit (the “ [***]”);

(af)
certified copies, dated as of a recent date, of searches for financing statement filed in the central filing office of the State of
Delaware, accompanied by written evidence (including any UCC termination statements) that the Liens on any Collateral indicated in any such financing
statements either constitute Permitted Liens or have been or, in connection with the initial Credit Extension, will be terminated or released;
(ag)

duly executed Perfection Certificate of Borrower;

(ah)

Intellectual Property search results and completed exhibits to the IP Agreement;

(ai)

copies of all Approved Capital Partner Loan Program Agreements in effect as of the Effective Date;

(aj)

a legal opinion of Borrower’s counsel dated as of the Effective Date;

(ak)
evidence satisfactory to Bank that the insurance policies and endorsements required by Section 5.7 hereof are in full force and
effect, together with appropriate evidence showing lender loss payable and additional insured clauses or endorsements in favor of Bank;
(al)

the completion of the Initial Audit; and
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(am)

payment of the fees and Bank Expenses then due as specified in Section 1.4 hereof.

2.2
Conditions Precedent to all Credit Extensions. Bank’s obligation to make each Credit Extension, including the initial Credit
Extension, is subject to the following conditions precedent:

Section 1.8;

(an)

receipt of Borrower’s Credit Extension request and the related materials and documents as required by and in accordance with

(ao)
the representations and warranties in this Agreement shall be true and correct in all material respects as of the date of any Credit
Extension request and as of the Funding Date of each Credit Extension; provided, however, that such materiality qualifier shall not be applicable to any
representations and warranties that already are qualified or modified by materiality in the text thereof; and provided, further that those representations
and warranties expressly referring to a specific date shall be true and correct in all material respects as of such date. Each Credit Extension is Borrower’s
representation and warranty on that date that the representations and warranties in this Agreement remain true and correct in all material respects;
provided, however, that such materiality qualifier shall not be applicable to any representations and warranties that already are qualified or modified by
materiality in the text thereof; and provided, further that those representations and warranties expressly referring to a specific date shall be true and
correct in all material respects as of such date;
(ap)
with respect to such Credit Extension, a completed Borrowing Base Report (and any schedules related thereto) and Monthly
Advance and Takeout Report;
(aq)
as of such Funding Date and after giving effect to such Credit Extension, there shall be no Overadvance and the availability and
borrowing limitations specified in Section 1.1 shall be complied with;
(ar)
no Default or Event of Default shall have occurred as of or on such Funding Date or after giving effect to the Credit Extension
requested on such Funding Date;
(as)
there shall not have occurred since December 31, 2019, any event or condition that has had or would be reasonably expected to
have a Material Adverse Change;
(at)

Bank shall have received all fees, charges and expenses to the extent due and payable to it on or prior to such date pursuant to the

(au)

Borrower shall have provided to Bank all other information that Bank may reasonably require.

Loan Documents; and

2.1
Covenant to Deliver. Borrower shall deliver to Bank each item required to be delivered to Bank under this Agreement as a condition
precedent to any Credit Extension. A Credit Extension made prior to the receipt by Bank of any such item shall not constitute a waiver by Bank of
Borrower’s obligation to deliver such item, and the making of any Credit Extension in the absence of a required item shall be in Bank’s sole discretion.
3

CREATION OF SECURITY INTEREST

3.1

Grant of Security Interest.

(av)
Borrower hereby grants Bank, to secure the payment and performance in full of all of the Obligations, a continuing security
interest in, and pledges to Bank, the Collateral, wherever located, whether now owned or hereafter acquired or arising, and all proceeds and products
thereof.
(aw)
Borrower acknowledges that it previously has entered, or may in the future enter, into Bank Services Agreements with Bank.
Regardless of the terms of any Bank Services Agreement, Borrower agrees that any amounts Borrower owes Bank thereunder shall be deemed to be
Obligations
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hereunder and that it is the intent of Borrower and Bank to have all such Obligations secured by the first priority perfected security interest in the
Collateral granted herein (subject to Permitted Liens).
3.2
Authorization to File Financing Statements. Borrower hereby authorizes Bank to file financing statements, without notice to
Borrower, with all jurisdictions deemed necessary or appropriate by Bank to perfect or protect Bank’s interest or rights hereunder, including a notice that
any disposition of the Collateral, by either Borrower or any other Person, shall be deemed to violate the rights of Bank under the Code. Such financing
statements may indicate the Collateral as “all assets of the Debtor” or words of similar effect.
3.3
Termination. If this Agreement is terminated, Bank’s Lien in the Collateral shall continue until the Obligations (other than inchoate
indemnity obligations) are repaid in full in cash. Upon payment in full in cash of the Obligations (other than inchoate indemnity obligations) and at such
time as Bank’s obligation to make Credit Extensions has terminated, Bank shall, at Borrower’s sole cost and expense, terminate its security interest in
the Collateral and all rights therein shall revert to Borrower. In the event (a) all Obligations (other than inchoate indemnity obligations), except for Bank
Services, are satisfied in full, and (b) this Agreement is terminated, Bank shall terminate the security interest granted herein upon Borrower providing
cash collateral acceptable to Bank in its commercially reasonable discretion for Bank Services, if any.
4

REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES

Borrower represents and warrants as follows:
4.1

Due Organization, Authorization; Power and Authority.

(ax)
Borrower and each of its Subsidiaries are each duly existing and in good standing as a Registered Organization in their respective
jurisdiction of formation and are qualified and licensed to do business and is in good standing in any jurisdiction in which the conduct of their respective
business or their ownership of property requires that they be qualified except where the failure to do so could not reasonably be expected to have a
material adverse effect on Borrower’s business or operations.
(ay)
All information set forth on the Perfection Certificate pertaining to Borrower and each of its Subsidiaries is true and correct (it
being understood and agreed that Borrower may from time to time update certain information in the Perfection Certificate after the Effective Date to the
extent permitted by one or more specific provisions in this Agreement and the Perfection Certificate shall be deemed to be updated to the extent such
notice is provided to Bank of such permitted update).
(az)
The execution, delivery and performance by Borrower and each of its Subsidiaries of the Loan Documents to which it is a party
have been duly authorized, and do not (i) conflict with any of Borrower’s or any such Subsidiary’s organizational documents, (ii) contravene, conflict
with, constitute a default under or violate any material Applicable Law, (iii) contravene, conflict or violate any applicable order, writ, judgment,
injunction, decree, determination or award of any Governmental Authority by which Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries or any of their property or assets
may be bound or affected, (iv) require any action by, filing, registration, or qualification with, or Governmental Approval from, any Governmental
Authority (except such Governmental Approvals which have already been obtained and are in full force and effect), or (v) conflict with, contravene,
constitute a default or breach under, or result in or permit the termination or acceleration of, any material agreement by which Borrower or any of its
Subsidiaries is bound.
(ba)
No Default or Event of Default has occurred and is continuing, nor shall either result from the making of a requested Credit
Extension. Neither Borrower nor any of its Subsidiaries are in default under any Material Contract.
(bb)
Since December 31, 2019, there has been no development or event that has had or would reasonably be expected to have a
Material Adverse Change.
4.2

Collateral.
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(bc)
The security interest granted herein is and shall at all times continue to be a first priority perfected security interest in the
Collateral (subject to Permitted Liens). Borrower has good title to, rights in, and the power to transfer each item of the Collateral upon which it purports
to grant a Lien hereunder, free and clear of any and all Liens except Permitted Liens.
(bd)
Borrower has no Collateral Accounts at or with any bank or financial institution other than Bank or Bank’s Affiliates except (i)
for the Collateral Accounts described in the Perfection Certificate delivered to Bank in connection herewith and (ii) for which Borrower has taken such
actions as are necessary to give Bank a perfected security interest therein pursuant to the terms of Section 5.8(c) (other than the Excluded Accounts).
(be)
The Collateral is not in the possession of any third party bailee (such as a warehouse) except as otherwise provided in the
Perfection Certificate or as permitted pursuant to Section 6.2. None of the components of the Collateral shall be maintained at locations other than as
provided in the Perfection Certificate or as permitted pursuant to Section 6.2.
(bf)
Borrower owns, or possesses the right to use to the extent necessary in its business, all Intellectual Property, licenses and other
intangible assets that are used in the conduct of its business as now operated, except to the extent that such failure to own or possess the right to use such
asset would not reasonably be expected to have a material adverse effect on Borrower’s business or operations, and no such asset, to the best knowledge
of Borrower, conflicts with the valid Intellectual Property, license, or intangible asset of any other Person to the extent that such conflict would
reasonably be expected to have a material adverse effect on Borrower’s business or operations.
(bg)
4.1

Borrower is not a party to, nor is it bound by, any Restricted License.

Installer Advances.

(bh)
For each Installer Advance included in the most recent Borrowing Base Report, on the date each Advance is requested and made,
such Installer Advance shall be an Eligible Installer Advance.
(bi)
All statements made by Borrower and all information provided by Borrower, and to the best of Borrower’s knowledge, all
statements made by the relevant Installer and all information provided by the relevant Installer, appearing in all documents evidencing the Eligible
Installer Advances are and shall be true and correct in all material respects, and all such documents and all of Borrower’s Books are genuine and are
what they purport to be. To the best of Borrower’s knowledge, all signatures and endorsements on all documents, instruments, and agreements relating
to all Eligible Advances are genuine, and all such documents, instruments and agreements are legally enforceable in accordance with their terms except
to the extent that enforceability may be limited by bankruptcy or insolvency laws and general principles of equity. There are no defenses, offsets,
counterclaims or agreements for which an Installer may claim any deduction or discount.
(bj)
All transactions underlying or giving rise to each Eligible Installer Advance (i) shall comply in all material respects with the
applicable Installer Agreement (including in all material respects all applicable requirements set forth in any applicable Installer Agreement relating to
“Approved Engineering Standards,” “Approved Solar System Equipment,” “Additional Qualification Criteria,” “Borrower Qualification Criteria,”
“Installer Qualification Guidelines,” “Pricing Supplement,” “Program Specifications,” and “Solar System Qualification Criteria”) and in all material
respects with all Applicable Law and (ii) shall not require consent or approval of, or notice to, any Person (except such consents or approvals that have
already been obtained or that will be maintained prior to the creation of such Eligible Installer Advance) and are in full force and effect, or such notices
that have already been delivered.
(bk)
Borrower has no knowledge of any actual or imminent Insolvency Proceeding of any Installer whose Installer Advances are
Eligible Installer Advances in any Borrowing Base Report.
(bl)

Each Installer Advance and Installer is approved in accordance with the Installer Underwriting Policy.
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(bm)
Each Installer Advance and all related Installer Agreements shall have been duly authorized, are in full force and effect and shall
represent a legal, or valid and binding payment obligation of the parties thereto enforceable in accordance with their respective terms, except to the
extent that enforceability may be limited by bankruptcy or insolvency laws and general principles of equity.
4.3

Approved Capital Partners; Originated Customer Loans.

(bn)
All statements made by Borrower and all information provided by Borrower, and to the best of Borrower’s knowledge, all
statements made by the relevant Customer and all information provided by the relevant Customer, appearing in all documents evidencing the Originated
Customer Loans (except with respect to Originated Customer Loans representing an immaterial portion of the total Originated Customer Loans) are and
shall be true and correct in all material respects, and all such documents and, to the best of Borrower’s knowledge, all of Installer’s Books are genuine
and what they purport to be, in each case, in respect of such Originated Customer Loans. To the best of Borrower’s knowledge, all signatures and
endorsements on all documents, instruments, and agreements relating to all Originated Customer Loans (except with respect to Originated Customer
Loans representing an immaterial portion of the total Originated Customer Loans) are genuine, and all such documents, instruments and agreements are
legally enforceable in accordance with their terms except to the extent that enforceability may be limited by bankruptcy or insolvency laws and general
principles of equity. There are no defenses, offsets, counterclaims or agreements for which a Customer may claim any deduction or discount with respect
to any Originated Customer Loan (except with respect to Originated Customer Loans representing an immaterial portion of the total Originated
Customer Loans).
(bo)
All transactions underlying or giving rise to each Originated Customer Loan (including the facilitation and arrangement thereof
by Borrower, the origination thereof by the applicable Approved Capital Partner, and the holding and administration thereof), except with respect to
Originated Customer Loans representing an immaterial portion of the total Originated Customer Loans (i) shall comply in all material respects with the
applicable Installer Agreement and Approved Capital Partner Loan Program Agreement and in all material respects with all Applicable Law, including
any applicable usury laws and Credit Protection Laws and (ii) shall not require consent or approval of, or notice to, any Person (except such consents or
approvals that have already been obtained and are in full force and effect, or such notices that have already been delivered).
(bp)

Borrower has no knowledge of any actual or imminent Insolvency Proceeding of any Approved Capital Partner.

(bq)
Each Originated Customer Loan (except with respect to Originated Customer Loans representing an immaterial portion of the
total Originated Customer Loans) and all related Installer Agreements and Approved Capital Partner Loan Program Agreements shall have been duly
authorized, are in full force and effect and shall represent a legal, or valid and binding payment obligation of the parties thereto enforceable in
accordance with their respective terms, except to the extent that enforceability may be limited by bankruptcy or insolvency laws and general principles of
equity.
(br)
Borrower represents and warrants that (i) each Installer Advance made by Borrower constitutes an advance by Borrower of an
amount less than or equal to Originated Customer Loan Funded Amount by an Approved Capital Partner and no Approved Capital Partner shall be
obligated to originate an Originated Customer Loan prior to the satisfaction of the “Substantial Completion”, “Final Completion,” “PTO Completion”
and the Approved Capital Partner Funding Conditions in respect of the Home Improvement Project financed pursuant to such Originated Customer
Loans and in accordance with the applicable Installer Agreement and (ii) the aggregate amount funded (or deemed funded, to the extent of any set-offs or
netting) by each Approved Capital Partner for each applicable Originated Customer Loan shall be the Originated Customer Loan Funded Amount for
such Originated Customer Loan.
(bs)
To Borrower’s knowledge, the property and services giving rise to each Originated Customer Loan has been delivered or
rendered to the applicable Customer with respect thereto or to such Customer’s agent.
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(bt)
Each Originated Customer Loan represents a bona fide transaction created by the lending of money by the Approved Capital
Partner to the applicable Customer thereunder that has been facilitated by Borrower in the ordinary course of the business in each case pursuant to the
applicable Approved Capital Partner Loan Program Agreement and the documents contemplated thereby, including the loan agreement entered into
between the Approved Capital Partner and the Customer. Borrower arranges for the origination of Originated Customer Loans in compliance in all
material respects with the applicable Approved Capital Partner Underwriting Policy issued by its respective Approved Capital Partner and in accordance
in all material respects with the Approved Capital Partner Funding Conditions.
(bu)
Each Approved Capital Partner Loan Program Agreement establishes committed obligations on the part of each applicable
Approved Capital Partner to originate Originated Customer Loans meeting the conditions and criteria of the Approved Capital Partner Underwriting
Policies upon the satisfaction of the “Substantial Completion”, “Final Completion”, “PTO Completion” and the Approved Capital Partner Funding
Conditions in respect of the Home Improvement Project financed pursuant to such Originated Customer Loan, and no other condition or document shall
be required to be satisfied or delivered in order for Approved Capital Partner to originate such Originated Customer Loan.
4.2
Litigation. Other than as set forth in the Perfection Certificate or as disclosed to Bank pursuant to Section 5.3(k), there are no actions,
investigations or proceedings pending or, to the knowledge of any Responsible Officer, threatened in writing by or against Borrower or any of its
Subsidiaries involving more than, individually or in the aggregate, $100,000.00.
4.3
Financial Statements; Financial Condition. All consolidated financial statements for Borrower and any of its Subsidiaries delivered to
Bank fairly present in all material respects Borrower’s consolidated and consolidating financial condition and Borrower’s consolidated and consolidating
results of operations for the periods covered thereby, subject, in the case of unaudited financial statements, to normal year-end adjustments and the
absence of footnote disclosures. There has not been any material deterioration in Borrower’s consolidated and consolidating financial condition since the
date of the most recent financial statements submitted to Bank.
4.4
Solvency. On a consolidated and consolidating basis, the fair salable value of Borrower’s assets (including goodwill minus disposition
costs) exceeds the fair value of Borrower’s liabilities; Borrower is not left with unreasonably small capital after the transactions in this Agreement; and
Borrower and each of its Subsidiaries are able to pay their debts (including trade debts) as they mature.
4.5
Regulatory Compliance. Borrower is not an “investment company” or a company “controlled” by an “investment company” under the
Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended. Borrower is not engaged as one of its important activities in extending credit for margin stock (under
Regulations X, T and U of the Federal Reserve Board of Governors). Borrower and each of its Subsidiaries (a) have complied in all material respects
with all Applicable Law, and (b) have not violated any Applicable Law the violation of which would reasonably be expected to have a material adverse
effect on Borrower’s business or operations. Borrower and each of its Subsidiaries have duly complied with, and their respective facilities, business,
assets, property, leaseholds, real property and Equipment are in compliance with, Environmental Laws, except where the failure to do so would not
reasonably be expected to have a material adverse effect on Borrower’s business or operations; there have been no outstanding citations, notices or
orders of non-compliance issued to Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries or relating to their respective facilities, businesses, assets, property, leaseholds,
real property or Equipment under such Environmental Laws. Borrower and each of its Subsidiaries have obtained all consents, approvals and
authorizations of, made all declarations or filings with, and given all notices to, all Governmental Authorities that are necessary to continue their
respective businesses as currently conducted, except where the failure to obtain or make or file the same would not reasonably be expected to have a
material adverse effect on Borrower’s business or operations.
4.6
Subsidiaries; Investments. Borrower does not own any stock, partnership, or other ownership interest or other equity securities except
for Permitted Investments.
4.7

Tax Returns and Payments; Pension Contributions.
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(bv)
Borrower and each of its Subsidiaries have timely filed, or submitted extensions for, all required Tax returns and reports, and
Borrower and each of its Subsidiaries have timely paid all foreign, federal, state and local Taxes, assessments, deposits and contributions owed by
Borrower and each of its Subsidiaries except (i) to the extent such Taxes are being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings promptly instituted
and diligently conducted, so long as such reserve or other appropriate provision, if any, as shall be required in conformity with GAAP shall have been
made therefor, (ii) if such Taxes, assessments, deposits and contributions do not, individually or in the aggregate, exceed $5,000.00 or (iii) as set forth on
the Perfection Certificate delivered as of the Effective Date. Borrower is unaware of any claims or adjustments proposed for any of Borrower’s or any of
its Subsidiary’s prior tax years which could reasonably be expected to result in additional Taxes becoming due and payable by Borrower or any of its
Subsidiaries in excess of $5,000.00 in the aggregate.
(bw)
Borrower and each of its Subsidiaries have paid all amounts necessary to fund all present pension, profit sharing and deferred
compensation plans in accordance with their terms, and neither Borrower nor any of its Subsidiaries has withdrawn from participation in, and has not
permitted partial or complete termination of, or permitted the occurrence of any other event with respect to, any such plan which could reasonably be
expected to result in any liability of Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries, including any liability to the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation or its
successors or any other Governmental Authority.
4.4
Full Disclosure. No written representation, warranty or other statement of Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries in any report, certificate or
written statement given to Bank, as of the date such representation, warranty, or other statement was made, taken together with all such reports,
certificates and written statements given to Bank, contains any untrue statement of a material fact or omits to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements contained in the reports, certificates or written statements not misleading in light of the circumstances under which they were made (it being
recognized by Bank that the projections and forecasts provided by Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries in good faith and based upon reasonable
assumptions are not viewed as facts and that actual results during the period or periods covered by such projections and forecasts may differ from the
projected or forecasted results).
4.5
Sanctions. Neither Borrower nor any of its Subsidiaries is: (a) in violation of any Sanctions; or (b) a Sanctioned Person. Neither
Borrower nor any of its Subsidiaries, directors, officers, employees, agents or Affiliates: (i) conducts any business or engages in any transaction or
dealing with any Sanctioned Person, including making or receiving any contribution of funds, goods or services to or for the benefit of any Sanctioned
Person; (ii) deals in, or otherwise engages in any transaction relating to, any property or interests in property blocked pursuant to any Sanctions; (iii)
engages in or conspires to engage in any transaction that evades or avoids, or has the purpose of evading or avoiding, or attempts to violate, any of the
prohibitions set forth in any Sanctions; or (iv) otherwise engages in any transaction that could reasonably be expected to cause Bank to violate any
Sanctions.
5

AFFIRMATIVE COVENANTS

Borrower shall do all of the following:
5.1
Use of Proceeds. Cause the proceeds of the Credit Extensions to be used solely (a) as working capital or (b) to fund its general business
purposes, and not for personal, family, household or agricultural purposes.
5.2

Government Compliance.

(bx)
Maintain its and all of its Subsidiaries’ legal existence (except as permitted under Section 6.3 with respect to Subsidiaries only)
and good standing in their respective jurisdictions of formation and maintain qualification in each jurisdiction in which the failure to so qualify would
reasonably be expected to have a material adverse effect on Borrower’s business or operations.

subject.

(by)

Comply, and have each Subsidiary comply, in all material respects, with all laws, ordinances and regulations to which it is
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(bz)
Obtain all of the Governmental Approvals necessary for the performance by Borrower and each of its Subsidiaries of their
obligations under the Loan Documents to which it is a party, including any grant of a security interest to Bank. Borrower shall promptly provide copies
of any such obtained Governmental Approvals to Bank.
5.3

Financial Statements, Reports, Certificates. Deliver to Bank:

(ca)
Borrowing Base Report. A Borrowing Base Report (and any schedules related thereto and including any other information as
Bank may reasonably requested with respect to the Installer Advances) within seven (7) days after the end of each month;
(cb)
Monthly Advance and Takeout Report . Within thirty (30) days after the end of each month, a report of a Responsible Officer of
Borrower in form and substance satisfactory to Bank setting forth (i) monthly Milestone Advance agings, aged by advance date, (ii) monthly Prefunded
Advance agings, aged by advance date and (iii) such other reports as are requested by Bank in its commercially reasonable discretion (the “Monthly
Advance and Takeout Report”).
(cc)
Monthly Cancellation Report. Within thirty (30) days after the end of each month, a Monthly Cancellation Report of a
Responsible Officer of Borrower.
(cd)
Monthly Quarterly Financial Statements. As soon as available, but no later than thirty (30) days after the end of each month
quarter, a company prepared consolidated and consolidating balance sheet and income statement covering Borrower’s and each of its Subsidiaries’
operations for such month quarter certified by a Responsible Officer and in a form reasonably acceptable to the Bank; provided that upon the
consummation of the Spartan Merger, Bank and Borrower agree to discuss in good faith an amendment to this Agreement regarding the frequency of
reporting obligations.
(ce)
Annual Audited Financial Statements . As soon as available, and in any event within one-hundred and eighty (180) days
following the end of Borrower’s fiscal year, audited consolidated and consolidating financial statements prepared under GAAP, consistently applied,
together with an unqualified opinion on the financial statements from an independent certified public accounting firm reasonably acceptable to Bank.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, documents required to be delivered under this Section 5.3(e) (to the extent any such documents are included in materials
otherwise filed with the SEC) may be delivered electronically and if so delivered, shall be deemed to have been delivered on the date on which
Borrower, Parent, or any of their respective Subsidiaries files such documents with the SEC and such documents are publicly available on the SEC’s
EDGAR filing system or any successor thereto, provided, however, that notwithstanding the foregoing, Borrower shall promptly provide such
documents to Bank following Bank’s request therefor;
(cf)
Compliance Certificate. Within 30 days after the last day end of each month quarter and together with each of the statements set
forth in Section 5.3(d) and (e), a duly completed Compliance Certificate signed by a Responsible Officer, certifying that as of the end of such month
quarter or year (as applicable), Borrower was in full compliance with all of the terms and conditions of this Agreement, and setting forth calculations
showing compliance with the financial covenants set forth in this Agreement and such other information as Bank may reasonably request, including,
without limitation, current as of the delivery date of such Compliance Certificate, the aggregate amount of Borrower Purchased Customer Loans and the
applicable capital partners therefor;
(cg)
Annual Operating Budget and Financial Projections. Within sixty (60) days after the end of each fiscal year of Borrower, and
contemporaneously with any updates or amendments thereto, (i) annual operating budgets (including income statements, balance sheets and cash flow
statements, by month) for the upcoming fiscal year of Borrower, and (ii) annual financial projections for the following fiscal year (on a monthly basis),
in each case as approved by the Board, together with any related business forecasts used in the preparation of such annual financial projections;
(ch)
SEC Filings. In the event that Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries becomes subject to the reporting requirements under the
Exchange Act within five (5) days of filing, notification of the filing and copies of all periodic and other reports, proxy statements and other materials
filed by
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Borrower, Parent, and/or any of their respective Subsidiaries or any Guarantor with the SEC, any Governmental Authority succeeding to any or all of the
functions of the SEC or with any national securities exchange, or distributed to its shareholders, as the case may be. Documents required to be delivered
pursuant to the terms hereof (to the extent any such documents are included in materials otherwise filed with the SEC) may be delivered electronically
and if so delivered, shall be deemed to have been delivered on the date on which Borrower, Parent, and/or any of their respective Subsidiaries files such
documents with the SEC and such documents are publicly available on the SEC’s EDGAR filing system or any successor thereto, provided, however,
that notwithstanding the foregoing, Borrower shall promptly provide such documents to Bank following Bank’s request therefor;
(ci)
Security Holder Reports. Within five (5) days of delivery, copies of all material statements, reports and notices made available to
Borrower’s security holders (excluding materials, following the Spartan Merger, that are not material and are among SL Financial LLC, a Delaware
limited liability company, SL Financial Investor I LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, SL Financial Investor II LLC, a Delaware limited liability
company, Sunlight Financial Holdings Inc., a Delaware corporation formerly known as Spartan Acquisition Corp. II, and any other direct or indirect
owner of Borrower); provided that with respect to any materials provided to members of Borrower’s Board, Borrower may redact (i) any portions of such
materials that are subject to attorney-client privilege, and (ii) any portions of such materials that result in a conflict of interest between Borrower, on the
one hand, and Bank, on the other hand, in each case, as determined in good faith by Borrower;
(cj)
Beneficial Ownership Information . Prompt written notice of any changes to the beneficial ownership information set out in
Section 14 of the Perfection Certificate; provided that, upon the (i) consummation of the Spartan Merger and (ii) Borrower’s delivery of a written
certification to Bank that the public-company exemption applies to the requirement of Borrower to deliver notices of changes to its beneficial ownership
information, Borrower shall have no obligation to provide further changes to beneficial ownership information so long as such exemption continues to
apply. Borrower understands and acknowledges that Bank relies on such true, accurate and up-to-date beneficial ownership information to meet Bank’s
regulatory obligations to obtain, verify and record information about the beneficial owners of its legal entity customers;
(ck)
Legal Action Notice . Prompt written notice of any legal actions, investigations or proceedings pending or threatened in writing
against Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries that would reasonably be expected to result in damages or costs to Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries of,
individually, $250,000 or more or in the aggregate, $1,000,000.00 or more;
(cl)
Tort Claim Notice . If Borrower shall acquire a commercial tort claim, Borrower shall promptly notify Bank in a writing signed
by Borrower of the general details thereof and grant to Bank in such writing a security interest therein and in the proceeds thereof, all upon the terms of
this Agreement, with such writing to be in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to Bank;
(cm)
Government Filings. Within five (5) Business Days after the same are sent or received, copies of all material correspondence,
reports, documents and other filings by Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries with any Governmental Authority, other than Routine Inquiries, regarding
compliance with or maintenance of material Governmental Approvals or Applicable Law that could reasonably be expected to have a material effect on
any of the material Governmental Approvals or otherwise on the business of Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries;
(cn)
Registered Organization. If Borrower is not a Registered Organization as of the Effective Date but later becomes one, promptly
notify Bank of such occurrence and provide Bank with Borrower’s organizational identification number;
(co)
Default; MAE. Prompt written notice of the occurrence of a Default, Event of Default or any event or condition that has had or
would be reasonably expected to have a Material Adverse Change;
(cp)
Certain Material Contracts. Promptly, from time to time upon the Bank’s request copies of any (i) Approved Capital Partner
Loan Program Agreements (to the extent not subject to
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confidentiality obligations, which such confidentiality obligations have not been waived by the relevant Approved Capital Partner after good faith efforts
by Borrower; provided that Borrower may redact pricing and other competitively sensitive information from such agreements), (ii) Installer Agreements
and (iii) agreements relating to Originated Customer Loans, together with all schedules, exhibits, annexes or other attachments thereto, provided that the
relevant Approved Capital Partner has provided any necessary consents for such disclosure (it being agreed that Borrower shall use commercially
reasonable efforts to obtain all such necessary consent for disclosure) and that all personally identifiable information or other private customer
information has been redacted or Borrower and Bank mutually agree that such information need not be redacted; and
(cq)
Other Information. Promptly, from time to time, such other information regarding Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries or
compliance with the terms of any Loan Documents as reasonably requested by Bank.
5.1

Installer Advances; Originated Customer Loans.

(cr)
Maintain commercially reasonable credit underwriting and operating standards, including with respect to Installer Advances and
each Originated Customer Loan, the completion of a commercially reasonable underwriting process of the applicable Installer and the applicable
Customer (respectively) and the determination that the credit history of such Installer and Customer is and will be satisfactory.
(cs)
(i) Maintain, and cause Installers to maintain, a complete, accurate and up-to-date record of all documentation executed and
delivered in connection with each Installer Advance and each Originated Customer Loan; (ii) subject to Section 5.6, provide to Bank the right to access
and review at all times, on reasonable notice, any and all such documentation held by Borrower together with any other data and other information
related thereto as may be inputted to or stored within Borrower’s Books, computers and/or computer records including diskettes, databases, tapes,
platforms, applications and other computer software and computer systems; (iii) subject to Section 5.6, promptly upon Bank’s reasonable request, furnish
Bank with copies of any of the foregoing (other than Originated Customer Loans or related loan documentation).
(ct)
Promptly notify Bank of all material disputes or claims relating to any Installer Advance or Originated Customer Loan other
than routine disputes or claims received in the ordinary course of business that would not reasonably be expected to have a material adverse effect on a
material number of the Originated Customer Loans. For the avoidance of doubt, any (i) cancellation or (ii) change of orders, in either case, which (x)
relates to Home Improvement Projects, (y) occurs in the ordinary course of business and (z) would not reasonably be expected to impact the eligibility
thereof for purposes of calculating the Borrowing Base, are excluded from this clause (c).
(cu)
Borrower shall, and shall use commercially reasonable efforts to cause each Approved Capital Partner and each Installer to,
deliver and transmit all amounts to be paid or paid to Borrower in connection with any Originated Customer Loan (including the Originated Customer
Loan Funded Amount) into a Deposit Account maintained with Bank.
5.4

Taxes; Pensions.

(cv)
Timely file, and require each of its Subsidiaries to timely file (in each case, unless subject to a valid extension), all required Tax
returns and reports and timely pay, and require each of its Subsidiaries to timely pay, all foreign, federal, state and local Taxes, assessments, deposits and
contributions owed by Borrower and each of its Subsidiaries, except for deferred payment of any Taxes contested pursuant to the terms of Section
4.10(a) hereof, and shall deliver to Bank, on demand, appropriate certificates attesting to such payments, and pay, and require each of its Subsidiaries to
pay, all amounts necessary to fund all present pension, profit sharing and deferred compensation plans in accordance with their terms.
(cw)
To the extent Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries defers payment of any contested Taxes, (i) notify Bank in writing of the
commencement of, and any material development in, the
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proceedings, and (ii) post bonds or take any other steps required to prevent the Governmental Authority levying such contested Taxes from obtaining a
Lien upon any of the Collateral that is other than a “Permitted Lien.”
5.2

Access to Collateral; Books and Records.

(cx)
At reasonable times, on five (5) Business Days’ notice (provided no notice is required if an Event of Default has occurred and is
continuing), Bank, or its agents, shall have the right to inspect the Collateral and the right to audit and copy Borrower’s Books. Such inspections and
audits shall be conducted no more often than once every twelve (12) months, unless an Event of Default has occurred and is continuing in which case
such inspections and audits shall occur as often as Bank shall determine is necessary. The foregoing inspections and audits shall be conducted at
Borrower’s expense and the charge therefor shall be $1,000.00 per person per day plus reasonable and documented out-of-pocket expenses to the extent
that such expenses and charges shall not exceed $50,000 per annum in the aggregate. In the event Borrower and Bank schedule an audit more than eight
(8) days in advance, and Borrower cancels or seeks to or reschedules the audit with less than eight (8) days written notice to Bank, then (without limiting
any of Bank’s rights or remedies) Borrower shall pay Bank a fee of $2,000.00 plus any out-of-pocket expenses incurred by Bank to compensate Bank for
the anticipated costs and expenses of the cancellation or rescheduling.
(cy)
(i) Keep proper books of records and account, at the location listed in Section 4(a) of the Perfection Certificate delivered on the
Effective Date (or such other location approved in writing by Bank in its sole discretion), in which full, true and correct entries in conformity with GAAP
and all Applicable Law in all material respects shall be made of all dealings and transactions in relation to its business and activities, (ii) set up and
maintain on its books such reserves as may be required by GAAP with respect to doubtful Installer Advances and Originated Customer Loans and all
Taxes, assessments, charges, levies and claims and with respect to its business and (iii) maintain a revenue recognition method in accordance with
GAAP.
(cz)
Borrower shall maintain at all times (other than for ordinary maintenance, updates and upgrades) a software platform for the
facilitation as well as the origination of Originated Customer Loans (the “Platform”). The Platform will check each applicant’s eligibility for
membership with each applicable Approved Capital Partner (if such Approved Capital Partner is a credit union) in accordance with the Approved Capital
Partner Loan Program Agreement. The Platform will perform the credit application processing, credit history review, and initial credit decisioning, as
well as the generation of the complete loan documentation and the credit union membership application, in conformance with the Approved Capital
Partner Underwriting Policies. In the event an application for a Customer is processed, the Platform will generate the application and the loan documents
therefor and provide them to the applicable Approved Capital Partner through a secure site.
5.5

Insurance.

(da)
Keep its business and the Collateral insured for risks and in amounts as customarily are insured against by other Persons engaged
in the same or similar businesses as Borrower and as Bank may reasonably request. Insurance policies shall be in a form, with financially sound and
reputable insurance companies that are not Affiliates of Borrower, and in amounts that are satisfactory to Bank.
(db)
All property policies shall have a lender’s loss payable endorsement showing Bank as lender loss payee. All liability policies
shall show, or have endorsements showing, Bank as an additional insured. Bank shall be named as lender loss payee and/or additional insured with
respect to any such insurance providing coverage in respect of any Collateral.
(dc)

Ensure that proceeds payable under any property policy are, at Bank’s option, payable to Bank on account of the Obligations.

(dd)
At Bank’s request, Borrower shall deliver certified copies of insurance policies and evidence of all premium payments. Each
provider of any such insurance required under this Section
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5.77 shall agree, by endorsement upon the policy or policies issued by it or by independent instruments furnished to Bank, that it will give Bank thirty
(30) days’ prior written notice before any such policy or policies shall be canceled or altered in any material respect. If Borrower fails to obtain insurance
as required under this Section 5.7 or to pay any amount or furnish any required proof of payment to third persons and Bank, Bank may make all or part of
such payment or obtain such insurance policies required in this Section 5.7, and take any action under the policies Bank deems prudent.
5.1

Accounts.

(de)
On and after the date that is forty-five (45) calendar days after the Effective Date, maintain all of Borrower’s, any of its
Subsidiaries’, and any Guarantor’s operating accounts, depository accounts and excess cash with Bank or Bank’s Affiliates other than the CRB Reserve
Accounts and Permitted Warehouse Accounts.
(df)
In addition to the foregoing, Borrower, any Subsidiary of Borrower and any Guarantor, shall obtain any business credit card,
letters of credit and cash management services exclusively from Bank.
(dg)
In addition to and without limiting the restrictions in (a), Borrower shall provide Bank five (5) days’ prior written notice before
establishing any Collateral Account at or with any bank or financial institution other than Bank or Bank’s Affiliates. For each such Collateral Account
that Borrower at any time maintains (including for the avoidance of doubt any Collateral Account maintained by Borrower as of the Effective Date),
Borrower shall on and after the date that is forty-five (45) calendar days after the Effective Date (or such longer period as Bank shall agree in its
reasonable discretion) cause the applicable bank or financial institution (other than Bank) at or with which any Collateral Account is maintained to
execute and deliver a Control Agreement or other appropriate instrument with respect to such Collateral Account to perfect Bank’s Lien in such
Collateral Account in accordance with the terms hereunder which Control Agreement may not be terminated without the prior written consent of Bank.
The provisions of the previous sentence shall not apply to any Excluded Account.
5.6

Financial Covenants.

(dh)
Liquidity. Maintain at all times, subject to periodic reporting, Liquidity in an amount equal to or greater than the greater of (a)
thirty-five percent (35%) of the sum of all outstanding principal amounts of any Advances and (b) $10,000,000.00.
(di)
Available Takeout Commitment Amounts . Maintain at all times, subject to periodic reporting, Available Takeout Commitment
Amounts in an amount equal to or greater than $200,000,000.
(dj)
EBITDA. Maintain EBITDA for the six-month period ended as of each measurement date, of at least $5,000,000.00 measured as
of the end of each fiscal month quarter.
5.3

Protection and Registration of Intellectual Property Rights.

(dk)
(i) Protect, defend and maintain the validity and enforceability of Borrower’s and each Subsidiary’s Intellectual Property, except
to the extent that such failure to do so would not reasonably be expected to have a material adverse effect on Borrower’s business or operations; (ii)
promptly advise Bank in writing of infringements or any other event that would reasonably be expected to materially and adversely affect the value
Borrower’s and each Subsidiary’s Intellectual Property; and (iii) not allow any Intellectual Property material to Borrower’s or any Subsidiary’s business
to be abandoned, forfeited or dedicated to the public without Bank’s written consent.
(dl)
If Borrower (i) obtains any Patent, registered Trademark, registered Copyright, registered mask work, or any pending application
for any of the foregoing, whether as owner, licensee or otherwise, or (ii) applies for any Patent or the registration of any Trademark, then Borrower shall
provide written notice thereof to Bank within one (1) Business Day and shall execute such intellectual property security agreements and other documents
and take such other actions as Bank may request in its

19
SVB Confidential

commercially reasonable discretion to perfect and maintain a first priority perfected security interest in favor of Bank in such property within five (5)
Business Days of such request. If Borrower intends to register any Copyrights or mask works in the United States Copyright Office, Borrower shall: (x)
provide Bank with at least fifteen (15) days prior written notice of Borrower’s registration of such Copyrights or mask works together with a copy of the
application it intends to file with the United States Copyright Office (excluding exhibits thereto); (y) prior to the date of registration of the Copyrights or
mask works described in (x), execute an intellectual property security agreement and such other documents and take such other actions as Bank may
request in its commercially reasonable discretion to perfect and maintain a first priority perfected security interest in favor of Bank in such Copyrights or
mask works; and (z) record such intellectual property security agreement with the United States Copyright Office contemporaneously with filing the
Copyright or mask work application(s) with the United States Copyright Office. Borrower shall promptly provide to Bank copies of all applications that
it files for Patents or for the registration of Trademarks, Copyrights or mask works, together with evidence of the recording of the intellectual property
security agreement required for Bank to perfect and maintain a first priority perfected security interest in such property.
(dm)
Provide written notice to Bank within ten (10) Business Days of entering or becoming bound by any Restricted License (other
than over-the-counter software that is commercially available to the public). Borrower shall take such steps as Bank requests to obtain the consent of, or
waiver by, any person whose consent or waiver is necessary for (i) any such Restricted License to be deemed “Collateral” and for Bank to have a
security interest in it that might otherwise be restricted or prohibited by law or by the terms of any such Restricted License, whether now existing or
entered into in the future, and (ii) Bank to have the ability in the event of a liquidation of any Collateral to dispose of such Collateral in accordance with
Bank’s rights and remedies under this Agreement and the other Loan Documents.
5.7
Litigation Cooperation. From the date hereof and continuing through the termination of this Agreement, make available to Bank,
without expense to Bank, Borrower and its officers, employees and agents and Borrower’s books and records, to the extent that Bank may deem them
reasonably necessary to prosecute or defend any third-party suit or proceeding instituted by or against Bank with respect to any Collateral or relating to
Borrower.
5.8

Online Banking.

(dn)
Utilize Bank’s online banking platform for all matters requested by Bank which may include, without limitation (and without
request by Bank for the following matters), requesting approval for exceptions, requesting Credit Extensions, and uploading financial statements and
other reports required to be delivered by this Agreement (including, without limitation, those described in Section 5.3 of this Agreement).
(do)
Comply with the terms of Bank’s Online Banking Agreement as in effect from time to time and ensure that all persons utilizing
Bank’s online banking platform are duly authorized to do so by an Administrator. Bank shall be entitled to assume the authenticity, accuracy and
completeness of any information, instruction or request for a Credit Extension submitted via Bank’s online banking platform and to further assume that
any submissions or requests made via Bank’s online banking platform have been duly authorized by an Administrator.
5.2
Formation or Acquisition of Subsidiaries. Notwithstanding and without limiting the negative covenants contained in Sections 6.3 and
6.7 hereof, at the time that Borrower or any Guarantor forms any Subsidiary or acquires any Subsidiary after the Effective Date (including, without
limitation, pursuant to a Division), Borrower and such Guarantor shall (a) cause such new Subsidiary to provide to Bank a guaranty to become a
Guarantor hereunder (as determined by Bank in its sole discretion), together with documentation, all in form and substance satisfactory to Bank
(including being sufficient to grant Bank a first priority Lien (subject to Permitted Liens) in and to the assets of such newly formed or acquired
Subsidiary), (b) provide to Bank appropriate certificates and powers and financing statements, pledging all of the direct or beneficial ownership interest
in such new Subsidiary, in form and substance satisfactory to Bank; and (c) provide to Bank all other documentation in form and substance satisfactory
to Bank, including one or more opinions of counsel satisfactory to Bank, which in its opinion is
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appropriate with respect to the execution and delivery of the applicable documentation referred to above; provided however clauses (a), (b) and (c) under
this Section 5.13 hereof shall not be applicable to any Permitted Warehouse SPV. Any document, agreement, or instrument executed or issued pursuant
to this Section 5.13 shall be a Loan Document.
5.3
Further Assurances. (a) Execute any further instruments and take such further action as Bank reasonably requests to perfect, protect,
ensure the priority of or continue Bank’s Lien on the Collateral or to effect the purposes of this Agreement, (b) use commercially reasonable efforts to
cause within 60 days of the Effective Date (i) the termination of each UCC-1 financing statement existing prior to the date hereof naming Borrower as
debtor and Solar Loan Management LLC as secured party and (ii) the delivery to Bank of a duly executed landlord’s consent in favor of Bank for each of
Borrower’s leased locations, by the respective landlord thereof, (c) use commercially reasonable efforts to cause within 90 days of the Effective Date, (i)
234 West 39th Street, Inc., as beneficiary (the “LC Beneficiary”) of the [***], to the return and cancel the [***], and (ii) the issuance to the LC
Beneficiary of a replacement standby letter of credit by the Bank (the “SVB LC”) and the LC Beneficiary to accept an executed copy of the SVB LC and
(d) if applicable, provide evidence reasonably satisfactory to Bank that the [***] Cash Collateral Account and the related cash collateral agreement
(including any liens securing any obligations thereunder and financing statements filed in connection therewith) have been closed and terminated, as
applicable.
5.4
Sanctions. (a) Not, and not permit any of its Subsidiaries to, engage in any of the activities described in Section 4.11 in the future; (b)
not, and not permit any of its Subsidiaries to, become a Sanctioned Person; (c) ensure that the proceeds of the Obligations are not used to violate any
Sanctions; and (d) deliver to Bank any certification or other evidence requested from time to time by Bank in its sole discretion, confirming each such
Person’s compliance with this Section 5.15. In addition, have implemented, and will consistently apply while this Agreement is in effect, procedures to
ensure that the representations and warranties in Section 4.11 remain true and correct while this Agreement is in effect.
5.5
Post-Closing Obligations. To the extent not actually delivered on the Effective Date, Borrower shall deliver to Bank on or by May 26,
2021 (or such later date as Bank may approve in its discretion) all trust certificates evidencing Borrower’s ownership interests in SLF Loan Pool Trust 1,
duly indorsed in a manner satisfactory to the Bank, to be held as Collateral pursuant to this Agreement.
6

NEGATIVE COVENANTS

Borrower shall not do any of the following without Bank’s prior written consent:
6.1
Dispositions. Convey, sell, lease, transfer, assign, or otherwise dispose of (including, without limitation, pursuant to a Division)
(collectively, “Transfer”), or permit any of its Subsidiaries to Transfer, all or any part of its business or property, except for (a) Transfers of Inventory in
the ordinary course of business; (b) Transfers of worn-out or obsolete Equipment that is, in the reasonable judgment of Borrower, no longer
economically practicable to maintain or use in the ordinary course of business of Borrower; (c) Transfers consisting of Permitted Liens and Permitted
Investments; (d) Transfers consisting of the Borrower’s or its Subsidiaries use or transfer of money or Cash Equivalents (i) in the ordinary course of
business in a manner that is not prohibited by the terms of this Agreement or the other Loan Documents and (ii) in connection with any repurchase by
Parent and/or the Borrower of equity securities pursuant to, and in accordance with the terms and conditions of, the Share Repurchase Program so long as
(A) no Default or Event of Default has occurred and is continuing or would result from such Transfer or Transfers and (B) the aggregate amount of such
Transfer or Transfers in respect of the Share Repurchase Program (together with all distributions under Section 6.7(a)(vii)) do not exceed $50,000,000 in
the aggregate; (e) Transfers consisting of the sale or issuance of any stock, partnership, membership, or other ownership interest or other equity securities
of Borrower that would not otherwise result in an Event of Default under this Agreement; (f) Transfers of non-exclusive licenses for the use of the
property of Borrower or its Subsidiaries in the ordinary course of business; (g) any Transfer of Borrower Purchased Customer Loans so long as (i) such
Transfer is made in accordance with the terms and conditions of a purchase agreement entered into between the Permitted Warehouse SPV and Borrower
consistent with industry norms (each a “Purchase Agreement”), (ii) no Default or Event of Default has occurred and is continuing or would result from
such Transfer, (iii) all cash proceeds from the sale of such Borrower
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Purchased Customer Loans are received by Borrower concurrently with such sale, and (iv) the purchase price shall be paid pursuant to the Purchase
Agreement in cash and, as applicable, pursuant a capital contribution that is permitted by clause (h) of the definition of “Permitted Investments”; (h) any
Transfer of Borrower Purchased Customer Loans to Persons that are not Permitted Warehouse SPVs so long as (i) no Default or Event of Default has
occurred and is continuing or would result from such Transfer, and (ii) not less than 95% of the proceeds from the sale of such Borrower Purchased
Customer Loans are received in cash by Borrower concurrently with such sale; and (i) any other Transfer so long as (i) in any fiscal year, such Transfer
or Transfers do not exceed an aggregate amount of $1,000,000.00 and (ii) no Default or Event of Default has occurred and is continuing or would result
from such Transfer or Transfers.
6.2
Changes in Business, Management, Control, or Business Locations. (a) Engage in or permit any of its Subsidiaries to engage in any
business other than the businesses currently engaged in by Borrower and such Subsidiary, as applicable, or reasonably related thereto, including the
purchase of Borrower Purchased Customer Loans; (b) wind up, liquidate, dissolve or dispose of all or substantially all of its property or business, or
permit any of its Subsidiaries to wind up, liquidate, dissolve or dispose of all or substantially all of their respective property or business (other than any
Permitted Warehouse SPV, which shall be permitted so wind up, liquidate, dissolve or dispose of all or substantially of its property or business into or to
Borrower); (c) fail to provide notice to Bank of the Key Person departing from or ceasing to be employed by Borrower within five (5) Business Days
after his departure from Borrower; (d) permit, allow or suffer to occur any Change in Control; or (e) without at least 30 days prior written notice to Bank,
(i) add any new offices or business locations, including warehouses (unless such new offices or business locations contain less than $10,000.00 in
Borrower’s assets or property) or deliver any portion of the Collateral valued, individually or in the aggregate, in excess of $10,000.00 to a bailee at a
location other than to a bailee and at a location already disclosed in the Perfection Certificate, (ii) change its jurisdiction of organization, (iii) change, or
permit any of its Subsidiaries to change, its respective organizational structure or type, (iv) change, or permit any of its Subsidiaries to change, its legal
name, or (v) change, or permit any of its Subsidiaries to change, any organizational number (if any) assigned by its jurisdiction of organization. If
Borrower intends to add any new offices or business locations, including warehouses, containing in excess of $10,000.00 of Borrower's assets or
property, then Borrower will cause the landlord of any such new offices or business locations, including warehouses, to execute and deliver a landlord
consent in form and substance satisfactory to Bank. If Borrower intends to deliver any portion of the Collateral valued, individually or in the aggregate,
in excess of $10,000.00 to a bailee, and Bank and such bailee are not already parties to a bailee agreement governing both the Collateral and the location
to which Borrower intends to deliver the Collateral, then Borrower will cause such bailee to execute and deliver a bailee agreement in form and
substance satisfactory to Bank.
6.3
Mergers or Acquisitions. Merge or consolidate, or permit any of its Subsidiaries to merge or consolidate, with any other Person, or
acquire, or permit any of its Subsidiaries to acquire, all or substantially all of the stock, partnership, membership, or other ownership interest or other
equity securities or property of another Person (including, without limitation, by the formation of any Subsidiary or pursuant to a Division), except in
connection with the Spartan Merger. A Subsidiary may merge or consolidate into Borrower or another Subsidiary or into Borrower.
6.4

Indebtedness.

Indebtedness. Create, incur, assume, or be liable for any Indebtedness, or permit any Subsidiary to do so, other than Permitted

6.5
Encumbrance. Create, incur, allow, or suffer to exist any Lien on any of its property, or assign or convey any right to receive income, or
permit any of its Subsidiaries to do so, or permit any Collateral not to be subject to the first priority security interest granted herein, in each case except
for Permitted Liens.
6.6

Maintenance of Collateral Accounts. Maintain any Collateral Account except pursuant to the terms of Section 5.8(c).

6.7

Distributions; Investments.

(dp)
Pay any dividends or make any distribution or payment or redeem, retire or purchase any stock, partnership, membership, or
other ownership interest or other equity securities;
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except that, so long as in each case (x) no Default or Event of Default has occurred and is continuing or would result therefrom and (y) each of the
covenants set forth in Section 5.9 shall be satisfied on a pro forma basis after giving effect to such transaction:
(i)
Borrower may make Tax Distributions (which such Tax Distributions may be paid no more frequently than quarterly) due to
Borrower being partnership or a disregarded entity under the United States Internal Revenue Code;
(ii)
Borrower may make non-cash PIK dividends to holders of its Class A Units (whenever issued) or other class of preferred units
issued after the Effective Date for bona fide capital raising purposes on terms negotiated at arm’s length, all as contemplated by and pursuant to the
terms of Borrower’s operating agreement, as it currently exists or as it may be amended or amended and restated from time to time;
(iii)
Any Subsidiary joined as a Guarantor to this Agreement pursuant to Section 5.13 hereof may make dividends or distributions to
(A) Borrower or (B) any other Subsidiary joined as a Guarantor pursuant to Section 5.13 hereof;
(iv)
Any Subsidiary not joined as a Guarantor to this Agreement pursuant to Section 5.13 hereof may make dividends or distributions
to (A) any other Subsidiary not joined as a Guarantor pursuant to Section 5.13 hereof, (B) any Subsidiary joined as a Guarantor to this Agreement
pursuant to Section 5.13 hereof or (C) Borrower;
(v)
Borrower may repurchase the equity interests owned by former employees and service providers pursuant to stock repurchase
agreements as long as an Event of Default does not exist prior to such repurchase or would not exist after giving effect to such repurchase, in an
aggregate amount in cash not to exceed Five Hundred Thousand Dollars ($500,000) in any fiscal year; and
(vi)
Borrower or any Subsidiary may make payments in respect of amounts or accrued obligations (including, without limitation,
under incentive compensation programs and employee benefit plans) from time to time to “employees” or consultants or other Persons on account of or
in respect of services performed from time to time, including to Persons who are also equity owners of Borrower and to whom payment for services
would be construed as a “guaranteed payment” instead of W-2 compensation (and who therefore may not be “employees” per se) under applicable
federal and state tax laws and regulations, and including amounts payable to compensate for additional tax liability imposed upon such Persons on
account of their status as equity owners and not employees per se; provided that the aggregate amount of payments under this clause (vi) shall not exceed
Seven Million Five Hundred Thousand ($7,500,000) in any fiscal year;
(vii)
Following the consummation of the Spartan Merger, Borrower may declare and pay dividends in accordance with Borrower’s or
any direct or indirect owner of Borrower’s publicly announced regular dividend policy approved by Borrower’s Board; provided that a Responsible
Officer shall have delivered to Bank a duly executed certificate certifying that at the time of the declaration of such dividend and immediately before and
after giving pro forma effect thereto: (A) no Default or Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing and (B) Borrower is in compliance with
the Minimum Cash Threshold; and
(viii)
Borrower may repurchase, and Borrower may make distributions to Parent to facilitate the repurchase by Parent of, any equity
securities pursuant to, and in accordance with the terms and conditions of, the Share Repurchase Program so long (A) no Default or Event of Default has
occurred and is continuing or would result from such distributions and (B) as the aggregate amount of such distributions (together with all Transfers
under Section 6.1(d)(ii)) do not exceed $50,000,000 in the aggregate.
(dq)
Directly or indirectly make any Investment (including, without limitation, by the formation of any Subsidiary) other than
Permitted Investments, or permit any of its Subsidiaries to do so, except in each case as permitted under Section 5.13.
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6.8
Transactions with Affiliates. Directly or indirectly enter into or permit to exist any material transaction with any Affiliate of Borrower,
except for transactions that are (i) in the ordinary course of Borrower’s business, upon fair and reasonable terms that are no less favorable to Borrower
than would be obtained in an arm’s length transaction with a non-affiliated Person, (ii) set forth on the Perfection Certificate delivered as of the Effective
Date, or (iii) pursuant to, and in accordance with the terms and conditions of, the Share Repurchase Program.
6.9
Negative Pledge Clauses. Enter into or suffer to exist or become effective any agreement (or permit any Subsidiary to enter into or
suffer to exist or become effective any agreement) that prohibits or limits the ability of Borrower or any Guarantor to create, incur, assume or suffer to
exist any Lien upon, or power of attorney over, any of its property or revenues, whether now owned or hereafter acquired; provided that the foregoing
shall not apply to (a) this Agreement and the other Loan Documents, (b) Requirements of Law, (c) agreements governing any purchase money Liens or
capital lease obligations otherwise permitted by this Agreement (so long as any prohibition or limitation shall only be effective against the assets
financed thereby), (d) restrictions or conditions imposed by any agreement relating to Permitted Indebtedness so long as (i) such restrictions or
conditions apply only to property or assets securing such Permitted Indebtedness and (ii) the Lien over such property or assets is a Permitted Lien.
6.10
Compliance. (a) Become an “investment company” or a company “controlled” by an “investment company”, under the Investment
Company Act of 1940, as amended, or undertake as one of its important activities extending credit to purchase or carry margin stock (as defined in
Regulation U of the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System), or use the proceeds of any Credit Extension for that purpose; (b)(i) fail to meet
the minimum funding requirements of ERISA, (ii) permit a Reportable Event or Prohibited Transaction, as defined in ERISA, to occur, (iii) fail to
comply with the Federal Fair Labor Standards Act or (iv) violate any other law or regulation, if the foregoing subclauses (i) through (iv), individually or
in the aggregate, would reasonably be expected to have a material adverse effect on Borrower’s business or operations, or permit any of its Subsidiaries
to do so; or (c) withdraw or permit any Subsidiary to withdraw from participation in, permit partial or complete termination of, or permit the occurrence
of any other event with respect to, any present pension, profit sharing and deferred compensation plan which would reasonably be expected to result in
any liability of Borrower, including any liability to the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation or its successors or any other Governmental Authority.
6.11
Material Amendments . (a) Suspend, terminate or make provisional in any way, any material Governmental Approval granted to
Borrower or any Guarantor; (b) make, or agree to make (to the extent Borrower has consent rights in connection therewith), any material modification,
amendment or waiver of any of the material terms or provisions of the Installer Underwriting Policy or any of Borrower’s or any Guarantor’s
organizational documents or (c) make, or agree to make, or otherwise permit, any material modification, amendment or waiver of any of the terms or
provisions of any Material Contract other than: (i) any modification, amendment or waiver to the Installer Underwriting Policy, in each case, made in the
ordinary course of business that could not reasonably be expected to be materially adverse to Bank or that amends, supplements, removes or adds loan
product types or terms or customer eligibility and (ii) any modification, amendment or waiver to Permitted Indebtedness.
6.12
Separateness. (a) Fail, or fail to cause each Permitted Warehouse SPV, to satisfy customary formalities for such entity, including, as
applicable (i) to the extent required by Applicable Law, the holding of regular board of members’, managers’, directors’ and shareholders’ meetings or
action by members, managers, directors or shareholders without a meeting, (ii) the maintenance of separate books and records and (iii) the maintenance
of separate bank accounts in its own name; (b) make, or permit any of its Subsidiaries (other than Permitted Warehouse SPVs who are the applicable
obligor with respect to such liability) to make, any payment to a creditor of any Permitted Warehouse SPV in respect of any liability of any Permitted
Warehouse SPV, unless expressly permitted hereunder, and no Permitted Warehouse Account or funds of any Permitted Warehouse SPV shall be
permitted to be commingled with any bank account or funds of Borrower or any of its other Subsidiaries for longer than three (3) Business Days; (c) fail
to cause any financial statements distributed to any creditors of any Permitted Warehouse SPV to clearly establish or indicate the corporate separateness
of such Permitted Warehouse SPV from Borrower and its Subsidiaries; (d) take, or permit any of its Subsidiaries to take,
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any action, or conduct its affairs in a manner, which is likely to result in the separate legal existence of Borrower or any Permitted Warehouse SPV being
ignored, or in the assets and liabilities of Borrower, its Subsidiaries or any Permitted Warehouse SPV being substantively consolidated with those of any
other Person in a bankruptcy, reorganization or other insolvency proceeding.
7

EVENTS OF DEFAULT

Any one of the following shall constitute an event of default (an “Event of Default”) under this Agreement:
7.1
Payment Default. Borrower fails to (a) make any payment of principal or interest on any Credit Extension on its due date, or (b) pay any
other Obligations within three (3) Business Days after such Obligations are due and payable. During the cure period, the failure to make or pay any
payment specified under clause (b) hereunder is not an Event of Default (but no Credit Extension will be made during the cure period);
7.2

Covenant Default.

(dr)
Borrower fails or neglects to perform any obligation in Sections 5.1, 5.2(a), 5.3(a)-(i), 5.3(m), 5.3(o), 5.4(d)(as it relates to
Borrower’s making of payments), 5.5, 5.7, 5.8, 5.9, 5.10, 5.13, 5.15 or 5.16 or violates any covenant in Section 6; or
(ds)
Borrower fails or neglects to perform, keep, or observe any other term, provision, condition, covenant or agreement contained in
this Agreement or any Loan Documents, and as to any default (other than those specified in this Section 7) under such other term, provision, condition,
covenant or agreement that can be cured, has failed to cure the default within thirty (30) days of the occurrence thereof (but no Credit Extensions shall
be made during such cure period). Cure periods provided under this section shall not apply, among other things, to financial covenants or any other
covenants that are required to be satisfied, completed or tested by a date certain or any covenants set forth in clause (a) above;
7.3

Material Adverse Change. A Material Adverse Change occurs;

7.4

Attachment; Levy; Restraint on Business.

(dt)
(i) The attachment by trustee or similar process of any funds of Borrower or any Subsidiary individually or in the aggregate, of at
least $250,000, or (ii) a notice of lien or levy is filed against any of Borrower’s or any of its Subsidiaries’ assets individually or in the aggregate, of at
least $250,000 by any Governmental Authority, and the same under subclauses (i) and (ii) hereof are not, within ten (10) Business Days after the
occurrence thereof, discharged or stayed (whether through the posting of a bond or otherwise); provided, however, no Credit Extensions shall be made
during any ten (10) day cure period; or
(du)
(i) any material portion of Borrower’s or any of its Subsidiaries’ assets is attached, seized, levied on, or comes into possession of
a trustee or receiver, or (ii) any court order enjoins, restrains, or prevents Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries from conducting all or any material part of
its business;
7.1
Insolvency. (a) Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries fails to be solvent as described under Section 4.7 hereof; (b) Borrower or any of its
Subsidiaries begins an Insolvency Proceeding; or (c) an Insolvency Proceeding is begun against Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries and is not dismissed
or stayed within 30 days (but no Credit Extensions shall be made while any of the conditions described in clause (a) exist or until any Insolvency
Proceeding is dismissed);
7.2
Other Agreements. There is, under any agreement to which Borrower, any of Borrower’s Subsidiaries, or any Guarantor is a party with
a third party or parties, (a) any default resulting in a right by such third party or parties, whether or not exercised, to accelerate the maturity of any
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Indebtedness in an amount individually or in the aggregate in excess of $250,000.00; or (b) any breach or default by Borrower, any of Borrower’s
Subsidiaries, or Guarantor, the result of which would have a material adverse effect on Borrower’s, any of Borrower’s Subsidiaries’, or any Guarantor’s
business or operations;
7.3
Judgments; Penalties. One or more fines, penalties or final judgments, orders or decrees for the payment of money in an amount,
individually or in the aggregate, of at least $1,000,000.00 (not covered by independent third-party insurance as to which liability has been accepted by
such insurance carrier) shall be rendered against Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries by any Governmental Authority, and the same are not, within ten
(10) Business Days after the entry, assessment or issuance thereof, discharged, or after execution thereof, or stayed pending appeal, or such judgments
are not discharged prior to the expiration of any such stay (provided that no Credit Extensions will be made prior to the discharge, or stay of such fine,
penalty, judgment, order or decree);
7.4
Misrepresentations. Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries or any Person acting for Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries makes any
representation, warranty, or other statement now or later in this Agreement, any Loan Document or in any writing delivered to Bank or to induce Bank to
enter this Agreement or any Loan Document, and such representation, warranty, or other statement is incorrect in any material respect when made (it
being agreed and acknowledged by Bank that the projections and forecasts provided by Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries in good faith and based upon
reasonable assumptions are not viewed as facts and that actual results during the period or periods covered by such projections and forecasts may differ
from the projected or forecasted results);
7.5

Lien Priority. There is a material impairment in the perfection or priority of Bank’s security interest in the Collateral;

7.6
Guaranty. (a) Any guaranty of any Obligations terminates or ceases for any reason to be in full force and effect; (b) any Guarantor does
not perform any obligation or covenant under any guaranty of the Obligations; (c) any circumstance described in Sections 7.3, 7.4, 7.5, 7.6, 7.7, or 7.8 of
this Agreement occurs with respect to any Guarantor, (d) the liquidation, winding up, or termination of existence of any Guarantor; or (e) (i) a material
impairment in the perfection or priority of Bank’s Lien in the collateral provided by Guarantor or in the value of such collateral or (ii) a material adverse
change in the general affairs, management, results of operation, condition (financial or otherwise) or the prospect of repayment of the Obligations occurs
with respect to any Guarantor;
7.7
Governmental Approvals. Any material Governmental Approval shall have been (a) revoked, rescinded, suspended, modified in an
adverse manner or not renewed in the ordinary course for a full term or (b) subject to any decision by a Governmental Authority that designates a
hearing with respect to any applications for renewal of any of such Governmental Approval or that could reasonably be expected to result in the
Governmental Authority taking any of the actions described in clause (a) above, and such decision or such revocation, rescission, suspension,
modification or non-renewal (i) causes, or could reasonably be expected to cause, a Material Adverse Change, or (ii) adversely affects the legal
qualifications of Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries to hold such Governmental Approval in any applicable jurisdiction and such revocation, rescission,
suspension, modification or non-renewal could reasonably be expected to affect the status of or legal qualifications of Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries
to hold any Governmental Approval in any other jurisdiction in any material respect; or
7.8
Regulatory Action. The issuance or entering of any stay, order, judgment, cease and desist order, injunction, temporary restraining
order, or other judicial or non-judicial sanction, order or ruling by any Governmental Authority against (a) Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries that could
reasonably be expected to materially and adversely impact Borrower’s or any of its Subsidiaries’ ability to continue any material aspect of its business as
then currently conducted or (b) any Person that could reasonably be expected to have a material adverse effect on Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries.
8

BANK’S RIGHTS AND REMEDIES

8.1
Rights and Remedies. Upon the occurrence and during the continuance of an Event of Default, Bank may, without notice or demand, do
any or all of the following:
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(dv)
declare all Obligations immediately due and payable (but if an Event of Default described in Section 7.5 occurs all Obligations
are immediately due and payable without any action by Bank);
(dw)

Borrower and Bank;

stop advancing money or extending credit for Borrower’s benefit under this Agreement or under any other agreement between

(dx)
verify the amount of, demand payment of and performance under, and collect any amounts owing, settle or adjust disputes and
claims directly with Approved Capital Partners for amounts on terms and in any order that Bank considers advisable, and notify any Person owing
Borrower money of Bank’s security interest in such funds; provided Bank shall not be responsible or liable for any shortage or discrepancy in, or for any
error, act, omission, or delay of any kind occurring in the settlement, failure to settle, collection or failure to collect any of the payments described in this
clause (c) or for settling such payments in good faith for less than the full amount thereof, nor shall Bank be deemed to be responsible for any of
Borrower’s obligations under any contract or agreement giving rise to any such payment;
(dy)
make any payments and do any acts it considers necessary or reasonable to protect the Collateral and/or its security interest in the
Collateral. Borrower shall assemble the Collateral if Bank requests and make it available as Bank designates. Bank may enter premises where the
Collateral is located, take and maintain possession of any part of the Collateral, and pay, purchase, contest, or compromise any Lien which appears to be
prior or superior to its security interest and pay all expenses incurred. Borrower grants Bank a license to enter and occupy any of its premises, without
charge, to exercise any of Bank’s rights or remedies;
(dz)
apply to the Obligations any (i) balances and deposits of Borrower it holds, or (ii) amount held by Bank owing to or for the credit
or the account of Borrower;
(ea)
ship, reclaim, recover, store, finish, maintain, repair, prepare for sale, advertise for sale, and sell the Collateral. For use solely
upon the occurrence and during the continuation of an Event of Default, Bank is hereby granted a non-exclusive, royalty-free license or other right to
use, without charge, Borrower’s labels, Patents, Copyrights, mask works, rights of use of any name, trade secrets, trade names, Trademarks, and
advertising matter, or any similar property as it pertains to the Collateral, in completing production of, advertising for sale, and selling any Collateral
and, in connection with Bank’s exercise of its rights under this Section 8.1, Borrower’s rights under all licenses and all franchise agreements inure to
Bank’s benefit;
(eb)
place a “hold” on any account maintained with Bank and/or deliver a notice of exclusive control, any entitlement order, or other
directions or instructions pursuant to any Control Agreement or similar agreements providing control of any Collateral;
(ec)

demand and receive possession of Borrower’s or any Guarantor’s Books; and

(ed)
exercise all rights and remedies available to Bank under the Loan Documents or at law or equity, including all remedies provided
under the Code or any Applicable Law (including disposal of the Collateral pursuant to the terms thereof).
8.2
Power of Attorney. Borrower hereby irrevocably appoints Bank as its true and lawful attorney-in-fact, (a) exercisable upon the
occurrence and during the continuance of an Event of Default, to: (i) sign Borrower’s name on any invoice or bill of lading for any Account or drafts
against any Person; (ii) demand, collect, sue, and give releases to any Person for monies due, settle and adjust disputes and claims directly with any
applicable Person, and compromise, prosecute, or defend any action, claim, case, or proceeding about any Collateral (including filing a claim or voting a
claim in any bankruptcy case in Bank’s or Borrower’s name, as Bank chooses); (iii) make, settle, and adjust all claims under Borrower’s insurance
policies; (iv) pay, contest or settle any Lien, charge, encumbrance, security interest, or other claim in or to the Collateral, or any judgment based thereon,
or otherwise take any action to terminate or discharge the same; and (v) transfer the Collateral into the name of Bank or a third party as the Code permits;
and (vi) receive, open and dispose of mail addressed to Borrower; and (b) regardless of whether an Event of Default has occurred, to: (i) endorse
Borrower’s name on any checks, payment instruments,
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or other forms of payment or security; (ii) notify any payor including any Approved Capital Partner to pay Bank directly; and (iii) sign Borrower’s name
on any documents necessary to perfect or continue the perfection of Bank’s security interest in the Collateral. Bank’s foregoing appointment as
Borrower’s attorney in fact, and all of Bank’s rights and powers, coupled with an interest, are irrevocable until such time as all Obligations (other than
inchoate indemnity obligations) have been satisfied in full, Bank is under no further obligation to make Credit Extensions and the Loan Documents have
been terminated. Bank shall not incur any liability in connection with or arising from the exercise of such power of attorney and shall have no obligation
to exercise any of the foregoing rights and remedies.
8.3
Protective Payments. If Borrower fails to obtain the insurance called for by Section 5.7 or fails to pay any premium thereon or fails to
pay any other amount which Borrower is obligated to pay under this Agreement or any other Loan Document or which may be required to preserve the
Collateral, Bank may obtain such insurance or make such payment, and all amounts so paid by Bank are Bank Expenses and immediately due and
payable, bearing interest at the then highest rate applicable to the Obligations, and secured by the Collateral. Bank will make reasonable efforts to
provide Borrower with notice of Bank obtaining such insurance at the time it is obtained or within a reasonable time thereafter. No payments by Bank are
deemed an agreement to make similar payments in the future or Bank’s waiver of any Event of Default.
8.4
Application of Payments and Proceeds. Bank may apply any funds in its possession, whether from Borrower account balances,
payments, proceeds realized as the result of any collection of amounts or other disposition of the Collateral, or otherwise, to the Obligations in such order
as Bank shall determine in its sole discretion. Any surplus shall be paid to Borrower or other Persons legally entitled thereto; Borrower shall remain
liable to Bank for any deficiency. If Bank, in its commercially reasonable discretion, directly or indirectly, enters into a deferred payment or other credit
transaction with any purchaser at any sale of Collateral, Bank shall have the option, exercisable at any time, of either reducing the Obligations by the
principal amount of the purchase price or deferring the reduction of the Obligations until the actual receipt by Bank of cash therefor.
8.5
Bank’s Liability for Collateral. Bank’s sole duty with respect to the custody, safekeeping and physical preservation of the Collateral in
its possession or under its control, under Section 9-207 of the Code or otherwise, shall be to deal with it in the same manner as Bank deals with its own
property consisting of similar instruments or interests. Borrower bears all risk of loss, damage or destruction of the Collateral.
8.6
No Waiver; Remedies Cumulative. Bank’s failure, at any time or times, to require strict performance by Borrower of any provision of
this Agreement or any other Loan Document shall not waive, affect, or diminish any right of Bank thereafter to demand strict performance and
compliance herewith or therewith. No waiver hereunder shall be effective unless signed by the party granting the waiver and then is only effective for
the specific instance and purpose for which it is given. Bank’s rights and remedies under this Agreement and the other Loan Documents are cumulative.
Bank has all rights and remedies provided under the Code, by law, or in equity. Bank’s exercise of one right or remedy is not an election and shall not
preclude Bank from exercising any other remedy under this Agreement or other remedy available at law or in equity, and Bank’s waiver of any Event of
Default is not a continuing waiver. Bank’s delay in exercising any remedy is not a waiver, election, or acquiescence.
8.7
Demand Waiver. Borrower waives demand, notice of default or dishonor, notice of payment and nonpayment, notice of any default,
nonpayment at maturity, release, compromise, settlement, extension, or renewal of accounts, documents, instruments, chattel paper, and guarantees held
by Bank on which Borrower is liable.
8.8

Intellectual Property License.

(ee)
Solely for the purpose of enabling Bank to exercise rights and remedies under this Section 8 and the other Loan Documents,
Borrower hereby irrevocably (until all Obligations other than inchoate indemnity obligations are repaid in full in cash) grants to Bank, and its designees
a non-exclusive, worldwide and sublicensable license and right to use, practice and otherwise exploit (consistent with all Applicable Law), exercisable
without payment of royalty, rent or other compensation, any of
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Collateral consisting of Intellectual Property (including Trademarks, trade names, the Platform and any related services, product, technology, deliverable
or software related to such services, including any third-party subcontractor’s product, technology, deliverable or software, provided that such use is
limited solely to Borrower’s program with Approved Capital Partners relating to Originated Customer Loans) now or hereafter owned by or licensed to
Bank, in order for Bank, and its designees, solely in connection with the exercise by Bank of the remedies provided to it pursuant to the Loan Documents
with respect to the Collateral, to purchase, use, market, reproduce, repossess, possess, store, assemble, manufacture, complete, process, ship, supply,
lease, sell, offer to sell, import, export, transfer, distribute or otherwise dispose of any asset included in the Collateral after the occurrence, and solely
during the continuation of, an Event of Default, including in connection with the liquidation, disposition or realization upon the Collateral in accordance
with the terms and conditions of the Loan Documents, to the extent that such non-exclusive license and right (i) subject to the following sentence, does
not violate the express terms of any agreement between Borrower and a third party concerning such Intellectual Property purported in this paragraph to
be subject to such non-exclusive license and right, or give such third party any right of acceleration, modification, termination or cancellation therein and
(ii) is not prohibited by any Applicable Law. The license granted pursuant hereto shall be exercisable solely after the occurrence, and solely during the
continuation of, an Event of Default.
(ef)
If the grant of such non-exclusive license and right or the exercise of such non-exclusive license and right in connection with the
liquidation, disposition or realization upon the Collateral in accordance with the terms and conditions of the Loan Documents would violate the express
terms of any agreement between Borrower and a third party concerning such intellectual property purported in this paragraph to be subject to such nonexclusive license and right, or give such third party any right of acceleration, modification, termination or cancellation therein, Borrower shall, at Bank’s
reasonable request, use commercially reasonable efforts to obtain all third-party consents required to permit such grant or exercise (as applicable) of such
non-exclusive license and right and shall pay all reasonable out-of-pocket expenses in connection with obtaining any such consents, and such nonexclusive license and right shall be deemed effective to the fullest extent permitted without causing such a breach. Borrower shall agree, and shall cause
each successor thereof to agree, that any assignment, sale, transfer or other disposition of any of the Collateral consisting of Intellectual Property
(whether by foreclosure or otherwise) will be subject to the rights of Bank, and its designees as set forth above.
(eg)
In connection with the immediately preceding paragraph, Bank shall agree to take all commercially reasonable actions in
connection with its exercise of such license to protect Borrower’s rights and interest in the Collateral consisting of Intellectual Property. To the extent
that Bank exercises such license with respect to Borrower’s trademarks, (i) Bank shall ensure that all uses of such trademarks meet quality standards
substantially equivalent to or stricter than those high standards maintained by Borrower immediately prior to the effective date of such license and all
goodwill arising from such use shall inure to the sole benefit of Borrower and (ii) Bank shall not use the trademarks in a manner that detracts from the
goodwill associated therewith. Bank shall take all reasonable steps under the circumstances to protect any confidential information or trade secrets
licensed hereunder.
(eh)
Borrower will, and will cause each of the Guarantors to, reasonably cooperate with Bank and its agents, representatives and
designees in allowing Bank to exercise the foregoing rights.
9

NOTICES

All notices, consents, requests, approvals, demands, or other communication by any party to this Agreement or any other Loan Document must
be in writing and shall be deemed to have been validly served, given, or delivered: (a) upon the earlier of actual receipt and three (3) Business Days after
deposit in the U.S. mail, first class, registered or certified mail return receipt requested, with proper postage prepaid; (b) upon transmission, when sent by
electronic mail; (c) one (1) Business Day after deposit with a reputable overnight courier with all charges prepaid; or (d) when delivered, if handdelivered by messenger, all of which shall be addressed to the party to be notified and sent to the address or email address indicated below; provided
that, for clause (b), if such notice, consent, request, approval, demand or other communication is not sent during the normal business hours of the
recipient, it shall be deemed to have been sent at the opening of business on the next Business Day of the recipient. Bank or Borrower
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may change its mailing or electronic mail address by giving the other party written notice thereof in accordance with the terms of this Section 9.
If to Borrower:

234 West 39th Street, 7th Floor
New York, NY 10018
Attn: General Counsel
notices@sunlightfinancial.com
Website URL: www.sunlightfinancial.com

Email:

with a copy to (which shall not constitute notice):
Kramer Levin Naftalis & Frankel LLP
1177 Avenue of the Americas
New York NY 10036
Attn: [***]
Email: [***]
If to Bank:

Silicon Valley Bank
505 Howard Street, 3rd Floor
San Francisco CA 94105
Attn: [***]
Email: [***]

with a copy to (which shall not constitute notice):
Morrison & Foerster LLP
425 Market Street, 32nd Floor
San Francisco CA 94105
Attn: [***]
Email: [***]
10

CHOICE OF LAW, VENUE AND JURY TRIAL WAIVER; JUDICIAL REFERENCE

Except as otherwise expressly provided in any of the Loan Documents, California law governs the Loan Documents without regard to principles
of conflicts of law that would require the application of the laws of another jurisdiction. Borrower and Bank each irrevocably and unconditionally submit
to the exclusive jurisdiction of the State and Federal courts in Santa Clara County, California; provided, however, that nothing in this Agreement shall be
deemed to operate to preclude Bank from bringing suit or taking other legal action in any other jurisdiction with respect to the Loan Documents or to
realize on the Collateral or any other security for the Obligations, or to enforce a judgment or other court order in favor of Bank. Borrower expressly,
irrevocably and unconditionally submits and consents in advance to such jurisdiction in any action or suit commenced in any such court, and Borrower
hereby irrevocably and unconditionally waives, to the fullest extent permitted by Applicable Law, any objection that it may have based upon lack of
personal jurisdiction, improper venue, or forum non conveniens and hereby irrevocably and unconditionally consents to the granting of such legal or
equitable relief as is deemed appropriate by such court. Borrower hereby waives personal service of the summons, complaints, and other process issued
in such action or suit and agrees that service of such summons, complaints, and other process may be made by registered or certified mail addressed to
Borrower at the address set forth in, or subsequently provided by Borrower in accordance with, Section 9 of this Agreement and that service so made
shall be deemed completed upon the earlier to occur of Borrower’s actual receipt thereof or three (3) days after deposit in the U.S. mails, proper postage
prepaid.
TO THE FULLEST EXTENT PERMITTED BY APPLICABLE LAW, BORROWER AND BANK EACH WAIVES ITS RIGHT TO A
JURY TRIAL OF ANY CLAIM OR CAUSE OF ACTION ARISING OUT OF OR BASED UPON THIS AGREEMENT, THE LOAN
DOCUMENTS OR ANY CONTEMPLATED TRANSACTION, INCLUDING CONTRACT, TORT, BREACH OF DUTY AND ALL OTHER
CLAIMS. THIS WAIVER IS A MATERIAL
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INDUCEMENT FOR THE PARTIES HERETO TO ENTER INTO THIS AGREEMENT. EACH PARTY HERETO HAS REVIEWED THIS
WAIVER WITH ITS COUNSEL.
WITHOUT INTENDING IN ANY WAY TO LIMIT THE PARTIES’ AGREEMENT TO WAIVE THEIR RESPECTIVE RIGHT TO A
TRIAL BY JURY, if the above waiver of the right to a trial by jury is not enforceable, the parties hereto agree that any and all disputes or controversies
of any nature between them arising at any time shall be decided by a reference to a private judge, mutually selected by the parties (or, if they cannot
agree, by the Presiding Judge of the Santa Clara County, California Superior Court) appointed in accordance with California Code of Civil Procedure
Section 638 (or pursuant to comparable provisions of federal law if the dispute falls within the exclusive jurisdiction of the federal courts), sitting without
a jury, in Santa Clara County, California; and the parties hereby submit to the jurisdiction of such court. The reference proceedings shall be conducted
pursuant to and in accordance with the provisions of California Code of Civil Procedure Sections 638 through 645.1, inclusive. The private judge shall
have the power, among others, to grant provisional relief, including without limitation, entering temporary restraining orders, issuing preliminary and
permanent injunctions and appointing receivers. All such proceedings shall be closed to the public and confidential and all records relating thereto shall
be permanently sealed. If during the course of any dispute, a party desires to seek provisional relief, but a judge has not been appointed at that point
pursuant to the judicial reference procedures, then such party may apply to the Santa Clara County, California Superior Court for such relief. The
proceeding before the private judge shall be conducted in the same manner as it would be before a court under the rules of evidence applicable to judicial
proceedings. The parties shall be entitled to discovery which shall be conducted in the same manner as it would be before a court under the rules of
discovery applicable to judicial proceedings. The private judge shall oversee discovery and may enforce all discovery rules and orders applicable to
judicial proceedings in the same manner as a trial court judge. The parties agree that the selected or appointed private judge shall have the power to
decide all issues in the action or proceeding, whether of fact or of law, and shall report a statement of decision thereon pursuant to California Code of
Civil Procedure Section 644(a). Nothing in this paragraph shall limit the right of any party at any time to exercise self-help remedies, foreclose against
collateral, or obtain provisional remedies. The private judge shall also determine all issues relating to the applicability, interpretation, and enforceability
of this paragraph.
This Section 10 shall survive the termination of this Agreement and the repayment of all Obligations.
11

GENERAL PROVISIONS

11.1
Termination Prior to Maturity Date; Survival. All covenants, representations and warranties made in this Agreement shall continue in
full force until this Agreement has terminated pursuant to its terms and all Obligations (other than inchoate indemnity obligations) have been satisfied.
So long as Borrower has satisfied the Obligations (other than inchoate indemnity obligations, and any other obligations which, by their terms, are to
survive the termination of this Agreement and the repayment of all Obligations, and any Obligations under Bank Services Agreements that are cash
collateralized in accordance with Section 3.1 of this Agreement), this Agreement may be terminated prior to the Revolving Line Maturity Date by
Borrower, effective three (3) Business Days after written notice of termination is given to Bank. Those obligations that are expressly specified in this
Agreement as surviving this Agreement’s termination and the repayment of all Obligations shall continue to survive notwithstanding this Agreement’s
termination and the repayment of all Obligations.
11.2

Successors and Assigns.

(ei)
This Agreement binds and is for the benefit of the successors and permitted assigns of each party. Borrower may not assign or
transfer this Agreement or any rights or obligations under it without Bank’s prior written consent (which may be granted or withheld in Bank’s sole
discretion) and any other attempted assignment or transfer by Borrower shall be null and void. Bank has the right, without the consent of, but upon
notice to Borrower, to sell, transfer, assign, negotiate, or grant participation in all or any part of, or any interest in, Bank’s obligations, rights, and benefits
under this Agreement and the other Loan Documents; provided, however, to the extent such transferees, assignees or participants are Disqualified
Institutions, Bank shall not transfer, assign or participation any such right or
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interest without Borrower’s prior written consent unless a Default or Event of Default has occurred or is continuing (in which case Bank shall be
required to provide notice of such transfer, assignment or participation).
(ej)
Borrower shall maintain at its principal office a register for the recordation of the names and addresses of Bank and its successors
and assigns (for purposes of Section 11.2(b) and (c), the “lenders”) and the Advances, commitments of and principal amounts (and stated interest) of the
loans owing to Bank and each other lender from time to time (the “Register”). The entries in the Register shall be conclusive absent manifest error, and
Borrower, Bank, and the lenders shall treat each Person whose name is recorded in the Register pursuant to the terms hereof as a lender hereunder for all
purposes of this Agreement. The Register shall be available for inspection by Borrower or any lender at any reasonable time and from time to time upon
reasonable prior notice.
(ek)
To the extent Bank or any lender sells a participation, it shall, acting solely for this purpose as a non-fiduciary agent of Borrower,
maintain a register on which it enters the name and address of each participant and the principal amounts (and stated interest) of each participant’s
interest in the Advances or other obligations under the Loan Documents (the “Participant Register”); provided that neither Bank nor any other lenders
shall have any obligation to disclose all or any portion of the Participant Register (including the identity of any participant or any information relating to
a participant's interest in any commitments, loans, letters of credit or its other obligations under any Loan Document) to any person except to the extent
that such disclosure is necessary to establish that such commitment, loan, letter of credit or other obligation is in registered form under Section 5f.1031(c) of the United States Treasury Regulations. The entries in the Participant Register shall be conclusive absent manifest error, and Bank and the
lenders shall treat each person whose name is recorded in the Participant Register as the owner of such participation for all purposes of this Agreement
notwithstanding any notice to the contrary.
11.3

Indemnification.

(el)
General Indemnification. Borrower shall indemnify, defend and hold Bank and its Affiliates and the partners, directors, officers,
employees, agents, trustees, administrators, managers, advisors and representatives of Bank and its Affiliates (each, an “Indemnified Person”) harmless
against: (i) all losses, claims, damages, liabilities and related expenses (including Bank Expenses and the reasonable fees, charges and disbursements of
any counsel for any Indemnified Person) (collectively, “Claims”) arising out of, in connection with, or as a result of (i) the execution or delivery of this
Agreement, any other Loan Document or any agreement or instrument contemplated hereby or thereby, the performance by the parties hereto of their
respective obligations hereunder or thereunder or the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby, (ii) any Credit Extension or the
use or proposed use of the proceeds therefrom, (iii) any actual or alleged presence or release of hazardous materials on or from any property owned or
operated by Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries, or any environmental liability related in any way to Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries, or (iv) any
actual or prospective claim, litigation, investigation or proceeding relating to any of the foregoing, whether based on contract, tort or any other theory,
whether brought by a third party or by Borrower, and regardless of whether any Indemnified Person is a party thereto; provided that such indemnity shall
not, as to any Indemnified Person, be available to the extent that such losses, claims, damages, liabilities or related expenses are determined by a court of
competent jurisdiction by final and nonappealable judgment to have resulted from the gross negligence or willful misconduct of such Indemnified
Person. All amounts due under this Section 11.3 shall be payable promptly after demand therefor. This Section 11.3(a) shall not apply with respect to
Taxes other than any Taxes that represent losses, claims, damages, etc. arising from any non-Tax claim.
(em)
Waiver of Consequential Damages, Etc. To the fullest extent permitted by Applicable Law, Borrower shall not assert, and hereby
waives, any claim against any Indemnified Person, on any theory of liability, for special, indirect, consequential or punitive damages (as opposed to
direct or actual damages) or any loss of profits arising out of, in connection with, or as a result of, this Agreement, any other Loan Document or any
agreement or instrument contemplated hereby, the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby, any Credit Extension, or the use of the proceeds thereof.
No Indemnified Person shall be liable for any damages arising from the use by unintended recipients of any information or other materials distributed by
it through telecommunications, electronic or other
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information transmission systems in connection with this Agreement or the other Loan Documents or the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby.
This Section 11.3 shall survive the termination of this Agreement and the repayment of all Obligations until all statutes of limitation with respect
to the Claims, losses, and expenses for which indemnity is given shall have run.
11.1

Time of Essence. Time is of the essence for the performance of all Obligations in this Agreement.

11.2
Severability of Provisions. Each provision of this Agreement is severable from every other provision in determining the enforceability
of any provision.
11.3
Amendments in Writing; Waiver; Integration. No purported amendment or modification of this Agreement or any Loan Document, or
waiver, discharge or termination of any obligation under any Loan Document, shall be effective unless, and only to the extent, expressly set forth in a
writing signed by each party hereto. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, no oral promise or statement, nor any action, inaction, delay,
failure to require performance or course of conduct shall operate as, or evidence, an amendment, supplement or waiver or have any other effect on any
Loan Document. Any waiver granted shall be limited to the specific circumstance expressly described in it, and shall not apply to any subsequent or
other circumstance, whether similar or dissimilar, or give rise to, or evidence, any obligation or commitment to grant any further waiver. The Loan
Documents represent the entire agreement about this subject matter and supersede prior negotiations or agreements. All prior agreements,
understandings, representations, warranties, and negotiations between the parties about the subject matter of the Loan Documents merge into the Loan
Documents.
11.4
Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts and by different parties on separate counterparts, each of
which, when executed and delivered, is an original, and all taken together, constitute one Agreement. Delivery of an executed signature page of this
Agreement by electronic mail transmission shall be effective as delivery of a manually executed counterpart hereof.
11.5
Confidentiality. Bank agrees to maintain the confidentiality of Information (as defined below), except that Information may be disclosed
(a) to Bank’s Subsidiaries and Affiliates and their respective employees, directors, agents, attorneys, accountants and other professional advisors
(collectively, “Representatives” and, together with Bank, collectively, “ Bank Entities”); (b) to prospective transferees, assignees, credit providers or
purchasers of Bank’s interests under or in connection with this Agreement and their Representatives (provided, however, Bank shall use commercially
reasonable efforts to obtain any such prospective transferee’s, assignee’s, credit provider’s, purchaser’s or their Representatives’ agreement to the terms
of this provision); provided however to the extent such transferees, assignees, credit providers or purchasers are Disqualified Institutions, Bank shall not
disclose the Information without Borrower’s prior written consent unless a Default or Event of Default has occurred or is continuing; (c) as required by
law, regulation, subpoena, or other order; (d) to Bank’s regulators or as otherwise required or requested in connection with Bank’s examination or audit;
(e) in connection with the exercise of remedies under the Loan Documents or any action or proceeding relating to this Agreement or any other Loan
Document or the enforcement of rights hereunder or thereunder; and (f) to third-party service providers of Bank so long as such service providers have
executed a confidentiality agreement with Bank with terms no less restrictive than those contained herein. “Information” means all information
received from Borrower regarding Borrower or its business, in each case other than information that is either: (i) in the public domain or in Bank’s
possession when disclosed to Bank, or becomes part of the public domain (other than as a result of its disclosure by Bank in violation of this Agreement)
after disclosure to Bank; or (ii) disclosed to Bank by a third party, if Bank does not know that the third party is prohibited from disclosing the
information.
11.6
Electronic Execution of Documents. The words “execution,” “signed,” “signature” and words of like import in any Loan Document
shall be deemed to include electronic signatures or the keeping of records in electronic form, each of which shall be of the same legal effect, validity and
enforceability as a manually executed signature or the use of a paper-based recordkeeping systems, as the
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case may be, to the extent and as provided for in any applicable law, including, without limitation, any state law based on the Uniform Electronic
Transactions Act.
11.7
Right of Setoff. Borrower hereby grants to Bank a Lien and a right of setoff as security for all Obligations to Bank, whether now existing
or hereafter arising upon and against all deposits, credits, collateral and property, now or hereafter in the possession, custody, safekeeping or control of
Bank or any entity under the control of Bank (including a subsidiary of Bank) or in transit to any of them, and other obligations owing to Bank or any
such entity. At any time after the occurrence and during the continuance of an Event of Default, without demand or notice, Bank may setoff the same or
any part thereof and apply the same to any liability or Obligation of Borrower even though unmatured and regardless of the adequacy of any other
collateral securing the Obligations. ANY AND ALL RIGHTS TO REQUIRE BANK TO EXERCISE ITS RIGHTS OR REMEDIES WITH RESPECT
TO ANY OTHER COLLATERAL WHICH SECURES THE OBLIGATIONS, PRIOR TO EXERCISING ITS RIGHT OF SETOFF WITH RESPECT
TO SUCH DEPOSITS, CREDITS OR OTHER PROPERTY OF BORROWER, ARE HEREBY KNOWINGLY, VOLUNTARILY AND
IRREVOCABLY WAIVED.
11.8
Captions and Section References. The headings used in this Agreement are for convenience only and shall not affect the interpretation
of this Agreement. Unless indicated otherwise, section references herein are to sections of this Agreement.
11.9
Construction of Agreement. The parties hereto mutually acknowledge that they and their attorneys have participated in the preparation
and negotiation of this Agreement. In cases of uncertainty this Agreement shall be construed without regard to which of the parties caused the
uncertainty to exist.
11.10 Relationship. The relationship of the parties to this Agreement is determined solely by the provisions of this Agreement. The parties do
not intend to create any agency, partnership, joint venture, trust, fiduciary or other relationship with duties or incidents different from those of parties to
an arm’s-length contract.
11.11 Third Parties. Nothing in this Agreement, whether express or implied, is intended to: (a) confer any benefits, rights or remedies under or
by reason of this Agreement on any Persons other than the express parties to it and their respective permitted successors and assigns; (b) relieve or
discharge the obligation or liability of any Person not an express party to this Agreement; or (c) give any Person not an express party to this Agreement
any right of subrogation or action against any party to this Agreement.
11.12 Anti-Terrorism Law. Bank hereby notifies Borrower that, pursuant to the requirements of Anti-Terrorism Law, Bank may be required
to obtain, verify and record information that identifies Borrower, which information may include the name and address of Borrower and other
information that will allow Bank to identify Borrower in accordance with Anti-Terrorism Law. Borrower hereby agrees to take any action necessary to
enable Bank to comply with the requirements of Anti-Terrorism Law.
12

ACCOUNTING TERMS AND OTHER DEFINITIONS

12.1

Accounting and Other Terms.

(en)
Accounting terms not defined in this Agreement shall be construed following GAAP. Calculations and determinations must be
made following GAAP (except for with respect to unaudited financial statements for the absence of footnotes and subject to year-end audit adjustments),
provided that if at any time any change in GAAP would affect the computation of any financial ratio or requirement set forth in any Loan Document, and
either Borrower or Bank shall so request, Borrower and Bank shall negotiate in good faith to amend such ratio or requirement to preserve the original
intent thereof in light of such change in GAAP; provided, further, that, until so amended, (a) such ratio or requirement shall continue to be computed in
accordance with GAAP prior to such change therein and (b) Borrower shall provide Bank financial statements and other documents required under this
Agreement or as reasonably requested hereunder setting forth a reconciliation between calculations of such ratio or requirement made before and after
giving effect to such change in GAAP. Notwithstanding the
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foregoing, all financial covenant and other financial calculations shall be computed with respect to Borrower only, and not on a consolidated basis.
(eo)
As used in the Loan Documents: (i) the words “shall” or “will” are mandatory, the word “may” is permissive, the word “or” is
not exclusive, the words “includes” and “including” are not limiting, the singular includes the plural, and numbers denoting amounts that are set off in
brackets are negative; (ii) the term “continuing” in the context of an Event of Default means that the Event of Default has not been remedied (if capable
of being remedied) or waived; and (iii) whenever a representation or warranty is made to Borrower’s knowledge or awareness, to the “best of”
Borrower’s knowledge, or with a similar qualification, knowledge or awareness means the actual knowledge, after reasonable investigation, of any
Responsible Officer.
12.2
Definitions. Capitalized terms not otherwise defined in this Agreement shall have the meanings set forth in this Section 12.2. All other
terms contained in this Agreement, unless otherwise indicated, shall have the meaning provided by the Code to the extent such terms are defined therein.
As used in this Agreement, the following capitalized terms have the following meanings:

“Account” is, as to any Person, any “ account” of such Person as “account” is defined in the Code with such additions to such term as may
hereafter be made, and includes, without limitation, all accounts receivable and other sums owing to such Person.
“Acquisition” means any transaction or series of related transactions involving: (a) the sale, lease, exclusive license, or other disposition of all or
substantially all of the assets of Borrower; (b) any merger or consolidation of Borrower into or with another Person (other than a merger or consolidation
effected exclusively to change Borrower’s domicile), or any other reorganization, in which the equityholders of Borrower in their capacity as such
immediately prior to such merger, consolidation or reorganization, own less than a majority of Borrower’s (or the surviving or successor Person’s)
outstanding combined voting power immediately after such merger, consolidation or reorganization; or (c) any sale or other transfer by the equityholders
of Borrower of stock, partnership, membership, or other ownership interest or other equity securities representing at least a majority of Borrower’s thentotal outstanding combined voting power.
“Adjusted Funding Payment Amount” means, in respect of any Installer Advance, an amount equal to the applicable “Funding Payment” (as
defined in the applicable Installer Agreement) minus any applicable “Refund Amount” (as defined in the applicable Installer Agreement) and any default
interest thereon, to be paid by Borrower to the applicable Installer.
“Administrator” is an individual that is named:
(a)
as an “Administrator” in the “SVB Online Services” form completed by Borrower with the authority to determine who will be
authorized to use SVB Online Services (as defined in Bank’s Online Banking Agreement as in effect from time to time) on behalf of Borrower;
and
(b)

as an Authorized Signer of Borrower in an approval by the Board.

“Advance” or “Advances” means a revolving credit loan (or revolving credit loans) under the Revolving Line.
“Affiliate” is, with respect to any Person, each other Person that owns or Controls directly or indirectly the Person, any Person that Controls or is
Controlled by or is under common Control with the Person, and each of that Person’s senior executive officers, directors, partners and, for any Person
that is a limited liability company, that Person’s managers and members.
“Agreement” is defined in the preamble hereof.
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Act.

“Anti-Terrorism Law” means any law relating to terrorism or money-laundering, including Executive Order No. 13224 and the USA Patriot

“Applicable Law” means all applicable provisions of constitutions, laws, statutes, ordinances, rules, treaties, regulations, permits, licenses,
approvals, interpretations and orders of courts or Governmental Authorities and all orders and decrees of all courts and arbitrators, including for the
avoidance of doubt all Credit Protection Laws and credit disclosure laws and regulations.
“Approved Capital Partner” means (a) [***], (b) [***], (c) [***], (d) Cross River Bank, (e) [***] and (f) any other unaffiliated Qualified
Approved Capital Provider that may be communicated to Bank, that in each case originate Originated Customer Loans and perform each other
transaction contemplated by the applicable Approved Capital Partner Loan Program Agreement.
“Approved Capital Partner Funding Conditions” means, in respect of each Originated Customer Loan, (a) the satisfaction of such Originated
Customer Loan with all applicable Approved Capital Partner Underwriting Policies, (b) the approval by the applicable Approved Capital Partner of the
loan application for such Originated Customer Loan, (c) the applicable Customer shall have satisfied all applicable credit union membership
requirements, (d) the satisfaction of such Originated Customer Loan with each of the “Additional Qualification Criteria” as defined in the applicable
Approved Capital Partner Loan Program Agreement (or any similar term) and (e) Borrower shall have delivered a complete “Funding Package” (as
defined in the applicable Approved Capital Partner Loan Program Agreement (or any similar term)) to the Approved Capital Partner.
“Approved Capital Partner Loan Program Agreement” means (a) the First Amended and Restated Loan Program Agreement, by and among
Borrower and Cross River Bank, dated as of February 12, 2018, and as amended, restated, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time, (b) the
Residential Solar Energy Loan Program Agreement by and between Borrower and [***], dated as of [***], and as amended, restated, supplemented or
otherwise modified from time to time, (c) the Residential Solar Energy Loan Program Agreement by and between Borrower and [***], dated as of [***],
and as amended, restated, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time, (d) the Residential Solar Energy Loan Program Agreement by and
between Borrower and [***], dated as of [***], and as amended, restated, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time, (e) the Home
Improvement Loan Program Agreement by and between Borrower and Cross River Bank, dated as of [***], and as amended, restated, supplemented or
otherwise modified from time to time, (f) the Loan Program Agreement by and between Borrower and [***], dated as of [***], and as amended, restated,
supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time and (g) such other similar loan program agreements with Qualified Approved Capital Partners as
may be communicated to Bank.
“Approved Capital Partner Underwriting Policy” means, in respect of any Approved Capital Partner, such Approved Capital Partner’s
underwriting policy setting forth certain criteria required for such Approved Capital Partner to originate an Originated Customer Loan.
“Authorized Signer” means any individual listed in Borrower’s Borrowing Resolution who is authorized to execute the Loan Documents,
including making (and executing if applicable) any Credit Extension request, on behalf of Borrower.
“Available Takeout Commitment Amount ” means, in respect of each Approved Capital Partner Loan Program Agreement, the aggregate
amount of each applicable Approved Capital Partner’s unused committed obligation to purchase and hold Originated Customer Loans meeting all of the
conditions and criteria of the Approved Capital Partner Underwriting Policies upon the satisfaction of the “Substantial Completion”, “Final Completion”,
“PTO Completion” and Approved Capital Partner Funding Conditions in respect of the Home Improvement Project financed pursuant to such Originated
Customer Loan; provided that it is understood and agreed that no unused commitment shall be included in the “Available Takeout Commitment
Amount” to the extent it is subject to any requirement by Borrower to purchase such Originated Customer Loans other than as a result of such Originated
Customer Loans failing to meet the Approved Capital Partner Funding Conditions.
“Bank” is defined in the preamble hereof.
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“Bank Entities” is defined in Section 11.8.
“Bank Expenses” are all audit fees, costs and reasonable expenses (including out-of-pocket attorneys’ fees and expenses) for preparing,
amending, negotiating, administering, defending and enforcing the Loan Documents (including, without limitation, those incurred in connection with
appeals or Insolvency Proceedings) or otherwise incurred with respect to Borrower or any Guarantor.
“Bank Services” are any products, credit services, and/or financial accommodations previously, now, or hereafter provided to Borrower or any
of its Subsidiaries by Bank or any Bank Affiliate, including, without limitation, any letters of credit, cash management services (including, without
limitation, merchant services, direct deposit of payroll, business credit cards, and check cashing services), interest rate swap arrangements, and foreign
exchange services as any such products or services may be identified in Bank’s various agreements related thereto (each, a “Bank Services
Agreement”).
“Bank Services Agreement” is defined in the definition of Bank Services.
“Board” is Borrower’s board of directors or equivalent governing body.
“Books” are, in respect of any Person, all of such Person’s books and records including ledgers, federal and state tax returns, records regarding
its assets or liabilities, any Collateral, business operations or financial condition, and all computer programs or storage or any equipment containing such
information.
“Borrower” is defined in the preamble hereof.
“Borrower Purchased Customer Loan” means any customer loan originated by a capital partner and subsequently purchased by Borrower or a
Subsidiary of Borrower in accordance with the terms of the applicable capital partner loan program agreement.
“Borrowing Base” is, as of any date of determination, (a) seventy percent (70%) of Eligible Milestone Advances plus (b) ninety percent (90%)
of Eligible Prefunded Advances, in each case as determined by Bank from Borrower’s most recent Borrowing Base Report; provided, however,
notwithstanding Section 11.6 that Bank has the right to decrease the foregoing percentages in its commercially reasonable discretion with reasonable
notice to Borrower to mitigate the impact of events, conditions, contingencies, or risks which may adversely affect the Collateral or its value including
for the avoidance of doubt any determination based on the results of the Monthly Cancellation Reports received from time to time.
“Borrowing Base Report” is that certain report of the value of certain Collateral in the form specified by Bank to Borrower from time to time.
“Borrowing Resolutions” are, with respect to any Person, those resolutions adopted by such Person’s board of directors (and, if required under
the terms of such Person’s Operating Documents, stockholders) and delivered by such Person to Bank approving the Loan Documents to which such
Person is a party and the transactions contemplated thereby, together with a certificate executed by its secretary on behalf of such Person certifying (a)
such Person has the authority to execute, deliver, and perform its obligations under each of the Loan Documents to which it is a party, (b) that set forth as
a part of or attached as an exhibit to such certificate is a true, correct, and complete copy of the resolutions then in full force and effect authorizing and
ratifying the execution, delivery, and performance by such Person of the Loan Documents to which it is a party, (c) the name(s) of the Person(s)
authorized to execute the Loan Documents, including making (and executing if applicable) any Credit Extension request, on behalf of such Person,
together with a sample of the true signature(s) of such Person(s), and (d) that Bank may conclusively rely on such certificate unless and until such Person
shall have delivered to Bank a further certificate canceling or amending such prior certificate.
“Business Day” is a day other than a Saturday, Sunday or other day on which commercial banks in the State of California are authorized or
required by law to close.
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“Capital Partner Reserve Accounts ” means (a) the CRB Accounts and (b) with respect to any capital partner other than Cross River Bank,
such other accounts (i) required to be maintained by the applicable loan program agreement and over which such capital partner has a first priority Lien
on the amounts on deposit therein, (ii) in which Borrower exclusively maintains amounts required to be deposited as cash reserves pursuant to the terms
and conditions of such loan program agreement and (iii) are disclosed on the Perfection Certificate or pursuant to Section 5.8(c).
“Cash Equivalents” are (a) marketable direct obligations issued or unconditionally guaranteed by the United States or any agency or any State
thereof having maturities of not more than one (1) year from the date of acquisition; (b) commercial paper maturing no more than one (1) year after its
creation and having the highest rating from either Standard & Poor’s Ratings Group or Moody’s Investors Service, Inc.; (c) Bank’s certificates of deposit
issued maturing no more than one (1) year after issue; and (d) money market funds at least 95.0% of the assets of which constitute Cash Equivalents of
the kinds described in clauses (a) through (c) of this definition.
“Change in Control” means (a) at any time, any “person” or “group” (as such terms are used in Sections 13(d) and 14(d) of the Exchange Act),
shall become, or obtain rights (whether by means of warrants, options or otherwise) to become, the “beneficial owner” (as defined in Rules 13(d)-3 and
13(d)-5 under the Exchange Act), directly or indirectly, of 25.0% or more of the ordinary voting power for the election of directors, partners, managers
and members, as applicable, of Borrower (determined on a fully diluted basis) other than by the sale of Borrower’s equity securities in a public offering
or to venture capital or private equity investors so long as Borrower identifies to Bank the venture capital or private equity investors at least seven (7)
Business Days prior to the closing of the transaction and provides to Bank a description of the material terms of the transaction; (b) during any period of
12 consecutive months, a majority of the members of the Board of Borrower cease to be composed of individuals (i) who were members of that board or
equivalent governing body on the first day of such period, (ii) whose election or nomination to that board or equivalent governing body was approved by
individuals referred to in clause (i) above constituting at the time of such election or nomination at least a majority of that board or equivalent governing
body or (iii) whose election or nomination to that board or other equivalent governing body was approved by individuals referred to in clauses (i) and
(ii) above constituting at the time of such election or nomination at least a majority of that board or equivalent governing body; (c) at any time, Borrower
shall cease to own and Control, of record and beneficially, directly or indirectly, 100.0% of each class of outstanding stock, partnership, membership, or
other ownership interest or other equity securities of each Subsidiary of Borrower free and clear of all Liens (except Permitted Liens); or (d) upon the
consummation of the Spartan Merger, Parent ceases to Control Borrower; provided that notwithstanding the foregoing under the definition of “Change in
Control” the consummation of the Spartan Merger shall not constitute a Change in Control.
“Change in Law” means the occurrence, after the Effective Date, of: (a) the adoption or taking effect of any law, rule, regulation or treaty; (b)
any change in Applicable Law or in the administration, interpretation, implementation or application thereof by any Governmental Authority; or (c) the
making or issuance of any request, rule, guideline or directive (whether or not having the force of law) by any Governmental Authority; provided that
notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, (i) the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act and all requests, rules, guidelines
or directives thereunder or issued in connection therewith and (ii) all requests, rules, guidelines or directives promulgated by Bank for International
Settlements, the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision (or any successor or similar authority) or the United States or foreign regulatory authorities,
in each case pursuant to Basel III, shall in each case be deemed to be a “Change in Law”, regardless of the date enacted, adopted or issued.
“Claims” is defined in Section 11.3.
“Code” or “UCC” is the Uniform Commercial Code, as the same may, from time to time, be enacted and in effect in the State of California;
provided, that, to the extent that the Code is used to define any term herein or in any Loan Document and such term is defined differently in different
Articles or Divisions of the Code, the definition of such term contained in Article or Division 9 shall govern; provided further, that in the event that, by
reason of mandatory provisions of law, any or all of the attachment, perfection, or priority of, or remedies with respect to, Bank’s Lien on any Collateral
is
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governed by the Uniform Commercial Code in effect in a jurisdiction other than the State of California, the term “Code” shall mean the Uniform
Commercial Code as enacted and in effect in such other jurisdiction solely for purposes of the provisions thereof relating to such attachment, perfection,
priority, or remedies and for purposes of definitions relating to such provisions.
“Collateral” consists of all of Borrower’s right, title and interest in and to the following personal property: (a) all goods, Accounts, Equipment,
Inventory, contract rights or rights to payment of money, leases, license agreements, franchise agreements, General Intangibles, Intellectual Property,
commercial tort claims, documents, instruments (including any promissory notes), chattel paper (whether tangible or electronic), cash, deposit accounts,
certificates of deposit, fixtures, letters of credit rights (whether or not the letter of credit is evidenced by a writing), securities, securities accounts,
securities entitlements and all other investment property, supporting obligations, and financial assets, and all other personal property whether now
owned or hereafter acquired, wherever located; and (b) all Borrower’s Books relating to the foregoing, and any and all claims, rights and interests in any
of the above and all substitutions for, additions, attachments, accessories, accessions and improvements to and replacements, products, proceeds and
insurance proceeds of any or all of the foregoing, excluding (i) any Capital Partner Reserve Accounts; (ii) cash reserves posted in any such Capital
Partner Reserve Account or held back from payment to any Installer after a related funding by an Approved Capital Partner only until such Installer
completes the related installation in accordance with the applicable Installer Agreement; (iii) any Borrower Purchased Customer Loans sold to a
Permitted Warehouse SPV in accordance with Section 6.1(g); and (iv) any equity interest directly owned by Borrower in any Permitted Warehouse SPV.
“Collateral Account” is any Deposit Account, Securities Account, or Commodity Account.
“Commodity Account” is any “commodity account” as defined in the Code with such additions to such term as may hereafter be made.
“Compliance Certificate” is that certain certificate in the form attached hereto as Exhibit A.
“Connection Income Taxes” means Other Connection Taxes that are imposed on or measured by net income (however denominated) or that are
franchise Taxes or branch profits Taxes.
“Contingent Obligation” is, for any Person, any direct or indirect liability of that Person for (a) any direct or indirect guaranty by such Person
of any indebtedness, lease, dividend, letter of credit or other obligation of another, (b) any other obligation endorsed, co-made, discounted or sold with
recourse by that Person, or for which that Person is directly or indirectly liable; (c) any obligations for undrawn letters of credit for the account of that
Person; and (d) all obligations from any interest rate, currency or commodity swap agreement, interest rate cap or collar agreement, or other agreement
or arrangement designated to protect a Person against fluctuation in interest rates, currency exchange rates or commodity prices; but “Contingent
Obligation” does not include endorsements in the ordinary course of business. The amount of a Contingent Obligation is the stated or determined amount
of the primary obligation for which the Contingent Obligation is made or, if not determinable, the maximum reasonably anticipated liability for it
determined by the Person in good faith; but the amount may not exceed the maximum of the obligations under any guarantee or other support

arrangement.

“Control” means the possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the management or policies of a Person
through the ability to exercise voting power or contractual rights. “Controlling” and “Controlled” have meanings correlative thereto.

“Control Agreement” is any control agreement entered into among the depository institution at which Borrower maintains a Deposit
Account or the securities intermediary or commodity intermediary at which Borrower maintains a Securities Account or a Commodity Account,
Borrower, and Bank pursuant to which Bank obtains control (within the meaning of the Code) over such Deposit Account, Securities Account, or
Commodity Account.
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“Copyrights” are any and all copyright rights, copyright applications, copyright registrations and like protections in each work of authorship and
derivative work thereof, whether published or unpublished and whether or not the same also constitutes a trade secret.
“Credit Extension” is any Advance or any other extension of credit by Bank for Borrower’s benefit.
“Credit Protection Laws” means all federal, state and local laws in respect of the business of extending credit to borrowers, including the Truth
in Lending Act (and Regulation Z promulgated thereunder), Equal Credit Opportunity Act, Fair Credit Reporting Act, Fair Debt Collection Practices
Act, GLBA, Financial Institutions Reform, Recovery and Enforcement Act of 1989, as amended, anti-discrimination and fair lending laws, laws relating
to servicing procedures or maximum charges and rates of interest, and other similar laws, each to the extent applicable, and all applicable regulations in
respect of any of the foregoing.
“CRB Accounts” means, collectively, (i) a reserve account identified on the Perfection Certificate delivered on the Effective Date as the CRB
Reserve Account and (ii) an operating account identified on the Perfection Certificate delivered on the Effective Date as the CRB Operating Account, in
each case with Cross River Bank, so long as Borrower exclusively maintains in such accounts amounts required to be deposited as cash reserves pursuant
to the terms and conditions of the Approved Capital Partner Loan Program Agreement with Cross River Bank or installer holdback amounts related to
loans originated by CRB.
“Customer” means, with respect to any Home Improvement Project or Solar System, the applicable customer for such property or services
provided by an Installer in connection with such Home Improvement Project or Solar System.
“Customer Cancellation” means a Home Improvement Project that has satisfied any of the “Initial Approval”, “Initial Completion” and/or
“Permitting Completion” or other milestones or funding conditions under the applicable Installer Agreement, but for which the applicable Customer has
notified the applicable Installer that it has cancelled such Home Improvement Project or installation prior to the satisfaction of the “Substantial
Completion”, “Final Completion” and/or “PTO Completion” or other final milestones or funding requirements under the Approved Capital Partner Loan
Program Agreements.
“Default” means any event which with notice or passage of time or both, would constitute an Event of Default.
“Default Rate” is defined in Section 1.3(c).
“Deposit Account” is any “ deposit account” as defined in the Code with such additions to such term as may hereafter be made.
“Designated Deposit Account” is the deposit account established by Borrower with Bank for purposes of receiving Credit Extensions.
“Disqualified Institution” means any Person that is (a) designated by Borrower, by written notice delivered to the Bank on or prior to the
Effective Date, as (i) a disqualified institution or (ii) an operating company directly and primarily engaged in substantially similar business operations as
Borrower or its respective Subsidiaries or (b) clearly identifiable, solely on the basis of such Person’s name, as an Affiliate of any Person referred to in
clause (a)(i) or (a)(ii) above; provided, however, Disqualified Institutions shall exclude any Person that Borrower has designated as no longer being a
Disqualified Institution by written notice delivered to Bank from time to time.
“Division” means, in reference to any Person which is an entity, the division of such Person into two (2) or more separate Persons, with the
dividing Person either continuing or terminating its existence as part of such division, including, without limitation, as contemplated under Section 18217 of the Delaware Limited Liability Company Act for limited liability companies formed under Delaware law, Section 17-220 of the Delaware
Revised Uniform Limited Partnership Act for limited partnerships
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formed under Delaware law, or any analogous action taken pursuant to any other Applicable Law with respect to any corporation, limited liability
company, partnership or other entity.
“Dollars,” “dollars” or use of the sign “$” means only lawful money of the United States and not any other currency, regardless of whether that
currency uses the “$” sign to denote its currency or may be readily converted into lawful money of the United States.
“Early Disbursement Program” means any program pursuant to which (a) Borrower shall provide one or more advance payments (each an
“Early Disbursement”) to an Installer that receives Milestone Advances solely in order to obtain exclusivity commitment, “first look” commitment,
and/or specified volume commitment, in each case, in respect of the Originated Customer Loans facilitated by Borrower under the applicable Installer
Agreement and (b) Borrower shall be permitted to cease making additional Milestone Advances under the applicable Installer Agreement and retain such
Milestone Advances (each such retained Milestone Advance, a “Retained Milestone Advance”) unless and until the aggregate amount of all Retained
Milestone Advances is equal to the aggregate amount of all such Early Disbursements, provided that such Retained Milestone Advances shall be deemed
to be paid by such Installer to Borrower in repayment of such Early Disbursements.
“EBITDA” shall mean (a) Net Income, plus (b) to the extent deducted in the calculation of Net Income (i) Interest Expense, (ii) depreciation
expense and amortization expense, (iii) income tax expense, (iv) the amount of any non-cash compensation charges or expenses, including any such
charges or expenses arising from grants of stock appreciation or similar rights, stock options, restricted stock or other rights, (v) one-time expenses
related to the Spartan Merger, (vi) costs and expenses, including fees payable to Bank, in connection with this Agreement and any amendments, waivers
and consents in connection with this Agreement, (vii) initial costs relating to establishing compliance with the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, as amended,
and other costs arising out of or incidental to Borrower’s or its Subsidiaries’’ initial establishment of compliance with the obligations of a reporting
company; (viii) one-time, non-cash compensation costs and expenses, consulting fees, signing, retention or completion bonuses, and executive recruiting
costs; (ix) any impairment charge or asset write-off or write-down in each case pursuant to GAAP, and the amortization of intangibles arising pursuant to
GAAP subject to Bank’s approval (not to be unreasonably withheld); (x) any non-cash gain (loss) attributable to mark to market movement in the
valuation of warrant liabilities and home improvement program-related derivatives recorded on balance sheet per GAAP; (xi) adjustments resulting from
the application of Accounting Standards Codification Topic No. 460, Guarantees, or any comparable regulation subject to Bank’s approval (not to be
unreasonably withheld); (xii) any charges, expenses or reserves related to current expected credit losses determined in accordance with GAAP in excess
of actual credit losses for the applicable period and subject to Bank’s approval (not to be unreasonably withheld); and (xiii) any expenses or charges
(other than depreciation or amortization expense already included in EBITDA) related to any issuance, the incurrence, modification or repayment of any
Indebtedness under this Agreement including such fees, expenses or charges arising under any Loan Document.
“Effective Date” is defined in the preamble hereof.
“Eligible Installer Advance” means any or all Eligible Milestone Advances or Eligible Prefunded Advances, as the context may require
“Eligible Milestone Advances” means, as of any date of determination, the Milestone Advances that (a) arise in the ordinary course of
Borrower’s business and (b) meet all of the requirements set forth on Exhibit C, in each case as of such date of determination; provided that (i) no
portion of a Milestone Advance that is a Refunded Deduction and (ii) no Investment described in clause (u) of the definition of “Permitted Investments”
or any Milestone Advance relating to any such Investment, shall in each case be included as an “Eligible Milestone Advance”.
“Eligible Prefunded Advances” means, as of any date of determination, the Prefunded Advances that (a) arise in the ordinary course of
Borrower’s business and (b) that meet all of the requirements set forth on Exhibit C, in each case as of such date of determination; provided that (i) no
portion of a Milestone Advance that is a Refunded Deduction and (ii) no Investment described in clause (u) of the
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definition of “Permitted Investments” or any Prefunded Advance relating to any such Investment, shall in each case be included as an “Eligible
Prefunded Advance”.
“Environmental Laws” means any Applicable Law (including any permits, concessions, grants, franchises, licenses, agreements or
governmental restrictions) relating to pollution or the protection of health, safety or the environment or the release of any materials into the environment
(including those related to hazardous materials, air emissions, discharges to waste or public systems and health and safety matters).
“Equipment” is all “ equipment” as defined in the Code with such additions to such term as may hereafter be made, and includes without
limitation all machinery, fixtures, goods, vehicles (including motor vehicles and trailers), and any interest in any of the foregoing.
“ERISA” is the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended, and its regulations.
“Event of Default” is defined in Section 7.
“Exchange Act” is the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.
“Excluded Accounts” means (a) deposit accounts exclusively used for payroll, payroll taxes, and other employee wage and benefit payments to
or for the benefit of Borrower’s employees and identified to Bank by Borrower as such, (b) the Capital Partner Reserve Accounts, (c) the Permitted
Warehouse Accounts, (d) subject to Section 5.14(c), the [***] Cash Collateral Account, (d) the Permitted Christiana Trust Account, (e) the Permitted
Christiana Custody Account and (f) the Permitted Rebate Account.
“Excluded Taxes” means any of the following Taxes imposed on or with respect to Bank or required to be withheld or deducted from a payment
to Bank, (a) Taxes imposed on or measured by net income (however denominated), franchise Taxes, and branch profits Taxes, in each case, (i) imposed
as a result of Bank being organized under the laws of, or having its principal office or its applicable lending office located in, the jurisdiction imposing
such Tax (or any political subdivision thereof) or (ii) that are Other Connection Taxes, (b) U.S. federal withholding Taxes imposed on amounts payable
to or for the account of Bank with respect to an applicable interest in a Credit Extension or the Revolving Line pursuant to a law in effect on the date on
which (i) Bank acquires such interest in the Credit Extensions or Revolving Line or (ii) Bank changes its lending office, except in each case to the extent
that, pursuant to Section 1.7, amounts with respect to such Taxes were payable either to Bank’s assignor immediately before Bank became a party hereto
or to Bank immediately before it changed its lending office, (c) Taxes attributable to Bank’s failure to comply with Section 1.7(e), and (d) any
withholding Taxes imposed under FATCA.
“Existing Credit Facility” means that certain Second Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement, dated as of May 20, 2019, as
amended by that certain First Amendment to the Second Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement dated as of September 18, 2020, and
effective as of July 15, 2020, each by and between [***], an Arizona corporation, and Borrower.
“FATCA” means Sections 1471 through 1474 of the Internal Revenue Code, as of the date of this Agreement (or any amended or successor
version that is substantively comparable and not materially more onerous to comply with), any current or future regulations or official interpretations
thereof, any agreements entered into pursuant to Section 1471(b)(1) of the Internal Revenue Code and any fiscal or regulatory legislation, rules or
practices adopted pursuant to any intergovernmental agreement, treaty or convention among Governmental Authorities and implementing such Sections
of the Internal Revenue Code.
“Funding Date” is any date on which a Credit Extension is made to or for the account of Borrower which shall be a Business Day.
“GAAP” is generally accepted accounting principles set forth in the opinions and pronouncements of the Accounting Principles Board of the
American Institute of Certified Public
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Accountants and statements and pronouncements of the Financial Accounting Standards Board or in such other statements by such other Person as may
be approved by a significant segment of the accounting profession, which are applicable to the circumstances as of the date of determination.
“General Intangibles” is all “general intangibles” as defined in the Code in effect on the date hereof with such additions to such term as may
hereafter be made, and includes without limitation, all Intellectual Property, claims, income and other tax refunds, security and other deposits, payment
intangibles, contract rights, options to purchase or sell real or personal property, rights in all litigation presently or hereafter pending (whether in
contract, tort or otherwise), insurance policies (including without limitation key man, property damage, and business interruption insurance), payments
of insurance and rights to payment of any kind.
“Governmental Approval” is any consent, authorization, approval, order, license, franchise, permit, certificate, accreditation, registration, filing
or notice, of, issued by, from or to, or other act by or in respect of, any Governmental Authority.
“Governmental Authority” is any nation or government, any state or other political subdivision thereof, any agency, authority, instrumentality,
regulatory body, court, central bank or other entity exercising executive, legislative, judicial, taxing, regulatory or administrative functions of or
pertaining to government, any securities exchange and any self-regulatory organization.
“Guarantor” is any Person providing a Guaranty in favor of Bank.
“Guaranty” is any guarantee of all or any part of the Obligations, as the same may from time to time be amended, restated, modified or
otherwise supplemented.
“Home Improvement Project” means the repair, remodel, alteration, conversion or modernization of, or the addition to, a residential property,
in each case provided by or installed by an Installer for Customers, including but not limited to Solar System installation.
“Indebtedness” is (a) indebtedness for borrowed money or the deferred price of property or services, such as reimbursement and other
obligations for surety bonds and letters of credit, (b) obligations evidenced by notes, bonds, debentures or similar instruments, (c) capital lease
obligations, and (d) Contingent Obligations.
“Indemnified Person” is defined in Section 11.3.
“Indemnified Taxes” means (a) Taxes, other than Excluded Taxes, imposed on or with respect to any payment made by or on account of any
obligation of Borrower under any Loan Document and (b) to the extent not otherwise described in clause (a), Other Taxes.
“Information” is defined in Section 11.8.
“Initial Audit” is Bank’s inspection of the Collateral, Borrower’s Books, the Eligible Installer Advances and Originated Customer Loans with
results satisfactory to Bank in its commercially reasonable discretion.
“Insolvency Proceeding” is any proceeding by or against any Person under the United States Bankruptcy Code, or any other bankruptcy or
insolvency law, including assignments for the benefit of creditors, compositions, extensions generally with its creditors, or proceedings seeking
reorganization, arrangement, receivership or other relief.
“Installer” means each company identified by and contracting with Borrower for the installation of Solar Systems or the undertaking of Home
Improvement Projects, or for the management of a network of installers or contractors that install Solar Systems and/or Home Improvement Projects.
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“Installer Advance” means any or all Milestone Advances or Prefunded Advances, as the context may require.
“Installer Agreement” means each agreement entered into by and between Borrower and any Installer for the installation of Solar Systems or
the undertaking of Home Improvement Projects.
“Installer Underwriting Policy” means Borrower’s underwriting criteria for Installers, as set forth on Exhibits D-1 (Solar) and D-2 (Home
Improvement), as such exhibit may be updated from time to time pursuant to the terms of this Agreement.
“Intellectual Property” means, with respect to any Person, all of such Person’s right, title, and interest in and to the following:
(ep)

its Copyrights, Trademarks and Patents;

(eq)

any and all trade secrets and trade secret rights, including, without limitation, any rights to unpatented inventions, know-how and

(er)

any and all source code;

(es)

any and all design rights which may be available to such Person;

operating manuals;

(et)
any and all claims for damages by way of past, present and future infringement of any of the foregoing, with the right, but not the
obligation, to sue for and collect such damages for said use or infringement of the Intellectual Property rights identified above; and
(eu)

all amendments, renewals and extensions of any of the Copyrights, Trademarks or Patents.

“Interest Expense” means for any fiscal period, interest expense (whether cash or non-cash) determined in accordance with GAAP for the
relevant period ending on such date, including, in any event, interest expense with respect to any Credit Extension and other Indebtedness of Borrower,
including, without limitation or duplication, all commissions, discounts, or related amortization and other fees and charges with respect to letters of
credit and bankers’ acceptance financing and the net costs associated with interest rate swap, cap, and similar arrangements, and the interest portion of
any deferred payment obligation (including leases of all types).
“Internal Revenue Code” means the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986, and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder, each as
amended or modified from time to time.
“Inventory” is all “ inventory” as defined in the Code in effect on the date hereof with such additions to such term as may hereafter be made,
and includes without limitation all merchandise, raw materials, parts, supplies, packing and shipping materials, work in process and finished products,
including without limitation such inventory as is temporarily out of Borrower’s custody or possession or in transit and including any returned goods and
any documents of title representing any of the above.
“Investment” is any beneficial ownership interest in any Person (including stock, partnership, membership, or other ownership interest or other
equity securities), and any loan, advance or capital contribution to any Person.
“IP Agreement” is that certain Intellectual Property Security Agreement between Borrower and Bank dated as of the Effective Date, as may be
amended, modified or restated from time to time.
“Key Person” is Matt Potere, Borrower’s Chief Executive Officer.

44
SVB Confidential

“Lien” is a claim, mortgage, deed of trust, levy, attachment charge, pledge, hypothecation, security interest or other encumbrance of any kind,
whether voluntarily incurred or arising by operation of law or otherwise against any property.
“Liquidity” is, at any time, the sum of the aggregate amount of unrestricted and unencumbered cash and Cash Equivalents held at such time by
Borrower in Deposit Accounts or Securities Accounts maintained with Bank or its Affiliates.
“Loan Documents” are, collectively, this Agreement and any schedules, exhibits, certificates, notices, and any other documents related to this
Agreement, the Perfection Certificate, the IP Agreement, Control Agreements, any Bank Services Agreement, any subordination agreement, any note, or
notes or guaranties executed by Borrower or any Guarantor, landlord waivers and consents, bailee waivers and consents, and any other present or future
agreement by Borrower and/or any Guarantor with or for the benefit of Bank in connection with this Agreement or Bank Services, all as amended,
restated, or otherwise modified in accordance with the terms thereof.
“Marketing Advance Program” means any program pursuant to which Borrower provides to an Installer certain upfront payments solely in
respect of such Installer’s marketing efforts with the intent of obtaining an exclusivity commitment, “first look” commitment, and/or specified volume
commitment, in each case, in respect of the Originated Customer Loans facilitated by Borrower under the applicable Installer Agreement.
“Material Adverse Change” is (a) a material impairment in the perfection or priority of Bank’s Lien in the Collateral or in the value of such
Collateral; (b) a material adverse change in the business, operations, or condition (financial or otherwise) of Borrower; (c) a material impairment of the
prospect of repayment of any portion of the Obligations; (d) Bank determines, based upon information available to it and in its reasonable judgment, that
there is a likelihood that Borrower shall fail to comply with one or more of the financial covenants in Section 5 during the next succeeding financial
reporting period or (e) the death of any of the people who are insured pursuant to the terms of Section 5.7(d) of this Agreement.
“Material Contract” means (a) each Installer Agreement, (b) each Approved Capital Partner Loan Program Agreement and (c) any contractual
obligations exceeding $250,000 or any contractual obligations as to which such default could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse
Change.
“Milestone Advances” means, as of any date of determination and for each Originated Customer Loan, each payment made by Borrower to an
Installer in connection with such Originated Customer Loan, following the satisfaction of the “Initial Approval”, “Initial Completion” and/or “Permitting
Completion” milestones under the applicable Installer Agreement.
“Minimum Cash Threshold” means that Borrower maintains unrestricted cash in an aggregate amount of not less than $20,000,000 in either
Deposit Accounts (other than any Excluded Accounts) maintained with either (a) Bank or its Affiliates or (b) a third-party financial institution and for
which the Bank has received a Control Agreement or other appropriate instrument with respect to such Deposit Account to perfect Bank’s Lien in such
Deposit Account.
“Modified Advance” means, as of any date of determination, an Installer Advance in respect of which (a) such Installer Advance or the
Originated Customer Loan relating thereto has been extended, amended, waived, or modified in any respect from its original terms or (b) Borrower or
Installer has a retained discretionary right to modify such Receivable.
“Monthly Advance and Takeout Report” is defined in Section 5.3(b).
“Monthly Cancellation Report” means a monthly report duly executed by a Responsible Officer of Borrower in form and substance
satisfactory Bank setting forth the monthly average rates of Customer Cancellations for the twelve-month period most recently ended.
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“Net Income” means, as calculated on a consolidated basis for Borrower for any period as at any date of determination, the net profit (or loss),
after provision for taxes, of Borrower for such period taken as a single accounting period.
“Obligations” are Borrower’s obligations to pay when due any debts, principal, interest, fees, Bank Expenses, the Termination Fee, the Unused
Revolving Line Facility Fee, and other amounts Borrower owes Bank now or later, whether under this Agreement, the other Loan Documents, or
otherwise, including, without limitation, all obligations relating to Bank Services and interest accruing after Insolvency Proceedings begin and debts,
liabilities, or obligations of Borrower assigned to Bank, and to perform Borrower’s duties under the Loan Documents.
“OFAC” is the Office of Foreign Assets Control of the United States Department of the Treasury and any successor thereto.
“Operating Documents” are, for any Person, such Person’s formation documents, as certified by the Secretary of State (or equivalent agency) of
such Person’s jurisdiction of organization on a date that is no earlier than 30 days prior to the Effective Date, and, (a) if such Person is a corporation, its
bylaws in current form, (b) if such Person is a limited liability company, its limited liability company agreement (or similar agreement), and (c) if such
Person is a partnership or limited partnership, its partnership agreement or limited partnership agreement (or similar agreement), each of the foregoing
with all current amendments or modifications thereto.
“Originated” or “originated” means, with respect to any Originated Customer Loan, the funding of such loan in accordance with the terms of
the Approved Capital Partner Loan Program Agreement .
“Originated Customer Loan” means, in respect of each Customer, a solar or home improvement loan provided to it by the applicable
Approved Capital Partner, which shall have been facilitated by Borrower under the applicable Installer Agreement, and originated by an Approved
Capital Partner pursuant to the terms of the applicable Approved Capital Partner Loan Program Agreement, whereby such Approved Capital Partner
shall (a) originate such loans to such Customer and (b) remit to Borrower an amount equal to the Originated Customer Loan Funded Amount to (i)
reimburse Borrower for the aggregate amount of Installer Advances made to the applicable Installer and (ii) pay Borrower an Origination Fee in respect
thereof.
“Originated Customer Loan Amount” means, in respect of each Originated Customer Loan, the original principal amount thereof (including in
such principal amount any original issue discount applied to such loan in accordance with such Installer Agreement and the pricing supplement thereto).
“Originated Customer Loan Funded Amount” means, in respect of each Originated Customer Loan, the Originated Customer Loan Amount
of such Originated Customer Loan minus the original issue discount applied to such loan in accordance with any applicable Installer Agreement and the
pricing supplement thereto.
“Origination Fee” means, in respect of each Originated Customer Loan, an origination fee in an amount equal to the difference between (a) the
Originated Customer Loan Funded Amount and (b) amount owed to the applicable Installer in respect of the related Home Improvement Project
(including all Installer Advances made in respect thereof); provided that the Origination Fee shall in no event be less than zero (0).
“Other Connection Taxes” means, with respect to Bank, Taxes imposed as a result of a present or former connection between Bank and the
jurisdiction imposing such Tax (other than connections arising from Bank having executed, delivered, become a party to, performed its obligations
under, received payments under, received or perfected a security interest under, engaged in any other transaction pursuant to or enforced any Loan
Document, or sold or assigned an interest in any Credit Extension or Loan Document).
“Other Taxes” means all present or future stamp, court, documentary, intangible, recording, filing or similar Taxes that arise from any payment
made under, from the execution, delivery,
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performance, enforcement or registration of, from the receipt or perfection of a security interest under, or otherwise with respect to, any Loan Document,
except any such Taxes that are Other Connection Taxes imposed with respect to an assignment.
“Overadvance” is defined in Section 1.2.
“Parent” means Sunlight Financial Holdings, Inc.
“Patents” means all patents, patent applications and like protections including without limitation improvements, divisions, continuations,
renewals, reissues, extensions and continuations-in-part of the same.
“Payment/Advance Form” is that certain form in the form attached hereto as Exhibit B.
“Perfection Certificate” is the Perfection Certificate delivered by Borrower in connection with this Agreement.
“Permitted Christiana Trust Account ” means such deposit account identified on the Perfection Certificate delivered on the Effective Date as
the Permitted Christiana Trust Account maintained at Christiana Trust for the purpose of owning consumer loans repurchased from capital partners, so
long as the aggregate amount on deposit in such deposit account does not exceed $100,000 at any time.
“Permitted Christiana Custody Account” means such deposit account identified on the Perfection Certificate delivered on the Effective Date
as the Permitted Christiana Custody Account maintained at Christiana Trust for the purpose of owning consumer loans repurchased from capital
partners, so long as the aggregate amount on deposit in such deposit account does not exceed $5,000 at any time.
“Permitted Indebtedness” is:
(a)

Borrower’s Indebtedness to Bank under this Agreement and the other Loan Documents;

(ev)

subject to Section 5.14(c), Indebtedness existing on the Effective Date which is shown on the Perfection Certificate;

(ew)

unsecured Indebtedness to trade creditors incurred in the ordinary course of business;

(ex)
Borrower’s guarantee or repurchase obligations to an capital partner in connection with the performance of certain customer
loans that do not satisfy such capital partner’s funding conditions under the applicable capital partner loan program agreement or related loan sale
agreement;
(ey)

Indebtedness of any Permitted Warehouse SPV with respect to any Permitted Warehouse Financing;

(ez)
unsecured guarantees by Borrower with respect to obligations of Permitted Warehouse SPVs or certain “Bad Acts” of Borrower
and its Affiliates (i) so long as such guarantee is (A) satisfactory to Bank and (B) consistent with industry norms for such guarantees and (ii) no Default
or Event of Default has occurred as of the date that such guarantee is entered into;
(fa)
the incurrence of hedging obligations and other derivatives (not for the purpose of speculation) in the ordinary course of business
and consistent with prudent business practices;
(fb)

Indebtedness of Borrower in connection with Permitted Repurchases; and
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(fc)
extensions, refinancings, modifications, amendments and restatements of any items of Permitted Indebtedness (a) through (f)
above, provided that the principal amount thereof is not increased or the terms thereof are not modified to impose more burdensome terms upon
Borrower or its Subsidiary, as the case may be.

“Permitted Investments” are:
Certificate;

(a)

Investments (including, without limitation, Subsidiaries) existing on the Effective Date which are shown on the Perfection

(fd)

Investments consisting of Cash Equivalents;

(fe)
Investments consisting of the endorsement of negotiable instruments for deposit or collection or similar transactions in the
ordinary course of Borrower;
(ff)
Investments consisting of deposit accounts or securities accounts (but only to the extent that Borrower is permitted to maintain
such accounts pursuant to Section 5.8 of this Agreement) in which Bank has a first priority perfected security interest;
(fg)

Investments accepted in connection with Transfers permitted by Section 6.1;

(fh)
Investments consisting of the creation of a Subsidiary for the purpose of consummating a merger transaction permitted by
Section 6.3 of this Agreement, which is otherwise a Permitted Investment;
(fi)

Investments consisting of the creation of a Permitted Warehouse SPV;

(fj)
Cash and non-cash Investments by Borrower in Permitted Warehouse SPVs; provided that (i) the sole purpose of each such
Investment shall be to permit such Permitted Warehouse SPVs to consummate the applicable purchase of Borrower Purchased Customer Loans, to
substitute Borrower Purchased Customer Loans or to cure any borrowing base deficiencies, in each case, pursuant to the terms of a Permitted Warehouse
Financing; (ii) each such Investment shall not exceed the portion of the purchase price for the applicable Borrower Purchased Customer Loans that may
be funded by Borrower pursuant to the applicable Purchase Agreement (and not financed pursuant by any proceeds of the applicable Permitted
Warehouse Financing); (iii) Borrower is in compliance with the Minimum Cash Threshold immediately before and after giving effect to such
Investment; and (iv) no Default or Event of Default has occurred and is continuing or would result from such Investment;
(fk)
Investments consisting of (i) travel advances and employee relocation loans and other employee loans and advances in the
ordinary course of business, and (ii) loans to employees, officers, directors, partners, managers and members relating to the purchase of equity securities
of Borrower or its Subsidiaries pursuant to employee equity purchase plans or similar agreements approved by the Board;
(fl)
Purchases by Borrower of Borrower Purchased Customer Loans in accordance with the terms and conditions of the applicable
capital partner loan program agreement or Permitted Repurchases;
(fm)

Installer Advances made in accordance with the terms and conditions of the applicable Installer Agreement; and

(fn)
rebates, advances, or other similar upfront payments to an Installer in accordance with the terms and conditions of the applicable
Installer Agreement, including, without limitation, (i) any Marketing Advance Program, (ii) any Prebate Program, (iii) any Prefunded Advance Program,
and (iv) any other program that provides for Borrower to make any such payments to such Installer (A) in respect of such Installer’s then-estimated
future volume of Originated Customer Loans, (B) to become the exclusive provider of Originated Customer Loans for such Installer, (C) to obtain a
“first look” or
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specified volume commitment in respect of such Originated Customer Loans, or (D) to the extent Borrower determines is necessary or advisable in its
reasonable business judgment.
“Permitted Liens” are:
(b)

Loan Documents;

Liens existing on the Effective Date which are shown on the Perfection Certificate or arising under this Agreement or the other

(fo)
Liens for taxes, fees, assessments or other government charges or levies, either (i) not due and payable or (ii) being contested in
good faith and for which Borrower maintains adequate reserves on Borrower’s Books, provided that no notice of any such Lien has been filed or
recorded under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and the Treasury Regulations adopted thereunder;
(fp)
Liens of carriers, warehousemen, suppliers, or other Persons that are possessory in nature arising in the ordinary course of
business so long as such Liens attach only to Inventory and which are not delinquent or remain payable without penalty or which are being contested in
good faith and by appropriate proceedings which proceedings have the effect of preventing the forfeiture or sale of the property subject thereto;
(fq)
Liens to secure payment of workers’ compensation, employment insurance, old-age pensions, social security and other like
obligations incurred in the ordinary course of business (other than Liens imposed by ERISA);
(fr)
Liens incurred in the extension, renewal or refinancing of the Indebtedness secured by Liens described in (a) through (d), but any
extension, renewal or replacement Lien must be limited to the property encumbered by the existing Lien and the principal amount of the indebtedness
may not increase;
(fs)

non-exclusive licenses of Intellectual Property granted to third parties in the ordinary course of business;

(ft)

Liens arising from attachments or judgments, orders, or decrees in circumstances not constituting an Event of Default under

Sections 7.4 and 7.7;

(fu)
easements, rights-of-way, restrictions and other similar encumbrances affecting real property which, in the aggregate, are not
substantial in amount, and which do not in any case materially detract from the value of the property subject thereto or materially interfere with the
ordinary conduct of the business of the applicable Person;
(fv)
Liens arising from the filing of any precautionary financing statement on operating leases covering the leased property, to the
extent such operating leases are permitted under this Agreement or on purchases of Borrower Purchased Customer Loans permitted pursuant to Sections
6.1(g) or (h);
(fw)
Liens on the assets of Permitted Warehouse SPVs securing Indebtedness that is permitted under clause (e) of the definition of
“Permitted Indebtedness”;
(fx)
Liens on Excluded Accounts (provided that in no event shall the aggregate amount of funds standing to the credit of the [***]
Cash Collateral Account exceed 105% of the undrawn and unexpired amount of the applicable letter of credit at any time); and
(fy)
customary Liens of any bank in connection with statutory, common law and contractual rights of setoff and recoupment with
respect to any deposit account or securities account of Borrower, provided that (i) Bank has a first priority perfected security interest in such account or
(ii) such account is permitted to be maintained pursuant to Section 5.8 of this Agreement.
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“Permitted Rebate Account” means such deposit account identified on the Perfection Certificate delivered on the Effective Date as the
Permitted Rebate Account maintained at [***] for the purpose of administering rebate program between Borrower’s installer partners and solar
equipment providers, so long as the aggregate amount on deposit in such deposit account does not exceed $35,000 at any time.
“Permitted Repurchases” means repurchases by Borrower of Borrower Purchased Customer Loans from Permitted Warehouse SPVs that are
(a) in the ordinary course of business and solely as a result of a breach of a representation or warranty by Borrower made with respect to such Borrower
Purchased Customer Loan being repurchased, which representation or warranty is made and which breach exists at the time of the transfer of such
Borrower Purchased Customer Loan to such Permitted Warehouse SPV (and for clarity, excluding any continuing representations and warranties as to
such Borrower Purchased Customer Loans, including, without limitation, a continuing representation or warranty as to the collectability of such
Borrower Purchased Customer Loan) or (b) otherwise approved by Bank in writing.
“Permitted Warehouse Accounts ” means accounts required by creditors under any Permitted Warehouse Financing so long as such accounts:
(a) contain funds solely for the purpose of reserve requirements, collections or operations of the Permitted Warehouse SPV and (b) contain no funds of
Borrower, other than those which represent Investments by Borrower in such SPVs to the extent permitted by clause (h) of the definition of “Permitted
Investments”.
“Permitted Warehouse Financing” means any loan purchase, loan financing, warehouse, or other similar agreement, entered into from time to
time by a Permitted Warehouse SPV and which shall not include any financial obligation or Indebtedness of any Borrower or any other Subsidiary that is
not the Permitted Warehouse SPV obligated thereunder other than Permitted Repurchases permitted by clause (j) of the definition of “Permitted
Investments” or such Indebtedness permitted by clause (f) of the definition of “Permitted Indebtedness”.
“Permitted Warehouse SPV” means any securitization trust or special purpose vehicle which is a Subsidiary of Borrower, hereafter formed
solely for the purpose of purchasing Borrower Purchased Customer Loans in connection with a Permitted Warehouse Financing; provided that under no
circumstance shall Borrower be deemed to be a Permitted Warehouse SPV under this definition.
“Person” is any individual, sole proprietorship, partnership, limited liability company, joint venture, company, trust, unincorporated
organization, association, corporation, institution, public benefit corporation, firm, joint stock company, estate, entity or government agency.
“Platform” is defined in Section 5.6(c).
“Prebate Program” means any program pursuant to which Borrower provides to an Installer an upfront rebate (i.e., a prebate) in respect of, and
in advance of, such Installer’s then-estimated future volume of Originated Customer Loans solely in order to obtain from such Installer an exclusivity
commitment, “first look” commitment, and/or specified volume commitment, in each case, in respect of the Originated Customer Loans facilitated by
Borrower under the applicable Installer Agreement.
“Prefunded Advances” means, as of any date of determination and for each Originated Customer Loan, each payment made by Borrower to an
Installer in connection with such Originated Customer Loan in an amount not to exceed the applicable Adjusted Funding Payment Amount, following
the satisfaction of the “Substantial Completion”, “Final Completion”, “PTO Completion” milestones or funding requirements under such Installer’s
Installer Agreement immediately prior to the origination of the Originated Customer Loan.
“Prime Rate” is the rate of interest per annum from time to time published in the money rates section of The Wall Street Journal or any
successor publication thereto as the “prime rate” then in effect; provided that if such rate of interest, as set forth from time to time in the money rates
section of The Wall Street Journal, becomes unavailable for any reason as determined by Bank, the “Prime Rate” shall mean the rate of interest per
annum announced by Bank as its prime rate in effect at its principal office in the State of California (such Bank announced Prime Rate not being
intended to be the lowest rate of interest
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charged by Bank in connection with extensions of credit to debtors); provided that, in the event such rate of interest is less than zero percent (0.0%) per
annum, such rate shall be deemed to be zero percent (0.0%) per annum for purposes of this Agreement.
“Prime Rate Margin” is [***].
“Purchase Agreement” is defined in Section 6.1(g).
“Qualified Approved Capital Provider ” means any financial institution that (a) has assets on its balance sheet of $1,000,000,000 or more at
the time of entering into an Approved Capital Partner Loan Program Agreement with Borrower and (b) is a member of the Federal Deposit Insurance
Corporation, National Credit Union Administration or National Association of Insurance Commissioners.
“Refunded Advance” means, as of any date of determination, any Installer Advance for which all or a portion thereof has been refunded by the
applicable Installer to Sunlight (whether by setoff, netting or otherwise).
“Refunded Deduction” means, in respect of any Installer Advance as of any date of determination, the deducted portion thereof representing
Borrower’s election for a refund in connection with any advance made under an Installer Agreement.
“Registered Organization” is any “registered organization” as defined in the Code with such additions to such term as may hereafter be made.
“Representatives” is defined in Section 11.8.
“Reserves” means, as of any date of determination, such amounts as Bank may from time to time establish and revise in its commercially
reasonable discretion, with reasonable notice, reducing the amount of Advances and other financial accommodations which would otherwise be available
to Borrower (a) to reflect events, conditions, contingencies or risks which, as determined by Bank in its commercially reasonable discretion, do or may
adversely affect (i) the Collateral or any other property which is security for the Obligations or its value (including without limitation any increase in
delinquencies of Accounts), (ii) the assets, business or prospects of Borrower or any Guarantor, or (iii) the security interests and other rights of Bank in
the Collateral (including the enforceability, perfection and priority thereof); or (b) to reflect Bank's reasonable belief that any collateral report or financial
information furnished by or on behalf of Borrower or any Guarantor to Bank is or may have been incomplete, inaccurate or misleading in any material
respect; or (c) in respect of any state of facts which Bank determines in its commercially reasonable discretion constitutes a Default or an Event of
Default.
“Responsible Officer” is any of the Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer, General Counsel of Borrower, Financial Operations
Director and FP&A Director.
“Restricted License” is any material license or other material agreement with respect to which Borrower is the licensee (a) that prohibits or
otherwise restricts Borrower from granting a security interest in Borrower’s interest in such license or agreement or any other property, or (b) for which a
default under or termination of could reasonably be expected to interfere with Bank’s right to sell any Collateral.
“Revolving Line” is an aggregate principal amount equal to $30,000,000.00.
“Revolving Line Maturity Date” is April 26, 2023.
“Routine Inquiry” means any inquiry, written or otherwise, made by any Governmental Authority to any Person in connection with (i) the
routine transmittal of a customer complaint, (ii) a formal or informal request for information or documents (whether pursuant to Requirements of Law or
otherwise) regarding the Person’s business activities, licensing status and/or regulatory posture (other than (A) a formal or informal inquiry, (B) a
request for information or documents or (C) an investigation that, in any case, alleges any material non-compliance by such Person with respect to any
(x) applicable
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Laws or (y) requirements relating to business activities, licensing status or regulatory posture) or (iii) a formal or informal investigation or other
information or document request (whether pursuant to Requirements of Law or otherwise) into acts or practices that would not render the Originated
Customer Loans invalid, illegal or unenforceable as a matter of law or in accordance with their terms.
“Sanctioned Person” means a Person that: (a) is listed on any Sanctions list maintained by OFAC or any similar Sanctions list maintained by
any other Governmental Authority having jurisdiction over Borrower; (b) is located, organized, or resident in any country, territory, or region that is the
subject or target of Sanctions; or (c) is fifty percent (50.0%) or more owned or controlled by one (1) or more Persons described in clauses (a) and (b)
hereof.
“Sanctions” means the economic sanctions laws, regulations, embargoes or restrictive measures administered, enacted or enforced by the
United States government and any of its agencies, including, without limitation, OFAC and the U.S. State Department, or any other Governmental
Authority having jurisdiction over Borrower.
“SEC” is the Securities and Exchange Commission, any successor thereto, and any analogous Governmental Authority.
“Securities Account” is any “ securities account” as defined in the Code with such additions to such term as may hereafter be made.
“Solar Systems” means the residential solar energy power systems and energy efficient systems, renewable energy storage systems, solar plus
storage systems, Tesla solar roof and products reasonably related thereto provided to Customers by Installers; provided that “Solar Systems” shall not
include any ineligible assets and projects as set forth in the applicable Approved Capital Provider Loan Program Agreement.
“Spartan Merger” is that certain business combination contemplated by that certain Business Combination Agreement, dated as of January 23,
2021, by and among Spartan Acquisition Corp. II, a Delaware corporation, SLF Invest I Inc., a Delaware corporation, SLF Invest II LLC, a Delaware
limited liability company, SL Financial Investor I LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, SL Financial Investor II LLC, a Delaware limited liability
company, SL Financial Holdings Inc., a Delaware corporation, SL Financial LLC, a Delaware limited liability, Borrower, FTV-Sunlight, Inc., a
Delaware corporation and Tiger Co-Invest B Sunlight Blocker LLC, a Delaware limited liability company.
“Subsidiary” is, as to any Person, a corporation, partnership, limited liability company or other entity of which shares of stock, partnership,
membership, or other ownership interest or other equity securities having ordinary voting power (other than stock, partnership, membership, or other
ownership interest or other equity securities having such power only by reason of the happening of a contingency) to elect a majority of the board of
directors or other managers of such corporation, partnership or other entity are at the time owned, or the management of which is otherwise controlled,
directly or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, or both, by such Person. Unless the context otherwise requires, each reference to a Subsidiary
herein shall be a reference to a Subsidiary of Borrower.
“Tax Distributions” means distributions made by Borrower to its direct or indirect beneficial owners in respect of federal, state and local tax
liabilities of such owners attributable to the taxable income of Borrower, provided such distributions are made pursuant to, and to the extent permitted
by, Section 5.2 of Borrower’s Fourth Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement (as in effect on, and amended through, the Effective
Date or as amended in connection with the Spartan Merger).
“Taxes” means all present or future taxes, levies, imposts, duties, deductions, withholdings (including backup withholding), assessments, fees or
other charges imposed by any Governmental Authority, including any interest, additions to tax or penalties applicable thereto.
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“Trademarks” means, with respect to any Person, any trademark and servicemark rights, whether registered or not, applications to register and
registrations of the same and like protections, and the entire goodwill of the business of such Person connected with and symbolized by such trademarks.
“Transfer” is defined in Section 6.1.
“USA Patriot Act ” means the “Uniting and Strengthening America by Providing Appropriate Tools Required to Intercept and Obstruct
Terrorism Act of 2001” (Public Law 107-56, signed into law on October 26, 2001), as amended from time to time.
“[***] Cash Collateral Account” means a deposit account identified on the Perfection Certificate delivered on the Effective Date as the [***]
Cash Collateral Account held with [***] into which Borrower shall have deposited an aggregate amount not to exceed $330,497.21 to secure Borrower’s
obligations arising under the [***], subject to the terms and conditions set forth in the cash collateral agreement entered into in connection therewith and
Section 5.14(c).
[Signature page follows.]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be executed as of the Effective Date.
BORROWER:
SUNLIGHT FINANCIAL LLC

By: /s/ Barry Edinburg
Name: Barry Edinburg
Title: Chief Financial Officer
BANK:
SILICON VALLEY BANK

By: /s/ Joshua Wagner
Name: Joshua Wagner
Title: Vice President

SVB Confidential
[Signature Page to Loan and Security Agreement]
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EXHIBIT A
COMPLIANCE CERTIFICATE
TO:
SILICON VALLEY BANK
FROM: SUNLIGHT FINANCIAL LLC

Date:

The undersigned authorized officer of SUNLIGHT FINANCIAL LLC (“ Borrower”) certifies that under the terms and conditions of the
Loan and Security Agreement between Borrower and Bank (as amended, modified, supplemented and/or restated from time to time, the “Agreement”),
(1) Borrower is in complete compliance for the period ending _______________ with all required covenants except as noted below, (2) there are no
Defaults or Events of Default and (3) all representations and warranties in the Agreement are true and correct in all material respects on this date except
as noted below; provided, however, that such materiality qualifier shall not be applicable to any representations and warranties that already are qualified
or modified by materiality in the text thereof; and provided, further that those representations and warranties expressly referring to a specific date shall be
true and correct in all material respects as of such date. The undersigned certifies that these are prepared in accordance with GAAP consistently applied
from one period to the next except as explained in an accompanying letter or footnotes. The undersigned acknowledges that no borrowings may be
requested at any time or date of determination that Borrower is not in compliance with any of the terms of the Agreement, and that compliance is
determined not just at the date this certificate is delivered. Capitalized terms used but not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings given them in
the Agreement.
Under the terms and conditions of the Loan and Security Agreement between Borrower and Bank (as amended, modified, supplemented
and/or restated from time to time, the “Agreement”), Borrower is in complete compliance for the period ending _______________ with all required
covenants except as noted below. Attached are the required documents evidencing such compliance, setting forth calculations prepared in accordance
with GAAP consistently applied from one period to the next except as explained in an accompanying letter or footnotes. Capitalized terms used but not
otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings given them in the Agreement.
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Please indicate compliance status by circling Yes/No under “Complies” column.
Reporting Covenants
Monthly Quarterly financial statements with
Compliance Certificate
Annual financial statements (CPA Audited) with
Compliance Certificate
10-Q, 10-K and 8-K
Monthly Advance and Takeout Report
Monthly Cancellation Report
Borrowing Base Report
Board approved projections

Required
Monthly Quarterly within 30 days
FYE within 180 days2
Within 5 days after filing with SEC 3
Monthly within 30 days
Monthly within 30 days
Monthly within 7 days of month
end
FYE within 60 days

Complies
Yes No
Yes No
Yes No
Yes No
Yes No
Yes No
Yes No

The following Intellectual Property was registered after the Effective Date (if no registrations, state “None”)
____________________________________________________________________________]
Financial Covenant
Maintain as indicated:
Liquidity
Available Takeout Commitment Amounts
EBITDA

Required

Actual

$_______4
$_______
$_______

$_______
$_______
$_______

Complies

Yes No
Yes No
Yes No

The following financial covenant analyses and information set forth in Schedule 1 and Schedule 2 attached hereto are true and correct as of the date of
this Certificate.
The following are the exceptions with respect to the certification above: (If no exceptions exist, state “No exceptions to note.”)
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

2

Per Section 5.3(e), to the extent any such documents are included in materials otherwise filed with the SEC, such documents may be delivered electronically and if so
delivered, shall be deemed to have been delivered on the date on which Borrower, Parent, or any of their respective Subsidiaries files such documents with the SEC and such
documents are publicly available on the SEC’s EDGAR filing system or any successor thereto, provided, however, that notwithstanding the foregoing, Borrower shall promptly
provide such documents to Bank following Bank’s request therefor.
3 Per Section 5.3(h), to the extent any such documents are included in materials otherwise filed with the SEC, such documents may be delivered electronically and if so
delivered, shall be deemed to have been delivered on the date on which Borrower, Parent, or any of their respective Subsidiaries files such documents with the SEC and such
documents are publicly available on the SEC’s EDGAR filing system or any successor thereto, provided, however, that notwithstanding the foregoing, Borrower shall promptly
provide such documents to Bank following Bank’s request therefor.
4 Greater of 35% of thirty-five percent (35%) of the sum of all outstanding principal amounts of any Advances and $10,000,000.00
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BANK USE ONLY

SUNLIGHT FINANCIAL LLC
By:
Name:
Title:

Received by: _____________________
authorized signer
Date: _________________________
Verified: ________________________
authorized signer
Date: _________________________
Compliance Status:

SF-4892906
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Yes No

Schedule 1 to Compliance Certificate
Financial Covenants of Borrower
In the event of a conflict between this Schedule and the Agreement, the terms of the Agreement shall govern.
Dated:
IX.

____________________

Liquidity (Section 5.9(a))

Required: $____ (greater of line A and $10,000,000)
A.
35% of thirty-five percent (35%) of the sum of all outstanding principal amounts of any Advances

$

Actual:
B.

Liquidity (Unrestricted and unencumbered cash and Cash Equivalents held at such time by Borrower in Deposit Accounts or $
Securities Accounts maintained with Bank or its Affiliates)

Is line A equal to or greater than the greater of line B?
No, not in compliance

Yes, in compliance

XIV. Available Takeout Commitment Amount (Section 5.9(b))
Required:

$200,000,000

Actual:
A.

Available Takeout Commitment Amount

$

Is line A equal to or greater than $200,000,000?
No, not in compliance

Yes, in compliance

XV. EBITDA (Section 5.9(c))
Required:

$5,000,000

Actual:

SF-4892906
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A.
B.

C.

Net Income
To the extent deducted in the calculation of Net Income
1. Interest Expense
2. Depreciation expense
3. Amortization expense
4. Income tax expense
5. Non-cash compensation charges or expenses, including any such charges or expenses arising from grants of stock
appreciation or similar rights, stock options, restricted stock or other rights
6. One-time expenses related to the Spartan Merger
7. Costs and expenses, including fees payable to Bank, in connection with the Agreement and ay amendments, waivers and
consents in connection with the Agreement
8. Initial costs relating to establishing compliance with the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, as amended, and other costs arising
out of or incidental to Borrower’s or its Subsidiaries’ initial establishment of compliance with the obligations of a reporting
company
9. One-time, non-cash compensation costs and expenses, consulting fees, signing, retention or completion bonuses, and
executive recruiting costs
10. Any impairment charge or asset write-off or write-down in each case pursuant to GAAP, and the amortization of
intangibles arising pursuant to GAAP subject to Bank’s approval (not to be unreasonably withheld)
11. Any non-cash gain (loss) attributable to mark to market movement in the valuation of warrant liabilities and home
improvement program-related derivatives recorded on balance sheet per GAAP
12. Adjustments resulting from the application of Accounting Standards Codification Topic No. 460, Guarantees, or any
comparable regulation subject to Bank’s approval (not to be unreasonably withheld)
13. Any charges, expenses or reserves related to current expected credit losses determined in accordance with GAAP in
excess of actual credit losses for the applicable period and subject to Bank’s approval (not to be unreasonably withheld)
14. Any expenses or charges (other than depreciation or amortization expense already included in EBITDA) related to any
issuance, the incurrence, modification or repayment of any Indebtedness under the Agreement including such fees, expenses
or charges arising under any Loan Document
15. The sum of lines 1 through 14
EBITDA (line A plus line B.15)

Is line C equal to or greater than $5,000,000?
No, not in compliance

Yes, in compliance

SF-4892906
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Schedule 2 to Compliance Certificate
Additional Reporting
In the event of a conflict between this Schedule and the Agreement, the terms of the Agreement shall govern.
Dated:
I.

____________________

Borrower Purchased Customer Loans
Aggregate amount of Borrower Purchased Customer Loans held by Borrower for such period:
[Capital partners for such Borrower Purchased Customer Loans to be appended]

II.

Holdbacks or other Reserves
Aggregate amount of all holdbacks and reserves imposed or required by any capital partner as of the date hereof:
Aggregate amount on deposit in Capital Partner Reserve Accounts as of the date hereof:

III.

$

$
$

Permitted Rebate Account
Aggregate amount on deposit in Permitted Rebate Account does not exceed $35,000 as of the date hereof and has not exceeded such amount
during the compliance period.
No, not in compliance

IV.

Yes, in compliance

Permitted Christiana Trust Account
Aggregate amount on deposit in Permitted Christiana Trust Account does not exceed $100,000 as of the date hereof and has not exceeded such
amount during the compliance period.
No, not in compliance

V.

Yes, in compliance

Permitted Christiana Custody Account
Aggregate amount on deposit in Permitted Christiana Custody Account does not exceed $5,000 as of the date hereof and has not exceeded such
amount during the compliance period
No, not in compliance

Yes, in compliance
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EXHIBIT B
LOAN PAYMENT/ADVANCE REQUEST FORM
Deadline for same day processing is Noon Eastern Time
Date: _____________________
Loan Payment:

SUNLIGHT FINANCIAL LLC

From Account #________________________________ To Account #__________________________________________
(Deposit Account #)
(Loan Account #)
Principal $____________________________________ and/or Interest $________________________________________
Authorized Signature:
Print Name/Title:

Phone Number:

Loan Advance:
To Account #__________________________________________
(Designated Deposit Account #)
Amount of Advance $___________________________
(1) All Borrower’s representations and warranties in the Loan and Security Agreement are true, correct and complete in all material respects on the
date of the request for an advance; provided, however, that such materiality qualifier shall not be applicable to any representations and warranties that
already are qualified or modified by materiality in the text thereof; and provided, further that those representations and warranties expressly referring
to a specific date shall be true and correct in all material respects as of such date.
(2) As of such Funding Date and after giving effect to such Credit Extension, there shall be no Overadvance and the availability and borrowing
limitations specified in Section 1.1 shall be complied with.
(3) No Default or Event of Default shall have occurred as of or on such Funding Date or after giving effect to the Credit Extension requested on such
Funding Date.
(4) There shall not have occurred since December 31, 2019, any event or condition that has had or would be reasonably expected to have a Material
Adverse Change.
Authorized Signature:
Print Name/Title:

Phone Number:

Authorized Signature: ___________________________ 2 nd Signature (if required): _______________________________
Print Name/Title: ______________________________ Print Name/Title: ______________________________________
Telephone #:
Telephone #: _____________________________
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EXHIBIT C
ELIGIBILITY CRITERIA
Unless Bank otherwise agrees in writing, Eligible Milestone Advances and Eligible Prefunded Advances shall not include any of the following
(provided that notwithstanding anything to the contrary in any Loan Document (including Section 11.6 of this Agreement), Bank reserves the right, at
any time after the Effective Date, in its commercially reasonable business judgment and on reasonable notice in each instance, to adjust any of the
criteria set forth below and to establish new criteria):
(a)
any Installer Advance in respect of which such Installer Advance or any of the applicable Installer, the Originated Customer
Loan, the Customer, the applicable Home Improvement Project or the applicable Solar System (including the installation thereof) does not comply with
all of Borrower’s representations and warranties set forth in Sections 4.3 and 4.4;
(a)
any Milestone Advance that is outstanding or for which the underlying Originated Customer Loan has not been originated by an
Approved Capital Partner, in each case more than ninety (90) days from the date that Borrower made such Milestone Advance to the applicable Installer;
(b)
any Prefunded Advance that is outstanding or for which the underlying Originated Customer Loan has not been originated by an
Approved Capital Partner, in each case more than fifteen (15) days from the date that Borrower made such Prefunded Advance to the applicable
Installer;
(c)
any Prefunded Advance related to any Originated Customer Loan in respect of which Borrower has made any M0 Advance that
would be excluded under clause (b) above;
(d)
any Milestone Advance made to an Installer if 50.0% or more of the Milestone Advances made to such Installer remain
outstanding or for which for which the underlying Originated Customer Loan has not been originated by an Approved Capital Partner, in each case more
than ninety (90) days from the respective dates that Borrower made such Milestone Advances;
(e)
any Prefunded Advance made to an Installer if 50.0% or more of the Prefunded Advances made to such Installer remain
outstanding or for which for which the underlying Originated Customer Loan has not been originated by an Approved Capital Partner, in each case more
than fifteen (15) days from the respective dates that Borrower made such Prefunded Advances;
(f)
any Prefunded Advance made to an Installer if 50.0% or more of the Prefunded Advances made to such Installer are related to
any Originated Customer Loan in respect of which Borrower has made any Milestone Advance that would be excluded under clause (b) above;
(g)
any Installer Advance in respect of which the applicable Approved Capital Partner’s approval for the underlying Originated
Customer Loan has expired;
(h)

any Modified Advance;

(i)

any Refunded Advance;

(j)
Installer Advances made to an Installer to the extent that the aggregate amount of Installer Advances received by such Installer
exceeds twenty-five percent (25.0%) (except for [***] (d/b/a [***]), for which such percentage shall be thirty percent (30%)) of the aggregate amount of
all Installer Advances made to any Installer; provided that the Installer Advances excluded by this clause (g) shall be limited to the amount that exceed
such percentage, unless Bank approves in writing;
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(k)

Installer Advances to the extent that Borrower is indebted or obligated in any manner to the applicable Installer;

(l)

Installer Advances to any Affiliate, Subsidiary, officer, employee, investor, or agent;

(m)
Installer Advances to made to any Installer outside of the United States or to any Installer (i) which does not have its principal
place of business in the United States or (ii) whose chief executive office is not in the United States;
(n)

Installer Advances made in any currency other than Dollars;

(o)

Installer Advances made to a government entity or any department, agency, or instrumentality thereof;

(p)
Installer Advances for which the applicable Installer has not delivered a “Funding Request” (as defined in the applicable Installer
Agreement) to Borrower;
(q)
Installer Advances either subject to dispute or claim or in respect of which the applicable Installer is subject to an Insolvency
Proceeding (whether voluntary or involuntary), or becomes insolvent, or goes out of business;
(a)
Installer Advances which, if included in the Borrowing Base as an Eligible Installer Advance, would cause the aggregate amount
of Eligible Installer Advances used to finance Home Improvement Projects that are not Solar Systems installations to exceed twenty percent (20%) of the
Revolving Line; and
(r)

other Installer Advances as may be determined by Bank in its reasonable discretion.
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EXHIBIT D-1
INSTALLER UNDERWRITING POLICY (SOLAR)
[***]
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EXHIBIT D-2
INSTALLER UNDERWRITING POLICY (HOME IMPROVEMENT)
[***]
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Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION
PURSUANT TO RULES 13a-14(a) AND 15d-14(a)
UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Matthew Potere, certify that:
1.
2.
3.
4.

5.

I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2022 of Sunlight Financial Holdings Inc.;
Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and
have:
a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure
that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly
during the period in which this report is being prepared;
b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of
the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
d.
Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and
The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s
auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.

Date: November 14, 2022
By:

/s/ Matthew Potere
Matthew Potere
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive
Officer)

Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION
PURSUANT TO RULES 13a-14(a) AND 15d-14(a)
UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Rodney Yoder, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2022 of Sunlight Financial Holdings Inc.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and
have:
a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure
that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly
during the period in which this report is being prepared;
b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of
the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
d.

5.

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and
The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s
auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a.

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b.

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.

Date: November 14, 2022
By:

/s/ Rodney Yoder
Rodney Yoder
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial
Officer)

Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the Quarterly Report of Sunlight Financial Holdings Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2022, as filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Matthew Potere, Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to
18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to my knowledge:
(1)
(2)

the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: November 14, 2022
By:

/s/ Matthew Potere
Matthew Potere
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive
Officer)

Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the Quarterly Report of Sunlight Financial Holdings Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2022, as filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Rodney Yoder, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to
18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to my knowledge:
(1)

the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2)

the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: November 14, 2022
By:

/s/ Rodney Yoder
Rodney Yoder
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial
Officer)

